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PREP ACE. 
In the translation of the ' Chacbn~mah,' which I have 

lately written, will be found the ancient history of Sind 
up to the close of t!Je Hindu period and the Arab conquest, 
'l'hat book may be taken as the first volume of the history 
of Sind, tLe present book being a continuation of the 
same, and ~o the second volume of it. 

This volume jg divided into two parts. Part I. gives an 
account of the lieutenants of the Khalifahs or successors 
of l\lt1hammad, the rulers of the SU.mrah, Sammah, 
.Arghun and 'l'arkb6.n dynasties, and finally of the 
governors or agents of the Emperors of Dehll. This brings 
us to the rule of the Kalh6rahs, an account of whom, 
together with that of their successors, the Talpurs, is given 
in Part II. 

The first part is entirely based on the information supplied 
by the 'Tarikh :Maasumi' and the 'Tuhfatulkir:im,'' 
to which a reference has been made in the preface of 'the 
Cbaclmamah.' In faot these were the only two Persian 
books which gave a full account of this period. For the 
sake of distinctness and easy reference, I have made a note 
at the beginning of each chapter, stating from which of, 
the above two books the account bas been taken. I con1 
sidered it necessary to draw from the two books in tlli~ 
manner, as in some respects one was deficient and iii 
some, the other; and so by a judicious use and mixture 
of the two I have filled up the deficiencies of both. Taking 
one book as my text for that chapter, I have added 
foot·n(ltes to give the different versions, if any, of the! 
other book. I have also given some other interestin~ 
referential notes, as I have done in the translation. of 'th! 
Chachmirunh.'t 1 

• Tho author of the former book is Mlr Mnasum Shllh of llakhar, and 
tho lnttcr Ali~hor Kauci of 1'attll. ~ 
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The second pnrt of th~, book dea1s ":ith the whole period 
of the Kalh6r:>.hs and 'lalpur dynasties of the rulers of 
Sind, up to the advent of British rule. The accoun.t. of 
the former drnastv is taken from the Tuhfatulktram 
and that of the latter d:vnasty from the Fatehnamab nnd 
Frerenamnh. The Fatehnamah is a metrical history 
written about 1783 A.D., by 1\I uhammnd Azim, a respect· 
able persou of Tatta, who lived in the reign of M!r. Fateh 
.Ali Khan, to whom the book was dedicated; whtle the 
Frerrmimah w~s written in 1837 A.D., by Mir Yar 
"Muhammad Khan, •.ralpur, son of lHr .Mucid Ali Khan, 
and was dedicatrd to :Mr. (afterwards Sir Bartle) }'rere, 
the then Commissioner in Sind. The first portion of this 
book (the Frerenamah) is entirely taken from the Fateh­
namali, and the last portion is Wl'itten by the author of 
the }'rercmimah rrom his own experi~nce, as he was an 
eve-witness of the perioll, bPing the son of a ruling Mir, 
a~d ~ubsPqucntly one of the unfortunate Mirs who were 
takcu to Calcutta by the English as State prisoners. 

'This part too is written on tlte same principle adopted 
in the first part; namely, I have givPn a free tmnslation 
of the Persian books from which the account is taken 
adding ns many explanatory and historical notes fro~ 
other books as I con;idered necessary. If the language 
md style of the book appear Flran"e and unhistorical 
.hat is hecau>e I have tri~u to fo!low 

0
the Per~ian originni 

:los~ly, aud at the same time avotded the redundant words 
mc.l phras0s, and son;t~timcs pas~ages, which being sup~r-
1utttes of the. P"r~tan language and ima~ination, were . 
·ery common m the books. 'l'he renders mav howrver 
•e sure that I have given tl1em all the facts o~ the subject 
hat are 1·ecorded in the Persian books, 
I 

The division o.f the hook into chapters and the hend-notes 
f parag~apbs Will he. found of great assistance trt thom 
' graspmg the s?hJec~; I experienced much difficult 
l that respect wh1le gowg through the Persian hi'·' · 
I 
'~n Appendices I have given copi"" 
•acts (with head-notes) from thP · 
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borate the facts related in the texts about the connection 
of the British Government with Sind from early times to 
the conquest. 

I have also added biographical sketches of some note. 
worthy persons mentioned in the book, and genealogical 
trees of the ruling tribes and some other important per· 
sons referred to in the book. 

In transliterating proper names I have adopted the 
system followed in the ~'irst Volume (The Chachnamah), 

In conclusil)n, it may be mentioned that as a rule, in 
writing the history of a country, it is necessary to give a 
detailed account of the system of governmeut or adminis. 
trntion, ns well as other important geographical, physical 
and social features of the same. Buc in this volume 
I have given hnre historical facts, as found in the Persian 
books from which they were taken, reserving the above 
information fot· the concluding p:1rt of the last volume, in 
which, it is hoped that after the history of the Briti~b 
rule up to the present day, the subject will be discuss& 
and the states of things in the different periods compared 

Hydet•abad, 
:November 1901. 

Note. 

KA.LICHBEG 

I am higl1!y obliged to Rev. J. Redmnn, C. M., 
L. W. Seymour, Esq., for going through the first 
second parts of the book, respectively, and to Day 
Gidumal, Esq., B.A., LL.B., O.S., for writing an 1 
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INTRODUCTION. 

We know very little about the aborigines of Sindh, but 
we may fairly infer that they were a race inferior to the 
Aryans. Omitting the aborigines, the history of Sindh 
before the advent of the En~lish may be divided into 
three broad periods-theAryan(Brahminical and Buddhist), 
the Semitic, and the Mongol. The invasion by Alexander, 
the inroads of the Scythians, the irruption of the King of 
Nimroz mentioned in the Chachnamah, the hurricane 
blasts of Nadir Shah and Ahmad Shah, the internecine 
feuds of rival princes in the Province itself, and their 
various ups and do1ms, may well be treated as so many 
interludes. The present volume deals with the Semitio 
and Mongol periods, while the first was concerned with 
the last days of the Aryan period. 

The aborigines fell before the Eastern Aryans, tht 
Eastern Aryans before the Arab~, the Arabs before the 
Mongols, and these last again before the Western Aryau 
represented by the English. At the present day, the wor' 
is mainly governed by the Western Aryans, and no read 
of this modest volume can fail to see why they are in t. 
ascendant, for it supplies materials for a safe historic 
generalisation, 

That generalisation is that neither mere EfficieP 
(Lord RGsebery's watchword) nor mere Righteousness 
enough: there must be a combination of both in orde 
ensure a nation's Solidarity, and the nation that is hle. 
with Solidarity is always superior to that not so ble~ 
'l'he aborigines lacked Solidarity and so they Ml. 
Eastern Aryana had it for numerous centuries, but e 
tually both their branches-the. Hindu and the Persi 
degenerated and lost their soverei~nty. Any one 
reads Muir's History of the Khalifate cannot but 1 

that the Arabs, when they appeared on the world's 
as conquerors, were superior to the peoples they cone 
in Efficiency and Righteousness. It wns due tr 
Solidarity, based upon these virtues, that while J\:', 
mad bin Kasim was winning Sindh for the Khalif .. 1 
general was winning Spain in Europe, and layin~ 
foundation for Arab dominatio~ ill thllt c~\Ultrt 
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Sakifi. chief ever succeeded in laying in our Province. 
Sir Henry Elliot has shown that the Arabs l1ad no great 
bold upon Sindh after the firs~ few years, ~ut ~he Arab 
conquest is nevertheless of gr~at 1mpor•..ance. m h~story, as 
it gave rise to a Jaroe populatiOn, different m fatth from 
/the Hindus, though not different in race and language.• 

The Arnb, however, failed to maintain the sta~dnrd of 
:Efficiency and l:il(hteousness necessary for survtv.al as a 
soverei<>n power, and the Mongol had, then, h1s turn. 
The wgrld was" out of joint, and .Gengbis, as Amiel ~ays, 
in commentin"' upon 'La Banntere Bleue,' 11 proclaimed 
himself the s~our"'e of God, and he did, in fact, reali~e 
the V&stest empir:known to bistorf, stretl'hing from the 
Blue Sea to the Baltic, and from the vast plains of Siberia 
to the banks of the sacred Ganges. The most solid 
~mpires of the ancient world were overthrown by the 
tramp of his horsemen and the shafts of his archers • 
.From the tumult in which be threw the Western Conti· 
nent, there issued certain vast results: the fall of the 
Byzantine Empire, invc:lving the Renai~sance, the voyages 
f discovery in Asia, undertaken from both sides of the 
lobe-that is to say, Gama and Columbus; the formation 
' the Turkish Empire; and the preparation of the 
ussian Empire. This tremendous hurricane, startin"' 
om the high Asiatic table-lands, felled the decayin~ 
ks and worm-eaten buildings of the whole ancient world. 
• e des?ent o~ th~ yellow, fia.t·nosed :Mongols upon 
1rope ts a. htstoriCal cyclone which devastated and 
ificd our thirteenth century, and broke, at the two ends 
,be known world, through two great Chinese Walls­
t whi~h protected the ~ncien~ Empire of the Centre, and 
t whlCh !Dade a hamer of . 1gnorance and superstition 
1d the httle world of Christendom. Attila, Genghis, 
erlane ought to range in the memory of men with 
Lt, O~arlenw.gne, and 1\apoleon. They roused whole 
,ts mto action, and stmed the depths of human life 
powerfully affected €thnograpl1y, they let loose river; 
)od, and renewed the face of things." The Eastern 
·e Western Aryans as well as the Semitic race found 

Bumras n~d the Snmmn~, as Elliot bns shown, wore original! 
•d \\hat JB1 therefore, ea1d about their Musnlmnn ori~in is pur! 

•>I to tho poycholo~;ri,st, hut not to the bistoriAn, Tli.o llliO f 
·ended frolll th1l S111dhi Samm111, 

0 
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themselY<'s in the clutrhes of vast hordes of nomads, brnve, 
simple and truthful, who have been called the scavengers 
of the corruptions of civilisation, but who gave India an 
Akbar, nncl to Sindh the Arghun and Tarkhan dynasties. 
"When, in 1162, in a small tent on the banks of the distant 
Onon, Ye~ukai saw the clenched fist of the new-born 
Genghis holding a clot of coagulated blood like a red stone, 
it never occurred to him that his infant son would live to 
illu>trnte what hns been rightly cnlled "the law of 
tempests in history," and would become the ancestor of 
hemes and emperors. It bas been truly said: "No civi· 
lisation cnn bear more than a certain proportion of abuses, 
injnstice, corruption, shame aud crime. When this pro­
portion hns been reached the boiler bur&ts, the palace falls, 
the scaffolding breaks down; institutions;- cities, states, 
empires sink into ruin. The evil contained in an 
orgonnism is a virus which preys up0n it, and if it is not 
eliminated ends hy destroying it.'' '!'hat is the lesson 
taught by the fall of the two great .Aryan powers in the 
West-the Greek and the Roman; that is the lesson taught 
by the fall of the two great Aryan powers in the East­
the Hindu and the l'Prsian; and that is the lesson taught 
by the fall of the Arabs, and by the fall of the M.ongols 
themselves. The wheel of Divine law bas now given a 
frrsh turn to the Aryan, and so long as he remains true to 
God, to himself and to his brothers, he may well expect a 
sovereignty mightier than that of the Arab or of the 
M.ong\11. 

This volume helps us to realize the terrible law of 
rt'tribution, which has, one after another, set aside king· 
doms once great and glPrious, but which, after they were 

rnst their heyday, lacked ltighteousness and Efficiency. 
t helps us to rNdize how the present is connected with 

p10 past, bow many a king in this unfortunate land oame 
l:m vanity and dl!pnrted in darkness, bow those who 

/
rrbclled ngninst the moral law were brought low, how 
u light is sown for the righteous and glndness for the 
upright in heart.'' It is also useful ns a. commentary upon 
that pregnant Sindhi word roj, which contains the whole 
history of Sindh in a nutshell, a pure Sanskrit word 
which once meant a Hindu kingdom or the Hindu sub­
jects of a Raja, but which, in Sindh, now menns a 
Muhammadan village community. Muhammad Mansum, 
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whose history, first literally translated by Capt. G. Yalet, 
has been in this volume freely rendered, wrote it for 
the benefit of his son Mir Buzurg, "in order that. by read. 
ing it he might learn what good men of old did; that he 
might discriminate between right and wrong, between 
that which is useful and the reverse; and might learn to 
follow the paths of Tirtuous men"; and the translator's 
labour will not be fruitless if this volume enables even a 
single young man to accomplish the old Sayad's object, 

DAYAR.U.t GIDUlli.L. 

DhulitJ, 14th Marc~ 1902, 
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Page. Lin6. Imorrect. Comet. 
135 21 defendents. dependent&. 
138 15 tim. time. 
141 10 ad. and. 

151 16 Khans. Khan's. 

153 16 Shawali ... shamJu. 
165 17 Mian. the Mian. 

" 29 M ir Fateh Khan. Mir Fateh Ali Khtin. 

169 41 Mehrahpur. Mehrabpur. 

173 10 :Mihrab. :Mehrtib. 

179 38 Frerenamah. The Frerenamah. 

180 9 :Mir Fateh Khan. :Mir Fateh Ali Khan. 

190 27 bring out. bring about. 

195 16 fight. flight. 

204 :H. jied in. fled to. 
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HISTORY OF SIND. 

VOLUME II. 

CHAPTER I.• 

KrrALfFAns on. SuccF.sson.s OF MuHAMMAD AND 
TIIEIR LihUTBNANTS IN SrNn.t 

As has been relatccl at the close of the :First Volume, 
Lieutenanli of t:mmci<lt after the conquest of Sind by Mu· 

KJ .. !ilniH in ~ind. hammacl Kasim and the de!!th of 
that Gcn('ral, agents appointed by him remained in charge 
of diiYen•nt. di, i~ions of Siud, and of these Ahnaf son of 
Kais son ol' Rnmih As·adi was then the governor of Al6r, 
which wn~ 1 he chic£ division. For two years, these gov­
ernors continued quietly to rule the country; but alter 
that periocl, rebellion began to spread throughout the 
kingdom. However, the part of the country, from Deb:il­
pur t to tl1e SPashore remained in the possession of the 
governors of hM.m. Soon after, AbU IIafas Kutaibiah 
son of Muslim was sent by I:Iajjaj, the governor of Irak, 
nnd be compelled those of the tribes that had not yet 
become con verts to Is him, to pay the fixed tribute, and 
then went away to Khurilsim, leaving agents to make the 
colle<.'tions. Shortly after, Tamim son of Zaid came for 
the same pm•pose on behalf of llajjt\j. In ~6 A. II. 
(714 A. D.) in the reign of Khalifah Sulairruin, Amir son 

. of Abdulhih was nppoiuted to the Government of Siud, and 
iu 100 A.IL (A.D. 718), in the reign of Khalifall. Umar 
sou of Abdul Aziz, U mar son of Muslim was sent to C'lrry 
on a religious war in llind, and he succeeded in capturing 
seveml towns aud converting several princes of Sind 
to Muhammadanism, who, however, reverted to their 
religion in the reign of Khalifah I:Inshtim. Hasham's 
son Sulaiman, being defeated by the army of MarwfLD, 

•l'hi• olmptor is tnkon from tho i'uhfutulkirnm, 
t Thou.~h tho ordinary pt•onolmciation is Sindh, I propos~ writing it liS 

Siud, ns is dono in l'ot•si•tn books, iu whiuh Siud rhymes wit.h Hind, 
l Al•o written Dipulpu1·. 
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fled to Sind wl\('re he rQmnined till tho Klwlifnt.c fell to 
the lot of s;fiih the first of the Abbaside Khnlli'nh~, when 
he hastened back home and joined him, as will be noticed 
below. Finally Marwan sent Abdul Khath\b on his 
behalf to Sind. 

• Tbus ended the rule of the lieutenants of the Ummcide 
Khalifahs in Sind, which lasted for 40 yeal's, from 03 to 
133 A. H. (711 to 750 A. D.) 'l'hcn followed the lieu ten· 
ants of Abbaside Khalifnhs. But before we proceed to 
give an account of these, it would be better to give hy 
way of recapitulation, the names of the U mmeide Khnli· 
fahs in suc .. ession, and to describe the lnst event by which 
the Kha\Hate passed from their hands to those of the 
A bbaside Khalitahs. 

We have seen that the first four successors of the 
.Arabian Prophet, ~I ulwmm:Hl, were 

Ummoidc Khallf•l" euu· Ab • ll k U 1 ~ · 1 '1' mcrntcd. u :1 ·r, mar, usmau llll( "~I. 
Ali was succeeded hy his eldest son 

Hasan, who was compelled to abdicate in f:n·our o[ 
Muawiynh son of Abi Sili(m, the go;cmor of Sh£un (Syria), 
who thus became the fir~t of the U mmeidcs.• That line 
of Khalifn.hs. consisted of the following H men :-

1. Mnawiyah bin Abi Sifian, ... died A.H. GO (A.D. 679). 
2. Yazid bin Mnawiyab ... A.H. 6-t (A.D. 6S3). 
3. Mmiwiyah bin Yazid ... A.H. G4 (A.D. G~3). 
4. Marwan bin Haka:n ... A. H. 65 (A.D. 6~~). 
5. Al.lul Malik bin Uarw:l.n ... A. H. 86 (A.D. 705). 
6. Wa\ld bin AbJnl Malik ... A.H. 96 (A.D. 714). 

•.The UmmoiJ~s or. Bani Umminh (the children of Umminh) dorivo 
tbcU' name from lJmmmh, who was n ""nnJson of Abd '[ 'f •! t 

d! th 
' f h p h' " 111111 •• 10 1(1'1'11 

g~an ·" cr o ~ c ropbet, and Muawiynh WM n great ndsou of thill 
lJ mnuah, Tbe1r short genoological tree stnude 118 follow~-

• Abd Mnnil.f. 

Hbhim. 
1 

Abdul Mutlib. 
I 

Abu Talib. 

J. 
Abdullah. 

I 
Muhummad. 

Abd l:ihawe. 
I 

Ummiub. 
I 

.G. Abu! As. 
AJau, l:InJum. 

I I 
U 1wtlu. Murwuu. 

Khnrb. 
I 

A.btt Sifiuo. 
I 

'Mutiwiynb. 
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7. Sulaimi\n bi1~ Abdul ~lalik ... A.H. !JO (A.D. 717). 
8. Umar bin Abdul Azlz 6in Marwan A. II. 101 (A.D. 71\'/), 
!1. Yazitl bi"' Abdul Malik ... A.B. 105 (A.D. 723). 

10. Hashlim bitt Abdul Malik ... A.H.l25 (A.D. 742). 
11. Walid bin Yazid ... A.B. 126 (A.D 743). 
12. Yazid hin Walid bin Abdul Malik A.H. 127 (A.D. 744). 
13. Ibrli.hlm bi"' Walld ... A.H. 127 (A.D 744), 
U. Marwtin bi11 Mtthatumad bin ~larwnn A.H. 132 (A.D. 749). 

It was in the time of the last Khalifah, Marwiin, whc 
Pawug of tho KiliCate ha.d received the nickname of .;11 

fro•• t~c Urameid .. to tho Htmar (or the Donkey), that Zahha~ 
Abbiatdeo. of the family of Bakr son of Wabil 
raised the standard of revolt, and about 10,000 mt:~n joined 
him and proclaimed Sulaiman son of Hasham to be thE 
rightful Kh..'\lifah. Sulaiman, with 70,000 men unde1 
him, marched against :Mar1van but was defeated by him. 
30,000 men were killed in this battle and a large numbe1 
of the rebel army fell into the hands of Marwan whc 
killed all the freemen and sold all the slaves. Sulaiman 
collected another army, and once mort~ marched against 
:hfarwan. This time too he wns defeated. Ho now went 
and joineol Z:~hhllk and took Kltfah. Proceeding to Musal 
he killed Zahh{Lk. Being s:ill pursued by Marwan's troops 
he fled to to Khu!'lisan and thence to Sind. 

About the same time Ahu Muslim revolted in Khurasan. 
He sent a strong army to Ir:ik, where it joined the other 
rebels, and appointed Satfab Abblisi to be the Khalifah at 
Kufah. Satfah sent a large army uncler his uncle Abclul· 
l:ih son of Ali. Abbasi to MU.sal to fight against Marwan. 
liere many battles were fought that ended in the defeat 
or Marwan, who fled to Syria, pursued by an army oE 
Abdullah. From Syria Marwan crossed to Africa, where 
in a village on the Nile he was murdered by Amir son of 
lszn!iil, one of Abdulhih's men, who had come to the place 
for the purpose, This was in 132 A. H. (749 A.D.) 

After Safl'ah was proclaimed Khal1fah, Sulaiman bin 
Hasham returned from Sind and joined Saffnh, but he was 
soon killed. And thus ended the line of Bani Ummiah 
the Khalifatc of which is said to have lasted for one 
thousand months. 
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We have seen that S:1ffih was the first Ah h:hide Kha· 
lifah.• In all, 37 Khalifahs from 

The AhM..ide Kblllilahe this line occupied the throne. 1Juring 
enume.n.ted. the time of the first 25, Sind rem 1incd 
in the hands of their lieutenants, and then it. passed away 
to other princes. We shall therefore enumerate here the 
first 25 Khalifahs only, giving their short titles only by 
which they are generally known, and not tlleir full 
names.t They are,-

1. Saffnh, who got the throne in 12•1 A. H. (i43 A.D;) and dicil 
in 136 A. H. (i53 A.D.) 

2. MansU.r! (Saffah's brother) died in 158 A. H. (774 A.D.) 
3. :Mah.li bin MansU.r ... ... 1G9 (i85). 
4. Htidi bin Ma.hdi ... 170 (i8G). 

5. Rashid (or Harun AI Rash!d) bin Mahdi • . . I !13 (808). 

6. A min bi11 Hiir(m Rashid ••• 198 (81:1). 
7. Mamun bin Harun . .. ... 218 (833). 
8. Muatasim bin H.aruo •.. 229 (841). 
9. Wasik bin Muatasim ... • .. 2:1:1 (8-!7). 

10. Mutawakkil bin Muata.sim ... 247 (Sul). 
11. Muntasir bin Mutawakkil • .. 2 ~8 (HG2). 
12. Musta-in bin Muhammad bin Mun.ta.sim • .. 251 (8G5). 
13. Muta-izz bin Mntawakkil ... 2ti5 (8!\S). 
14. Muht.1dl bin W lisik ... • .. 25G (tlG!J). 
15. MuatamiJ bin Mutawakkil . . . 279 (8!12). 
16. ~luatazid bin :Mutawakkil ... 2K9 (fJOl). 
17. Muktaff bin Muatazid • .. 295 t907). 
18. Muktadir bin Muatazid . .. 32tl (!!:32). 

• Salfah, meaning 'the murderer' is only tho nickname of tho m,m. 
His name was A.bdulluh and ho goi that nickname hce:.uijo ho hnd olain n 
large number of Ummcides. Abdulbih wa" tho Ron of Muh:unmnd who 
was the son of Al~ who waa the snn of Ahdull:ih, who Wll!l tho son of 
Abbas, the oncle of l'rophet Muhammad. 'rho whole line tnkes its 
name from this Abbt\s. Saffah's grandfather A.H wns fh·;t ~;ivon nn 
estate by the Khalifa.h of tho time in tho villa•o of Hamimnh iu tho 
district of Damuscus. In tho reign of }farwun "when Abu Muslim ro· 
volted, he brought the A.bbW.idcs to the throne bnt llfnrwan killetl some 
of their members, and so Safftlh and others ftod to Kufuh whore Saffub. 
was ultimately proclJiimcd nH tho KhnHfnh. 

t For example, the full title of No. 2 M.tlmlln ie Mansur Bill~h, aud of 
No.lO, Mutawakkil A.lallah. 

tIt may be noted here that it was this Mausll.r who built tho prosout 
city of Baghdad in 14.6 A.H. (762 A.D.) 
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19. Kflhir Billiih bin M uata2id died in 321 (933). 
20. Rtt.ZI bi1t Mnktadir ... • .. 329 (941). 
21. Muttaki bin Muktadir ... 333 (944). 
22. Mustakfi bin Muktndir ... 3:34 (045). 
23. Mutli bin Muktadir ... ... 363 (973.) 
21:. T nyei 'bin M ut!i ... 382 (992). 
25. Kildir Billt\h bin Ishtik bin Muktadir ... 4~2 (1030). 

We need not mention here the remaining 12 Khallfahs 
of this line, as we are not concerned with them. It wiU 
be enough to say that the last of them l\Iusta~sim Billuh 
died in 651 A. H. (1253 A. D.), and that it was in hi~ 
reign that the celebrated 'fartar prince llalukti Klul.n, by 
order of his brother Manku Kuun• marched against Ba~h­
dtid with a large army and dethroned that last Abb!l.side 
Khalirah, and took possession of his country. 'l'he re· 
maining Ahbaside princes then continued their rule only 
in Andalusia (tipain). 

The first Khalifah of this line, Saffab, in the year 
Licut<Mnt.a of theAbh!- tl33S~· dll. (7d50 tA. Dk .)bsentf an arthm~ 

•itlo Khalifaha iu Siud. o In an oo . y orce · a 
pro1ince from the lieutenants of the 

U mmeide Khalifahs. Four years after that, Khalffah 
:Mansur, (No. l!}, sent another army for the same purpose 
to Hind and Sind. In the reign of Harlin Rashid, (No. 5), 
Musa Barmaki was appointed Governot of Sind. As he 
was very liberal and gave away what he acquired, he was 
recalled and dismissed, and Ali son of fsa son of Ilaman 
was sent to succeed him. It was in his time that the 
fortified town of '!'harrah in the district of Sak6rah, the 
t.~wn of Bakar and some other places in the westem part of 
Sllld wm·e taken by Shekh A btl 'l'ur<ib, whose mausoleum, 
togethcL' with tho tombs of some other persons slain at 
the time, is still 1isited. 'l'he dome over the remains of 
this great Suckh bears the date 171 A. H. (787 A. D.) 
denoting the year in which it was built. It was in this 
Shekh's time that the ancient town of Bhanbh6r whose 
founder is said to be kin<> Bhimbh6l'ti.i and some other 
towns were ruined by an ea"rthquake. Ali was succeeded 
~y Abul Abbas, who retained the governship for a long 
t1me. In the reign of Khalifah Mumun, (No. 7), some 

' Somotimos they nro pronounced llalalg4 nud M1111gu. 
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annexations wcrc made to Sincl from ndjru~cmt parts of 
llind. After that, time sever:~! mcmhers of tho Trihe of 
'fa.mim were sent from Baghd;id in suct~ession, as lieute· 
nant~ of the Khalifahs. About the same time many 
Arah families !\'.Siding at Simrah emigrated t.o Sind along 
witl1 'fumim and his descenclants and beca'nc permarwnt 
residents of that country. They were so domiciled and 
naturalized that from the name of 1'amim, a native tribe 
of Tllflhl11u sprang up and from the people of Samarah a 
vast tribe of Slim,•ahs spread throughout the country, 
many of whom held chieftainships of different places, for 
a period of over 200 years, paying tribute to the Mussal· 
man rulers of the country. It was only after the lieute· 
nants of the kings of Ghazni and GMr had p:u~sed away, 
that they seizec\ the reins of the Government of tho 
euuntry and became independent. W a shall therefore 
speak of them later on. 

In the year 381 A. H. (9!)1 A. D.) Ktidir Billll.h became 
P 

. ,.,_ Khlifah. • He was contemporary 
""'mg of tbe uu<Ornor• 'tJ h l 1. t d S lt M 'd 

ohlpofSin<lfrom tho agentoo W1 1 t e CC Oura e U an abmu 
of tbo.Khalif•h• ~ tbos• of of Ghazni who invaded India twelve 
the K.i.tgo of Dohl• • 1 k j 

hmes. A rupture too p actl beL ween 
those two contemporary princes originating in a litera­
ry matter it ended in important political results. 'l'ho 
event is well known to the students of Persian literature. 
It is this. Poet .Fird6s1 of Tit,;, the author of Shahrui.mah, 
had writt.en that book at the request of Sultan Mahmt\cl 
and in the hope of recc1iving a princely reward that had 
been promised to him. But on his completion of the task 
which is said to have taken 30 years of his life, he got a 
very meagre compensation. B~ing annoyed at this be 
wrote a very cutting satire on Sultin MahmUd and then 
left his. country. When the satire oame to Malunucl's 
hands h1s rage knew no bounds. He sent his men to sdze 
I.U:d?si, but he was out of his reach. '!'hat poet, aft~r 
VLSttmg some other places, betook himself finally to 
Baghdad, where .he ~ecured the protection and patrona<>e 
of Khalifah Kad1r Billah. MahmUd learning the wh " 
abouts of Fird6si S?nt an envoy to the Khalifah re uest~r~ 
that the poet be g1ven up to him, but this the Jhalu:h 

1 His fullllllllle was Abu! A hM. 4 r.~.J 



7 

rcrnsecl to rlo.• This enrnge(l "The Lion of Ghaznt." He 
inl'ndt•d tlw kingdom of the Khalifahs and took possession 
of ccrtnin parts. It was about the midclle of the month 
of Unmnz{m 416 A. IT. (1025 A. D.) that Sultan Mahmud, 
st:u·ting from his mountnnious home of Ghaznl, in order 
to in valle and conquer I:lindustan, came to "the land of 
the five rivers " and took the forfeited towns of M ultan 
anti Uch, dril'ing nwny the agPnts of Khalifah Kadir 
llillilh. ~'rom Multan he sent his Wazir Abdurrazak with 
an army to conquer Sind. During the course of the next 
year, the Wazir carried his successful arms to the towns 
of Schwim and Tatti1,t ~uhduing the opposin~ tribes and 
driving nwny the Arabs from the tonntry. From among 
those, who had formed their permanent homt•s tllere, and 
were harmless and deserving of patronage, he appointed 
officers with proper nllowunces on behnlf of the Sultan 
nud himself left the pluce. 

Thus ended the rule of the Arabs in Sind, or rather of 
the liPutonants of the AbiJ:bide Khalifahs, which is said 
to ha vc la~tod for 283 ycurs. 

CllAP'l'E R Il.i 

GIIAZNf Gn6n. AND KmLJf KINGS OP Dttttft 
AND TllEIR LIEU'fENANTS IN SIND, 

'!'here were 14 princes in nll, of the house of Ghazn1, 
p,.· 1 tb b 

1 
who cnme to the throne of Khurasan 

IDCOa 0 C 0\JI(l o :"\" d , , 1 d h h 
Oluuml, who,. licllltll<lllt. and held :SID In their IBD S t mug 
G"'"" cd ijiud. Mohwl.d t)leir .! O'ents or lieuttnants. They 
tUJd olLf'rs, o 

are gircn here including Sultan Mah· 

• It is well known thnt Mnhmdd sent hia mesllllgll in these words:-
"lf you do not give up Fird<ls(, I ehall annihilnte you under the 

fcot of elephants." 1'0 thi~ tho Khnlifnh replied in the words of 
!I verso of the Kornn, which Mya "Have you not seen what your 
Got! diu to tho owners of tl1o cl~phnnts P ''.referring to a scrip· 
tuml event in which tho men with their eleplmuts were nil 
dcsh•oyod untler stones thrown over them by littlo birds 
(ewullows), 

t The original correct pronoundntion of the'o nnmos is Srwhtln nnd 
Thnttah, but wo shall use the ordinnry spelling, Schw1\n nnd Tntt1i. llut 
Wo ahnll U80 Dehli for Dl'lhi wl1ich is wrong nut! so L1llu\r for L1•horo. 

! This Clmplcr is taken from tho ~'m•ild1 llfnnsum( with tho cxcojltion 
of tho lirijt pnrn, which iij f1·om tho 'l'uhfntulkinim. 
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mud who was the third, his father Sa 1m ktagi.o being the 
first,'• and his brother Ismail, the second. 

1. Sabuktagin(Nasiruddin),from367 A.H.(U77 A.~1·{~~~~~7 f.J~) 
2. IsmaH bin Sabuktag!n 
3. Mahmud bin Sabuk~1g(u 
4. ]lfuhnmmad bin ~lahmud 
5. Mas ud hin Mahmu•i 
6. t liS\ldi1d bin Masi1tl 
7. Ali bin Mas-U.d 
8. Abudurra.~hf,I bin Mahmi1d 
9. F,1rn1khz:i11n'n Abdurrashid ... 

10. ~Ibrahim bin MMud 
n. Mas-ud bin Ibrahim 
12. ShlrzM bin Mas-ud ... 
1:3. Ars;llan~hah bin Mas-u.! 
U. Bahramshah hi11 Mas-utl 
l!i. Khusr6slulh bin l:lahrlimsluih ... 
16. Khusr6 Malik bill Khusroshah 

3S7 (i.19i). 

421 (1030). 
435 (1M3). 
437 (1015). 
441 (lO·l·!J). 
443 (JO.il). 
4H (105~). 
461 (105~). 

403 (1 onn), 
' 509 (lll5). 

5\19 (1115). 
512. (lll8'. 
547 (ll-'i21. 
5:>5 ( lliiO). 
683 (1187). 

In the 7th vear of Khusr6's rei~n, i.e., in 583 A.U. 
(1187 A.D.) Gl;ayasuddin,§ Kin~ of Ghor, invaded In,Jia 

' It may be noted here that the house of Gh;uni succeeded t~1~t ."~ 
S:lmnnis. Sabuktagin was a slaro of .A.Iabtngm, ono of the Sarn:tm 
noblemen, who in the reign of Mansur, tha i:lst but ouc king of tl.'o 
house of S:\mani, got suspicions about him and lcal'ing the Governoflllup 
of Khurasiin came to Ghazni, lrhere he established l•imsel£ ns a chief 
or a ruler. On hi< death ho was succeeded by his slavo Sabuktagiu, who 
had become his son-in-law too. Thi11 house l'lllcd for 155 yean;. 

t The Tarikh Mansumi gil·es:4ll A. H. as the date of Uaodud'e d<'ath, 
.and saya that on his death he was succeeded by Majdud, who dit·d nt 
J,ah6r and was succeeded by Khusro. It omits nil tho prim·cs from 
No, 6 tt 13 because no lieutenants were sent to Sind during their time. 

l Sultan Ibr.lliim is said to hare had 36 sons and 40 daugh!et·s. 

§ Ghayasuddin was the 3rd of the 5 kings of tho house of Glu\r, tl,o 
firflt tw? being Al~ud~in and Saifnddin, who reigned for 16 and 7 ycm'!l 
respecttvely. Alauddm was the son of llusaiu, a slave of Mnlun«<l 
Ghar:navf. In the reign of Sultan Mnsud bin Ibrahim Husain waH 
~ppom~ed .the Gover.no~ of G!16r,' his .n~tive country. As the rule of 
Ghazm prmces WiUI m 1ts declme Husam s eon Alauddin tried to make 
himself independent and with that object in view, he fou~ht with 
Sultan Bahr:lmsb.nh, (No. 13), and defeated him. In544. A. H. however 
he was taken pnsonor by Sultan l:ianjat• of l'Ul•kistun nnd was subsc· 
quently restored to the rulcrship of Ghar. 
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and succceilcd in clethroning Khusr6 at Lah6r and taking 
him a prisoner. He sent him to Ghazni and killed all the 
members of the house of Ghazni who fell into his hands. 

After conquering some parts of Hindustan, Gbayasud-
. din Gh6ri, when returning to Khura. 

Prmces of tho hou•~ of san died at Hir.it in 599 A H 
Oh6r, who ruled ~ 1 n d ' • 
th~·ugh their licuton•nta, (1202 A.D.) Some say he died in 
Oh,,r•·"''d·Jin nud Shaha· ·s·) A H (1186 AD) and as b · d 
bud<liu.• 0 "' • • • • W · urte 

in the dome which stood in the big 
mosque of the place. He was succeeded by his brother 
Shah{tburldin, who proceeded with an army to Hindustan, 
took i\l.lltltan and Uch and appointed Kutbuddfn Ahikt to 
I·~ad an expedition a~ainst Sind. Accordingly Kutbuddin 
came to Sind and conquered it in the course of 3 months, 
and leaving Saiful 1\laluk as Governor in charge of that 
province started for Dehli, where he joined Sultan Shaha­
hucldin, who after conquering several towns and forts, 
took possesion of Dehll, which, since that time became the 
capital city, of Hindustan. Shahabuddin put Kutbnddl.n 
on the throne of Dehll and himself returned to Khurasan, 
as he hnd received the s:.~d news of the death of his brother 
1\Iaghfimddin.~ 

While in his native countrv, Shahabuddin commenced 
the organization of an experliti•m to be ready in 3 years 
time, to go to 'furkist{m. While these preparations were 
gr,iug on, he heard thqt a party of Kh6khars had revolted 
in tbe direction of L:ih6r and hastening to the spot, he 
punished the riug.lcaders. But on hi~ return, when nPar 
the village of Darnik, he fell under the dagger of a 
headman of Kh6khars. His reign lasted for 32 years 

• Tho following aro tho princes of tho hou.se of Gh6r, who ruled in 
Hiudustun-

1. Ahluddin (Jn.Mnstiz) 

2. So.ifuddin bin Al&uddin ... 
8. Glmyusuddin (nephow to AMuddin) 

... 647 A.H. (1152 A.D.) 
Died 550 A.B. (1155 A.D.) 

.. 552 (1157) 

4. Shnluibuddin (brothot• to Ghn.ytlsuddiu) 
582 (1186) 
611 (1215} 
611 (1215) 5. Mahmdd (nophow to Sh11hahuduln) ... 

t More properly it is lbn.k. 

tIn aomo bouks it is Su!Lilu Muiz~uddin, aud in some Muzduddin. 

11305-2 
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and some months, reckoning from the eor.qurst of Ghaznt 
He lelft a dau.,hter to inherit a brgp treasure of gold, 
Rilver and jewels. He is said to have had 500 maunds 
of beautiful diamonds. From this the amount of money 
in his possession may be guessed. lie invaded India 9 
times; twice he was defeated but seven times he was sue­
ces&ful. He was pious, kindhearted and just. He resp· 
coted good nnd wise men and patronized them in every way. 

When Kutbuddin heard of the death of Shah:ihuddln 
Kutbuddin l'bak. he proclaimed himself as an indepen· 

dent king of Dehli under the name 
of KutbudJ.in Beg Rashid, and he forcibly secured posses· 
sion of the whole of Hind and Sind. After a reign of 
14 years, he was killed in 607 A.H. (1210 A.D.) by a f:ill 
fl'Qm hi& horse on a racing ground at Lah6r. • 

On the death of Kutbuddin, the nobles of Dehll put his 
A'nim•hllh oin Kutbud<lw, son A'rilmsl.tib on. the throne, but 

they soon found hun to be a weak 
prince and incapable of ruling such a large empire. They 
therefore sent for Shamsuudin Eltamish and raised hitn 
to.the t~rone instead .o~ Ara~slHih. 1'he whole empire of 
Rmdustim was then diVIded mtu four parts or divisions. 

(!) The central part, with Dehli as its capital was "'iven to 
Shamsuudin Eltami-h. 1 o 

(2) Uch, }fultan anu ~ind remained in the hands of NB.siruudir 
Kaha·chah.t I 

(3) Lakhn.ao was secured by the princes of the houses of Kl 'I'' . 
aud n Jl, 

(4) L~~6r, with the surrounding country came to th 1 t f 
'IaJuuilin y e!Joz. ' e o o ---

• Kutbnd~ln was ca!led I'bak, becauRe ho had lost his little fit ' 
He was the first of the l:llave Rings, who anccecded the Gl . , K' )7cr 
narnce of all the prttH'es of thiR line are given bel . . ::;rr tngiJ. 1 ho 
to them is made in th~ following pngcs :- 011 tn o er, tiS rcfcrenco 

1. Kutbuddin rbak, ascended the throno in A H 
2. Ar:lmahuh (hia son) D07 (l2iO) · • 002 (A.D.l2UG). 
3. Shamsuddin Eltamiah 607 (12Li) 
4. R~knuddin (son of No.3) 63!3 (1236). 
5. Rrz!ah Begum (da_nghter of No, 3) 6:!4 (1236) 
6. Muuzuddln Dahrurnehuh (son of N 3 . · 
7. ~~~~ddin ,1fasudobab I son o£ No.'4)' do6(;jl2 (1230). 
8. Nastruddm MahmGd G4~ (124G) · 41), 
9. Ghaywmdilin Dalban 664 c1266) · 

10, Kaikabad •on of Dakru Khan (a~n f N 
9 tHo waa ~on·in·law to Sultan Kntbudd!n~ o. ) 685 (1286). 
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About the s:J.me time a drt:tchment of tl1e army of 
N.t.iruddfu K•h"'lt•h. Chqn~oz Khan arrived to fight with 

N asiruddin. • The latter being un· 
able to meet. the enemy in the open field, put himself into 
the fort of Mult{m, to whicl1 the Mughuls instantly laid 
seige. The blockade lasted for 40 days, after which 
period the belligerents finding it not an easy task to take 
tho fort turned back. Nasiruddin now remained in an 
undisturbed possession of Sind and was soon joined· by 
several chiefs of Gh6r and Khiljf, who had been obliged 
to leave their country owing to the disturbance caused by 
Changez Khan. Nasiruddin tried his best to gain the 
good will of these chiefs by bestowing favours upon them. 
In 6~3 .A..H. (l226 A.D.), however, Malak Khan Khilji, 
with his men, invaded Sind and took possession of Sehmin 
and other places. Nasiruddin proceeded to meet him. 
He killed :Malak Khan in battle, but he soon had to face 
a stron~er em'my, viz., Shamsuddin Eltamish, who in 
624 A.H. (1227 A.D.) sent his wazir Nizamulmulk Mu· 
bammad son of As·ad against Uch. In the course of the 
next year, the wazir quietly took possession of that town 
and proceeded to Bakhar in order to take that fort. 
N asiruddfn Kabachah, who was nt the latter place, now 
lost heart and ficd by boat but was accidentally drowned 
in tho river. 

Since 624 A. :Ei:. (1227 A. D.) Nizamuimulk had remained 
SblllllJluddln Utomiab. i~ charge of the administration of 

. Smd. In 630 A. H. (1232 A. D.) 
Shamsuddfn appointed N6.ruddin Muhammad to be the 
governor of the province and himself returner!. to Dehli, 
where he died on Monday, 20th of Shuaban 633 .A. II. 
(1235 .A. D.J 

ln 637 A. H. (1239 A. D.) Mas-tid Shah son ofFer6zuddln 
ascended the throne of DohH. Iu 

di~ .. fid Shah ~in Fer.S.ud· 613 A.ll. (12·15 A. D,) it was reportecl 
. to him that the Mughals hnd invaded 

Sind and laid siege to the fort of Uch. Mas·\td Shah 
therefore immediately started to defend the place. Hearing 
o( his approach, the Mughals fled to Khurasan by the 

1 Changez Khan is tho title of tho colebrnted Mughul prince or Khuu 
of Turkistlin, whoso nmno is Tnmo·chin. Ho was tho sou of BcsUku 
&hlidur, baiug boru illli49 A.li. (1164 A.D.} 
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· , , h t rd to Bnkhnr dismi~~rd 
Indu~diM~~~a::~/n~~ a";;ointml Jal{tluclclin as the 
N urn n f s· d n' A then roturned towards Dehli. At 
governor o 1n • • . · · · J · kin"' 
Multan he made a long stay, spending .his tunTlm ( r;j, f 
liquor with so:ne of his boon compan~ons I e. no , .( s o 
the state seeing the profligate behav10ur of d~h~~lrw~ed 
sent secret messa.,.es to Masud's uncle Nasirud m a ,mu 
who was at Babcij, entreating him to COllle and occupy 
th'e throne. Accordingly he came to Dehli and on S~n<h~y, 
the 23rd of Muhrram 644 A. H. (1246 A. D.) Mnsudshall 
was taken prisoner. After two days Nasiruddin w~s 
proclaimed king of the country. Shortly after Mnsud 
SM.h died. 

For the first 4 years of his reign Ni~iruddin ruled the 
countrv quietlv. In the first vear, 

N&siruddln Mahm6d 6m 649 A.' H. (121h .A. D.), the 2~~d. of 
· ShamsuddlnEII.mlioh. Shawwal, he started from Dehli Wlth 

a large army to Lih6r, Multan, Uch and Bakhar. lie 
even proceeded as far as Sehwan, where he appointed 
Kalich Khan to be the ruler of the place. Next he left the 
a<!ministration of Ucll and Multan in the hands of Sanjar, 
and himself returned to Dehli. Sortlv aft~>rwar1ls Nitsirud­
din made preparations to go to Lakhnao, b1rt as his 
ministers did not consid1•r his absence from the capitnl 
expedient, he deputed Jalaluddin to go with an army and 
subdue the rebellious people of the place. 

About the close of 656 A. H. (1258 A. D.) an army of 
Mughals invaded Uch and Multim. Nasiruddin hasten .. d 
to expel them, but the former retreated without any 
engagement, So the king returned to his capital. 

It is ~aid of N asiruddin t?at he was a very good writer, 
or copf1St, He used to wrtte two copies of tlie Koran n. 
year and the proceeds realized by the sale of the same he 
utili~ed for h~ kitchen expenses, as they were the lawful 
earmngs by hts own manual labour. Once the kin<> learnt 
that a ~py of,the Koran written by him was purchased at 
a. very h~gh P;t~ by a nobleman, and so he ordered that i11 
future hlS wrtti?gs be sold secr~Jtly and at a low price. He 
h~d ouly one Wlfe and no concubiue, and she used to cook 
his food. On.o~e oceasio~, she complained to him that her 
hands were gmng her pam and suggested that a female 
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slave might be purchased to serve as a cook. But the 
king r(•plied that he did not consider it proper to spend 
money on private account from the public Treasury. 

Nasirud<lin died on the 15th of J nmadisslmi, 664 A. II. 
(1265 A.D.) after a reign of 19 years, 3 months and some 
days. He had no issue. 

Ghayasuddin a slave of Sham~uddin Elt.amish, was 

Obayisuddln. 
next placed on the throne of Dehli, 
vacated by Nasiruddin. He held all 

the divisions of his kingdom with a firm grasp and began 
to rule the count.ry on very good and just principl~s of 
law. Many desolate places Wl:'re populated in his day~. 
The roads were thrown open to free traffic and communi­
cation. 'l'he tro:>ps were paid regularly. In short he 
was a very wise and able king. 

In the very commencement o£ his reign be deputed his 
son flultan Muhammad to rule the provinces of Lah6r, 
Multan and part of Sind. This young prince was himself 
pious and learned, and was fond of men known for pier.y 
and learning. He passed a great pnrtion of his time in 
the company of Shekh BaM-uddln, Zakariyya• and Shekh 
Fariduddin Shakarg:mj, the celebrated saints of the time 
and of Amir Khmr6t and Amir llasan, the celebrated 
poets and learned men of Dehli The latter he treated as 
his courtiers, giving them regular monthly allowances and 
periodical rewards. When on one occasion Shekh Usm:in 
Marwandi, the biggest saint of Sind, who is known as L:il 

• Shekh Balu\nddin is the celebr~tcd Saint of Multnn, whose tomb is 
vi8ited by thOit81lUds of people up to thi8 day. He Wl\8 a disciple of 
Shekh ShnhAbuddin Sohrwnrtli. He died in 360 A.H. (970 A,D.) He 
was eu~ceedcd by his son Shckh Sndrnddin. who wns succeeded by his eon 
Shekh Huknuddin, nnd he by his son Shekh Ismiiil. It was Shckh Ismail 
the second, a great grandson of this Ismail, who in 74S A.H. (1:!47 
A.D.) wns put on tho tlu'Ouo of l\I ultun, but wns killed, after two years, 
M will bo noticed below. (Tulifallllkircim), 

t Am(r Khusro Dohlaw! is a celebmted poot and a pious mnn. He is 
Bll.id to hnvo written about 500,000 l'eraes and 99 books. He Wl\8 n native 
of Hnztlrah (Dnlkh), l!o Wl\8 the son of Ami~ Ltlchin, who cnmo to 
Hitul. He lVIII! n diaciplo of Shokh Niztimmldin Aoliytl, whose favourite 
ho hnd becoroo. · Ho lived in tho reigns of aovon kings-from SultUn 
Gimytlsuddin Bnlbau to Sulttin TagWaklililih (TuhfAtulkirdm). 



ShahbMz Knlnnd~r,• cnmc to :Uultan, tl1e king rocciml 
him with markt!d reverence and er.treated him to make a 
loner stay in the city. But that. saint could not comply 
with his request and went away without tarrying long 
there. On another occasion, when in a singing part.y in 
which Shekh Bahauddin Znkariyya's verses \Vere being 
rehearsed in the presence of his two sons, 8hekh U smtin 
and Shekh Sadrudclin, while many of the sflint's followers 
be<>an to sing and dance in an ecstasy, the kin~ out of res· 
p~t stood weeping bitterly with his hand on his breast. 

It is said that r::hayasucldin had been married to o. 
daughter of Sultan Shamsuddin. Once in a moment of 
spiritual frenzy Ghayasuddln d1vorced his wife thrice, but 
when he returned to his usual mood he repented of what 
he had done. And as according to the Muhammndrm 
Law he could not have her as his wife again before she 
was married to another person, it was arranged that the 
princess be married to Shekh Sadruddin, in tho hope that 
that pious man would not hesitnie to divorce her a!min 
without touching her, for the pleasure of the King. But 
after the girl was taken as a bride to the Shekh'a housP, 
she. would not r~turn to the palace of the King, whose 
whtms and frenztes had greatly tried her patience. She 
cried aloud calling that pious man to help her and not to 
throw her again into the clutches of her former hushand. 
The Shekh was so mnoh moved at her entreaties thnt he 
flatly refused to div~rce her a.ccording to thP. previous 
arrsngement. The Kmg therefore revenged himself on 
the saint for that breach of promise. 

It is also said of this King that twice he sent messen· 
ge~s.from M.ultan ~o Shekh Sandi, the celebrated poet of 
Shuaz,t who was hlS contemporary, inviting him to come 

F~~~ ~ ~~edof1hthe four IIIIMintsk,hdwho, wJI!en living-, were called ;:-r.;;;; 
- ey were 4 um ·1ItU J h' · Sl kl 

Marwandi, !lbekh Farid ~hnhrgnnj and' Shekha B~!~nddl·e zl k Usrru\n 
He ~me» M.ulttln in 633 A.H .(1264 A.IJ.) Poets ~ n ' 11 nr_ryya. 
Amtr Hasan of IJebli, were his COilBtaut . . mlr KhW<ro ur.d 
Schwan, where he settled for h.ia life He di~;rto~73 ~oHtheu CtLmo to 
(Tuhfatullciram). ' 10 • • • (127·~ A.D.) 

tRia nam~ Wll8 Mualibudd!n and 11'118 the son of Abd 
learned man of his time, a poet and a saint. He had •Jll:lh .. ll~ wnsa 
~ Mecca, all on foot. 1fu age is said to bo I!O l~o 14 ptlgrrmn~oo 
m 690 A.H. (12ltl A.D.) or yoar~. l:!o died 



15 

to 1\Iultan and make a permanent. residence there. But 
as the Shekh was a vel'y old man he could not come, and 
instead, he sent a boat full of his compositions and a 
letter of recommond;jtion for A.mfr Khusr6 of Dehli, who 
had become his special friend. 

In 683 A..H. (1284 A..D.) Changez KMn sent Kut!ugh 
and Taimur with a large army to Hindustan. When 
they arrived within the limits of Lah6r, Sultan Ghayasud. 
din's son :Muhammad went with 30,000 men to meet 
them. A. battle ensued in which prince Muhammad was 
slain, but the :Mughal army was defeated and Kutlugh 
and 'l'aim{tr left the eountry. Gbayasuddfn left his grand 
son Kni Khusr6 to rule .Multan and Sind in place of his 
father Muhammad, and himself passf'd his time quietly, 
bewailing the loss of his son. He died in 685 A.R. (1286 
A.D.) 

J ahiluddin, the son of Fer6z Khiljl was one of Sultan 

Jntnluddin Khilj1.0 
Ghnynsudd!n's servants. 'fhe Khiljid 
are said to have been descended from 

Khaljl Khan. This Julaluddin was a brave man but 
possrssed vm-y little wisdom. By slow degrees, however, 
he won his way unrl in 688 A.R. (1~89 A.D.) was placed 
on the throne of Dehli. Some of the chiefs and nobles 
submitted to him of tlwir own accord; others he compel­
led hy force to submit to him. In 693 A.H. (1293 A..D.) 
J altiluddin came to Lah6r and nominated his son Arkali 
Khan, to the rulership of :\Iultan and Uch, and appointed 
Nnsrat Khan to be the ruler of Sind. A.rkali Khan was 
a good an(l brave man. 'l\vice he weut to different parts 
of Sind to pullish the rebellious chh,fs. In 695 A.H. 
(1205 A. D.) J aluluddin was killed by his nephew and 
son-in-l:l w A.la·uddln, who took possession of the throne. 

After Alauddin procl:l.imcd himself king of Dehl£ 
Alt\ tdl he began to give presents to and 

u< "· distribute favours amon~ the 
noblemen of the state, but with all that Ills subJects in 

• Thoro lli'O three Kings of the Kbiljl lino, who will bo mantioued 
below, viz :-

1. Jnlnluddfn Khilji 678 !.H. {1288 !.D.) 
2. Alnnddin (nophow to No.1) 695 A.H. (1205 A.D.) 
3. Mub!\rnkalulh (son of No.2) 717 A..H. (1317 A.D.) 
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general had an aversion to hi~ for his wicked deed in 
murdering his uncle and father-m-law. 

In the be<>innin"' of 696 A. H. (1296 A. D.) he began, to 
move activ~ly in s~ttlin~ the affairs of Sind and Mul~m, 
sbout which he was very anxicus, bccausr. ,the lat~ ktng 
Jalaluddiu's son Arkali Khan was at Multan. Alaud~in 
therefore hastened to send his brother Ul~gh ~ha!1 With 
40,000 men in that direction. · Ulugh Khan laid siege to 
the fort of Multlin. After three months of blockade, th~ 
people inside the fort were compello!l to Ie~ve ~~knh 
Kluin to his fate and opening the gatt's at mght JOine~ 
Ulugh Khan. Through the intercession of. Shck.h Rukll 
nuddin Al-kali Khan was allowed to make Ius exit fr~ ~ 
the fort. Alauddin then appointed Nasrat Kh{m to go 
with 10 000 men throu<•h the Districts of Multan, Uch, 
:Bakhar, 'sehwan and Tatta, to put down adverse tribe' and 
appoint trustworthy men as Governors of the several 
towns and forts and himself return to .Multan, which he 
should form his head-quarters. 

In 697 A.H. (1297 A.D.) news was received of the 
capture of Sehwan by Mughul forces, from Sishin. A 
fine was imposed upon the people of the place who had 
come out to oppose them. Nasrat Khim therefore 
hastened from Multan to Schwan by boat with a large 
army and with military stores and machines. The 
Mughuls came out to fight with -him but were soon 
defeated and driven away. .The king's forces therefore 
returned to Bakhar. Meanwhile Alauddin ordered Ulugh 
Khan to invade Gujrat with some Sind forces, viA Jesal. 
mer. Accordingly Ulu~h Khan came to Jesnlmer and 
took that fort after killing a large number of Hindlb. 
He left ho of his trustworthy men in cbar"e of the place 
and himself proceeded with his army t~ Gujrat and 
completely conquered that province. By these repeated 
successes, Alaudd.in's power was much confirmed through. 
o.ut the length and breadth of his kingdom, which at this 
t1me extended on the east, south and west to the St'a and 
o~ the. north to Bengal, Gujrat and Sind. Every p;rt of 
this ~mgdom ~as rul~ by governors aud magistrates 
app?mted by him. It IS said that every week he usod to 
receive reports regularly from different parts of h · 
country. His death occurred on the 6th of Shawwli 
700 A..H. (1300 A..D.) 
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CHAPTER III. • 

TAonLAK KINGS OF DEnLI AND THEIR LIEUTENANTs 
IN SIND.t 

About the close of his reign Al1luddln had prepared an 
. expedition of 10,000 men under Gbazi 

Gho•l Mnlnk aim• Ghny- :Malak to "'0 to Debalpur to fi(J'ht with 
'-'tuh!m Tnghlak. o o 

the 11Inghals of Changez Khnn. 
Gh:iz! l\Ialak was thus enabled to go and secure 1\Iulhin, 
Uch and Sind for himself, especially as Aluuddin's sons 
proved incapable and caused confusion in the affairs of the 
kingdom, which ultimately took away the kingdom, from 
the possession of the house of Khilji. Alltnddin's son 
Rutbuddin was a mad man and was soon remo1ed from 
the throne of Dehli by the hand of a murderer. The 
nt>hles of the state then put Rhusr6 K.bUn on the throne. 
But Khusr6 Khan began to bestow undue favours on 
mischievous people and to waste public money. The 
Hindus began to press and encroach on thP rights of 
. h king-dom. eeeing this state of things, Gh:izi Malak's 

son Fakhr 1\lalak left Mul1im secretly and joined his 
fathrr, informing him of what was happening at 
DchH. Then, father and son, being both brave soldiers, 
collected the forces of Sind and ~Iult{m and hastened to 
DchH to help the ~Iussalmans against the Hindus. Arriv· 
ing near Debli with 3,000 veteran soldiers, they engaged 
in battle with the armv of Khusro Khan, and defeated 
them. 'fhen making their way into Dehli they again 

• This Chapter is also taken from tl.e T6.rikh MllollSumi. 

t The following are the kings of Taghlak dyniiSty, ro which refer· 
ence will be made lower down:-

1. Ghayasuddin Taghlak 
2. Muhammad Taghlak 
3. Fer6zRiulh (nephew to No. 2) 
4, Ghny6;uddtn To.ghlllk 
5. Abubakr (grandson to No. 3) 
6. Nrisirurldfn 
7. Hum6yun (son or No.6) 
8. MahmM (son of No. 6) 

• 30&-8 

.. , A. H. 725 (A.D. 1325). 
" 752 ( ,, 1351). 
" 791 ( " 1389). 
" 791 ( " 1389). 
,, 792 ( , 13S9). 

" 796 ( " 1394). 
" 796 ( " 1394). 
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defeated Khusr6 Khan in a battle in which they killed a 
very larcre numbet· of .EiindU.S, and Klmsr6 Khan fled away. 
About ~1idni"ht the ministers· and the headmen of the 
place came t; Ghazi ~Ialak and his son in their camp and 
gave up the keys of the fort. Early in the morning 
Gh:izi Malak entered the city with all the pomp and 
glory of a King. Then hs went. into mourning ~or 3 days 
for the death of Ahluddin and h1s son KutbuddlD. After 
these ceremonies were over he issued a proclamation with 
the view of finding out any mem her of the family of those 
princes in order that be might put him on the throne of 
of Dehl!. But as no such person could be found on search, 
the nobles, the troops, the learned men, the sayynds and 
other subjects united in selecting Gluizi Malak for the 
vacant post, as it wns he who had helped the ~!ussalmans 
against the attacks of the kafirs and had removed all the 
cause of quarrel and di~turbance in the country. Thus in 
the year 720 A.. H. (l:l20 A.D.) Ghazi Mal&k was crown~d 
as the King of Dehli with the title of Gha.vasuddin Tnrrh. 
lak Shih and his son Fakhr Malak was given the tit!: of 
Mnhammad Shih. 

~en, soo~ ,after t~is, G!Jayasuodfn proreedcd from 
Multa~ to Deuh, the tr1he of Sumrahs• revoltPd and took 
possess1on of Tatta. Ghayasuddin appointed T:ijuddin 
Malak as governor of M ult:in and Khmijah Khatir ns 
governor of Bakhar and ha left Malak Alisher in cbar"e 
of Selllfan. In 723 A.H. (1323 A.D.), he appointed J~s 
son ~Iuhamma~ Shih his heir and ~uccessor and took 
a wrtl~e~ promise or agrePment to the arran~ement from 
the mmtste.rs and nobles of the state. In 7i5 A.ll, (1324 
A.D.) he d1ed of heat apoplexy. 

On succeeding to the throne of his father Uuhammnd 
F•kbr M•Ju o~;., Mu· ~htih began to administer the country 

lwnmadShab TagbJak. J~stly and lay· down good laws for 
he left Kishwar Kh~l!l ~eople. In 727 A. H. (132G A.D.) 
went to live in Daol~dbr.dchar~~ hoftoSind, and hilllsclf 
capital for the futu a ' w lc wn he fixed as his 
came frllm Bakbar r~ ~f~ two [cars Ki~hwar KhaD. 

u n an colleotmg a large 
.. A. description of tl1e 

found below. (See Chap:r'v.)' their origin and their progre,. will be 
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number of Mult{mis and Bal6eh£s raised the standard of 
revolt. Hearing this Muhammad SMh hastened to 
Multan in 728 .A.H. (1327 .A.D.). Kishwar Khan un­
gratefully came forward to fight with him, but the 
advance column of the royal army defeated and killed 
him and brought his bead to the king, and the rebellious 
army dispersed here 8nd there in the country. The king 
gave an order for a general mas~acre of the Multan!s. 
When the troops entered the town with naked swords, the 
celebrated living saint of the place, Shekh Ruknuddin 
came bare-headed to the court of the king interceding for 
the people. 'l'he king, though much incensed, gave them 
pardon and after appointiog new governors at Multan, 
Bakhar and Sehwan, returned to his capital, about the 
close of the year. 

In 744 A.H. (13i3 A.D.) an idea entered the mind of 
Muhammad Shah, that he should rule the country as a 
subordinate to the Khalil'ah of Mussalmans, .Abbas, who 
was his contemporary and whom he considered his superior, 
in his absence. He sent Rafii Malak with rich presents 
to the Khalifah of Egypt, and the Khalifah too, in recog· 
nition of such a. voluntary surrender of rights, sent in 
return rich dresses and Islamic flags, which the king was 
glad to receive. Thenceforth he ordered the name of the 
Kha!Hah to be coupled with his own at the Friday and 
other Holiday prayers and sermons. 

In 751 .A. H. (1350 .A.. D.) Muhammad Sh:lh prepared 
to ~o to Gujrat and with that intention moved from Dehli 
to Knrmil and as about that time, his slave Taghi had 
caused a rebellion in Khanbhlit with the assist~nce of the 
tribe of Jarejahs, the king turned in haste in that direction 
in order to proceed thither by way of 'l'atta. Coming to 
the village of 'l'hari he halted there, waiting for the forces 
coming after him. Here he was attaoked by fever and 
so he removed from the proximity of the water and came 
to Kandal, where he got better and was joined by his 
troops too. So with an easy mind he marched to 'l'attU, 
where the slave fugitive 'l'aghl had taken shelter. At 
about 28 miles from Tatta the king made a halt for n day. 
It was the lOth day of Mubnrram, a holiday with the 
Mussalmans, and the king observed a fast. 'l'he next day 
he again suddenly got an attack of feve1· and no remedy 
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of physicians could check it. He rapidly got worse, and 
on 21st of the same month in 752 A. B. (1351 A. D.) he 
expired. . 

Before the last moment of Muhammad had arrived he 

Fer6z Sh.:h. 
appointed his nephew Fer6z Shah his 
successor and all the chiefs and nobles 

of the state accepted him as their sovereign. In 752 A. H. 
(1351 A. D.) on the 24th of Muharram, the coronation of 
Fer6z Shah was celebrated. Immediately he called an 
assembly of nobles and gave them presents and promised 
to bestow favours on them. 

Hearing of Muhammad Shah's death the rebel 'faghi 
made a conspiracy with the tribes of Sumrahs, Jarejahs 
and Sammahs and with an army formed of these people he 
proceeded to oppose the royalists. Fer6z Shah being in· 
formed ·of his movements sent a column of 2,000 men to 
fight with him. This force made a hasty march d~ring 
the night and met Tagbi with an army of Slimrahs, whom 
they defeated in a hard-fought battle and put them to 
flight. The next day another battle was fought and again 
the Sumrahs were def~ated. 'lag hi could not tarry longer; 
so he fled away. On the first of the next month (Saffar) 
Fe6rz Shah left Tll.tta and moved towards Dehli. He 
built a. fort on the bank of the lake of Sangrah and left 
Nasir in charge of it and appointed Malak Bahram to be 
the administrator. When he arrived at Sehw{m be posted 
Malak Alisher and Malak Tajuddin Kaflld to be the rulers 
of that part. He paid a visit to the shrine of Shah baz 
Kalandar and :fixed some stipendiary allowances for the 
keepers of the shrine and other men connected with it. 
Next he came to the fort of Bakhar, where be spent 20 
days and appointed Malak Ruknuddin to be his agent or 
lieutenant for Sind with the title of Ikblas Khim and 
Malak Abdulaziz to be the diw{m or revenue officer of 
Bakhar. He also left 80 men to guard the fort. He 
then marched on, making similar arrangements for the 
important places on his way. In the month of Rajjib of 
the same year he arrived at Dehli, where he spent some 
months peacefully, treating the people of the place with· 
every mark of kindness. 

On the 5th of Saffar of 753 .A. H. (1352 .A. D.) be left 
his capital on a touring excursion and received allegiance 
from several big land owners and chiefs. In 754 A. II, 
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(1353. A. D.) he went on a hunting excursion to Kalanur and 
· the lulls of that side. · On his return he built several state 
buildings. He conferred the title of Sbekh-ui-Ishim on 
Shekh Sadruddin the son of Shekh Balut-uddin Zakariyya 
and then returned to his capital. . 

In 760 A. H. (1359 A. D.) he conquered BengaJ and in 
772 A. H. (1370 A. H ) in the month of Rajjib he started 
for Bakhar. When he came to the hills situated on the 
way to that town, they brought iced water for him. But 
as he learnt that on a previous occasion whea the late 
king Muhammad Shah had arrived at the ~ame place iced 
syrup was brought to him and that as be (Fer6z Shah) had 
been then absent, the late king did not touch that delicious 
drink out of his fonrlness for him, the king ordered th t 
one hundred camel loads of sugar-candy be melted into 
ieee{ water to form syrup and distributed in the honoured 
memory of his late uncle and patron, who had shown so 
much love and regard for him. 

From Bakhar the king came to Tatta. Jam Khairuddf.n, 
who was then the chief at 'Jatta, put himself in a moated 
castle to defend himself and for many days kept the kin.2's 
army at bay. At last the king was obliged to l~ave the 
ptacc owing to scarcity of grain and grass, rise of water 
and incre11se of mosquitoes. He Mt one Bishkal there in 
ptace of Nizamulmulk and himself went toGujrat. After 
some time, leaving Zafar Khan at Gujrat he returned to 
1'atta. This time Jam Kbairuddin smTendered to him 
and the king pardoned him and ordered him with many 
other zamindars of the place to go to Dehli. When these 
men came to the vicinity of Sehwan, Jam Khairuddin 
secretly arranged to make his escape by means of a boat. 
But on information being given to the king by the par!y 
of zamindars, the king ordered that the Jam be put IU 

irons and taken as a prisoner to Dehli. The king himself 
too moved with his army to his capital. After some time 
the king appointed Jam Khairuddin's son Jam Junah to 
be the ruler of 'l'atta. 

Fer6z Shah died on 18th Ramazan, 790 A..R. (1388 A.D.), 
after a successful. reign of 38 years and some months. 
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Fer6z Shah was succeeded on the throne of Fer6zab:l.d by 
his grandson Taghlak Shah son of 

Gh•y!l.ouddfn .zu.. Tagh· Fateh Khan. On the 17th of Rama­
l.t.l Slu!.h wd. F•teh Khtln. 

zan 790 A.H! (1388 A..D.) according 
to the will of the dying king and with the ussistance of 
nobles and ministers he got the title of Ghayasuddin. 
Fer6z Shah's son Muhammad Shlh with whom his father 
had been annoyed for something and who bad therefore 
been purposely sent away on some excuse and put aside, 
now cnme up 11s the rightful claimant of the throne. In the 
month of Zulhali he arrived at the mountain of Sarm6r, 
but he was driven away by Taghlak Shah who pursued 
llim with 1,00,000 men to some distanc(' and then ret.urn· 
ed to his capital without completely subjugating him. 
Taghlak Shah now began to spend his time in youthful 
luxuries. He kept hi~ own brothers in close confinement. 
Fearing the king's ill-treatement his nephew AbUbakr 
son of Zafar Kh{m, fled away and was soon joined by 
Malak Ruknuddin, the prime minister, with some other 
nobles of the state. 'l'hey made a conspiracy and caused 
a revolt. They attac\:ed the capital and killed Malak 
Muoorak Kabir at the very gate of the king's palace in 
Fer6zabad Debli. 'fagblak Shah was S'.l much frightened 
at the results of this mutiny that in company with Khan 
Jahan, he secretly left the fo1•t by the river J un gate. 
But he was soon pursued by Malak Ruknuddin, who 
caught Taghlak Shah and Khan J ahan and killed them 
and hung the king's head from the top of the gate by 
which he had escaped. This event occured on the 21st of 
Saffar, 791 A.a. (1389 A.D.) •. 1'he reign of Taghak Shah 
lasted for 5 months and 3 days. 

The nobility now came forward and installed For6z 
8Mb's grandson AbUbakr son of 

x AMbokr Sh.l.h wd. z.tar Zafar Khan on the throne with the 
hAn. title of Abubakr Shah. They 

appointed Malak Ruknuddin to be his wazir, A short 
time after this, AMbakr Shah, suspecting that Ruknud. 
din was in a secret league with some other nobles of Fer6z 
Shah to secure the throne fllr himself, killed Malak Ruk­
nudd.in. He now began to reign wi~h some ease of mind. 

About the same time the chief of Samanah was murdered 
by Mir Sadah Samanah, who sent his head to Muhammad 
Shah son of the late king, at Nagark6t. Muhamw.d Shall 
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g!'tt.ing this favourable opportunity hastened to Samanah 
and proclaimed himself king of the place, in the month of 
R1bi-ul-awwal and rel'eived the obeisance of Mfr Sadah 
Samimah and other zarnindars of the place. Here Muham. 
mad Shah was soon joined by some other nobles who had 
de8erted AbUbakr Shah. In a short time about. 20,000 
foot and horse assembled under the standard of Muhammad 
Shah, who now proceeded from Samanah to Dehli. By 
the time he arrived in the vicinity of Dehli, his forces 
increased to 50,000 men. Thus equipped Muhammad Shah 
marched on ha~tdy and encamped at Jahamibad, on the 
2nd day of Rabf..ul-akhar of 791 A. H. (1389 A. D.) and 
again on the 2nd of Jamadi-ul-awwal of the same year and 
engageme::~t took place within the heart of the town of 
Fer6zabad between thP. armies of Muhammad Shah and 
Abubakr Sh<ih. While the battle was going on, Abubakr 
Shah was suddenly strengthened by the arrival of succour 
under Bah:idur Khiin of Mewat and he gained the upper 
hand. 'fhe next day a hnrd battle was fought which too 
ended in tlu1 defeat of Muhammad Shah and in his escape 
with 2,000 men to Dn:ibah, across the river Jlin. Once 
more in the month of Shuaban of the same year, Muham­
mad Shah came prepared for a fight with Abubakr Shah, 
but he soon fled, being pursued tn a distance of 6 miles by 
the rictorious army of the king. Then('eforth Muhammad 
Shah remained in one place in a position of rest. In the 
m·xt month (Hamazan) he only wrote letters to the people 
of Uh6r, :Multan and other pla<"es instigating them to kill 
all the men of the side of Fer6z Shah, wherever they could 
find them. Accordingly massacre and plunder made their 
appearance in those towns, to the great annoyance of the 
public. At lust th~ nobles of the state bei?g disbe~rtened 
by the cruel behavwur of ~~ uhammad Sh~h left h~m ~nd 
went to AMbakr Slnib at .Mewat. The re1gn of thLS kmg 
lasted for a year and a half only. 

Muhammad Shah son of Fer6~ SMh came to the throne 
on 16th Ramazan 792 A.H. (13h9 

Muh•mmad Shilh bin A D ) His first act was to banish 
Feroz Sbilh. so~~ ~f his father's men, who had 
been against him nml to slay others. At the sa~e 
time he issued a. proclamation to the effect that 1f 
any of such men were found in his country, they would 
be killed. . 



. Coming to D~hU, he began to effect some improvements 
in state affairs. After he had sufficiently strengther.ed 
him.self, h~ de~u~ed his son Humayun Kh~n, wit~ the 
ad ncc of h1s m1mstors to go and fight ag:unst Abubakr 
Sluih who was now living at K6tlah. Accordingly this 
prince with his fCll'ces came to the vicinity of that place 
and camped there. During the night, Ahubakr Shull 
with the assistanoe1. of Baluid11r Khim the leader of Fer6z 
Shah's men, who had joined him, mnde a sudden attack 
on the prince's cam~. A severo· engagement eusued in 
which AbUba.kr Sha~ was defe11.ted and he hurried to the 
fort of K6tl::.h, where he took shelter from the invading 
forces. Rearing this state of things Muhammad Shah 
himself came down to the place by hurried marches aml 
laid sieg-e to the fort. Tbe result was tllat AbUt>akr Shah 
was ol.iiigrd to surrender. He was taken prisoner and 
sent to the fort of Mewat, where ultimately he died. 

Soon after his return to Dehli the king went to Gujnit 
and thence to Bengal, where he punished some of the 
mhehief·makers and then came and halted at the castle 
of Muhammadibid, which town he bad built in his 
time. Duriug his stay here he. got ill, but hearing that 
Baha.dur N ahir bad attacked some villages in the close 
vicinit.y of Dehli and pillaged them, he started for Mewat 
without delay, though very weak. At K6tlah he met 
B:lhidur Nahir, who gave him battle in open field, hut 
beiu~ soon defeated, retired to the fort ot' K6tlah. He 
could not however remain long there and was compelle1l 
to run away. The king now prepared to go to Muham­
madahad but illness returned to llim with double severity, 
to which he succttmbed on 17th Rabi-ul-awwal 796 A.l:L 
(1393 A.D.). He reigned for 6 years and 7 months. 

After the 3 days of the mourni·•g ceremony of the la4e 
, king, his son HumayU.n KM.n a&· 

y<.!1~:~~ha':!':.i~~~- cended the throne with the title of 
Alauddin. He tried his best to walk 

in the steps of his father. But unfortunately he soon got 
unwell and died on the 5th of Jamadi-al·awwal of the 
same year. 

OD, the death of Aiauddin many nobles and ministers 
determined to retire to their estatPs, 

X.hm6d ~h~h llli<u N.loi· 1 , th k' d t 't f t B t rud.dJn6in!tluhammadSbah. eavmg e mg om o 1 s a e. u 
Khan J~han, the ~,>rime minister of 
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Muhammad Shah induced them to return to the capital, 
~'hey unanimously placed Muhammad Shah's youncre~t 
son Nasiruddin on the throne, with the title of :Mah~ud 
Sh~h. His coronation took plflce on 20th J amadi-al· 

· n wwal 796 A H. (1393 A.D.). He treated his late father's 
and brother's ministers and nobles with singular distinc· 
tion, and conferred the title of Sultanusharaf on Khan 
Jahan. He appointed him governor of the province 
extending from Kanuj to Bahar and sent him with a 
large army in that direction. Accordingly Klul.n Jahan 
went and joined his new post. He soon ·brought the 
powerful chiefs and zamindars oE that district under his 
sway and rebuilt several fortified towns that had fallen 
into decay. All the ra,j:l.hs and amirs of Bengal and 
neighbouring stat.e~, who hitherto used to send present 
and nazraoahs to Fer6z Slul.h now began to send the 
same to Mahmud Shah. 

In the same year 11Iahmud Shah prepared an expedi· 
tion under Sarang Khan a~ainst D~balpur and !:lind, 
and against Shekha Kh6kllar, who with the assistance 
of l:lhatds, Khiliis and some tribes of Multan had 
comm~Jnced to play mischief. Accordingly in the month 
of Zi-kaad of 796 A. H. {1393 A. D.) Sarang Khan 
started for Lah6r and arriving within about 12 koss 
from that town, engaged with Shekha Kh6khar in a 
pitched batt.le. Shekha Kh6khar was defeated and fled 
to the mountain of Jumun. 'Ihe next day Sarang Khim 
took possession of the fort of Lah6r, ~nd left his brother 
Malak Khandu with the title {)f Adil Khan, in charge 
of the place, and himself went to Debalpur. In the 
month of Shuaban of the same year, MahmUd Shah 
left 1\1 ukarrab Khan with some other trustworthy men 
in charge of the fort of DeMlpur and himself, taking 
Saadat Khan with him, left for Gwaliar and Bayanah. 
When he arriv~d near Gwalit\.r a treacherous conspi· 
racy was formed against him by Malak Alauddin Mar· 
w!l.l, MuMrak Khan son of Malak Rajur and Stirang 
Khan's brother Malur. Saadat. Khan getting secret 
information about thi~ league, managed . to secure 
l1alak A.l:inddin and Sarang Khan and k1lled them. 
Saran<> Khan's brother Malur effected his escape 
and c

0
oming to the king succeeded in removing the 
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susp1mon against himself; then quietly slipping 
from his ~mp to the town, openly defied him t.o 
fight. The king with the assistance of Saadat Khan laid 
siege to the town. 'L'hen CO!Jlmenced daily engagements 
bt!tween the two parties, which continued for three 
months. At ler,gth some of Mukarrab Khan's friends 
treacherously separated the king from Sandat Kbi\n and 
brought him to the town. Saadat Kblin, seeing that his 
efforts to take the fort were of no avail and having no 
hope of taking any active measures owing to the raiu 
falling about the time, be left the place and moved to 
}'er6zabad and there, all the nobles of the place unanim· 
ously summoned Nasiruddin son of Fer6z Khan and 
grandson of Fer6z Shah, who was in Mewat, and in the 
month of Rabi-ul-awwal put him on the throne of Fer6z· 
abad with the title of Nasrat Shah. But soon perceiving 
that Nasrat Shah had become now a different person from 
before, the nobility found means to detach Saadat Khan, 
who was the chief of the ministers, from him. Thus 
putting Smidat Khan, by some excuses at a distance from 
1\asrat Shah,. they tried to harm him. And Saadat Khan 
not being able to cope with them single-handed hastened 
to Dehl~ where. Mukarrab Khan treacherously got him 
murdered. 

After this occurrence ~Iul1ammad Muzaffar, Shahnb 
Nahir and Fazlullah, who were house-born slave-nobles of 
Fer6z Shah had no other alternative but to join Nasrat 
Shah. And tlHJlatter with their assistance succeeded in 
securing many parts of the kingdom .. 

Se~ing this state of things king Nasiruddfn Mahmud 
Shah began to look with fear and suspicion at his nobles 
and army. He was in a fix as to what course to adopt in 
dealing with them. But soon war broke out between the 
two claimants to the throne. In 798 A.H. (1395 A.D.) 
some disagreement arose between Sarang Khan, the gov­
ernor of Debalpur and Lah6r, on behalf of Mahmud Shah 
and Khizir Khim, the ruler of Mullan. Some men of the 
tribe of Bhatti also joined him and increased his ranks. 
Thus strengthened Sarang Khan came and took Multan. 
In Ramazan 799 A.H. (1396 A.D.) he assembled a larcre 
force and proceeded towards Dehll. The chief men ~f 
DehH made common cause and. came out prepared to fight 
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with him. A battle took plare between them on the 15th 
of. Muharram 800 A.H. (1397 A.D.). Saraug Khan, 
bewg defeated, returned to Multan. 

This disagreeable war-fare continued between these 
two princes, causing much disturbance in the country. A 
foreign enemy now appeared on the scene, wh~ chang~d 
the aspect of the whole affair. In the month of Rabl-ul· 
awwal of the same year, Mirza Plr Muhammad a grand­
son of Amir Taimur, known by the title of Sahib 
Kiran, traversing the Panjab, the land of five rivers, laid 
siege to the fort of Uch. ~Ialak All, who was the gover. 
nor of the place, on behalf of Sarang Khan defended 
himself in the fort and kept the assailants at bay for 
about a month. 'l'hen arrived succour in the form 
of 4,000 men, under Malak Tajuddin despatched by 
Snrang Khan. At the approach of this reinforcement 
Mirza Plr Muhammad left the fort and WPnt in aJvance 
to meet Malak Tajuddln. He put him to flight and then 
returned to lay siege to the fort o£ Multan. l!'or six 
months continually he kept on fighting with Sarang 
Khan. After this period Sarang Khan surrendered to the 
Tartar prince. Mirza Pfr Muhammad took possession of 
Multan and made a halt there for some time. 

Hearing of the encroachments or Mirza Pir Muhammgd 
as precursors of Amlr Taimlir, all the nobles arid ministers 
of Dehli assembled in Shawwal 800 A.H. (1397 A.D.) at 
the shrine of Shekh Kutbuddfn Bakhtyar Kakf and 
brought about reconciliation and union between them and 
thus secured strength and protection for the empire im. 
mediately within the province of Dehli, detaching Sind to 
shift for itself under its rulers. 

In the month of Saffar 801 A.H. (1398 A.D.) amir 
Taimur himself came with a large army to Multan and 
joined his grandson Mirza Pir Muhammad. He dealt out 
undue punishment to those who had opposed his party, 
some of whom were even then prisoners. 

At this time the rulers of Sind threw off the yoke of 
the kings of Dehli and thereafter ruled their country 
independently. 
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CHAPTER IV.• 

SIND TRrnES DESCENDED FROM THE ARABS, 

Before we take up the account of Sumrah and Sammah 
Remnants of the Arab rulers of Sind, who next claim our 

tulers in Sind and tribe& attention, We shall try to give some 
d....,ded from them. account of the remnants of the Arab 
rulers, from whom arose those two main tribes. 

At the J.ime of the Kh11.lifahs of the U mmeide dynMty, 
there were still a few Hindu p~inces ruling- some parts of 
Sind. The chief among them were D.Llurai at Al6r ar.d 
Bhanbh6rai at Bambh6r, which town was called after 
him, he being its f<Junder. t We have also seen ab'lve 
that in the reign of Harun Rashid, a Khalifah of the 
abbaside dynasty, this same Bhanbh6r and some other 
old towns of Sind were destroyed by a convulsion of the 
earth, which necessitated the removal of the people, in 
large bodies to the interior of Rindustan; also that at the 
time of Khalifah Mamun many Arab families of Baghdad 
and Samraht emigrated to Sind, and became permanent 
residents of that country. 

It may be noted here that in the reign of Sultan Aram 
Shah when Hindustan was divided into four parts, and 
the part of Sind and Multan fell to the lot of Nilsiruddln 
Kabachah there were seven native ranas or princes 
paying tribute to Multan. 'rhey were-

(1) Ran& Bhanar Sahtah R8th6r of Derah in Darbelah. 
(2) R.ina Sinyar wd. Dham8ch, Kourejah Sammah, resident of 

T6ng in R6pab. 
(3) Jesa.r wd. Jaja.b, Machhi S61angi of Manikt;ira.h. 
(4) Wakhiah wd. Panhun Chan6n at Darah Siwi, 
(5) Cbao6n wd. Detbah Chanab at Bbagnui. 
(6) Jiyah wrJ. Dariah of Jhim i.e. Himah K6t. 
(7) Ja.s6dban !,"Tab of Men Takar in Bha.nbh6r (Brahmanabud.) 

• This chapter is taken from the Tuhfatulkiram. 
tIt was in the reign of this Bhanbh6rai that Sastli wn.s born who ill 

the heroine of many Sindh! poems and whose love for Punhk is still 
sung every where in Sind. The tale is given in our life of Sh.lh Abdul­
latif Bhital. 

t It has been noted somewhere above that the Sumrahs take their 
origin from sam.nw. 
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In 417 A.ll. (1026 A.D.) when Ahdurrazak, the wazfr 
of Sultu.n Mahmucl of Ghaznf invaded Si11d and takin"' · 
Bakhar cllme to Sehwan and 'fatta, there wPr.J indeed very 
few Arab residents of the time of the Ummeides and the 
Ahbtl~ides to be found in Sind. It is carefully calculated 
that there were only 18 such families of any importance, 
then ex.istant in the province, some remnants of which 
mm still be found in our time. They are enumerated 
below;-

(1) Sak~fi$-The Kaz[~ of Bakhar an~ Al6r or Rohr! are descended 
from :MuSil son of Ynakuh snn of Tal son of Muhammad son nf 
Shaiban, son of u,m·"' Saki fl. The author of the conque t of 
Smd in Arabic, from which Chachnamah was translated, 1\Azl 
Ismail son of Ali son of Muhammad son of M (mi., son nf Till, is 
one of the descendants of tl1e same line. MuSil son ofYaakub 
was the grnndson of this gentleman Kazl Ismail and was ap­
poiuted the first Knzi of Al6r by Mulw.mmad Knsi!Jl after the 
conquest of the place. 

(2) Tamlmls* (or the children of Tam!m), from whom is descended 
by a slight change of name, the present tribe of Thahims. 

(3) Moghairaht (or the children of Mughairah) which by a slight 
chnnge of pronounciation, gives the name of Moria to the 
tribe still in existence. 

(4) Abh!U!is, by which name Kalh6rahs and some other tribes are 
still known. 

(5) Siddik!s } 
(6) Fl\rukis whose d~scendants still reside in some parts of Si~d. 
(7) Usman!s 

(8) Panwhars-who are the children o~ Haris. 

(9) Mangl.s, who belong to a branch of Tamlm!s, 

(10) Jabriahs-from whom is descended Shekh Tal at Hnlani. 

(11) A~adiah (or the children of Asad) from whom is descended 
Shekb Tunib of Fatehpur. • 

(12) Utb11h, t (or the children of Utbah) from whom ill descended 
Ktlzi Burhll.n, also of Fatahpur. 

(13) Ban walls, who were a tribe of SUfis, from whom are descended 
some Dal'lveshes of l~el. 

(14) Hakim (or the children of Hakim) from whom is descended 
tho tribe of Bajlir, known as Jhtingar, · 

• Known aa DllDi Tamim. 
t Called Bani M ughairah. 
~ Known as Bani Utbnh. 
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(15) J'arlmah lor the children of J:1rlmah Ansarl) from whom is 
descended the tribe of Sipie. cf S!'vistan. _ . 

(16) Ansaris. 

(17) Jat }both of whom are the descendants of Harun Mak-
118; Bal6j rani., 
The last two tribes a1~e of some importance and so we 

TheJ•tandBai6j'tribos. shall here speak more about them. 

Muhammad son of Harun Makrani was one of the 
officerS of M:akcin, who, in company with Muhammad 
Kasim, had come to Armanbelah, at the time of the con· 
quest of Sind and had died there. His remains were 
buried at that place He was a grandson of Muhammad 
son of Aban, son of Abdurrahim son of Hamzah son of 
Abdul Mutlib.t It is believed that once Hamzah had 
come out on a hunting exeul'sion to a lonely desert about 
this part of the country and confronting a. fairy, associat. 
ed with her and then returned to his native country. The 
fairy soon found herself with child and in due course of 
time gave birth to a son, who was named Abdurrah!m. 
In short Muhammad son of Haran is said to have got 
50 sons by 7 wives, as shown below :-

ByHumain!. ... Seven • 
,, Humairi ... Seven. 
, Mariam ... Six. 

" Aisbah ... One. 

II Ma.ddi ... Seven. 

" Fatima.h ... Nine. 

" Ha.wwa ... ... Thirteen. 

After the passing away of Muhammad son of Harun, 
the land of Makran was divided into two parts, one going 
to the children of one of the sons of J ahil who was the 
last of Muhammad's sons by his first wife, and the other to 
all the other brothers joio.tly. After some time a quarrel 
arose between the brothers. The children of Jaliil were 
driven away to Sind and Kachh, where innumerable tribes 
branched off from them. 

•· Also called Bal6ch. 

t The prophet Muhammad being son of Abdull&h aon of Abdul Mutlib, 
was a conaio of Hamza.h, who is extolled among tho Arabs 118 the braveet 
hero in the world. 
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L6dabs are also called L61ias. They take their name 
Th tribe 1 L6d b from L6lia, a female sla Vl', who, in 

• 
0 

• • the days of king Soloman son of 
David, being found in connection with one of his genii, 
is said to have been given away to him as a wife. A son 
was born of this couple and he was called L6dah. His 
descendants subsequently mixed with wandering Arabs 
and at the conquest of Sind by the Arabs, became residents 
about this part of the country. 

'!'he tribe of Sammah derives its name and is descended 
. from ·Sam, and Sam according to one 

:r~· trlb~ of Sommob, •18 tradition was the son of Umar son of orogm and 118 bn~nches. 
Hashim son of Abu Lahah.* Accord· 

ing to another tradition he was the son of Umar son of 
.Akramah son of AbU Jahl.* According to a third, be was 
the son of .Ahamah son of Asam son of AM Jahl But as 
the title of Jtim was subsequently adopted by chiefs of the 
tribe, it appears more probable that Sam was a descendant 
of king Jamshed of Per•ia, or he was the same person as 
is known in the history as Sam son of .Kuh (Noah). 

Whatever may he his origin, Sam had four sons and the 
names of these with the tribes descended from them are 
given as followst :-

(l) Budha (2) Sanga (S) Hamahr (4) Bbagrat. 

Budha had 16 sons:-
Badnh, S6rah, 13ahtah, Akhel, AoMr, Amrnh, Bnzir and others• 

i'hey are all known by the general title of Rlitb6r. 

Snnga and Hamabr had each issue, that of the latter 
being called 'l'udarast. 

Jlhagrat had a son by name Derab, who had a son by 
name Ajepar, who had a son by name Dasmt. 

Dasrat is snid to have had three wives, Kasela, Keliah 
and Samhl. By his first wife he had two sons Riim and 
Lnkhman; by his second wife, he had one son by name 
Bart ; and by his third wife also he had one son who 
was called Chatrkan. 

• Abu Lahnb and Abu Jnhl were uncles of the prophet Muballllliad 
and were his enemies, l111ving remained unbelievers up to the last. 

t In speaking of the branches of this tribe wo shnll confine Olll'flelves to 
those only, who huve some reference to Sind. 
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Of these Bnrt had four sons-ParMr, Janspa, K6r?jah 
and Nahah. Chat.rkan's children are known by the name 
of Charara. Lakhman bad no issue, and Ham had one son 
by name Naw;\.kas, who bad a son by name Atat, whose 
son was called 'fatat, who had a son by name Narganat., 
whose son was known by the nam~ of Kin from whom 
the town of Kin took its name. Kin had a son who was 
called San but Raja. 

Sanbtlt Raja had four sons S:im, Bar Karrah (also called 
Shah) Hunrut (also called Dakhan) and 1\iawah. Of 
these, Sam had a son by name Jadam, who had four sons­
(1) Hispat, from whom are descended Sind Sammahs; 
(:t) Kajpat, from whom is descended the tribe of Chagh· 
dab. (3) Bahupat, whose descendants are Bhattis. (4) 
J6ra-Sammah from whom was descended the celebrated 
generous prinr.e, Rai Diaj, the king of Karnal in the 
parganah of S6rath. • 

Of these four sons of Jadam, Hispat had a son whose 
name was Zabda1·!, who had a sou by name Nayyit, whose 
son was called Ri.no-Tyara, who had a son by name Odhar, 
who wa> the father of Udhah, whose Sfln was called 
Likhiar, who again had a son by name Likhah. 

Lakhah became a king and married a lady from Buthi 
Cluirah, by whom he had four sons, two of whom were 
well known, viz. Utlhah, who had no issue and from whom 
the place where he resided got his name Oudh ; and 
:Mahar, who had four sons (1) Satiah (2) Waditar·Patlniri 
(!3) WarM, who had no issue (4) Sand, who too died 
without any issue. 

It is saicl that, in his old age, Likhah married another 
wife, by whom too he got four sons,-viz. 

(1) Unar (2) Chhuttah, who had three sons,-B:ibrah, 
Dankanah and Kalab, (3) Phul La.kbah, who had a son 
by name Kalan.i, (4) Manahiah, 

Of these, La.khah's eldest son Unar had a son by 
name La.khah, whose son was named Sammah, who had 
two sons, .Kakah and Jakhrah. 

• • S6~th was also the name of this prince's queen. He gave his head 
m chartt~. ~he ~tory of.RI.i Diaj and Sorath is sun~ in Sind.hl verses. 
The tale IS g1ven Ill our life of Shah Abdullatif Bhita1. 
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Kakah* became a ruler of his country and the tuwn of 
Kak or Kakah was named after him. He got two srms­
Palli and RMdan. Of the children of Palli, Masrak 
Sammah became the chief of his tribe. 

Rilidan son of Kakah had nine sons, and they are,­
(1) Sammah, from whom are descended the Samejas 
(2) N6ti:lr, from whom are descended all the N6ts 
(3) Lakhah, whose descendants are Lanjars. 'l'he well· 
known saint Shekh St\har Lanjar is out of them (4) Abrah 
whose children were Phul Nahiah and Dahar Nabiuh 
(5) Nahiyah (6) Chanesar, who beo:tme a celebrated 
person of his tim£> (7) Manahiah (8) Koriah,t from which 
last three is descended the tribe of Mandrah (9) Pall! who 
became the chief of his people. 

Palli the last son of Raidan bad two sons (1) Udhab, 
f1·om whom are descended Bahriahs, Udhejas and Kadriah• 
p6tU.S; (2) Sand, who became the headman of his tribe. 

Sand son of Pall! had seven sons ;-(1) Kakah, whose 
dPscendants are known by thfl name of Kak£>jab-p6tas 
(2) Jarah, (3) Wlrah, (ot) Janejah, (5) Hing6rah, from 
whom are descended Udhejas, Jaksiahs, Dhorhas and 
Hing6rjas, (6) Derah, whose descendants are Derah Sam. 
mah, in Kachh (7) Jam H6tlii. 

The lnst of theso, Jam H6thi had five sons,-(1) RaJah 
from whom the tribe of H:ilahs takes its origin and name. 
(2) Hing6rah, from whom are descended the residents of 
Dhoriah Hing6rah, Charah Hing6rah, and Ramdeh, 
(3) Sahar, from whom are descended Sahar Sammahs ( i) 
Cheliiriah whose descendants are ~ahriahs, (5) Jam Hapar. 

Jam Hapar had two sons, RihU.jah and Jam Junah. 
Ja:m Junah had a son by name Kar R:\hu, who had three 
soos, (1) Sand, whose children were Rahuma, Lt\.khatiah 
and Jakhrah (2) Sumrah and (3) Li1khah Jam. This last 
man bad a son by n~me Kahah, whose· son was Liikhah. 
After the death of Kahnh, anothPr son was born to him 
who was called Karah after his own name • 

. • K!lkopottls aro descended from him. 
t Korojtls arc descended from him. 
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The above Likhah son of Kahahjhad t"'elve sons:-

(1) Jam Junah, from whom were desr.ended the Sammah 
rulers of Sind, who became residents of Samui.• (2) 
Unar, who broame the ruler of Bahl'iah and died without 
issue. (3) Palli, whose d~scet.dants nre Phul s~mmahs 
{4) Kahah, who is the ancestor of S6rliar1 Sammahs. · (5) 
6thah, from whom were descended Sahah Sammah, 
6thah Sammah and Sekhil.t Sammah (6) Jesar, whose 
children are called Bhayahparia (7) Mangar, who had no 
issue (8) Ahrah, whose descendants are known by the 
name of A.brejabs. (9) Hing6rah Ka6ur, who WiiS the 
ancestor of Sahejahs (10) Sultan whose descendants were 
called Sultan 6th (11) R.aidan (12) Likhah. 

Of these the ninth son of Lakhab wd. Kahah, Hing6rah 
Ka6nr bad three sons :-Desar, Manahiah, Mur:idiah. 
D~sar had five sons, K.ahah, Rilah, Rukan, Hing6rah and 
Junah, 

The eldest son of Lakhah !Od. Kahah, Jam J {ma~l, the 
ancestor of the Sammah rulers of Sind had five SOilS:­

Kh6riah, 'rajiah, Abrah, Bal6j and .Babinah: 'l'he children 
of this last sun Bahinah got an opportunity of ruling their 
country, as will be mentioned in its proper placcl, 

CHAPTER V.t 

RrsE AND FA.LL oF Sumu11s IN SIND. 

There has been an occasional mention in some place~ 
. above, of the tribe of Sumrahs, a.ncl 

Si~k• St\mrah dynasty '" their probable origin from the town 
of Samrah, from whieh place they 

are said to have emigrated to Sind in the fourth century 
of the Hijrah or tenth of the christian era, in the days of 
Khalifah }famun AWisl., along with the children of 

• Stimui takes its name from Sammahs. On the ruin u£ thi~ town wa1 
built Kalauk6t or Taghlakabild as will be seen below. 

t This cb.apter ia taken from tho Tuhfatulkiram. 
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Tamim, who suh~equentlv took the name of Thnbim for 
their tribe. It has l:een calculated by some historians 
that their ascendancy date~ from that time, continues to 
their fall at the hands of Sammabs, as will be described in 
the next chapter, anrl extends over a period of 505 years, 
in which are includ1•d the periods of the lieutenancy of 
agents of Ghnzni and Gh6r dynastie; of kings. 

It bas been mcntioneJ in a previous chapter thnt in the 
year 720 A. H. (1320 A. D.), Gha~.i Malak took the army 
of Sind and Multan to Dehli, d!!throned Khusr6 Khan the 
last of the Ghazni kings an1l proclaimed himself the king 
of Dehli, with tho titlu of Ghayasuddin TM:hlak Shah. 
About that time, a la.rge number of the Sumrah tribe 
assembled in the vicinity of Tharri and taking a man b,v 
name Sltmrah, as theh· leade1·, proclaime(\ him to be an 
inrlependent chief of their tribe and country. With th~ir 
assistance Sumrah ~oon secut·ed a firm grasp of his princi­
palir.y and cleared t.he surrounding country of rebellious 
people. He then manage:\ to marry a daughter oF a big 
zamindar of the place. Her nante wns. Sad. He got a 
son by her and he named him llhUngar. At the death of 
Sumrah, Blni.ugar succeeded him as the chief of his tribe. 
Bhungu was ng.~in succeeded by his son D6da, who 
extended his rule to Nasarpur. After a successful reign, 
he died leaving a gt'•lwn up daughter hy name 'l'ari and a 
minor ~on by name Sang!Hir. l'or the time Tari took tht! 
reins of Governmt•nt. When Sanghar reached the age of 
maturity, lw replaced his sbter on the throne. 1'his 
young 1·hief made some invasions in the direction of 
J{achh and hronght the country up to Nanaknai* into his 
possession. At his cle~th, as he had no issue, his wid01v 
'8imu, who was ruling in the fort of Adak managed to 
put ht•r own brothers in possession of the towns of Mu· 
hammud Tur and '!'bard. 

About this period, the St'1mrah chief D&l:1 wa& ruling 
his peopll:l at the castle of Dahkah. Considering tha 
opportunity very favourable, he collected his kinsmen and 
cnst.e-fellows, invaded the country of Himu's brothers, 
and defeated and killed them, But sonn aftm·wards, one 
1 )adu Phntt1t, of the descendants of D6da collected a large 
number of men and m1de himself the master of his fol'e· 

• It is H:ilu Knndi in the 'l'•irii;h Mnnsuw.i. 
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father's country. Aftrr a quiet reign of ~orne yNlrs he 
died and was succeeded bv a chirf named Khairtl. After 
Khaim, one Armel became the ruler of the place. As he 
was a cruel-hearted person aud tr(•atcd his people very 
badly, some people of the tribe of Sammahs with Unar at 
their head, revolted against him and killed him in cou~piracy 
with his ministers. 'l'he bend of Armel was hung on the top 
of the gate of the fort and U nar was proclaimed their ruler. 
This occurred in 7 52 A.H {1351 A.ll.). '!'bus the Govern· 
ment of Sind passed away from the. hands of Sumrnhs to 
those of Sammahs. According to the llluntakhib Taw:i­
rikh it was in 445 A.H. (1053 A.D.) that in the reign of 
AbJurrashid son of Sultan :Mahmlld of Ghaznl, who was 
a Wet\k prince, that the Sumrahs secured their independ· 
ence and elected Sumrah as their cl•ief. He was suc­
ceeded by a line of chiefs that arc given below:-

A.H. A.D. 
1. Sumrah ... died 416 = 1054 
2. Blauuga1· bin Sumrah ,, 401 = 1068 (After 11 reign 

of 15 years) 
3. DOda.bin Bhungar ... ,, 485 = 1002 (24 years.) 
4. Snnghar ,. SUO= llOG (15 years.) 
5. Khafif... ,, 536 = 1141 (36 years.) 
6. Umnr ... , 676 = 1180 (40 years.) 
7. DOda ... ,, 500 = 1103 (14 years.) 
8. Puuhun ... , 623 = 122G (33 years.) 
9. Khinrah 11 630 :.: 1241 ( 16 years.) 

10. Muhammad TUr ,. 654 = li56 (15 years.) 
11. Kbinrah ... 11 658 = 1259 ( 4 years.) 
12. Tai ... 1, 682 = 1283 (24 years.) 
13. Chanesar ... ,1 700 = 1300 (lB years.) 
14. Bbungar ... , 715 = 1315 (16 years.) 
15. Khafif... ... , 733 = 1332 (18 years.) 
16. DOd& ... ,. 7 58 = 1356 (26 years.) 
17. Umar ... , 793 = 1390 (35 years.) 
18. BhUngar 11 803 = 1400 (10 years.) 
19. Bamir ... (dethroned by Sammnhs.) 

Some other stories are related about the causes which 
led to the downfall of the Sumrnh Snmt other <"8.U!t!8 or tbe 

lll o( the S~ou-.h d~n .. ty. government in Sir. d. u mar St\mrnh, 
founder of Umark6t, was the last 
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chief hut two of this line. lie wa~ guiltv of two acts of' 
misconduct that greatly exasperated 'the l prople and 
tmned their fec·lin~s against him, One was his taking 
away by force a young and beautiful girl, by name Marui, 
of the tribe of :Martis, residents of the sand hills of 1.'har, 
who had already been betrothed to a kinsman of hers. • 
The other is a similar misconduct on the part of Umar 
with respect to a girl, by name Ganga, t of the tribe 
of 'famimis, who too had been previously engaged to 
n ldusman, who wo.s one of the courtiers of U mar. ~ The 
injured relations of tl1ese girls are said to have taken 
their complaints to Sultan Ah1uddin of DehH, who be· 
came very ang1·y with U mar and took steps to remove 
him from his high position. 

Hamir SUIJll'nh, the last ruler, was a very cruel man. 
His behaviour was perhaps worse than his predecessors. 
Uanli :M,.ndrah was his wazlr. The Jove of the king 
nnd his wazh· for the princess Mumal of the tribe ofGujar 
and the disag-reement between them on this account is 
well known in Sind. § It took place about the close of 
the reign of the Sumrahs, and that, with some other 
events of .the like n1ture, tended towards the downfall of 
their kingdom. 

Chnnesar (No. 13) was another of the last batch of 
Stimrah princes, whose misc()nduct with the beautiful 
princess Lila, a daughte1· of dna Khangar, who had betln 
betrothed to her own cousin, formed a factor in the decline· 
of that dynasty.!l 

It was also in the reign of one of these Stimrah princes 
that Dalumi, a descendant of the Hindu king of the same 
name, who was the founder of Dalur or Al6r, imitated the 
ruling Stimrah princes of his own time in immoral behavi· 

• The tnle of Un1ar nnd Marui is Hung in Sind hi ve'fses. The details 
of the same are given in our life of Shah Abdulltltif Bhittli. 

t By some called Knkn. 
t A bout the detnils of this story too see the account given in our life 

of Shtih Abdullntif Bhittli. 
§ About this story too, see the nocount given in our life of Shnh 

Abdullntlf Bhitai. 
II The tnle of Lila and Ghancalll' is also given in our life of Shah 

Abdullntif. 
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our by attempting to seize Budin!. Jamal the ~cloYed wife 
of Saiful Muluk, a princely mercttant travelling through 
Ids city and brought down the wrath of God that reduce;l 
the ancient towns of A.l6r aud Bhanbra (or J3rahmanatnid) 
to rums. 

Chhattah Amranf, a brother of D.th.hal, being offend~d 
with him fur his misdemeanour came to BaghJau, took 
100 Arabs of Samrah under the leadership ••f Sayyerl Ali 
:i\ltl,awi, and callle to Sind. After his an·ival, his broth('!' 
D.thlr:ii submitted to the ~ayyed and gave him the hand 
of his claughteJ', The Sayyed prel'erred his residence at 
Lakallawi (Laki) and his dPsceudants are the Sayyeds of 
the pbce, still in existence. Sometimes this event is 
considered to be the origin of Stimrahs in Sind. Amrmg 
other thin!!s some bad customs and habits of the peopl~ 
of that age also conduced in a measure to the los3 flf high 
position by the Sumrah chiefs of Sind. It is said th·tt 
these chiefs used to br;tnd their other relations and m'lli· 
nar1• people's persons with a mark to show that they were 
all'inferior to thrm. They them~elves used to we:1r 
turbans, while they permitted the others only to use the 
warp of the web or half wonn cloth instead; for'! he sake 
of distinct.ion. 'l'hey likewise req uircld the other people 
to cut off t.he nails of their hands and feet ft·om their 
roots. 'l'hry used clothes on their persons once only and 
did not get them washed to use them again. On the same 
principlt>, pcrhn ps, they never approached women who hnrl 
once given birth to a child and who therefore were obliged 
to lead a miserable life. Once it is said that a wise ladv 
~ot h~r husband's sheets that he had tln·own aside, washe;l 
liy a wa.~herman and kept the same scented with a sweet 
scent. Whvn her husband required new sheets after a 
lJath, the lady .gave him the washed ones. 'l'he man was 
so much struck with the cleanness and softness of the 
clothes that h~enquirod from his wife as to how she ltarl 
m:maged to get them for him. The wife then informt•d 
him that thlly were the same old dirty clothes that he hnd 
thrown away. Sl.te tl.ten showed to him tl1e folly of the 
men in not using ce1:tain ~hings tl.at could still be very 
useful after some mampulatton. Next she slowly explained 
to him the application of the same rule to women, who 
had been thrown aside, after giving birth to a child. By 
degrees these bad customs were given up by the people. 
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It is said that t.he Sumrnhs were in the habit of drink· 
h1g liquor and t>atiug the flesh of buffaloes. One day 
some Sumrahs took away a young buffalo from the 
lwuse of some Sammah in his absence. When the man 
returned home, his wife complained to him of what 
had happened and reproauhed him saying "'l'o-day these 
Sumrahs have .forcibily taken away a young buffalo f1·om 
your houses, tomorrow they will tr.ke away your females." 
'Jhe man was muc·h ashamed. He took the complaint 
before the heads of his ~ihe, collected a large gathering 
of men, killed some chief men of the Sumrahs and left 
the town. 

In short the Sammnhs were very much ill-treated by 
the Sumrahs, who were the ruling 

Emigl'htion •01 Samm•h• c·lass. ~'hey therefore made common 
from Smd to Kachh. · • , 

cause and left Sind m a body and 
went to Kachh. The ruler of Kacbh treated them kindly 
aud at their request gave them a large tract of land for 
cultivation. In return the Sammahs were to give 500 
cart .• Joads of grass annually, when the crnps were raised. 
This annual assessment they continued giving for some 
years, during which time they lenrnt the ways of govern• 
ment and felt themselves strong enough to overpower an 
enemy. 'l'hen they began to lay a plot to seize the castle. 

It is said that a Brahmin w:ts rosted at the gate of the 
castle and as he was an astrologer too he had the privilege 
of permitting men to ente1· or preventing them from 
entering the walls of the castle. Once upon a timr, after 
the harvest was over, when these Sammahs brou~?ht the 
500 carts of grass in tho usual wuy, they concealed two 
brave armed me" in each cart, in the midst of the gras~. 
As the carts were admit ted into the castle by the gate· 
keepers to deposit the hay in the appointed place,, the 
Brahmin is said to have observed that be smelt or 
perceived raw flesh in the grass. But tho door-keepers 
only laughed at the idea. However, as the Brahmin 
must not be disbelieved, some men thrust lanc~s into 
some grass loads to test them. They sny that the blades 
of the lances pierced the bodies of the men concealed in 
the grass and os they came out of their bodies they had 
courage enough to wipe them with their clothes and to 
send them out clean of their blood. This removed all 
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suspicion and all the carts were n~lowe~ to go in. During 
the next uight, when all was silent m the <'a;.tle, the 
armed men rushed out, stoJ'ped the gate~, called tlwir 
comrades outside the castle who were on the alert to join 
them killed the ruler of Kachh and other occupants of 
the place and took possession of the fort. Since that 
time these Sammahs and their descendants have been a 
ruling dass in Kachh. 

It has been said above that complaints wPre takrn to 
Sultan Ala dddin of Dehli against the 

Extb·pation of Sumrah.o Sumrahs and he was in~duced to 
fromSmd. , db' t d '] mva e t 1·1r coun ry an pums 1 

tltem for their cruelties. Accordingly Sultan Al!mddin or 
his general Salar Khan came t() Sind with an army. Tho 
Stimrahs prepared to sell their lives very dear. At tho 
suggestion of a party of CMrans (or bards) who enjoyrd 
respect an.d confidence of b0th the tribes, the S1tmrahs 
sent up their women and children to Kacbh under the 
protection of A brah Sammah the chief of the Sammah~ 
in that part of the country aud themselves Jay in wait to 
fight with the. Sultan's army. Sapar Sumrah was then 
the headman of the Stimrah tribr. U odrr his command 
therefore the SU.mrahs arranged themsd vcs for a battle. 
But they were soon deft>ated and driven out and their 
leader was killed. They were therefore obliged to leave 
their chief town of Muhammad Tur and go to Kachh, 
whither they had already sent their families. But in that 
they had reckoned wir bout their host. For, as soon as 
their familes arrived in K:whh, Ahrah Sammah caught 
them in a trap and fell upon them in a murderous manner. 
On their flight to Kachh, the men themselves were pur· 
sued hy their enemy, the Sultan's army, who only joined 
the Sammahs of tho place in attacking them. 'l'he 
Sumrahs did sell their lives very dear, for they died while 
fighting, with the exception of a few men who escaped . 

. D~ring this ?onfusion. it is s~id that a few young 
v1rgms of the Sumrah trtbe fell mto the hands of the 
Sultan's army. Being hard pressed by them and deter. 
mined to save their chastity, they pt·ayr,d to God, and the 
ground under them immediately cracked and enrrulphed 
them. The spot is still visited by people, who are" shown 
remnants of their veils that are believed to have been left 
behind as dumb witnesses of their disappearance. 
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In short, the tribe of Sumrahs was thus extirl1at~cl from 
Sind and their chief town of Muhammad Tur made 
desolnte by the plunderous hands of the armv of tho 
Sultan of Dehli, '!'he Sammahs who succeeded the 
Sltmrahs huilt new towns near it, viz :-Siunui :tntl others 
and considered the old site of Muhammad '!Yu·, wltieh wa~ 
sit.uatcd in the parganah of Darak as a curse(l and an 
unlu(·ky spot. 

--
CHAPTER VI.* 

Tm: SAMMAR DY~ASTY IN Sr:m. 

\V e have spoken elsewhl'l'e of the origin of the Sam malts 
and their going to Kachh and gaining 

The Snmmah Jiil!lS or fi f · I ,,. I 
rulers or Siu<l a rm ootmg t tere. • e 1ave also 

seen how the St'tmral1s were drivt·n 
away from Sind. The field was now clear for the Sam­
malts, the original resiclents who took posses~ion of tl1e 
country and raised their he.1dmr.n and c.hief, Unar, to the 
throne with the title cf Jam as has been mentioned. 

It was in 752 A.II. (1351 A.D.) that J;im u nar son of 
Th1binah was proclaimed t/1e ruler of Jlim Unar bi• Babin•h. 
Sind. In a Yery short time Jtbn 

Unar was sufficiently strong to attack Sehwan. l\[abk 
ltatan, a 'furl<, was at that tim<l the governor of the 
place, on bt'half of the king of Dehli. He tame out to 
meet Jam Unar and defeated him in a battle; but the 
next dav Jam Unar returned to fight with l'Pdonhle(l 
force. iie defeated Mahlk Ratan, who accidentallv fallin~ 
from his horse fell into the hands of his enemv, ;rho cu-t 
off his head with a blow. '!'he fort of St>hw11~ wa:; then 
soon taken. On returning to his capital J {tm U nar began 
to lead a luxurious life. One day while he was drunk, 
information was received of some rising at a short 
distance. 'fhe Jam deputed his agent K{dwh son of 
Tamachi to put down the rebellion. As Kahah himself 
was in an intoxicated state, he was soon taken prisoner 
by the mob. Jam Unar was so busy in his prolligacies 
that he had no time to think of his agent's rele:tsc. 

• '!'hi~ chapter id taken from the l'tirikh MaM!tmf. 

n 305-6 
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Natural!\• KnJmh 1\'ns iUtiCh annoyed nt his master's want 
of sym];nthy. lie managed to effect an escape, and 
leaving the side of Jam Unar for good, came to Bakh:ll' 
and joined Ali Shah and Malak Feroz Tartars, and bring• 
ing thrm to Balmimpur got Jau: Unar killed. 8ome say 
that Ali Shah and Malak Fer6z had already started from 
:Bakhar to be avenged on Jam Uuar for his taking tho 
fort of Schwan and killing Malak Ratan. After 3 days, 
however, the Sammahs killeJ. Ktihah and Malak Fcrclz, 
Ali Shah having already gone back to :Bakhar. Jtim 
Unar reigned for 3 years and 6 mLnths. lie was succeed. 
ed lw his brother J ~null . . 

Jam Junah came to the throne in 755 A II. (1354 A.D.) 
lle soon appointed some of his kins. Jam Junah bin B:lbhmh. 
men to carry on wal'fare in different 

quarters nf the count1·y, in order to bring the whole of it 
under his subjection. 'Iht'y crossed the river at Tatta• and 
began to lay waste the village~ at the borders of Bakhur, 
Twice or thrice engagements took place between the 
Sammahs and the Tartar fore s of Bukhar. ·rhtse endrtl 
in the defeat of tlw Tartars, who were obliged to leave 
:B:tkhar and go to Uch. On their dep~rturo Jam Unar 
lost no time in taking possession of .Bnkhar. About this 
time Sultan Alauddin, the king of Dehli, deputed his 
brother Ulugh Khan to be the ruler of Multan, and the 
lattf'r sent his generals Mahk 'ft1juddin KMU.ri ancl '1\itnr 
Khan against Sind. But before this iuvading army 
ar1·ived. in Sind Jam. JUnah expired, afte;r a reign of 13 
years. 

Jam JUnah was succeeded by his nephew Jam Tam:l.chf. 
Jam Tamdchi bin Jam Mranwhile the army ·Of Sultan 

Unar and J:I.ID Kbairuddin Alauddin arrived in the viduity of 
bin Tamachl. B kh d . a ar, reconqucre that fort and 
prepared to go 1o Sehwan. A fight took place hetwe~n 
them and the Sammah~, in which the latter were defrated 
and Jam 'l'aiDlichi with his whole family was taken 
prisoner and carried to DehH, where he had to live for 
many years and where he got many children. . 

In the absence of their ruler, the Sammahs lived quietly 
round about Tharrl under Jam 'famachl's brother Babinah 

• The Tuhfatu.lkirrun says at Tulti. 
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~on o£ Jam Unar, as their hearlman.* Aftt•r some years 
Khairuddin son of Jt'lm Tamachi, who in his infancy had 
gone with h:s fathe1• to Dehli, was after his father's death 
permitted t() return to Sintl and be the chier of his tl·iLe. 
Accordingly J iun K.hait•udrlin came and took the helm of 
t~e gorernment of his father':> cuuutry. 

In a short time Sult1tn M uham'llad Shid1 'faghlak came 
to SinJ. Pia Gujr1H, in pursuit of the rebel Taghi, as has 
been meutionl:'d above. 

:\iuhnmmnd Sluth \\'1nterl to see Jam Khaii'Uddln, but 
the la•ter avoided meeting him, as he had for yrars re­
mained a prisoner with hi.n. Shortly afterwards, Muham­
marl Sh1\h <lieU. in the dcinit.v of Tatta and was succeedeU. 
hy Fer6z Sltal1, who ha,tcned to Drhli without tarrying 
in Sincl. J nm Khairtdrlin followecl him up to Sanu neat' 
Sl'hwlm ami then returner] to his rapitnl n:1cl commcncPrl 
•·uling the country quietly and justly. An example of 
his justice may be given here. 

It is sairlt.hnt one day, going with a cavalc:lrle, he hap­
pened to pass through a desert, where h<l sn1v a heap of 
hum·m bone~. He halter! there for a few minutes nn1l 
remarkerl to his followel'S that the hones were appealing 
to him for a just enqnh·.v into thei1· cu;e. He at once 
s~nt for an old man livir:g in a n~ighbouriog villtge and. 
hy makin~ minute enquil'ie;; fr-om bim antl othrrs came to 
know that some seven years bel ore time a part.y of travel­
lers coming f1·om Gujrat to Sind had been robhed anrl 
murrler.~d bv a l.let·bin bane! of robbers. He then secured. 
some of t.lu; propet·ty of which they harl been roblwd, 
together with the robber:;. He sent the same to the rukr 
or' Gujrat in orU.er that the rubbet·s be puuishetl by hitu 

·and the pr.:>perty returned to the heirs of the ownet·s . 

.At his death Jam Khairucldin was succeeded by his son 
B{lbinah. Soon after this change, 

J~m !¥hlllllh bill Jam Sultan }'er6z Sluih invaded Situl 
Kh•truddm. ] ] b' . G . , after comp cte y su Jngatmg UJmt 
and some othPr parts of Hindustnn. Jtim Bubinah -pre· 
par~d to meet him in an open field. For three months 

• This poriod is Olllculatccl at lS yoara by tho auth~r af tho TnLMul· 
kirdm. 



Fcrt\z Shah cardt 1 on this wnrfnre :mel then bring 
troubled br nH•squitoes and floods aml strong winds, he 
returned t~ Gujr:tt and other open plains to spend the 
1•ainy season there. 'l'hen he came back with a stronger 
force and the fighting a:.;ain commenced. At last J{lrn 
B'tbioah was tahn pl'i~oncr and the whole of Sind fell into 
l<'eroz t:sh(dt's hands. 'l'he Sultan returnc>d to Ddtli with 
the prisoner. 'l'hr1e the Jitm rt>muincl fm• som~:~ time in 
the scrrice of the king-, and plt'asrd his captor to such a 
degree that he gave l1irn a dress of honolll' and st·nt him 
l1nck to Sind ns arnlet·. Aftl'r a rule of 11 yoars in all, 
J itm B:tbiu:th breathed his last. • 

Jim~ Tamitchf was the snrcc~>or of hi!, hothrr Jam 
Jhhfnah. llis 1rns a verY peaceful 

.Htn T.tlu;idd bi,t .ltilll . l , h J d f • t 
Kl.airuoldin, rc1gu \LIIC aste or 13 y~ars . 

. Ht•n SalilltU!ltlln wa' the sucrl'ssor of his father J1\m 
'l'anuiehi. lie put down l'('I'Olts in 

.f:ltn ::::t.Iahwlllin hiu J1im ( f 1 l cl' T, 11 .,;c~.;, some pars o t 10 country, ry sen mg 
forces in those directions and punish· 

ed the ringkadcrs. Some of these umuly bands fled to 
1\achL, to which pbce ,Jim Sal ihuddin pursw·d them, and 
in every en;;a~ement that took place he defeated them 
und ultim~ttdy subju~ated them. Af,er a reig-n of 11 
years t and some !llontlls, he dt•parted from this world. § 

• Acc~rrling to the Tnbfntnlkiram he reigtJN! for 15 yenrs, The town 
of ~umui i• .aid to hnYe been built hy thi• ,J,\m, Some "'Y the f<•nnJ­
atiou 11tone had been la:rl by ,J,im B:iuinah wn of l'nn.t'. 

tIt wnM tbis ,J,iJu Tnmuchi who lmd fallen in love with the fi•l1er 
woman, Xtlt·nin of the cnotc of Gandrah, re•iding on the bank of Lako, 
K injhur. He marrier! her and built palncos for her. Tho tombs of theRe 
lovers can etilll>e seen on the Makli Hill• near the mausoleum of Shekh 
Himad Jnmali, a Sllint of that period. Their !ores aro snug in Sind hi 
l'cl'•es. The ~~ecount is gil'en in our life of Shah Abdullatif llhitui. 

! 15 years according to the Tuhfatulkirltm. 

§The author of the Hadikatul Aolia states tbnt Jam Junah, Jllm 
'l'amaehf and his son .TUm l:inililmddin hnd been sent as prisoners to 
Dehll but were set at lib~rty through the ble•sings of the living saint 
Slwkh ~limuu .Jamali, and that they oc!'upicd the throne of i:liud in 
SUC('CHKIOII, 



After Jam SaEdttHldfn's cl• ath the nr•hlPs of the state 
• 'put his ~on .Hun Nizitmuddfn on the 

.J,Im Niz:lmu<i<lill bin !1 J] · fi t t f I . I 
,J 1; 111 ~:.l:ihwltllu. n•one. " IS ns nc o \In( nc•ss 

was the release of his consin;; * 
Siknnda1', Karn and Bnhaudclin and A'mar, ll'ho had been 
place:\ in Captivity by the ad\'ice Of the miniStPI'S, lie 
appoint.c•d en·ry one of rhem as nn ollicer to discharge 
administrative duties in different place~, while he himself 
remained in the capital, snpedu!et11ling the work done hy 
them and othc·r officials in uilf·~rcnt quarters of the 
country. Be.'om Ion:;, howl'ver, his c >usins, Vel',l' Ull· 

gratefully macle a conspiracy among themsel res and stt>a 1-
thily coming to the capit.al at.tcmpteu to seize him. But 
.h1m Salidttl(ldin leal'lling tlwir intention in time, left the 
plar.e at the dead of ni,:ht with a handful of men and 
marie his esC3lJC to Gujrat. In the mornir;g, mt'n \l'!lre 
srnt after him, but hcfme anv informatinn could be 
hroug·ht about him, the prople s~mmonecl Alishet son of 
.Hm 'l'anul.ehi who "ll'ns living in obsclll'ity, and raisecl l1iru 
tt> the thronn. M<•anwhile .J{tm 1\iz{Lmuddin also died in 
his flight and his cousins too being disnwointvd in enry 
thing, lived rori•g lir,•s. 

J(tm Alisber was a wise man and a lmtrc soldit•r. Tie 
ruled tile <'Otm!ry vt·rv rli~ct·eetly and 

·'""J AIL<hor bi" .111m T•· in his time the l;~ople' we1·r all n't ease 
IIHicha. , ] , , , ']'I , , , 'd 

In t lCII' lll!ULS, liS prmce IS Sal 

to hM·e heen very fond of going about on moonlight 
r.ights. 'l'atm!chi's other ~ons Sikandar and Karn, and 

' l<'ateh Khan son of Sikanda.r, who had brought rum o~ the 
last Jrim, were now con~piring against Jam Alislw. 
'l'l:ry were therefore looking for an opportunity to fall 
upon him while he wa~ out enjo,ving the moonlight as 
usual. fhey spent their time in the fore't~ in the 
vicinity of the town, One l!'rid1y night, on the 13th of 
the lunar month, tlwy took a banrl of cut-throats with 
them, and with naked swo1•ds at.trwked Jam Alisher who 
had come out in a boat to enjoy the moonlight on the 
quiet surface of the rivet• and was returning home. They 
killed him, and red· handed they ran to the city, where the 
people had no help for it but to place one of them, Karn, 
on the vacant throne, The reign of Jt\m Alisher lasted 
for 7 yenrs. 

• The Tuhf:1tulkirum Olti\'S they wero his uncles, wla ich is correct. 
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"\s mirrht be imaooined, the nobles of the stntc were 
<:> ~ot in fa¥our of this bloody Jlrinct>. 

J~m Knrn bin H m Perceivin" this ,Jilm Karn determined 
TMnacbL 0 ' d t tl to slay ~ome an cap ure o 1ers. 
"With this object in view he invited a large number of 
people to an entertainme!lt. Amon~ th~e c.ame a it;w 
}JeiMns with the secret obJrct of ~ssassmutm~ lnm. Whlit! 
Jam Karn was g-oitJg to his closet these men as<;aultr.cl 
I aim and killed him. This Ol!curred on the first or second 
day of his accession . 

• Tam Karn was succeeded hy his nephew J:im F<~.teh 
l01an. He ruled quietly for some 

Hm F .. t.h Kh:\n 6i" time and gave s~tis[action to the 
~'"""'lnr. ) , l peop e m genera . 

About this time, :!llirz\ Pir )Iuhammad one of A mlr 
Taimur Kttrkin's* grancl sons came to li ul tim antl 
conquered that town and Uch. As he mo.cle n long stay 
t.here, most of the horses with hi·n die-\ of a Ji.;;else aud 
his horsemen were obliged to move ahour. as font .. soltliers. 
When Alnir Tnimlll' heard or this, he sent 30,000 hOl'SPS 

from his own stables lo his grand son to cnahlcl him to 
<'xteud his conquests. Mirza Pir Jluhnmmacl, being thus 
equipped, attackecl those of the znm11J:Irs, who hac\ 
threatened to do him harm and dest.J·01ecl thcit• honseholcl 
property. lie then sent a messenger' to Bakhar callinf; 
t I.e chief men of the phce to come and p 1y re.;;pects to 
him. But these mrn fparin!.( his vengeance left the place 
in a body nncl went to J esalmcr. Only one su\Jtarv 
11erson, Sayyed Ahul~hais, one of the pi.,us Sayyed~ ~f 
the place, went to visit the ~Iirzi. He interced~cl for hi~ 
town.people in the name of his great gran:tfatber, the 
Prophet, and the .Mirza accepted his intercession. 'rhey 
say that on a previous nig-ht the Prophet ~luhammad had 
apprared to him in a dream and pointing at Sayyed Abul· 
ghais, who was stamling near him, had recommended him 
to l1is kindness aa his child, and that after 11 d'lys the 
Sayyed came to visit him in an open ditrbar, where he 
recognized him and embracing him seated him by his side. 
At the time of the Sayyed's departure Mirza Pir Muham­
mad gave him a horse and some other presents, and 
granted him the parganah of Al6r as a j~gir. 

' Called :%hib Kirlin. 
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Mirza Pir :Muhammad soon w~nt to Dehli, which place 
he took and where he was crowned as a king by thr 
nohleil of the state. 1\fulti'm remained in the hands of 
Langahs, and Sind in those of the Sarnmah rulerd as 
l1efore. 

In short, Jam Fateh Khan reigned sullcessfully for 15 
vears and some months, and then left this world • . 

'l'hree days befo,·e his death, while l1e was lying on 
death-bed, Jam Fateh Khan seated 

J'm Taghlak bin Sihn· his brother Taghlak on his throne. 
dor. Jam 'l'aghlak was fond of !muting 
and he left his br0thot•s to ad1uinistc•r the affairs of state 
nt Sehwan and Bakhar. In his reign some Hal6ch raised 
the standard of revolt in the oubkirts of Hakilar, but 
Jam 'l'nghlak marrhPd in the direction and punished their 
ring-leadet•s and appointtld an outpost in each parganah to 
prevent any future rebellion of the kind. He died after 
a rdgn of 28 years. · 

Jam Sikandar, the late Jam's son, was a minor when he 
suoeeeded his father to the throne. 

Jam Sikandar ~;. Jam The "OVer·nors of "' h w1n and Bakhar 
Taghlolk. " oe ' I 

· thE'refore, shook off the1r yoke, and 
prPpared to trike offensive steps. Jam Sikandar was 
obliged to march out from 'l'atta to llakbar. When he 
came as far as Nasa1·pttr, a man by name Muba1·ak, who 
during the last J 1\m's reign had made himself celebrated 
for acts of bravery, proclaimed himself king nuder the 
name of Jam .i.\lubarak.* :But as the people were not in 
league with him, he was driven away within 3 days and 
information sent to Jam Sikandnr, who made peace with 
his opponents and hastened to Tatta. After a year :md a 
half, he died. 

Jam Sikandar was succeeded by Jtl.m Rainah. 'fhis man 
Ja R.f b. t lived in the outskirts of Kachh in 

m '"
4 

tbe reign of Jam Taghlak, having 

• According to the Tuhfatulkirum Mubilrak was the curtain-keeper 
of tle late J um Tnghlak. 

tIt is Raidin.1h, in tho Tuhfntulkiram, which is the full and correct 
nnme, 
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loft Sind on the 6th o£ Jarutidi-ul-awwal, 758 A.II. (1356 
A.D ). ny his kinu behaviour ho had become a leader of 
a lar"e number of men in that quartet•. When he hcarcl 
of th~ de1th of ·'am Sikau<lar he came to Tatti ancl in· 
formed the people that he had not come for the throne, 
but to a.~si:;t his countrymen in tho protection of their 
persons and property ; that he did not consider himself 
worthy of such a hig·h and t·esponsible post, and that htl 

was ready to pay hom1ge to any•m3 who would be electecl 
Lv them to he their ruler. But as there was no better 
ciaimant to the throne, the people with one voice selected 
Uainah to be the Jam of Sind. 

Within a vear anrl a half after his accc>sion to the 
tlll'one, Jam J{ainah completly secure<! the whole llf Sind 
from the sea-shore to the town of Kajreli and Kandcli (or 
Kandi) in the pal'ganah of ;'\lathela!J,* 

In the ninth Y~"Ul' of his reign, one S:tnjnr, who was one 
of the king's -chief attacllb, treacherou~ly endeavoured 
to obtain tile crown. So he Pntered into a league with 
some other courtiers, and .on the occasion of an entertain­
went, he mixed poison iu a cup of liquo1' and administered 
the same to Jam Bainah, who died after three da;):S from 
its effect. 

On Raiuah's death, Snnj:~r became the Jam of Sind. 
He is ~aid to have bPen a Yery hand­
some person, and on that account 

was constantly attended by a large number of persons, 
who took pleasure in remaining in his company. It i~ 
believed that before his coming to the throne, a pious 
fakir had been vr.ry fond of him; that one day San jar 
informed him that be had a very strong desire to become 
the king of 'l'atta though it ~hould be for not more than 
8 days; al}d that the fakir had given him his blessintts, 
telling him that he would be tile king of the pbce for 
8 ycal's, 

Jam Sanjar ruled the country very wisely. Under no 
ruler before tbis had the people ~£ Sind enjoyed such ease 

•In the Tuhfutulkiram, it is Muthcluh nuu Ubuomh. 



of miud. lie was v~ry fond of the com}luuy of the lt>arne<l 
and the pious. Every Friday be used to distribute 
charities and had fixed periodical allowances fo1· those who 
deserved the same. He increased the pay of responsible 
officers. One Kazi MaarUf, who lJHd been appointed by 
the late rulers·to be the K azi of Bakhar, was in the habit 
of receiving bribPs from the plaintit'ls as well as from the 
defendants. When this fact came to the notice of .Jam 
San jar, he sent for the Kazi and asked him ~bout it. 1.'he 
Kazi admitted tl1e whole thing. " Y l'S" said he " I do 
demand sornething from the plaintiffs ns well as the 
defendants, and I am anxious to get something from the 
witnesses too, but before tllP case closes, they go nway and I 
am disappointed in that." Jam :Sanjar could not help 
laughing at this. The K:i~i continued "I work in the 
court for the whole day and my wife anrl children die of 
hun~t· at home, because I get wry little pay.'' Jam 
~an jar increased b is pay and i&sued general o1·ders for the 
increase of every government post of inportance. After 
a suce<·ssful reign of !l years Jam San,iar died iu 896 A.H. 
(1490 A.D.) 

On the 2.:ith of Rabf-ul-n.wwal Jam :Ki~ammldin was 
elE-cted to the throne by the joint 

Jam Ni<imuddin (ali"' counsels of all the wise and pious 
Jt.m Nind6) ~in B&blnah. 

mm of the place as well as of the 
military people. He was knol'l'n by the nick-name of 
Jam Nind6.' 

In the beginning of his reign J[uu Nizamuddin was very 
fond of literature and often spent his time iu libraries. 
He was a very obliging man and an industrious person. 
He was very regular in his prayers and was very religious. 
In his days mosques wet•e always full at the time of 
prayers. Shortlv after his accession, he went from Tatta 
to Bakhar, where he spent about a year, during which time 
he eXtirpated the freebooters ~nd robbers, who had annoyed 
the people in that part of the country, He filled the fort 
of .Bnkhar '111th plenty of pro;·isions and then left the 
place in charge of his house-born slava Dilshiid and himself 
1·eturned to his otpital, whel'e be l'eigned quietly for long 

• According to thd TUhfatulkiram, Jam 'Ni~amuddiu (or Nind6) 
wae the son pf Blibiuah sou of Uni\l' sun of S"l~hulldiu ~oo of Tamachl. 

~05-7 
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long yrnr~. In his tit~c the prople enjc.y<·d ercr.v sort 
of comfort and t·est.. :Eren travellers could tran!l- throu~h 
different parts of tiind without any on~! doing harm to 
their person or propertr. He contracted friendship with 
the ruler of ~Iultim nud the two often used to correspon<l 
with and send presents to each other. He visited his 
~tables reO'ularlv every week and passed his haucl ovPr tho 

0 .. • • • 

forehead of his horses and s:wl '' 0 lucky betngs, I do nut 
wish to ride you in or<ler to tight with oth••rs. On all thn 
four sit!PS of us we have 111ussalmau rulers. ~lay G,,,l 
r.ever <>ire us aur cause other than in acco1'd tnce with the " . 
religious Jaw, to go elsewhere, or ot.het'S to com•: he1·r, l<·~t 
innocent blood ot ~Iussalmans b,, shed aml I be ashamed 
in the august presence of God." 

In the last part of J~im Nind6's reign, a ~Iughul army 
under Sh:ihheg came from Kandluir invading the town o[ 
A~ri, Cliandul;ah, Sindichnh and K6t :Machit\n. J1im 
Nind6 sent n ]aJ'!tC armv' which ani vin g at the villa<>c '-' .. ~ t'J 

known by the name of .lialukhnr, defeated the Mughul9 
in a sinde pitt:hed hattie in which 8h::\hheg's hrotlu.•t• 
AM :Muhammad :llirzit wa~ killed and the :\lughuls fie<l 
hack to Kandhart anrl nevPr m:Hle their app~ut·auce again 
during the reign of Jam ~iz:l.muddiu. 

Jam Xizamuddin was Vl·ry foud of the company of 
]e;•rned meu, with whom he oflen took pleasu~e in 
discu,sing lit .. rary suhject.s. A learned ma•1 of Shir·:iz, 
J alaluddin ~Iubammad Duibi ha I come from l'ersirl to Sine{ 
and h;;d sent his two worthy pupils Mit· l:lharnsuddin and 
Mh• ~Iuin to 'l'atta in order that they should arrang,, 
for his sojourn there. Jam NizJimuduin learning tho 
intention of the Persi:tn savant ordered ~Ollie ~ood houses to 
be fitted up for his reception and sent his t.\io pupils wi1h 
a large sum of money for cxpenseR of the journey, orderin<> 
them to bri11g the learned man. But IJefrHe their arrival 
their master had died. Mir Suamsuddin and ~lir Iv1uin 
therefore came back to 'l'atti and took up their abode at 

• Under the command of Darya Khan as in tho 'l'uhfntulkirnt•t, 

t According to the Tuhfalulkiram lhe lHu;;l~t~ls wct·u purouctl by the 
Hm'e troop~ up lo Siwi (~ibi). 
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the plar1~, After some tim~ J~lll N:z:tmu ltlin uicl after a 
splcradid reign of J~ years'*. 

J:im N iz'tmll!Uitl was suceeerle<l hy hi~ minor sort 
.Jam l'tJrilz. Owing to his minority, 

:tii·!~i·,::u.I~;~:;~'. bin J rim Darl'a Kh:m, whom the latE' Jam hrd 
call~cl his son, came forward as his 

gnn.ruian. In f:wt it W<1S tht•ottgh the exerr.i<~ns of Darya 
:Khim an1l othe1• chid courtiers of the la.tc Jam tliat 
;Jam Fet·6z was put on the throne agaiust the attempts of 
Sahihuddin, a gmndson of .Tam Saujar, who was the first 
C'laimant to it. Being thus disappointed Sahi.huddin went 
about inciting people to revolt and causin~ som l otlwr 
mischief. Ultimltt•ly he went to Gujnit to live witlt his 
son-in-law Suhau ~Iuzali\tr.t 

J:i.m Fert!z was a young man, and as from the e'lmmence­
rnent the management of the state affah·s wa9 in the 
hands ot' his guardian he spent his time in his ha1•em and 
seldom went out.. Whenever he went out he gave him-

0 Aecoruing to rarions writers the perio1l of this .T am'• reign was 7:l or 
6:1 or 4:1 y~aa·s but the cora·cct one •emus to be between -13 and 51) yea•·•, 
as i• mentioned in the l'uhfatulkiriun, wlaieh givo• the date ,,f his 'death 
ns 914 A. H. ( l508 A. D.) 

In the Ttthfatnlkiram some other event• ~re aJ.o giron in this .Tftm's 
reign. It is •nid thrr•e that in the begiuniu~ of hi~ rei','Tl he <hifted his 
~<!lit of goret·umcnt from the old town ot i),\mui to a aww ono built hy 
him, of which t.he ~it~ is still visible. 

'ralkin~ r\bont tho r~li~ion"'~" anrl pi0t,Y of thi• .T,irn, th~ nntlwr of 
the abovo book wJ·ite• thnt nt the death of Kr\zi Ahdnllaih. whose renndns 
r<•st <Ill the :Uakli lli:l, behiat<l tho tomb of Sh~kh Himilli .Tam(rli ho 
appo;1re<l inn da•e:am t.o n g•>Od m1m naHl aske,l him to allow that lllr\11 only 
to t•on•lnet hi8 fuul'r.al pmye•·•, who h:tu nevm· looked up to the sk1es 
without ha1•iug perfrll'lncd nhlnsions or in an unpnaified sbte •. or who l111d 
never "ecn the wkcdness of nuy other person, not even lu; own ; and 
that after a long senrch Hm Niz1imuddin alone wns foun<l qualified £,,~· 
this holy office. 

A story of his justice like thnt mentioned in the nccount of JJln1 
Khairuddin, re•arding tho capture of robber. at the sight of dead bolWf 
is also stated it~ re[e•·euce to this Ja\m in ltisa!&i Kutbiyyah. 

· t Sultan Mnzaff11r wns the firBt ruler of Gnjrrlt, on behalf of M';l· 
hnmmnd Shah son of Feroz Sh:\h of Dehli, nnd he onme to the throne m 
793 A.. H, H~ was ~uoceoded bv 10 other rulers, the lnstnlso being Sult:\11 
l\1 uznffr1~ by nnme. nfter whom' the government of Gujr.it JlllSI\d to tlt 
luuul• oE tlw ompcrur Akbau·. 
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!'elf up to the enjoyment of the ~o·1gs and d;mces of 
d:mdng girls and the jokes of jesters. In his time the 
Sammahs and their Kluhkhelis (slave;;) tronhled the 
orJinat·y people very mm:h, and if Darya Khan checked 
them they spoke ill of him. Dat·ya Khan was therefore 
obliged to resign his post and to come to Kahan, \fbich 
was his J(tgir. In that villa~e lived the m''St learned men 
of the time, Makhdum Abdul Aziz Abhari, Maolaua 
Asiruduin Abhari and hi11 soft ,~Iaohina :\fuham n ad. 
'!'hey l:ad come from Ht'rat in 9:,!-; AH. (1521 A.D.) 
when kin!! Ismail was !):.:pe lllld. 'rb ase savants had since 
been teadting the i~110rant and improving the manners 
anj mor.1ls of the peoplll in general. Maolim\ Aslruddin 
wa~ well rt•ad in the religious law and had written many 
books on history and oth!.'r learnetl sciences. He had 
written commental'iPs on manv difficult books. He died 
nlso at K(than where his tomb· is still visitecl by people. 

In short, owing to th~ mi.;TJChaviour of .T:im Frr6z anr! 
his rlisreg:wil of st 1 te ntfah••, the people Wl'Ote a letter to 
!olalahuddirl. infot·ming him th 1t Jam Fer6z was often 
inrli!Ierent to their wishes anrl wants, that lhrya Khan, 
who WfiS t hfl hest manager of affairs had also le: t him and 
gone to Kahan and thrlt it w1s a good opportunity for him 
to come. When Salahuddin got tllis Jetter from the 
1wople of 'filt.ta, he showed it to Sultan 'Muz,\ff;u•, king of 
Gujrat, who ~ent him with a large army to Ta.tta. He 
arrived near the place after hurried marches and Ol'txsed 

.over to the town. ~Ieanwhile the people managed to 
take Jam P<!!'6z out of th1.1 town by anothrr way. Thu~ 
J~m Salahud.iiu quittly went and rccupied the throne. 
'l'he Khaskhe.i,; captured Jam Fer6z and would not release 
him until they got a lar~e sum of money. His motl1er 
then brought .Jam Fer6z to Dnrya Khan at Kaha11, where 
in his pr<seuc~ he repented of his p:1.st rtoinJs and asked 
his p3rdon. Dar~·a Kh6.n remembet·ed llis nld pl'ivile"es 
and determilttd to move in the matte!', He began ° to 
collect an army and soon the people of Bakhar a(ld 
Sehwan assembled unclPr Jam Fer6z's standa1•d. The tribes 
of Bal6ch also turned towarda him. 

Having thus arrayed his forces Darya Khan proceeded 
to meat Jam S1laburldin. 'l'be Iotter wanted to anticipate 
his ~drrr~nry, hut his wazir Haji nrlviscd him to remai11 



wlwre he was and to drpute him to g•• and fight 
"·it.h his Pnem,v. Jam Sall'thuddfn agreed to this proposal. 
Shortly after t.bis the battle commcncetland many a b1·nve 
solclicr was killed on both sides. llftet• all Dnrva Khim 
was defeated and his army fle,l. Wazir Raj!, witHe still 
on his horse, wrote \ h·tter to his ma•ter infot·ming- him 
of his victory. As it was night, he could not. pursue the 
fl ving forces of the enemy. 'l'he mess ·ngers with the 
letters fell into the hands oF Darya Khan, who instantlv 
pt·~par ed ot.her let.t.ers of a different natura on behalf of 
wazir Haji containing t.he m•ws of the de''eat of S;;.hlh· 
uddin's arm:v and the aclricc titnt ns the enemv was 
strong. he (S~hihuddin) shonld leave 'l'atta with his family 
and children and that he W•)U\d meet him at the vi la~e o'f 
(;Mchikin. • On Nceipt of these letters, Jam 8alihudcin 
left the place aud crossed the rivet• on tha 9th of Ramaun 
without waiting to bre,tk th~ fa~t, which he had obs:Jrved 
in that holy month. He was thus tinnily defPatcu and 
deprivccl of his kingdom 'rhe period of his reh:n was 
8 months. Latterly when the J~m met Raj! wazir and 
the latter reproachingl.v cnquir~d the rea~on of his a b. 
l'uptly leaving his o~pital, Jam Salahudditl produced the 
let1er he harl received anrl s1:ww€d it to him. Raji in 
surprise de• ied the fact o~ hav!ng written it. 'l'hey at 
once understand that D:1rya Kh1111 had pla~·ed the trick. 
For this they felt much annoyed but it was too late noiV 
and tlwy suffered great remorse. 

' Darya Kh&n pursued them to ~enw~l stage~. and then 
returning, he hronght J:\m Fet·6z to 1'atta O:t t.he holidny 
of Ramazan I'd and oft'er,·d joint pt·a~·et·s at. the publi•1 
prayPr·ground. }'rom that time Ja.m .fi'er6z continued to 
reign quiet I y for several yt>ars. 

Though Jam Fer6z reigned mtdishu•bed now, he en!et'· 
tained secret fea1•s of Da.rya Khan. As a preoautionary 
measure he enlisted in his service Kibak Argln1n and a 
lar"e number of men belonging to the tribes of Mughuid, 
wh~ had during his reign, left Shahb~g Arghun and came 
to Tatta. Jam ~'er6z gave them the quarter of the town, 
called Mughal-Warah to live in. lie secretly :flattered 

• A!Ro called Chalchik. an old village in the parg~nah of BRdiu and 
Jim ('l'uhft•tulkir,m). 



l1inwelf for big poliry in !iecnrin~ the S<'rricrs of intrrpi<l 
men to check Darni Kh:\n, ltnt he Jlt'I'PI' for n minnt,~ 
imn()'inetl whnt ruit; these H'l'V lll•'ll werr cb!hcd to hri11~ 
011 him. For, it. 'lras thro11~h some or' thtjse mPll that 
Snnhbecr Ar••un was induced to invade and conqn•·r Sintl 

" " t• . l . 1' 1 in 026 A.H. (li:il9 A. ) ), wh1ch rrsultc• m the ( 1sp nc<'· 
ment of the Sammah dynast)· of rufcrs h)· I hat of Ar~hlm. 
'l'he account of this i11rasion will he ~ivcn in Chapter V 111. 

CHAP l'ER YII.* 

TilE AnGnfr:o: Dnwrr. 

'l'he familv or trihc of Argl11'm is desccnd~>d from 
Chan~ez Kh;n ; tim;; :-

Oe,ccnrl•nt• of CIHmgc• ArglJun KM.n sou of Ah:ik{t Khan 
· Kh:\u •n•l Amlr T•imi~r ~Oil of IIalal<1\ 1\.luin son of Tl11i Khiln 
Ki~r<:ln sahib Kiron. son of Clian~ez Kh:\n. And as we 
shall soo'l meet with l'C'tl'rfmces to 'faimltt' nnd l:laber anrl 
some otl•er "·ell known lllt'!llbeJ'S of the fnmilv, it woulrl. 
110t be out of place to mention here how these men wet\l 

related to one nuotl.er. 

ChangPZ Kluin t had fonr snm (1) J•lji Khfln, who w~s 
made the 1'nlm· of Kabch:lk and Bnlg"har (:l) Chighat:i 
Kltan, the rule1' of M».war:i-unn:iln· (i.e., 'fransnRania or 
Khnrasan) and Turki~tin U{J Okt:ii Ki•.1n, 1rhom hi~ 
father made his heir-a1)pat·.•nt an:! (4) '1'1\li 1\h:in, whon1 
he retained as his atte11da· t. Cha'I!(PZ Kltan iliccl in 
62J. A.H, (124t A.D.) nt the ag1\ of 73 ancl alter a l'Oi!.:n 

• Thi8 ch .. pter is taken from the TMkh ~Iaa<lllni except the first para, 
which is taken from the 'l'uhfatulkiram. 

t Cbangez Khan came to the throne in 599 A.H. (=1202 A.D.) There 
were 15 kings in all, in this line up to Amir Tairnur; thu• :-

(1) Changer. Kh.ln (2} Oktili Kaan (his son. who came to the throne 
in 62~ A.H.) (3) Kewak Khan (4) Ma.nku Kflau (5) Hnluktl Kh:in lor 
El Khliu) (6) .AM Kaan (7) Nnku<!ar (~) Arghtln Khtlu (U) ·roels Kof.u 
(10) Kunjat6 Kh~n (11) Baidu Khim (12) Khlt1.tln Khim (13) Aljailo 
Khan (Khuda Dnndsh) (14) AM Said Bahtldur Kh:iu (lo} Amfr Tnunti1• 
Subih Kir.in. 
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of 25 ~·ears 1fh1•re nrc six lJJ·nuchPs of Lis c!Jildren who 
beeame rulers in dill'ert•nt parts of his vast empire:-

(i) The rulers of Ulugh Yn at, who were 15 in number:-

Oktal Ka1n, his son Kcwak Khan, Maukri K~:\n son of Tul( 
Khan, Knhla Khan .>on of TUii Kiuin, Tuiml1r Kaan (Aij3it6) 
ant! others. 

(ii) The rnl.crs of Ko.bchrik, who were :39 in number:-

J i0i Khan, his son l::atu !Guin anol othm, iuclntling Uzbak 
Khan, tne o.ncc.-;tor of the tribe of UzLak. 

(iii) The rulers of I'ran1.Per•i•t), who wer' 15 in nnmber:-

IIALl'Ku 1\ta'x son of 'l'illi Klu\n, hio suns lbaka Ktu\n an1l 
Ahmad Khliu; AH<lHV'N ll:Ho'N sou of lhaka Khnn al•<l 
others, i1•cluding Ghflz:in Kluin 8ron of AtgL\to 1\IJan, who 
became cot. vert to Isl:im ant! got the name of Sultan i\lahmu<i. 

(iv) The rulei'S of T(m\u (Tmcomania or Seythia), who were 34 iu 
number:-

Chig·h~rn! Kluh a•1•l o h••r;, t11e h;t behl,( Sultan Mahmud 
W11u w.ts coJJt.emp •ra''Y with A mit· Taimur K\trkiin. 

(v) Tile prince! of the bnllwiJ of Sum\')IL\ii, w:tn were descended 
fro.n Jltji Kiu\n awl ruled in T(ml:.. 'fuey were 19 in number. 
'!'heir army was cnlled UznAKl.ll!. · 

iyi) 'l'h~ rulm o( [\,(jhjlnr, wJ.,, were •leseeuue I from Chighatai 
Khan. 'fhq were l!J in numbe1·. 

As for Amit· '1\1imltr• Kti.t•:\1\n k .. own hy the title of 
Sahib Kir:m, he was desoen,ltld ft·om T•HLLU 1h Khan, who 

.was the folll'th ancestor of Chr~ngez Krui11; thus, 'raimuL' 
~(>:) of Tat'<lgluil ~ou of B u·bl s m of Ei<l:.lbt• Bahadul', 
Ejal N uy~in son of Kadj:lr N lty<in, son of S&arsejan, son 
of L\r6mj1 llarbls sou of Klljuli Ba.lui.Jttr son of 'f6muah 
.Khan. t 

• 'rhey have mnclo it T11merlane in English books. 

t Am ir Tnimur wn~ tho fifteenth king of the line, the hcnd of which 
l)'i\S Changoz Kh;\n, as nmy bu ioon in a Jll'CYious note. 
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The fol~o1vinrr we1·e the desoendan\s of Amir Taimur 
who n1led in I'~an ana TUran :-

( l) ~lir~~ SMh llirza son of ~mir Taim~~·, who in his father's 
life·tnne held the tlvo Imks, A zarbaiJUD, Day6rbakar and 
Syria.• 

~2) Umar Mirza son of Mhin Shah, 

(~) A.Mbakr Mirzi son of Miriin Shah, 

(4-} Shahrnkh Mirza son of Abi\Oa.kr, who in his .father's time 
he:d Khurlisa'l, 

(5) Khalil Mirza son of Mirliu Shah, who got Same.rknnd ~~~ 
his province, 

· (6) Ulnghb~g Mirza son of Shlibrukh, 

(7) Ahdul-latif Mirza son of Ufugbbeg, 

(8) Alauddaolah Mirza son of Bai~aukar son of Sbahrukh, 

(9) Snltn~ Muhammad Mi1za son of Baisankar, 

( 1 0) Baber Mi' z8 son of Bliisanka.r, . 

(11 J Abdullah Ml' z8. son oflbrllhim S'Jn of Shlihrukh. 

(12) Slui.h Mahmll.d Mirza son of Baber, 

( l3) Ibrahim :Mirza son of Ah1uddaolah, 

(14) SutT.\'N ABu' SAI'D Mt'RZA' son of Sultan Muhamm1tl son 
of 1\Hmn Shah sen of Amil· 'J'aimur. 

(15) U mar ShP.kh llirza son of Sultan AbU Said, 

· (16) SultAn Muhammad Mirza son of Sultan Ab6. Said, 

(17) BA'BER MI'az,~· soD of Umar Sh•kh, 

(l~) YA'D3A'R ~lUH.Ull!.,D Ur'azA.' SOD of Sult/1.~ ~luhrnna·l 
sou of Baisankar, 

(19) SULTA'N Hus.mr Mt'az l' son of Mansur son of Bais·mka1• • 
descended fr~m U m •r Shekh Mirza son of Amir Taimur, 

(20) BADI'-uzz,utA'll MI'RZA' son of Sultan Husain, 

(21) MuZAFFAR B:usArN Ur'an't son of Sultan HuS&in, The 
. last two, who were brothers ruled jointly at Khurasan till 

they were driven away by Shah beg Argh6.n who carne 'from 
Transoxania. 

• Sometimes Mirza is prefi:J:ed to this and other narnee of prinoea. 

t Important names that are refe!Ted to in these pages are uiven iu 
capitals for ea~y reference. 

0 
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Shah beg Arghun with whom '11'6 are concerned for tho 
Origin of Argh6n Dyn .. ty present was the son of Amir Zunnlin 

· son of Mir Hasan Hasri,• who was a 
d~s.cenda~t of ~rghUn Khan (see above, Branch iii.) 
'Ilns Am.1r Zunnun was one of the warlike l~adero unde1· 
Sultan Abu Suid Mirza (No. 14). He spent some time at 
llir:it, in the company of his father, under Sultan Y :idf!ar 
Mil'za (No. 18) and then he. went to Samarkand where -he 
spent two or three years. After the qual'l'ol that took 
place between Tarkh:in and Arglnin chit"fs, Zunnun 
".ame back to Khurasan, where Sultan Husain Mirza 
(No. 19) took him under his patronage and made him 
the !<Overnor of the districts ot Gh6r and Dawar. Here 
he had to fight with thl.l tl'ibes of Hazarah and •rakdari 
whom he defeatt·d in several battles, in 88t A. H. 
(1479 A. D.) and three succeeding years, and brought 
them completely under his subjection. Sultim Husain was 
so much pleased with him tl1at he entrusted the absolute 
govet·nment of Kanrlhar, Hir:it and Gh6r to him, and 
Amh• Zunmln fixed his re~irlence at Shal and Must6ng and 
ruled the provinces ceded to him. 

As Amir Zunnun strengthened himself with the tribes 
. of Hazarah :md Takdari and Kab· 

'l'be reign of Amir Zuo· cbak, Sultan Hu~ain .Mit·za, and his 
"
6
" Argb6D. B I' ' '1 ' ' (N 20 son ac 1-uzzamau " 1rzn o. ) 

became jealous of him and tried to weaken his power. 
Zunnun, coming to know of the Sultan's intentions, left 
his capital witl1 his two sons Shilhbeg and Muhammad 
Mukim and his brotht-r Ml·· Sultan Ali and went to 
Kandhar. Soon after, Badiuzz'l.man had a rupture with 
his fathE'r and he went to Kandhar, where Zunnun 
received him well and tried his best to conciliate his 
feelings. Theit friendship was sealed by the marriage 
between Badiuzzarnan and Zunnun's eldest daughter to 
the cbagrbe of 8hekh Ali Taghai and some other chief~ 
of the Mirza, who were against the union. 

Badiuzzam{m's son Mirzti 'Muhammad M6min was at 
Astlll'abtl.d, when Hadiuzzaman himself haJ. gone to Kan· 
dhar. In his absence, Badiuz~amau's brotller :Muzaffar 
Husain Mh·za (No. 21) led an army against his nephew nt 

• In the Tuhf.ttnlkir!m it ia ~lir ff)lqau Misri, which appears to be 
corroct. 



Astarabad. The ~atter fought bravely in his deftmce 
with his unclt>, hut was taken prisoner and so·tt to Hirit 
in 903 A. H. (1Hl7 A. IJ.). While in Ctmfinement he was 
murdered at the instigation of Muzaffar Husain's mothet• 
and under his order, issued iu !ID intoxicated state. 

Whon Ruliuzz1m£m Mirza heard of his son's sad death, 
His fighting with Sultlln h~ began to prepa~e to t tke ~evenge 

Hu"'!n l!kt<l on behalf of wtth iho CO·Op<ll'atlon of Amlr Zun­
lllo'ZI!&!Iluzzamau. nun Arghun. This led SLlltan Hus!lin 
to come with a large army to Kan:lhit·. But before his 
arrival, Zuunun prepared for assistance in the fort of 
Pishang, and posted his sons Slul.hbo!:' and Muhammad 
lliukim in the forts of Kandhar and Dawar respectively, 
while Mirza Badiuzzaman occupied a fourth stron:;hold. 
They had pre:maoged to help one anothe1·, in case of 
necessity. When ~ult:lu Unsain came to Kandhar he 
could not finn provisions fur his army; consequently he 
was obliged to rctum to Hirat, without doing anything. 

After some time, :Mirza R1diuzzaman and Shihbeg hl 
an army of three or four thousand men a~ainst Sultan 
Husain, at Lank Nishin, but they were defeated and 
repulsed by the Sulran. Brdiuzzaman fled to Gh6r and 
Shahbeg to Dawar, and Sultan ilusain returned to Hirat. 
This was in the month of Shuaban 900 A II. (149J. A.D.). 

In 904 A.H. (14!38 A.D.) reconciliation was hrought 
about ·between the to;ultiin and Mirza Badinzzaman aud 
Amir Zunnun, through the intercession of some pious 
Sbekhs and Saneds, and the province of Sist{tn was ce IC'cl 
to Badiuzzaman, who therefu!'e left Gh6r and went to his 
new state. But when Sultan Hu:<ain went to Astaribau, 
Badiuzzam{m and Zuna(m invaded Hirat, plundcrol tl1e 
place r•11d defeated the f<1rccs of tho ciliels of the plal·e. 
Soon hearing- tlw.t l3ult:in Husain was coming with au 
army, they withdrew to tho rirer .."llurghab. 

Here he was joined by· Shah beg from Knndhar, -who 
went and took Marw making ParinJahbeg, the governor 
of the fort on behJlf of the Sultan, a prisonet•. Sultan 
Husain returning from Astarabad and feeling unprepared 
to fight against hi~ son, deputed an envoy to him who 
again brought about reconciliation between them. By 
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this, Ralkh was ceded to B,Jd(uzzaman, who went to that 
part of the country, Zunnun and Sh:i.hheg returnin~ to 
Kandhar after leaving ~~~t{ui in the hands of Zunn'o.n•s 
brother Sultan Ali Arglniu. 

In 903 AIL (1502 A.D.) in response to the ~ecret 
mes$ages of some of the rebels of Sistan, Sultan Hu•ai11 
:Mirza sent another son of his with a hrge army to Sist!m. 
This prince came to Uk, where Zunnun and Shah beg met 
him with their hordes of 'l'nkhun, Arglilm, · Takdarf and 
Hazarnh tribes from one side, and Sultim Ali with Lis sons 
from another. 'l'h-1 prince, being thus pressed hard, [, ft 
the hattlefielcl and fled back to Hirat. Amir Zunnuu 
returned to Sist.<in successfully and ther1ce he went to 
Kandluir. 

About this time, Ulughbeg Mirza son of Abu Sa!Li 
Z11nn6n'• '"" )!11bamm•d )lit·z:i who held Kabul, died nr.d was 

)lnkllut.ke•Kohulbu<wvu succeeded by '•is tnii\Or son Abrlu··· 
•umu•l•r• to Baher ~llnti. raUf .Mirza, who was soon att:IckeJi 
ani! kille:l by some of the rebel chiefs. Considering this 
:' fA.vourable opportunity, Zunnun's younger son Mirza 
Muhammad Muklm Argl:.un, collected an army of Hazarab 

.·and Takdad men, invaded Kabul, brought it into his 
possession and ma1'1'ied Ulu~hb,~g·s daughter. He dismis­
~ed the Kabul chiefs aud courti0rs and began to live there 
at his e·1se, 

In tb\' beginning of VLO A.H. (150.1. A.D.) B:\hrr Mirzr\ 
(~o. 17) camL' to Kabul from Sarunrkartd. Muhammad 
i\1 uld u uot. being able to meet the en~ my in the open 
fieln, <)efended himself in the f,,rt, to which Baber lai1l 
si(',:tJ. Soon :\1 uhat!lmad :\lukitu surren•lered on conditinn 
of hi~ being pardou~d and 1~as honour.tbly dismissed by 
th~t prince to ga to his native place. 

In the beginning of the next year, Muhammad Khan 
luv .. ion of Muhamm•d ShaibAni U zbak (?f th.e fifth. branch 

K.ht~t~ Sboibanl ~nd dooth of Changez Khans chtldren) mvaded 
or Amlr Zunnun. Khurilsan with nn army "more 
numerous than ants and locusts." Bnrliuzzam!m Mirza 
hearing of the enemy's approach sent fvr A mfr Znnnun 
and other friends for consultation and help. Zunuun wrote 
to his sou· Shih beg to keep a strict watch on Kandhar and' 
1111ked his other BOn .Muhnmmlld Muldm t:o retllairi at 
Dawar and his broth~r Sultan Ali to be at Sistari in order 



U ~hak wns <Mea ted nnrl killed, terror sprcnft through. 
out thP. country. St•eing two powerful heroes in the 
lieU viz : Shah Ismail on one side, and Bab(•r on an· 
other, Sh'lhbeg Arglain had no other alternative but 
to mnkf' peace with them. He therefore Bf:'nt some men 
with rich pments and submi~sive messuges to Baber, 
who ~aYe him pardon and on his coming to ,,isit 
him, receircd him with honour and distine~ion. After 
Fpending some time with the king, when Sbahbeg was 
r~turning to Kandhar, he wns taken prisoner at th~ hint 
of the king aud thrown into the fort of Zafa-.:. Mehtar 
Sanhul, a slave of Shabbeg's, coming to know of this, 
determined to st•t his master at libertv. · He came to 
the town of Zafnr and opened a shop of a confectioner 
near the gate of the fort and bt•gan to ''isit the 
men in the fort on the pretext of selling sweatmrats. 
He got an opportunit.v of seeing Shahbeg and settling 
\Tith him the mea11s of his escape. One night he 
com•ea.lrd some men in his shop and goiug to the 
fort distribut.-d in the usual way some sweatmf'ats in 
which he had mixed some intoxicating drug. 'l'he result 
was, that soon all th~ occupants of the fort fell 
asleep or remainrd unconscious. .Mehtar Sanbul with 
two other men scaled the wall of the for~, went in to 
Shah b(·g and br"ught him out safely, though in the 
attempt be lost a tooth by an addtll•t·tl fall. Shah beg 
and his men took fleet horses that had been posted for 
them and gallopped hard for ~ome dnys, and ultimately 
1~nme to his own territor.v, safe and sound, though they 
had been pursued for a short diotauce. 

Since the abrupt and unceremonial departure or Shah beg 
Baber was contemplating an invasion 

Shibl>eg lema IUDdh&r f K db, b I d . d 
and goo. to Sind. o an ar, ut 1e was etaJDe · 

for some time by the affairs of 
Badakhsh{m and Transoxania. After he settled tbo~e, he 
marched against Kandhar. Shah beg determined to defend 
lJitnself in his fort and began to make preparations 
acr.ordingly. Soon his spies informed him that the enemy 
was coming with a large force. Shah beg preparccl to mt>et 
him outsidtl, but fortunately Baber fell sick and could 
not immediately take any licti ve offensive steps. Con· 
sidering this a fal'ourable opportunity, Shah beg sent some 
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pt•rsents through some envoy~ and concluded pence with 
t.he king, who returned to Kabul. Shahbeg now came tH 
Siwf and there laid his plans for his future movements. 
He was sure that Baber entertained had feelings towards 
him and would very probably march against Knndhat• 
again next year, and take it. He therefore, in the 
beginning of winter, sent about 1,000 men from Siwi to Sind, 
in order to secure n new sphere of action for himself. 
This force entered Sind for the first time, on the 17th of 
Zikaad 920 A.H. (1514 A.D.) and laid waste the country 
about the place, securing a large booty, by removing 
about 1,000 camels working in the water-wheds and in 
other ways. After remaining there for a WPek they 
ret.urned. Next year 921 A.I:I. (1515 A.D.) sure enough 
Baber came to Kandhin· aml laid siege to it. Several 
battles took place. Famine and plague also bt·oke out, 
which compelled the combatants to conclude peace and 
Baber returned to Kabul. In 922 A.H. (1516 A.D.) 
Baber again inraded . Kandluir, but before any fight 
commenced, it was settled between the envoys of the two 

. princes that from the next y<>ar Kandhar would be given 
l,lp into the hands of the chiefs ·appointed by Babe1·. 
, tt.;hAr theh,fore ret 1ed to his capital and Sha.hbeg went 
1 to SMI and repair Ghe fore of the place, as well as the 
1 strongholds of s: .. 

I . 

Next yP' J23 A. II. (1517 A.D.) as already arranged, 
Kandhar,; • b Bllber. t~e keys of the fort of Kandbar were 

.· 
1

• gtven to Baber. The next 1wo years 
"' · pent in Sluil and Siwl inactively. Then he again 
.. ,~, datory excursion within the frontiers of Sind. 
, .~ 0 to Sistan, he was confronted by Darya Khan the 

. · Jpted son of Jam Nind6 (Nizamuddin) the then ruler 
d 'l'atta. A fight took place between the Sindis and the 
Mughuls in which many warriors were killed on both 
sides. After all the Mughuls went baok to their nativP 
country and the Sindis came to 'ratta, Abtlu~. the ol~se 
of that year 926 A.H. (1519 A.D.) Jam .Nmd6 d1ed 

·· and 'l'tas &ucceeded by Jam Fer6z as has already been 
1 mentioned. 

-



U zl,uk \rns <Mea ted nnd killed, terror sprenft through­
out thA country. S1•eing two powerful heroes in the 
lieU viz : Shah Ismail on one side, and Babt>r on an· 
other, Sh'1hbeg Argldm had no other alternative bnt 
to makP peace witll them. He therefore S~:>nt some men 
with rich pments and submi~sive messa!(es to Daher, 
who ~ave him pardon and on his coming to visit 
him, received him with honour and dhtinclion. After 
~pending some time with the king, when Shahbeg was 
returning to 1\andhar, he was taken prisoner at th~ hint 
of the king a11d I hrown into the fort of Zafn!. Mehtar 
Sanhul, a slave of Sluib beg's, coming to know of this, 
determined to st•t his master at libertv. · He came to 
tbe town of Zafar and opened a shop of a confectioner 
near the gate of the fort and began to Yisit the 
men in tlHl fort on the pretext of selling sweatmeats. 
He got an opportunit,v of seeing Shahbeg and settling 
'Tith him the mp~qns of his escape. One night lw 
con<'ea.lrd some men in his shop and g(Jiug to Lhe 
fort di>tribut.t·d in the usual way some sweatmrats in 
which ho had mixed some intoxicating drng. 'fhe t·esult 
was, that soon all the occupants of the fort fell 
asleep or remainfd unconscious. .Mehtnr Sanbul with 
two other men scaled the wall of the fort., went in to 
Sluihbt•g and brought him out safely, though in the 
attempt he lost a tooth by an ac.-ide•·t·•l fall. Shah beg 
and his men took fleet horses that had been posted for 
them and gallopped hard for some days, and ultimately 
~~nme to his own territor.v, safe and sound,. though they 
had been pursued for a short di~tauce. 

Since the abrupt and unceremonial departure or Shah beg 
Baber was contemplating an invasion 

SbAb~•g lome Kandb&r f K db' b I d • d 
••d gOOd to Sind. o an ar, ut 1e was etame · 

for some time by the affairs of 
Badakhshiin and Transoxania. After he settled those, he 
marched against Kandhar. Shah beg determined to defend 
ltimself in his fort and began to make preparations 
accordingly. Soon his spies informed him that the enemy 
Wall coming with a large forC4.'l. Shah beg preparc<l to meet 
him outside, but fortunately Baber fell sick and could 
not immediately take any active offensive steps. Con­
sidering this a fa~•ourable opportunity, Shah beg sent some 
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prrsents tln•ough some envoy~ and concluded pence with 
the king, who returned to Kabul. Shahheg now came tn 
Siwi and there laid his plans fqr his future movements. 
He was sure that Baber entertained had feelings towsrds 
him and would very probahly march against Knndhat• 
again next year, and take it. He therefore, in the 
beginning of winter, sent about 1,000 men from Siwi to Sind, 
in order to secure n new sphere of action for himself. 
This force entered Sind for the first time, on the 17th of 
Zikaad 920 A.H. (1514 A.D.) and laid waste the country 
about the place, Sl'Curing a huge booty, by removing 
about 1,000 camels working in the water-wheds and in 
other ways. After remaining there for a wPek they 
rer.urned. Next year 921 A. II. (1515 A.D.) sure enough 
Baber came to Kandhar aml laid siege to it. Several 
battles took place. Famine and plague also broke out, 
which compelled the combatants to conclmle pence and 
Baber returned to Kalml. In 922 A.H. (1516 A.D.) 
Baber again inraded -Kandhar, but bet ore any fight 
commenced, it was settled between the envoy~ of the two 
princes that from the next y~ar Kandh:ir would be given 
11p into the hands of the chiefs ·appointed by Babet·. 
'R.\hAr therPfore ret 1ed to his oapital and Shah beg went 
to Sh:l.l and repair che fore of the place, as well as the 
strongholds of s; .. 

I 

Next YP' J23 A. H. (1517 .A.n.) as already arranged, 
Kandhir jli • b Bober. t~e keys or. the fort of Kandhar were 

.· Y. given to Baber. The next two years 
"' · pent in Sha.J. and Siwl. inactively. Then he a~ain 
.... ,~, datory excursion within the frontiers of Sind. 
. .:~e; to Sistim, he was confronted by Dnrya Khan the 
' Jpted son of Jam Nind6 (Nizamuddin) the then ruler 
d 'l'atta. A fight took place between the Sindis and the 
Mughuls in which many warriors were killed on both 
sides. Aftt'r all the Mughuls went baok to their nativP · 
country and the Sindis came to Tatti. ~bou~. the ol?se 
of that yea1• 926 A.H. (1619 A.D.) Jam .Nmd6 died 
and was &ucceeded by Jam Fer6z as has already been 
mentioned. 

-



CIB.PTER YIII. • 

'IRE R'EIG~s or J!M FER6z S.unu.a A.ND 

MfRzA SH:\B.BEG ARGR'()N IN Snm. 

We have mentioneJ. at. the clo~e of a prt>vious ohavter 
that some Mughuls had come ta Sind 

Sh&hbeg io•ad .. T•tt.A. • th • . f J' '· 6 . ttl d In e re1gn o am r'er z and se e 
there with the pe••rnission of the Jam. Among them were 
Kibak Arglnin who hnd left 8hahheg's p~•·ty owin~ to a 
murder he had committed that side, and Mir Kasim 
Kib!lki, who was a sort of spy left by Sluihbeg. Most 
of t;1ese Mughuls, chitJI:I.y of Daolatshah and Nurgahi 
tribes had hcen enlisted in his set·vice by Jam l!'er6z, who 
entertained some suspicions against Da.ry~ Khanand wanted 
to secure some intrepid men to work against him, in case 
of necessit.v. It was at the information and invitation 
of Mir Kisim Kibaki, that Shahbeg marched against 
'fatta with a large army about the close of 914 A.H. 
(1508 A.D.). 

Shahbeg came to Fatehpur and Ganjnbah to make 
. . warlike preparations by collel1tiug 

Sh~hbel(• fight wtth and arrau<>in" troops He left some Dacya Kbao o o • 
chiefs in ohn1·ge of those places, posted 

his own brothPr at Siwi and sent Mir Fazil Kokaltash t 
with 240 horses, as an advance party. 'fhe Sammah army 
of sind on pa~sing througlt the dist.riot of Baghoon was 
joined at 'l'alti, about 6 or 7 miles from Sehwan, by Darya 
Kluin·s suns Mahmud and M6tan Khan. On the arrival 
of Shahbeg at the village of .Baghblm, the chier men of 
the place hastened to pay their respects to him, which 
oncourog~d him . to advance towards 'l'atta. Passing 
thl'uugh the Laki hills, be oarr;e within about 6 miles of 
'l'atta southwards, where he halted and enetmpcd on the 
ba11k of the Kh8.nwah. ln those days the rh·er flowed to 

• This chapter is also taken !rom the TArikh Maaaumf. 
t Mir Fazil aon of .. Hit Kbwajuh was a native or hpban. When 

~mir Taimllr had inyaded that for~ of Persia Adil Khwajah had fallon 
JUto the hands of M1r Haaan M1m, Zuunun'a father, who brought him 
~p like hi~ son. Mir Fazil's son Sulttln Muhammad Kluln played an 
Important part in the Gol'~rnmcut of Bakhur, ns will be sho1•ty uoticecl. 
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the south of Tatta and so he ha,l to make arrangements to 
cross it. Tlte spies soon found 11 native way.farer, wh(), 
on pressure put upon him, poiutecl out the place where the 
river was fordable. It was on the 15th of Muhat•t·am 
1126 A. H. (1519 A.D.) that Sluibbeg rode into the rivf\l' 
a.~rd. led his whole fvrce across, having left a party of 
soldiers to protect the camp at the river. Darya Khan, 
the adopted son of Jam Nind6, left his mastP,r Jam F~roz 
at the capibl city and himself advanced with a large at· my 
and gave battle to the Mughuls. A ~evere battle was 
fought, whitJh ended in the victory of Slu\.hbeg.• Jam 
Fer6z hearing or the defeat of his army, fl~d aC!'OSS 

the rivet•. Dat·ya Khan was killed in the battle. Up to 
the 20th of the slme mouth the Mughuls ph1ndere(l 
the city. Several women nnd children of respectable 
farnit:es were captured. Even those of j{Hn Fer6z 
remain!:'d in the city. It was at. the intercession of Kazi 
Kazan, the most learned man of the time at Tatt:i, whose 
family mern hers also had been taken prisoners, that 
Sluihbeg stopped the plunder by giving an art·ow to the 
Kazi to show it Nund to the pi uudering Mnghuls. A 
pt•oelam.ation was also ismed to th~t effect, and once more 
tltet·e was order and quiet in the city. 

J.im Ftlr6z, with a fe1v p~r~o:1~ was tal'rying in the 

Fight of JD.m Fcroz. 
village or Perar, :mxious to get some 
information about his own ar11l his 

father's family, to protect whom, how0vor, Shahb~g ha:i 
the good sense t11 po•t a party of hi~ men round their 
rcsiJence. 8eeing no help for it, he was obliged to send 
me~sengers to Sh:ihbeg recognising him as his superior 
and asking for mercy. Shah beg sent back the messengers 
with pt·~sclnts and with pmmise of par<lon on the Jam's 
surrend!!r. Accordingly Jam .Fer6z, taking his brothers 
and kinsmen with him issued from Per(tr to tho b<tnk of 

• According to tho Tuhfatulkir1im this battle was fought on the bank 
of tho A'lfja'n, which wns a big canal below Tatt:l', and Slm'hbeg entered 
the city as victorious on tho llth tlf l\Iuharram 9~7 and not 9~6 A.H. a1 

in the Titrikh Mnas\tmi. 

" Ruin of Sind" is tho phra8o from the numeral value of whose 
letters this date is obtained by abjwl process in Porsinu. 

l'ho rule of Sautmah dynasty eudcd hero, haring lasku for li5 year•. 

• ao;-o 
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the river with a sword hrmging l'Otll!d his nrck ns a mark 
of surrender. S\uihbeg ordered I hE' Jtilu'ti families to be 
taken across with due honour, and in the nPxt month, Raffar, 
8hahbe"' encamped outside the city, where Jam Fetuz 
came tu

0 
pay homage to him in persou. Sluihbeg l'l'ceiVPd 

him well and "'ave him the rich robe of honour that his 
own father A~ir Zunn{m had recPived from king Muzaf· 
far Husait. SLahbeg was kind enon~h to l!ive the 
govcrnoJ•ship of Tatta to the .Jam. But aft.er some 
consultation with the chief men of the place it was 
r~soll'ed that as Sind was a spacious country, half pf it 
miaht be given to Jam Fer6z and the other half t'•·tained 
and left in charg~ of agents appointed by the .Mnglwl 
prince. Accordingly the Lakl hills neat· Sehwan were 
fixed as the boundary. '£he country from Lal<i d•lWn to 
T:~tta was to remain under Jam Ft!r!lz, and th:tt upw:ml.~ 
to the not'th, to be retained by the agents of Shah beg. 
After this settlement was made and ratified, Shahbeg 
left 'l'atta and marched out on his return journey. 

At 'l'alti Shah beg receiver! the !to mage of certain Saltt11h 
, and S6dha chiefs. He tlwn c·anw 

Sh~hb<g at Tntt.. t S h ' H 1 ft '·II A 'k I o e wan. e ~ " r .1 ·n 1 

Arglnin, Sult.an l\Iukimbcg Lar, Kihak Ar~hlm nnd 
Ahmad Tarkhau in charge of the place, and ~ent Sult(m 
~Iahmud Khan K6kalt·1sh* to take chargp, of Bakhar anrl 
himself p1·oceeded to ~hal to bring his family. At t~.o 
same time he deputed Kazi Kazan to brin~ Mahmt'ttl soil 
of Varya Khan to his se"ses and nd rise him to ~nrror.rlm·, 
but the IC\zi did not succeed in his mission. lil~:~hbe!!, 
was therefore obliged to come to Tahi, wt,ere Ua1·ya Kh~n's 
~ons Mahmurl and M6tan Kinin, and Ja~u Siil-an(!' and 
Rinmal Sodh6 had mustm·ed theit· forces and prepa;ed to 
defenrl the place at the instigation of Makhdum Bihil, t a 
learned man of the place, as the latter hac! bePn ill-ta·eated 
by the Mughuls after Shahbeg's victory in Sind and 
compelled to give certain taxed, Within 3 days, Sluihut'g 

• He w11.11 the son of. Mir Fazil Kokalta•h, mentioned above. Tho 
reader wtll romemuer thta perB~nage and follu.w him, as will appon1· 
further ou, that he play• a very Important par·t 111 tho hi,lot•y of Simi 
aboat this ~eriod, ~·pecially in connection with llnkhar, Wo Hlmll 'tak~ 
further nottcc of lum elsewhere. 

t l'hiB pioll8 man's tomb c:m still bo Boon at Bi;,:H:\n neat- 0:\t!ti. 
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Rrcnre1l som ~ hon ts and crossed the river, with Mir Fazll 
K6kalt{tsh aucl the Arghun and 'l'arklutn forces. As 
IUomalwith his brother J6dh6* advanced to meet them 
:n1 h· Fazil attacked them and defeated them. 'rhe fort 
of Talti was taken. Most of the Sammah troops were cnt 
down, some drowned themselves in the rivPr ar.d a fe1v 
fled to Sehwan. Rinmal S6dh6's brother J6tlh6 was also 
among the slain. 

Aft~r spending 3 days at Taltf Sbahbeg t•eturne•l to 
Tatta given hnck to .ltlm Shal and Si.wi, and Jam ~e1·6z be~an 

Y•rbz. Jam s . .Jahud din to rule qutetly at 'ratta as before. 
11\'·ades Tattd. But it was not lonoo before Jam 

0 

Salihuddiu, who had some time ago revolted against Jam 
l!'er6z and driven him away from his capital, and had 
subsequently been himself driven away by Darya Khan 
to Gujrut, once more invaded Tatta with an arm.v of 
10,000 men, cr>nsisting chiefly of Jarejas and S6dM 
Khangars.t Jam Fer6z, without losing time, hastened to 
Shahbeg's agents at Sehwa11 and through them s~nt some­
fleet mPS&engrrs to ~hahbcg for help. The latter dcspatch~d 
his son :Mirza Shah Hasan with a column of }fughuls 
fot· the purpos!', and sent sou1e more forces after him, by 
sitccessive instalments. 

On the Hth of Muhat•ram 927 A. H. (1520 A.D.) Mirza 
Sluih Hasan left Shft.l for Sind, and 

Sh~hbeg'ssonSh~h H•san aftt•r 20 davs' J'ournev arriwd in the. 
comes to J,tm ~'crOz~:t h~lp. ' ' . • . 

v:cinity of 'fatta. Salahuddin hearmg 
of the Mughul's approach left Tatta, recrossed the river 
anll betook himself to the village of J ltn. Jam Fer61l' 
reoei ved Mirza Slnih Hasan g,·atefully and in return 
receivecl marks of distinction and friendship from him. 
Salahuddin. was soon pnrsued and overtaken. A fi~ht 
ensued betw~en the advance columns of the two parties. 
one led by Haibat Ali Klu\n, Sal:ihuddin's snn, who was. 
son·in-lnw to Sultan Muzaffar of Gujrat, and another by 
:Mirza isa Tarkhfm,t Sultan-kulibeg and Mir Alikah. 

•In the Tuhfatulkiram it is Amir .A.mranl brotlter of Rai Kbangar. 

t Pronounced by some as Khinkar. 

t The render will remember this personage, who ie destined to be the· 
futut<ler of the 'l'nrlduln dynasty of rulct•s. in :Sind. . 
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Sahl.hud,lin's son was killed and hi~ army routed. ::Ifact 
with rurre at his ~on's death, SaluhUtldin p1·edpitnted 
himself ~upon the !IIughu.ls. But soon he ~oo wus slain 
and his al'my fled to Gn]nU. After spendwg 3 days, at 
the scene of the battle Jam Feroz went back to Tntta to 
settle alfairs there and 2\Iirz:i Shih Hasan returned to 
llarrhb1tn to pny his respects to his fnther, who had come 
to that place. Here dut·ing thdr str~y, the Much hi tt·ibeR, 
who lead become rather turbulent ancl refractor,v, wet'e 
punished, theit· c.-'l.ttle and pro pee ty plunderell and their 
villages razed to the grounds. 

Soon after, Shahheg, leaving his son there wrnt to 

11 
Sehnan with a few chiefs of B1tghb8.n 

. Siui.bb<g at S•hw n. and othPrs nnd inspected the new 
fort. He po~ted some tmstwot1;hy persons thet·e and 
returning to his camp, prepared to mo1•e to Bakhar. 
Soon Kazi Kazan came to VISit him, and was shown 
great favour. Envoys with rich presents from Jam 
.Peroz also tll'rived. Shahb~g received them cheP.rfully an1l 
retUI'IJed them with a letter to the Jam intimating that 
he in tented to conquer Gujt·at, and that should he succeed 
in that undertaking he would give up the whole country 
of Sind to him. 

~iir Fazil K6kaltash, who had been in charge of Bakhar, 
Revott at !Milar nud left his son Sultan l!ahm(td Khan; 

~.&hheg lllill<il"" iu that who was then a boy of 15, in his 
dtrectwu. place and himself joined Sluihbeg. 
In his absence, some headmen of the Uhal'ejah tr1 bes, who 
bad been asked by Sluihbeg to Jive in the fort of Bakhar, 
left that phce and stationed themselves in the plain close 
to Lohri• from which place thPy twice attempted to take 
Bakhar, but were repulsed by the Sayyeds of Hakbar, who 
were on very friendly terms with Sultan Mahmud. On 
tbe information being sent to Mfr Fazil, the latter took 
his leave from Shahbeg at his camp of Chlmdko, a town 
about 60 miles to the west of llakhart and came to 
Bakhar, bringing with him 43 ringleaders of Dhat·ejabs 
who had voluntarily advanced to meet him and to fiatte; 
him. On hearing the personal complaint of his son 

t Thi• mu•t be Larkana, the chief place of Chantlkoii p~rgRnRh, 



ngnin~t the Dh:lrejah hea<lnwn, )[ir ~':\zil behca<led 27 of 
the chief's. By this time Shnhheg had encampel near 
S.tkhar* on his way to llakhar Here he was I'I)Ceivt•d 
h.v Sultan :Mflhmt'l(l, who gave him a full report about 
tl.e conduct of Dlntmjahs. Ou consultation with Kazi 
Kazan, who ha1l happened to cornli there to visit Shah beg, 
the lattPr ordet·,·d a m~ssaere of those mischierous leaders . 
.Accor1lin~ly Sult£m Mahmtul KMn hastened to Bakhar, 
dnring thnc l'f't'Y night, and slaying tl1e Dhar•jah chiefs 
threw tlu•ir corpses fr()m the tower, ~ince known by t.he 
n1mc of " Bloody '!'ower,'' and iu the moming he 
11ceompained his fath1•r anrl the Sayyeds to tho camp of 
ShahhPg. Although· the 8 •yyerls were much praised for 
their faithfnlnes~ and friendship hy Sultan MahmUd 
Khan and on that account honourl'd by Sh(thheg, it was 
considered necessary to put more ~Iughuls in tht) fort of 
:Bakhar, prohably to check the power and influence of t.he 
S:tyyeds. The latter feeiing the inr.omenience of their 
po~ition in the fort l\8ked p0rmi~sion to go and live at 
L6hri on the other si1lt• of the drer. 'l'l1is was granted 
anrl they all remo-r1'd to L6hri, where tlley have been 
r&iding ever since.t 

Slu\hheg now visitc(l the llakluw fort and divided the 

Sluihhcg at fi•khar. 
gl'()llnrl in~ide into different bullding 
sites for his chiefs and theit· fa:::iliPS 

and ur,lPred tlw work to commen~e. 'l'he bricks of the 
nnt•if:'nt fnrt of Al6r, t the old capit1l of Siu1l, as well us 
the materials of the butldings belonging to the 'furks and 
Sammnhs living round about the to11•n of Bakhm·, werfl 
hrnught and utilise1l in repairing the fr:rt walls and 
h·Jilding hou>es in it. It was first resolved to cut nnd 
remove t.he two hills to the s.Juth of Bakhar, § but as the 
river flowed bt>twe,•n, it was consid~red a sufficient 
protection for t.he town aud so I he plan of blastin~ the 
hills was abandoned as unnecessary. The r~pairs of the 

• This is now written Sukkur, but we a1•e obliged to write it correctly 
aa Snkhnr like Bakhar. 

t 7'he descendants of these Snyynds are stm living at R6hri •nd 
Snkkur. 

~ Now called .A.ror. It is 11 few milos to the east of ROhrl. 

§ To the west of Bakhar, according to the Tuhbtulkirilm. 
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fort werc then immetlintely taken in hand nnd finishr.rl 
in the course of one year. He thPn ~rdet·prJ sotm~. of ,.lll.s 
chief metl to settle thrr~, as fm· m~rance, Mu• .Faztl 
K6kalhish, 8ultim .5anjar and Mit• liuhammad Sirnim. * 

After settling the n.ffnirs a,t. Bakhnt•, SMhhflg dderminc1l 
t.o extirpate t.h.t\ Baluch tribes, .wl,o had n?ll' und then 
been causin"' trouble. 'l'o do th1s, he appntnt·~d sm·t·ral 
parties of h~ men, who \l'l're instrueted to go in dilfet•ent 
directions and on a fixed clay to slaug~tter them all at onct'. 

These parties spre:1cl themselws over the rountry. 
About 42 villagt·s of Ba16ches 1\'Cl'C destroyed and thetr 
residents pnt to the sword. 

In the winter of fJ2S A. H. (1521 A.D.) Shahbeg 

S 
'h 

1 
· , ap[JIIinted Muhammad 'l'arl<h{ln as 

ha hcg rna.rc ~~ t;o\l'aru!ll f , 
Gujn\t but he di .. in tl•• tile !!OVernor o Bakhar aud htmsel f 
ny. pt·occeded towards Uujr:it Cll':\l'ing 
bflth the hanks or the rive!' of hostile tribes living there. 
Coming to Chandiko, M ir .I!Y1r.il fell ill ancl he was permit.· 
ted to go back to B1khnr with his younger son. Shortly 
afterwnrds Mir F<izil bt·t:'atlll'd his bst. The sad news 
made Shah beg ver.v SOI'r~·· He sent the deceased chief's 
elder son Sultan Mahm(td Khan and his ot.her relatiuLJ~ 
too. to Bakbar, himself following them soon aftt'L'. He was 
so mueh affected hy his brave gt~neral's drath that 
Shahlll'g opellly dt~clai'Ctl that ·his own end was nc·ar. 
Coming to Sehw{ul he halte1! there fot· a f01·tni~ht. 
~'hence he proceedctl to 'l'attiL on his war to G ujtM. 
From Tatta he moved to the village of Agham,t where lw 
encamped for some time, wait.ing for J {un l•'er6r., who had 
been called to meet him. Shahbt•g was now \'Pry auxious 
to take Gujrat, hecanse after leaving .Bakhnr he had 
heard that }luharnmad Biber had come as far as 
Klmshab and intended to conquer Hindustan. He was 
therefore almost sut·e that he would not be allowed to 
remain in possession of Sind, and so he was coutemplatin" 
to secure some other country for himself to rule. Thes~ 

• These men were living here 1tp to 1009 A. H. (1600 A.D.), when Mir 
Mwd.m wrote his Tarikh ){aa~l•wi, as he makes a note nbout it iu his 
book. 

t Also called Agham K6t, the ancient capital of Aghnm Luhanab, 
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anxi<'tirs made his l1eart more k•:wy and his mind more 
uneasy. At last when he en me to' he 1•illar.re of Agham 
he expire~ on t.lHl ,12th of _Shuab!ln !J28 A.II. (1521 
A.D.),* whlle the Koran 11as lwing read lwfore him at his 
rc:quest. · :rh?t "''r,Y night M frz:i tlh."\h ~~san was recog­
msed ns Ins f:1th'·r s Hlc~cessor by the! cha•ts nnd "'l'andees. 
Arter fmmral ceren1o11ie~. tlw colfin was sent t~ Mecca 
whm·e 8lli1hLcg's l'C111aim were Luried iu a prominen~ 
p~acc. 

CHAPTER IX.t 

TnE REIG:N, OF )ffRzA' S~tA'u HAs.lS soN OF 
SH.\'HBEG A!Wllt:'N. 

Sc•on after Mirr.a SMh Hasan tonk tlu~ reins of gore1·n· 
lllrzA 81u(h HnMn Arg· 111ent., he C:lllle to know that. J!llll 

h•'tn, ret~"" to Tjltta to F~r6z nnd the peo;•le or Tatt:i in 
""""" Jnm Fer

6
'· get era! hnd become re1·y much 

]lleaged to he.u· of his fat.her's c\Path nn<l lr<'re thinkin"' of 
shaking off hi~ yoke. Shah Unsan thPI'efo:·e poslpo~ed 
his going to Gujr:tt aud prcp:~rcd to rl'turn to Tatta and 
puuish Jam Fi:\r6z. 

It was in the to"'n of N n~arpur that Shlth Hasan 
formally nnd publicly ocrup!ed the. throne of his father, 
aud all the 8nyyrds, Kazi~. headmen and chiPfs of the 
}lllice flochd to him to condole with him on his rerent 
bor.;avement and to congratulate him on llis asce.tsion to 
t.hc gddi of government. They then pt•oposed to mention 
his name in the Friday orations, as is usually done for 
reooguised kings of countries. But Shah Has1n said that 
as long as any descendant of Amir 'l'aimt'tr S:thib Kirlin 
wa~ in existence, he did not think it proper to allow 
8Uch a 1 hiug. lie ordered that Baber be recongised as the 
king and his name mentioned in the public addre~ses in 
mosques, on the approaching holiday succeeding the 
month of Ramazan.· t:loon after, Kuzi Kazan and some 
other religious men brought submissive messages from Jam 

• ~trnnllo enongh ·• mon'.h of Shunh1\n" in Persinn gh·cs the numerical 
mine equnl to ('~b, ns noted in the 'l'tlrikh Mnnst\mi. 

t This ~haplc·c· ia alijo t:1kon from lite l'adkh MAntiml. 
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Frr6z trvin" to intercede and secure pardon for him, 
But SMh Ha~an learning that the Jtl.m was collecting 
men aml arms, dismisse1lthem and marched against 'l'uttit. 

Hearing of Mirza Slu1h Hasan's approach Jam Fer6z 
could not dare stop tlwre. HI! left 

Fli~htofJO.m Feroz from the city knd crossing the rh·er took 
Tau.a. to flight. The Jam's son-in-law Shekh 
l\1rahim and his wazir Manika brought some gunners 
and archt·rs in b<>at.s to oppose the i\1 ughuls and to prevent 
them from landin"'. But ~oon tlwy wem frmtratf'd : Shah 
Hasan landed at fatt'i and H·n Fcr•lz hurried to Kachh 
in order to secure some be: p from the Rai. 

At Cluichik:iu aml Rahi111an J {tm Fer6z succeeded in 
assem hlin~ 50,000 men, horse and 

Fighling ?<'t"'.""" ~hnh foot, and ;letermined to make a Mtnnd 
BMan and Jam hr6z. • ]\·', , S\ •h ngamst the enemy. .llt'Z<t lu 

Ha~an coming to know of thi>, sent some men to keep a 
watch on 'l'at.tu ancll,imst•lf marcheJ a~ainst Jam rer6z. 
Seeing the ~lughul forces ut hand, 'the Jtim's met:J lost all 
hope a1:d resolred to sell il11.!il' lives dear nnd die to a man. 
Accordingly, following the cu<tom prevalent in those dnys 
in llind and Sind, they ca,ne rlown from their horse>, tied 
the corners of their scarrs and turbuns with onc.another's, 
and corumencrd the fight in a body. Seeing this, Mirza 
Shah Hasan, alighted f1·om his horse, m1de ablusions, said 
his prayers and asked blessiug~ and b .. lp from God, and 
then riding his horse charg.~d the enemy with his chiefs. 
From the morning to the afternoo•l the fight went on. 
Swords and arr01vs w~re bnsy at work. Both ~ides fought 
bravely. At last Ji1m Fer6z losing 20,000 men turned 
away from the field and fi~:Ju to Gujrat, where he remainc1l 
till death rl'moved him from the world. Shah Hasan took 
posses~ion of tho anilllllh and the baggage left behind by 
the enemy and distributed the s~me among his tt•oops. 
After spending three days he returned to 'ratta and thenc" 
to 'faghlakab:l.d, where he made a long halt of 6 months. 
Then he proceeded to Bakhar via J:Utlakandi.* Coming 
to a place opposite Sehwan, he was visited by chiefs of 
Sehwan and other neighbouring places, and uppointing 
Mir Farrukh to be in chnrge of Darbelah he came to 

• The present towu of uld Hahi. 



73 

1hhur16,• ahout 6 miles from Bakhar, amusing himself 
with hunting all tlte way. During his stay at Bakhar, the 
pb1ce became more populous with some new arriYals from 
Kaudhar and Hirat. 

In 908 A.H. (1502 A.D.) Bah:\. Ahmad the younger son 
of Mir Fazil K6kaltash was sent with a 

Some fighting in Ub&orah I t · h 'b f and M:it4cla4. co umn o pums some tr1 es o 
Dahar and blachhi, in the district of 

Uluiorah~ and Bati and Amin, as they had oppressed the 
peaceful inhabitants of Mathelah and Mahar. Riba 
.A hmud came to the fort of JHathelah, after chastising the 
mischievous tribes and carrying off their cattle and othel' 
}lropm·ty as booty. '!'he Bf\l6ches of the fortified town of 
~cwr{ti p1·epart•d to resist the Mughuls and free the country 
about the place from their deprcda1ions. Baba Ahmad 
nmrched against them and defeated them in a single 
fight, in which they lost a large number. Many Daharis 
aud 11I:ichhis were taken lll'isoners. A large amount of 
money was takn from the people, who also gave a girl in 

, marriage to Baba Ahm3d. After settling the affairs of 

liUbaorah and leaving some persons in charge of it Baba 
Ahmad came back to Bakhar. 

( . As the river was ovedlooded at that time the :\fughuls 
·f. A been obliged to leave the animals and cattle taken in 

oot.J, near Mi1thelah. Finding it a favourable oppor• 
unity, a p~rty of Bal6ch Jats of Sewrai, fell upon them 

hnd carried away the same. Hearing this, B'lba Ahmad 
1rctm·~vith some 300 men, killed most of the mischief 
,'makers and again secured the nnimals. On his return, he 
, was again confronted at Bati and Amia, with the joint 

1

1 partit•s of Bal6ehes and Dl1harls ... A battle ensued in 
which Baba Ahmad was severely wounded. He had hardly 
arrived at Matlwluh, when he died of the wounds. 

With the permission ·of Mirza Sh:ih Hasan, B:l.M 
.Ahmad's younger brother, Abdul Fattah, in company of 
his father.in-law Mir Kasim, came with a force to the 
scene of disturbance to revct)ge the death of their de.1r 
relation. Bah'! Ahmad'~ body wos sent to Bakhar for 
burial. An attack wns now made on the Bal6obes, a lar~e 
number of wbom was killed. At i\1<\u another fight took 
----------------------------------- ---t This village ia in the Kh~irpu~ torritory now. lt is uclll' Itohri. 
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place with them and there too the Bal6ches were Jaroated. 
A peace was soon arranged, according to the terms of 
which Dati and Amm were fixed as the boundary of Sind. 

In 930 A. H. (1523 A. D.) l'Iirza Shah Hnsan resolved 
to take Multan and for that purpose 

Sh&h Hasan prepm• to he summoned all his chiefs and a"ents 
march ngamllt Moltlln. • , ~ 

with their armies to Bakhar. At first 
he went to Siwi with 1,000 men to settle some quarrels 
among the ArgMn and Huzarah tribes. HP. thoroughly 
repaired the fort of that place and left it in the hands of 
some trustworthy chiefs. Then he returned to Bakhar, 
punishing in the way some Baloches of Rind and Magsi 
tribes and bringing some of their chiefs and prisoners 
with himself. 

As about this time the rumours of Baber's coming to 
Sh'hbe h 1 Hindustan were nfluat, Mirza Sb:ih • g paya omage o , 

ll.lber lllld wme marriages Hasan sent some prrsents With a 
.... cel•brated. letter to that king and he himself 
soon followed them and received the honour of his audience. 
Shortly after this, a mutrim~nial conneotion bct.ween the 
t\\'0 princes was arranged, which brought them into still 
closer terms of friendship. Gul harg Begum a daughter of 
Khalifah Hisamudd!n Mirak, Biber's chief seCJ·etary and 
minister, was married by the king to Mirza Shah Hasan, 
and Nahid Begum, llah Begum's daughter, of whom we 
have spoken in a previous chapter and who had been 
detained at Kabul•, was 15iven in marriage to Khalifah's 
son Alikhan. Shah Ra~an b1•ought his bride to Bakhar 
and gave the district of Baghban and Pat to Ifisamuddin 
Mirak as a present and himself proceeded to Mult:in. 

We have seen from tbe first volume of this history 
that Muhammad Kasim Sakifi had 

A •hort account of d "\tul'! t d f j' Mull!lnt and itorulers. conq uerc .!1'1 ~x'ln, an a tor us 
death it remained in the hands of 

.Arab lieutenants. Then it was ruled by Sultan MahmUd 

• Ail we have seen above, Mlih Begum WIIS & daughter of Mu11amnu1d 
lfuklm, brother to Sh&hbeg and therefore uncle to Shah H118an. 

t It is said that the origin of the word is Mair Sth!ln, a Hindu term 
meaning the residing place of Malis, an ancient tribe that resided her~ 
and fought with AleX&ndcr the Great, w 325 B.C. 



of Gl1azn{ and hi~ descendants as mentioned in the firs~ 
part of this volume. Next it passed into the hands of 
princes of the line of Karamatih • and next into those 
of Sultan Muizzuddfn son of Muhammad Shah.t Up to 
874 A. H. (1469 A. D.) it was held by the kings of Dehli. 
lp tire confusion and disorder that followed in that year, 
the then ruier of :Multan became independent. In 840 
A. H. (143li A. D.) when Alauddin son of Muhammad 
Shah son of Khiz}r Khan of the Sayyed dynasty was on 
the throne of Dehh, t disorder spread thoughout the vast 
empire owing to the impetuous behaviour of the :Wiughuls. 
And Mult{m like some other important places in Hindu. 
shin wns left without a ruler. 'fhe headmen and chief 
persons of the place, therefore elected Shekh Yusif 
Kuraishi as their ruler, as he was a descendant of Shekh 
BaMuddln Zakariyya 11ultani § and the keeper of his 
shrine, which was held in great reverencA ani was visited 
by people fur and near. 'fhus from Ueh to Multan, all 
the headmen and lando1vners recognised Shekh Yuslf as 
th~:l' head and assisted him by giving him men and m·oney. 

( /short time after this, one Rai Salu·a, a headman of 
I J. gah tribe, living in the vicinity of 16hri sent messages 
1 :\hekh Y usif requesting that as Bablul 16dhf had got 

~ ~rone of Hindustan f and an invasion was expected, 
' ,might make common cause and live like friends, 

~ke in the Shekh compl!3tely, who was a pious and 
1 le person, he gave the hand of his daughter to the 

)be first ki11g of this line wns Bahram Karmati 278 A. H. (Sn A.D.) 
l1e last Hasnn bi11 .Ahm.,d 366 .A..H. (976 A.lJ.) 

v• bll in 6ll A.H. (121~ A.D.) 
}

'his is ~huhabuddin Ghori, who came to the throne of Hindustan 

')' his Sayyed dynasty consisting of these three kings only, came iu 
power, between the Tnghlak and L6dhi dynasties, as is known to th& 
students of the Indian History. 

1. Khizir Kluln came to the throne in 1421 A.. D. 
2. Sayyou Muhammad in 14:l5 A.U. 
S. A.laudd{u in 1444 A.D. 

§ We have spoken about this pious man in a previous chapter. 
'If The Sayyed dynasty was succeeded by the L6dbi dynasty, which 

consisted of the followingS princes:-
1. Bahhil Khtln, who came to the throne in 854 A.H. (1450 A.D.) 
2. Siknnd11r Lodhi 8~4 .A..H. (l4~H A.D.) 
3. lbrahi111 sou of No.~ · 922 .A..H. (1516 A.D.) 
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Shekl1 ancl on tho excuse of serir g his daughtrr, l1e l1e:;nn 
to visit :Multan more often. 1.'o save his father-in-Ltw 
this trouble, Shekh Y {Jsif gave him separate quartP.rs in 
the town in which he began to collect some of his own 
men. O~e night he went with an attendant to the 
Shekh's rcsiden\·e to visit his daughter. llefore entering 
the house, he seeretly drank a cup of fresh blood of a kid, 
suppli~d to him by his attendant. A few minutes after­
wards he be,an to complain of belly-ache and appeared to 
grow restles~. He soon vomitted out blood which terrifiNl 
the whole family. Rai Sahra now declared that be was 
on the point of death and w~nted to see his men and to 
bid them a last farewell. Of co\ll'se the simple Shekh 
had no ohjection to the admission of these men at such a 
critical juncture. When the brave Langahs assembled 
there, th~y immediately following their master's hint, 
took the gates of the palace and drove away Shekh Y u>if 
and his men, who .fl.ed to DehU and Bid Sabra ascended the 
throne.of 11ultin, taking the title of Sultan KutbudcHn.,. 

In 931 A.H. (1524 A. D.) Mfrzi Sluih Hasan startc:\ 
for Multan. From the fort of Sewr:ii, 

Sh>b Hm_n toke• the he commenced the work of destruction 
fort11 of Sewu1 and Mliu. 

· and depredation. The Bal6chllS ran 
to strengthoo the fort of Uch, which was the stt·ongl·st o[ 
all the forts in the country. Shah Hasan enc<lmped oo 
the bank of a lake and sent his brare general, Sult:'in 
lfahmUd Khan, with 80 warri'lrs only ,against the assembled 
:Hal6ches. A sr.vere battle wa:; fought. 20J men of the 
enemy were killed, Sultan Mahmltd hilll:ldf slaying ao 
men. The Bal6ches were put to flight. Sh:ih Hasan now· 
ordered the fort of Sewrai to be razed to the grouncl, 
which work was finished in about a week. lie next 
proceeded to the fort of Mim. But by the interceS!iion of 
a pi·~us man of the place, Shah Hasan did not dec.troy the 
town, but captured the Langahs and :Haloehes only, wh() 
·were found in it. 'l'he fort was soon taken posse!>sion or 
formally and the Shekhs of the place were called upr;n t() 

• Shekh Yci.si£ hnd: only reigned o.t Multnn for 2 years. Sultan Kut· 
.bu<Wi? ruled fo~ 16 years and was succeeded by his ROll Sultcln l:(usni111 
Langah, who rcJgocd for 34 yenn Thou came Sulton Mahm>ld son of 
Fc'l"6z Khan Laugah, who rei~'Ded for 'l:7 years and some months and was 
•ucceecled by his son Sult!ln Husain, in whose reign ~[ultlin Wtll! tllkou by 
1ilirui Slulh Ht18~ll as will be seen lower dowu.. 
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remain faithful to Mm. Shah Hasan then proceeded to 
the eountry of the Ll.r tribe and sent Muhib 'l'arkhan 
alu·nd with 500 horses. 

Mirza Sluih Hasan now marched against Uch, with a 
Shoih Ha~"' fights with lar~e arm,l', the right division of 

Loilognh' nuu Bnlwhe• at wlucb was commanded by M.uham· 
Uch. mad Miskfn '!'arkl1an and .Mirza I'sa 
1'nrldllin, and the lefc division by Mir .l!'arrukh and Mir 
Ali Arghuns, Sultan Mahmud Khan and Mir Mahmud 
S:irhfl.n leading the advance party. '!'he army of L:in":ihs 
and Bal6ches of Multan was led by one Nahir, and w~s a 
hundred times more numerous than the Mughuls. 'l'he 
two armies met and the battle commenced. At first 
~!Jowers of arrows were exchanged, but soon they came to 
dose qnaJ•ters. 'l'he native forces being r~pulsed outside, 
they n1shed into the fort and hegan to shower stones and 
arrows from tl)e top of the walls. 'fhe chiefs and head. 
men, who had been taken prisoners, were now orrlet·ed tl) 
be picrcecl to death with lances within the sight of the 
garrison. 'fhis had the desired effect. Several men 
sect·etly threw themselves down from the ramparts in 
ordet• to make good their escape, hut they were seized one 
by one and killed. The town was now ordered to be 
plundered and the fort to be rttzed to the gt·ound. 'l'he 
wood and other materials of the fort of Uch wero sent to 
lhkl.tar by bo:tts. 

When :Mal1mud Klul.n Lang:ih, the ruler of Multan 
' came to know of Mirza Shah Hasan's The hound~ry line bet. 

~'"" Bnkloar nnd Mnluln is actions, he collected the people of 
fixed. the tribes of Jats, Rinds, })6dius, 
K6,·{!fs, CMndias nnd other B11l6ches, and within one 
mont.h issued from Multan with SO,OilO men, cavalry and 
infantry. At the ver,v first stage, he fell ill and died from 
the effects of poison admimistered by a kinsman, with 
whom he had become angry for some fault. MahmUd 
KMn's son Sultan Husain Ungih was appointed as his 
father's successor by the tribes, but at this critical 
juncture, peace was considered necessary and so some 
pious men interceded and a peace between the two P•~rties 
wns brought ahout, according to the terms of whiolt the 
Gluir6, on the bank of which Shah Hasan was then 
encamping, was fix:ed as the boundary line between 
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B~kh:tr and )!nlhin territories. After this set.tlem~nt, 
Shah Hasan onlered :IDnther fort to be co nstqtcted at U ch 
and he appuiuted some trustworthy men iu charge of the 
same. 

Mirza Shah Hasan was now informed that a large 
treasure was buried in the fort of 

The fort of Dil£war i• Dilawar. So he wrote a letter to 
taken. Ghazi Khan, • the governor of the 
place, asking him to appear before him and pay obeisance 
to him. But Ghazi K.han refused to do so, Shah Hasan 
therefore prepared to march against the fort of Dihiwar. 
He took provi~ions with him to last for about a month 
and on t.he 1st of Rajjib 931 A. H. (152·1 A. D.) he 
marched out with his forces. Sanbul Khan was sent 
ahead to lay siege to the fort, which was apparently 
impr~gnablc ancl situated in a desert, where no water 
could easily be got. In the course of 3 days only, 100 
wells wE're sunk and in 4 days more, Shah Hasan himself 
arrived with the main army. The fort wns blockad~d. 
At last a breach was made by Sanbul Khan, and the 
occupants or the fort, engaged with the belligerents in 
a desparatP. fight. Some were killed and others wounded, 
and a hrge number of them wns t 1keu prisoner. '!'he 
treasures were secured and a isood portion of it distributed 
among the troops. Shah Hasan now returned to Uch 
and thence to B~khar, where he arrived after a fortnight. 

About the close of 932 A. H. (1525 A. D.) some 
disturbance arose in Multan owing 

Shah Ho/"'" tak .. l~ulllln to the weaknes~ of the ne\V ruler and gi\.CIS 1t over to Ba.her. 
Sultan Husain :Ungab. The people, 

being dissatisfied with his rule, were anxious to have 
some other chief as their head. Henriog of this state 
of things, Mirza Shah Hasan marched towards Multan in 
order to take it. An attempt was made by the ruler of 
liultan to pacify the Mirza, but it failed as Shah Hasan 
wanted him to come personally to pay homage to him, 
which Sultan Husain would not consent to do. So the 
Langahs made a sortie from the fort on the Arghlln army 
and killed a few of them. This enraged Shah Hasan, who 
came and encamped close to the Shams gate of the city, 

• Very probably tkis ia the founder of Der' Ghazi Khan. 
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l.tnd besieged the fort. Every day a battle was fought 
with guns and arrows. As the siege lasted for about a 
year, famine began to be felt at Multan. People began to 
eat hides of cattle and t'Ve:l dead cats and dogs. 'l'he 
occupants of the fort were compelled to throw themselves 
from the top of the walls hto the moat round the fort. 
At last on the 11th of Rabiussani 933 A.H. (1526 A. D.) 
the I.uhari gate was broken down and entry made hy the 
Arghuns. A massacre of the natives then commenced. 
All the males from the age of 7 to 17 were taken prhoners 
and the rest put to sword. Great booty, both cash and 
jewels, were obtained. Sul:{m Mahmud Langah's son 
and daughter were brought and entrusted to Shfth .Hasan, 
who handed them over to Miskin 'l'arkhan. The latter 
ma1-ried the girl hims~lf and retained the bov as his own 
child and protege. After 2 months, Shah Hus~in returned 
to Bakhar, having first left Khwajah Shamsudrlin Khaoff 
with 200 horse and lOU foot and 100 guns, in charge of 
Multan. At the same time Sbah Hasm sent some envoys 
with letters to king Baber offering .lliultan as a prese~t 
to him. .Baber accepted it and gave it over to bis son 
Mirza Kamran. 

On his arrival at Bakhar ~Iirz(, Sh:ih IIasan received 
despatches from 'l'atta informing him 

Sluth H111111n invndcs that Raf Kllanoour of Kachh was 
K'"'hh nnd dcfcnta Rui b !" . h . 
Khangar. a ·out ·to marc1 agamst t at mty. 

Accordingly Shith Hasan, without 
losing time, came to Tatt!l. Here he received a letter from 
Rtti KLan gar, stating " You killed my brother Amir 
Amrani and to revenge his death I have collected an 
army.• You bad gone to Multan and in your absence I 
would have easily taken Tatta. But I did not do so to 
oblige you. Now either make peace· with me giving me 
part of Sind or prepare yourself for fight." 'l'o this Mi1·za 
Shah Ha~an gave the following reply "I am only anxious 
to fight. The field reddened with A'mir Amrani's blo01l is 
destined to bear the token of your blood too. Before you 
take th.e trouble of coming this side, I am coming to you." 
Shortly after this, Shah Hasan started for Kachh. Arriving 
in the vicinity of the capital, he divided his forces into four 

• The Tuhfutulki!'llm is therefore correot in BBoying that Arnir Am.rani 
wa• killed "nd not J Odh6 Sodh6, as -aeutioued r. few pnges back. 
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columns to nthck t.he cit.v from ditr~rcttt sidrs, so t.hnt the 
enemy should, hy seeing tl{e advanced p1rty, believe that the 
force was small and when all should fall upon it, the other 
columns should attack from other sides and take the plnce. 
'l'he advance column was Jed by 8ul-tim :VIahmud Khtin 
Bakhad. 'rhe ot.her three columns WPre commanded hy 
11Hr Farmkh, by Slt;\h lias:m l'akdir[ aml by :Vlfrzi1 I'sa 
Tar khan and i\Iir Alikah. Mean while Itai Kha.ng;\r 
learning that Shah Hasan was making a stand with a 
hnndful of men only, hurried against ltim with a force of 
10,000 men. Sultan Mahmud Khan he:tring the k .. ttle 
drums ot the Kachlr army, hastened to meet him, calling 
llir Farrukh at the same time to his help and 'preventing 
Mirza Shah Hasan from venturing out. In the engage· 
ment that took place Rai Khangar himself fought on foot 
along with Lis men, having fil'st ti1•d togethet• the cornPrs 
of their &carl's according to their custom. Sultitn l\Iahmud 
commenced with showers of arrows and killed a large 
number of them. 'l'he remnauts were cut down witlt 
swords by Mir Farrukh, who bad arrived at the spot soon 
afterwards. It was sunset now. The Mughuls spent the 
night in the bnttle·field and the next morning tlwy 
plundered the country and came to the camp with many 
horses, t~amels, cows and other booty, together \'\'ith the 
pt·isoners obtained in the battle. Happy and victorious, 
:Shall Hasan now returned to 'l'atta, 

CHAPTER X.• 

TilE REIGli OF Mr'&zA' SaA.'n HASA.N-ooniinued, 

In 942 A.H. (1535 A.D.) Humayun, who had succeeded 
M1!7i. ShAh H.,an goe• to 

Patau in Oujrat w meet 
llurn&y6.n amd retur,l.l$ to 
Tutt4. 

his father Baber on the throne of 
Dehli,t marched against Gujr:it and 
laid siege to Jit6r, ~ Sultan Mahmlld 
Bahadur, the ruler of Gujrat, wrote 

• This clu.pter is also taken from the Tarikh M~~asuml. 
. t Baber died in 1937 after a reign of 38 years and was succeeded by 

hlB son H umil yon. 
+ Jetpur in the Tuhfatulkiram. 
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n. Rtrong letter to Huma,nin, in defence of the l1aj:d1 of 
J it6r, who was a trihutarv of his. '!'his annovPd the 
Mu'ghul Emperor. lie t111'ned his face to the ;uler of 
Gujrat himself. He soon put Sultan 'Mahmu(l to flight 
aud ~>t the same time wrote to Mirza Shah Hasan, on the 
strength of the fl'i~>ndship existing between him anu his 
father Bab~r, to come to l'atan with nn army to check tlHJ 
prog1·ess of tho fugitive prince. Upon this invitation 
1\lll'za Shah Hasan stnrterl f1·om N as~rpur via 1laclanpl11', 
t~ Patau. Khizir Khan the govPrno~ of Pata·1 had already 
put himself in the fort to.defend the place for the king of 
Gujrat.. Sultan ~iahmtlc\ Khan had br:eu sent with 500 
horse, in advanne, by ShU.hbeg. 'l'his geneml so threateoecl 
the goveroot· of the place that he, with the ad1•ice of hi~ 
old rnothe1·, preoented one Inc of Fer6z Shahi rupees to 
:Mirza Shah Hasan and 30,000 rupe,·s to Sult.1.n Mahmucl 
as· a gratification to lc"le the place and go aw:1.y. Ae· 
cordingly Sluih Hasan tnrnl'd aside aud sent a letter with 
some presents to Hurnayun, intimating that he had arrived 
at Patan in accurdance wit.h his order~. llleumrhilc·, 
Shabbeg halted for about n fortnight in :11e vicinity of the 
place and Sult:in :Uahmud moved about plundering the 
country up to .Hahmud:lMd. Mit· .Fat•t•ukh having just 
then at·riverl, he advised Shahheg to make excuses and 
d'ecline to join the Emperor of D~hlf, for, said he, when 
their Ar!.(lnin and 'l'arkluin fm·ces would see the Emperor's 
Ill en getting- the rich bo·1t.y of Gujr.lt, they would be 
induced t.o desrrt him and join H umaylill'S army. After 
some flll'ther con-sultntion and consideration Sluihbeg sent 
~lil'za Kasimbeg with a lettet· to the Emp<·ror, statin~ 
that "011 receil'ing your order I have c 11M here with all 
my forces; hut I have j11st now received despatches fron1; 
the chiefs o[ Bakhar aud 'l'att:i stating that some Kalmittl 
Jatofs have made a conspiracy with some local landowners 
und revolted. I am therefore obliged to go back to oh~ck 
their rebellion.'' 

Mirza Shah Hasan now returned t() Tutt:i, in the 
Hum~:un comc.to SitHI beginning of 9.1:5 A.H. ( 1538 A. D.); 

and en..{rup• at Lohd and through llitdanpur, and Oll his way 
llab .• rlo he once more chastised the Jarejahs 
and S6dMs. In 9·17 A.H. after the Emperor Humitytm 
had conqucl'cd B~ngtH aud Gujritt, he was oppo&ctl by 

• 305-11 
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Sher Shah Surf .Afglu\n. * Near theferry of the river J tin 
two or three battles WPre fought between them, and tilen 
Bumayun turned to Junpur. In !148 A.R. (15'U A.D.) 
llirzti Shah Hamn sent Mir Alikah ArgMn to cong:ratu­
late the Emperor on his behalf, on his late victories. at 
Bengal and Guji':l.t. At the same time he st·ut a.f\otht•r 
envoy to Humayun's brother Mirza Krimrin to cot gratu· 
\ate him on his victory nt Kandhar. During his stay in 
the Emperors' camp Mir Alikah who was n vrry shrt•wd 
statesman, came to know that a large numher of Huma­
yun's men were about to dt•sert him and that tile Emperor 
was in danger of losing his power. He, thet·llfl•N without 
waiting there and taking form~l permission from tht~ 
Emperor, came back to 'l'atta and acquainted his mast('r 
witll what he thou~ht would probably come to p1ss. Just 
then infot•mation was received that the Bmperor was ~ 
defeated by Sher Shah Afghan. :Mir Alfkah was much 
praised fot· his fore-thought and expediency It was now 
am.nged that the country on hoth b~nks of the river 
from U ch to Bakhar should be laid waste to and madil 
desolate; as likewise that fr.>m ·Bakhar to Sel11vaa. But 
Babarl6 with its font• celebrated [prdens W·tS decorate:!, 
its buildin~s adorned and its fort l'llpait·ed, iu orcler to bo tit 
fur the residence and protection of Emperor II u nui~·un •md 
his family, for they were SUI'Cl that Hum:iyun woul.l come 
to Sind, in ord<'r t.o join his brother•, ~lil'za Kamn'ln and 
Mirza A.l.kari, with whom lle was on lrien1lly tm·ms now. 

On the 1st of Rabi-ul awwal 9i7 A. H. (1540 A.D.) 
Rmru\.yun arrived at Lah6r, where he was joined by his 
brnthel'S and ether chiefs. Shortly aftel' that Siler Sit;\h 
Afghan came to Lah6r and began to oppress the Mughuls 
\l'herever he found them. 

Humayun was therefore obliged to !ewe thnt plaC1e too 
nnd resolved to go to Kabul. On coming to the river 
Chenab, however, his brothers Kamr.in and Askari left 
him and went to Kabul, without his P~'l'mission. See in"' 
that his brothers had turned agrt.inst him Humayun set 

• Alio called Sher Khan. His real name was F1trid, !leaders of 
Indian History know that Sber Sluih got the tlmme of Dchli in 947 
A.H. (1540 A.D.) He waa succeerled by his son Salim Shah in \!52 
(1.'>45) and he by his brothtr Adil tihah in 960 (1553.) Then lium&y~n 
once more c ame to the tl.rone of Dehlf. 
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out For Sind, in the mo:1th of RaJjib nnd in the next 
month he came to lJch. Here B1tkhsho Langah, 
the chief of the place sent a boat full of com as a present 
to the 8mperor, wl10 gave bim the tiUe of" Khan Jaluin '' 
coupled with a robe of honour and permission to carry a 
st:m,lard and kettle drums. About the close of the mflnth 
of Ramazan, IIumayu t's camp was filled at 16hrf and htl 

. him,elf went over to tho gardens of Babarl6 which was a 
very pleasant spot. 

l'!eanwhile Sultan Mahmud Khan strength"n<?rl the 
defences of t.he fortified town of Bak· 

· Hum:\yun go" to Pat I d d II tl b t f 
oud com•• back to B•khlll'. 1ar an remove a 1e 01 s l'OI'U 

the 16hri side to Bakhar. He was 
c'lllecl by Humayun to pay homage to him, b11t hP sent a 
reply th1t he could not do so without the permission of 
his master .Mirza Shah Hns·m. He, however, sent 500 
Kharars of corn and some other provisions to tht! Emp~rot.'s 
camp, a; he had learnt that thcru w.ts sc1rcity there. 

Hum.ivun now wrote a letter to Mirza Shah Hasan nt 
Tatta, remin<~iug him of his gra1itute towards an•! 
friendship with Emperor 13.i.ber, a!ld asking his ilelp at tne 
present juncture. · 

Mirza Shah Hasan's reply to the env•>,VS wns that whe11 
the Bmpero:· would go that side, he would give him tit~ 
country from Halakandl to Bath6rah and th·1t he wvult! 
accnmpany him iu his invasion agair.st Gujt·at. He also 
advised the Empct•or to shift fr.>m lhkhar to 01liu~hik:.u, 
a~ the former place was not rich and pwdncliVtl enou!.(il 
to meet the expenditure of the royal ca np, and he 
promised to meet him at tile latte1 place. 

On recdving tlli~ memge Hum1yun wante:l at first t() 
act accor.ling to Shah Hasan's sugg,Jstion, but he was 
subsequently moved by his counsellors to seetll'e t.he for~ 
of B:tkhnr to serve as a ttJmporary and convenient shelt(•r 
against the pursuit of Sher Shih who was then at Lih6r, 
and then to pt•oceed to Gujrtl.t. '!'hey showed him that 
Mil·za Shah Hasan was giving false excuses and that he 
was not fa thful to him. llumayuu accordingly deter· 
mined to take Bakhat•. 

Hum\yim had about 2 laos of people with him ann 1,1-om 
B:~bal'l6, whe:·o he had fixed his t·e.sHenoe with his family, 
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t., J.6liri 11hero 1Iir~~ Y~ld~lr l\nsir hail put up in the. 
oolle~e nttachell to th\J grt•nt mo~qnt-, n distanct> of 6 mile~. 
wn.s all occupied by his troops and camp followet·s. 'l'he 
chief men of t.be place p:tid l'e<pect.s to thu Bmp!lt'or and 
mentioned his name in the f ridnv orations. }•'amino 
b··gan to m:ll>e itself felt in Pnkha1· m\d 16hri. This state 
of t.hings continued for about 6 months, nnd llum:iyun was 
waiting nil this time and hoping aguinst hope, that Sl11\h 
Hasun would come to his help. Aftt•r all he was ohligecl to 
send his otlll'r brother l\lirzi Hi udal to PiLt with t\ gr<>at p:wt 
ol' his camp, to secure provisious. The Bmp<'NI' soon 
fol!Oirl'd him. But :t~ malaria hl'oke out in the camp, thry 
c:1me hack to Bakhar, the fort of which still rcmaint•d in 
the hanch of Shah H~sa11's agenl~. 8hortl,v after this his 
brother ~Iir1.a llind~U left the Emperol' and Wt!nt away to 
Knndhiu·, which faot further di>heartened IInm:ivlm . . 

On the 18th of .Tamatli-al·Awwal, !H8 A.II. (li>Ll A.D.) 
'l'ncs<hv, llum{wlm st'\rte.l for Sch­

Hu~u:ly6" 1."Y' ;ie~e .to wan J~avin"' Jhkhar in chat'"'C of 
Schw:m IJut f:.uls to t:\k.c tt, ' , t o . ;, 

:\lirza Yiulgi1r :\:1sit·. Un litl1 nf 
lhjjih, he at•rivrd at. ::iehw:\n with hi~ whole cam!•· 
Before hi~ m•rival SMh Hasan's ngt·nts at the placr, l\lir 
:'nltimalibe!r, ~I ir .Jiuhammad 8:\rban and others hntl 
d~solatetl the o;)unt.t·,l' all ro.md and they dtofendPd tht~ 
fort azninst his att~ch Ahont the sa•ne time Mirzi1 
Shah iiasau himsPlf :n•riretl at the plaN•, and declaring 
ojwll enmity, hr•gau to take otl'<'n~ire and tll'ftmsi,·e steps. 
Jle rkpntPtl ~li1' Alik:lh ,\rqhun t.o comnwnce host.iliti··~ 
lint! himsPlr' till)! a larg~ trench round thtl fot't But tho 
1n1pcl'ial m•my had already pressed lmrcl on t.he onstltl 
walls and c:tusetl a breach, throwin~ down a pirct\ of thil 
toll'er. 'l'he grll'l·ison i111mediately r~p:til·ed the bt·each, 
without giving the enemy any tbue to clfe(Jt au eutt·y. 
This !milled the Emperor's attt•mpt.s to ~oi~e the fort., 
After a siege of 7 ffi'lntlt~, disappointPd in the under· 
taking and inconvenienl'e<l by strong b1•eeze and fearful 
tloorl•, and by the st.oppaze of communieation for provi. 
sions by Shahheg, Ilumriyun's men h~gnn to desert him. 

At Br1khar ~Iirz:i Ya~g-Ar ~ asir hail hecn twice nttuckllJ 
. by the ga1·t·ison of the fort and put. 

He""'""' bnck, to L<ilto·l to some loss A third tt'IIIC nl•o a arul Balh.t. • ., 1\ 
engagement took place IJetwt•en tho 

t1vo parties nrnv L<lhri, in which the )lit·z:, put the ont•my'~ 
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forcP.~ to fl ghl and killt•tl a larw~ number of them with 
his own hands. 

1-Hrzi1 Shah Has:\n now tried to win over !fit·za Yad!rfir 
N:isil· to his ~itle. u~ sent. ffir'SSt•nger. to hitn promi~inoo 
to giv" him th" hand of his claug-htet' and to adopt hi;;, 
as his son' ancl heit· ns he had none. At length Mit·zt~ 
Yadgar h·ft Humayt!n's sidP. nncl went ovt"r to Shah 
Hasan. Hum<i..nin coming fo know of this, ~ent for 
J\lirza Yaclg!!''• but on his ~idn~ somP- ext:nsr,~, he Mt 
Selnniu and en me hack to L6hri. As LherP was scarcity of 
provisi:lns, Sult:1n J\lahnlli'l Kh:iu ami ~lirza Nasir sent 
some corn to the EmperOL·'s camp ,tt his urgl'nt rept·esenta· 
tion. But this supply ll:'in;; iu~llfficient for the per1ple, 
they ~prt>:td themselves ovrr the c~untr_v plundering 
,·illa·!es. St-veral attt·mpts wPre mucle to take the fort of 
lhkhat', which had been carefully stored with ahundant 
provisions, hut as I h•'Y ha•l gut no ~mchit,es or inst!'umcnts 
rrquir~d I'm· the pm·pllse, they could not do any harm to 
it or its occup:m ts. 

Being surrouncled hy misfr,rtnnes and di>appointments 
Ilum(lytin thought ,,f leaving the sltores of Hind and going 
to llecca to b.·com•• n pcl'manent resLient there; but his 
counsellors showed h!m the t•ect•ssity ,,f first acquiring 
somCl wealth when they could !1'0 wherr.1•er they liked • 
• lust t.hen a let!et' wa~ receired from l:{tjail .\Ial•lew of 
.lolhpnr inviting Ihmay(m to his ~tate ancl promising to 
r.·ndt~r him as much scrrice as wns witl.in his p••wei', 
Hum:tyun wns mueh plr·ast•d to get snoh llll invitation at 
8tH·h a jtu!l•tur~ ancl with•mt mneh l11•sitnti •n he start.cd 
f,,r that state in ~Iuharram of IHl.J A. II. tl542 A. D.). 

From B.,khar and L6hri, Hum\,vun came to Ueh, :m<l 
• I hem·e proceeded, on the 8th of 

If• &""to Judhpur oml Hnbi-ul-·mwal on his J'ourney arriv-
tul·n~~ dU,Itlcnly w Jct'~hu~"~r. t l , ' 

ing at the f.,rt of Diliiwnr on the 
Hth of tlw same ruont.h. On 20th of Rabi-uJ.!\.khnr he 
came to Bek1ini1'. He1·e for, the first time, Rumayun 
<~nme to know that the Rijah's invitation was not honest, 
but treacherous. So he sent a spy to get at the true facts, 
nntl soon learnt to his r>10rtifieatiou tlmt there was strong 
gronntl l'ot· suspecting treason and cons~iraoy against him, 
plottcu b~· Shor ::ihO.h. IIumay(m had ah·eatly come to 
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all was not ri"'ht he tumed to Sitilmer, rejecting the kind 
offe1·s of Maldew's cLiefs. ~'ron thet't', fighting his way 
tb.1·ou"'h some hos~ile p'lrties, flumlyun arrived at Je.:~.1l· 
mer 0;. the 1st of J ~mad ·al-awwal 1:}49 A. U. (15ll2 A. D.) 
where he was met by the ~tragglers of his camp. 'fhu 
camp w•ts pitched on the bank of the Kul, after a severtl 
fi"'ht with the Hajah'~ meil who want"d to prevent him 
a~d his men fro:n being neal' the water and to make them 
die of thirst. 

}'rom Jes 1lmer Humavun came to Umark6t 'lU the lOrh 
of 'tho ~arne month. Rina Wirsal, 

lie S?"' to u.m~rk61 the then ruler of the place received where pnneo Akbar 1• uuro. ' 
the Emperor with honour and distinc· 

tion. He vacate1 the castle, in which Hum~yun lodged 
his ladie.q, while the p••ople encnn1p.•d round about 'i.he 
place. It was at this plaue nn th·~ 5th of R~jjib 9 t9 A.Lf. 
(1542 A.D.) on the night of Sunday that queen Hamidah 
Banu Begum gave birth to pt·iuca Jalaluddiu Muhamtuacl 
Akbar.• · 

As U mark6t was too small and pnnr a place for supplie~, 
Humayun thought of Iewing it and going to Sind. ~o be 
moved to Junpur, on the iJank of the 1 iver, which place 
was celebrated for the beauLy of natural scenery and 
freshness of climate. 

Here he determined to make a long stay. Mirza SMh 
. . Hasan aft·r I!Oming to Bakhar and 

~f!~~gs:~6~~ the two r•·primanding Sultan Muhmud Klu'tn 
for supplying provisions to Humayu~J 

and hanging the storekeeper and flaying two other officeri 
~~oncernt:d, came to Sehwlm where he repaired the fort 
that bad been injured during Huma\'un's st·ty tllere. •Then 
he went bacl!: to 'latta. • 

H(•aring no"')hat Humayun intended to come back to 
Sind and that he had alrt•ady encamped at the town of 
Jun, Shih Hasan came and encamped on the bank of the 

•Thill shows. that !k~ar w~ bom in tho fort of () markot. llut at 
present a spot 18 shown Ill the Jangle, about a milo from tho fort whcr~ 
a stone hll8 been fixed by the government with words showi~ th a~ 
Akblll' wa1 bQ)on tuere. · 
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rh·er, opposite the· above town. Humavun comin<> til 
know that there was a fort in the distri~t of Bat.h6'rah, 
that was full of provisions, sent some of his men in that 
direction to takA the fort. Sh1\h Hasan asked Mirza I's:i. 
'fnrkluin to r:ro and defend that fort, hut. that nobleman 
refustd to do so, being much moved with compnssion for 
the sufferin~s of Humiyl'm. Sluih llasftn n~x.t a~ked 
Sultan Mahmud Khan, who had been for the iast few 
days thrown out of his ma~ter's favour, to go on the duty. 
Sultan Mahmud Khan in order to regain Shih Hasan's 
favour, accepted the offer and went to .Bath6rah. Severe 
fights took place between the t1vo parties in which bnth 
sides lost a large numb~r of men. Seeing failure on all 
sides to the arms and aims of Huma) lin, most of hi~ 
people left him ar..d went to KandlHir. 

At this junctive Buiram Khan having aiTived alone 
frnm GujnH, on the 7th of Muharram 

~:!~~·unleaveaSind for 950·A.H. (15!3 A.D.) be consoled 
H umiyun and brought about a re. 

c:•ncilintion with Mirza Shah Hasan • according to which 
the Mirza gave 100,000 mislcals t in rash, 300 horses, 
300 camds and other things necessary to l!umayim for 
the journey and ordPred a bridge of boats to be made near 
the town of JU.u for him to pass over with his men. On 
the 7th of Rabi-ul-akhar Humayun crossed the river with 
his whole army and proceeded to Kandhar. · . 

'fwo months after this Bakhsh6 Langah collected people 
of the tribes of Langih, .Bal6ch and 

B•kh•h6 L4ng!b morebea 1\ ahir in a fort UeUl' :hfultan, 00 tha 
0110ins~ B•klu.r bu~ ia r<· b k • J • 1 d t 
pulaed. ' an opposite unpur, reso ve o 

· march agaiust the fort of Bakhar, as 
he was informed that Shah Hasan had gone to Tatta und 

• Bairam Khan, Kh&n Khtlnan was the son of Yusi£ All Beg nnd the 
great grandson of Ali Shnkar Beg, tho chi~£ man of Bahtirh\ tribe, of 
Badakhshiin. He wns born nt Badakhsh•in and nfter his father's denth 
came to Balkh. At the nge of 16 be became nttnehcd to Baber and in 
the dnya of Humay!m whoa that prince went to Siud, Bairam Khan went 
to Gujnlt. ~·rom there he rame and joined him in order to t~ke him to 
Shah Tahmnsb, king of Persia. .Uter his death Bairam was the reglillt 
of hia son Akbar. 

t A amall golden coin. 
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all his gorernms and chiefs had ns$elllbled there nuder 
him. 1\'ith that ol•jeet in view, he put hi~ ti'Oops in 50 
boats an•\ sent them nhe~cl to fall sud,lenly on the islan<l 
at ni"ht, brenk open thw gates and tnke it before his 
arrh·al. Accol'(lingly these men lanth>d at Bakhar about 
midnight, on the 1iith of Jamldi~sa.,,! and ~et {he to the 
gate. 'fhe garlison, though smal I, tried th,~ir best to 
check the Langha~. 'l'he nssailauts were at lcn~th 
r,·pulsed aud rlriveu hack to tlwit· boats. Some were 
burnt in the fire thcv bad kindh·d uud some were drowne;l 
in the river an1l the ;·est fll'rl away. 'l'he next, day, ahout 
noon, Bakhsh6 Lin!:'ah came on heating drums, hoping to 
~ee the fort alrt•ady iu the poN·~sion of It is men. llut a~ 
soon as he approached, guns au,l muskets were tired at 
him from the ramplrts or the fort anrl hn was obli~ed to 
go to 16hri whei'O he spent 3 days and then went bark to 
.Mult:in, after plundering some of the villages in the 
country. 

'l'he above event took place on the Friday night of l·tth 
. . . Jamadiss:l.ai !liiO kll. (154:~ A.D.) 

lthrz&KamrAntSputt<> l l l .. f0" 1 'll 1. 
fti~ht,<>>Ul .. ~>8inJ,manieo n t le Jegmmng 0 iJiJ ..... • ( iJ·l1 
Shah H ... n·~·l•ughter, ... d A.D.) wheu Hum:irim bein"' deserted 
g~ to Mecca. ' ' :"'I 

hy his brorhers, was preparing to go 
to Icik, Mirza Ka•nran seut envoys t'> l\Iirz:i Shah Hn.~an 
asking the hand of his Jaught.er. 'l'he envoys wem received 
well by Shah Has m and th~y retnrned successful to their 
master. Soon after tltat, when llum:lylin returned from 
Irak to Kandhar where Mil'zi Askat•i \vas a pl'i>oner, and 
thence proceeded to K:lbul, he was o, •p .. sed by his brother 
:Mirza Kimran. But as now all th1) c!1iefs took the side 
of Hum·1yun, K:lmran fled to Sind, via Har.i1rah. He was 
met by Mirza Shah Hasaa at .!:'at, wlwre the marria"o 
between Mirza IC:imdm and Shih Hasan's dau"ht~r 
Chuchak Begum was celebrated with great pomp. Aftot• 
spending 3 months therll l\Iirza K{tmd.!l returned t.o 
Kandhar, with 1,000 horse given to him hy Sh,.lh Hasan. 
lle took Ghazni on his way a11d fell upon Kttbul all 
unawares. Humayun had then gone to Badakhshan. 
Hearing of his brother's at.taek, he came back, retook 
Kabul and put :Mirzi Kamran to flight, but he was soon 
taken prisoner. 

In 957 A.H. (1550 A.D.) Mil'za K:itnran a"ain came 
to llakhar. ~lirza Shah lhsan gave him Sluih 

0
llelo, DO IV 
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ralkcl Silcth Bclo, as his rt•sidence, and the revenue of 
the di>trid of .Batl16rah frll' his kitchen expenses. After 
~pending some time here Jleacefully in the company of 
his wife, l\lirz{t Kamrim prepared to go on a pilgrimage 
to 1\leeca. His wife also wanted to go witl1 him, but 
lllirza Shah Hasan would not give his permission. She 
was therefure obliged tu follow he1· husband alone in n. 
Loat against her fa'thcr's conseLt. Shah Hasan overt.ook 
her awl once more tried to induce her to remain with him1 

hut she would not agree to it. "Father " said she, 
entreatingly "when the prince was healthy and strong 
and his eyes were all right, you gave me away to him. 
Now when he ha~ become bliud you prevent me from 
being with him. I will not do so and bring the reproach 
of people on my head." Sluih Hasan felt the force of her 
contention and he furnished her with all the necessary 
things for the journey and sent her to her husband's 
(;alllp. MirztL Kitmran and his wife tlms Clme to Mecdl, 
where they lived for 2 or 3 years, when Mirza Kamt·an 
dit·cl on the liaj holiday, and his wife followtd him to the 
next world after 7 months. These events occurred in the 
year U67 A .li. (1559 A.D.) 

In the last days of Mirza Sluih IIasan's reign, when he 
1'ho ln•t dnys of ;Mh w~s ~~ffering from p~ralysis, several 

Haoau ~~~·" di,atl'cctiou IDisclaerous and rogutsh persons got 
muong Ius ••en. into his favour to the great chagrin 
and annoyance of Arghtln and 'farkhan nobles in his 
employ. Ue himself was quite uuable b carl'Y on ad• 
ministration work etftclually, which fell into the hands of 
men unworthy of managiug it, while he himself passed 
most of his time in boats sailing from Tatta to Bak!Jur 
and fmm Bakhar to 'l'atta. In 960 A.H. (1552 A.D.) he 
gave the governorship of 'l'att:i to one Arabi Gahi who 
with his ill('fin relations grt•atly oppressed ArghUns and 
'l'arkhans. Several complaints were taken to Shah Hasan 
against the governor's misbehaviour, but Shah Hasan 
paid no heed to them. Similarly the govemorship of 
:t-;aorati1Md was giYen to hi~ slaves Shanbah and Hukik. 
lle then came to Babar16 and thenee to l3akbar, where he 
arrived iu l\Iuharram, 961 A.H. (1553 A.D.). .Bakhar had 
been entrusted to Mir Sln1h l\Iahm{td Arght'm, who in 
conspiracy with some other dissatisfied persons, was plan• 
uing to make a short work of Shah IInsan and the 1·oguca 

B 305-!a 
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in power, but before anytlJing could be arranged SMb 
Hasan went away to Tutta. 

Shah Hasan getting this information sent for Mir Slul.b. 
Mahmud, who was obliged to ob~y the summons and he 
went and joined Shah Hasan opposite the town of Sann. 
Sultan Mahmud .K:h!in was at Siwi at that time. His · 
mother fearing that :Mir Shah Mahmud was about to 
rerolt and seize Bakhar, sent urgt•nt messages to his Sl)n 

to come and take advantage of the crisis. Accordingly 
Sult:\u· hlahmud Khan came to Bakhar, and infol'!ned Shah 
Hnsan that he had come to Bakhar lloaring of Mir Shah 
MahmUd's conspiracy and asked for ordet·s as to what he 
should do. But before ~bah H~san got his letter he had 
already appointed :Mir Malak Muhammad and i\Iir Lutfl 
to the charge of Bakhar. Sultan lllahmUd KMn, was 
tlwrefore greatly disappointed and enraged. The new 
joint goremors of the place, on their coming to Bakhar 
saw the old veteran general on the scene and considered 
it proper to take him into their confidence. To please 
him, therefore they sent the keys of the fort to Sult.im 
1\lahmlld Kh<i.n who had the satisfaction of knowing that 
his right had not been forgotten even by his rirals. 

In the 1Iuharrarq. of 962 A.Ii. (1554 A.D.) the At·ghUns 
.. 1_, I'-'T kh' • 1 · and 'l'arkluins of 'l'atta made common 
mr .... ar snarevot. d t k' ~!' , I', 'l' k', . cause an a ·mg Jl u·za ~a ar · tmli 
as their leader, openly caused a revolt, They murde1·ed 
Arabi Gahi, Sbanbah, and Rakik, Sluih Hasan's favourites, 
and took Shih Hasan's wife ~Iah Begum prisoner. 'l'lwy' 
broke open the public treasury and distributed money among 
the soldiers. Even :Mir Sluih Mahmud was obliged to 
join the insurgents. In a fit of anger Slulh. Hasan WI'ote 
to Sultan ~Iah.mud Khlm at Bakhar to massacre all the 
ArghUns and Tarkhans there. An Arghun chief was at 
the same timCl slain at 'l'atta and his head exposed publicly 
on the point of a spear. Tilis exasperated the Arghuus 
and 'far khans the more. Sultan MahmUd Khan on getting 
Shah Hasan's orders captured the 1\fughuls, but following 
the advice of his mother instead of shur•hterin<> them as 
dirocted, be sent them as prisoners to Sh~h Has~n to deal 
with them as he thought proper, and himself followed 
them, le~l.Ving Bakhar in the hands of his mother and his 
trustworthy men, He met Mirza SMh llasan

1 
who seemed. 
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to be very much pleased with l1im. Forthwith he went 
nncl joined tho fight going on with 'l'arkh(ms ncar 'fatta. 
A good many men were lost on both sides. Mirza I'slt 
'l'arkh{m now srcretly scut a person to Sultan Mahmud 
Kl~ttn requestin!l' him to stop fighting in view of amicable 
settlemer:t. On the 2nd of Rnhi-ul-nwwal they met 
secretly and came to the following settlement, viz., that 
Mirz~ Shah Hasan was past recovery and so would not 
live long; that as long as he lived they should obey him 
and act acc~rding to his wishes; that after his death they 
should divide the kingdom of Sind among themse!re~, 
the portion from Laki hills southwards going to Mirza I' sa 
~l'arkhim and that northward~, to Sultan Mahmucl Khan. 
'l'hcsc 0011ditions were written on a paper and signPd and 
sealed by both of them. They al$o solemnly swore by 
touching the Koran that they would keep the term~ of the 
secret treaty. About the same time, through the intet·ces. 
sion of some men Mina I'su ·rarkluin was pardoned by 
~Ifrza Shi1h Hasan and reconciliation was effected. He 
pow returned Shah Hasan's wife ~Iah Begum, 

".1 Mirza Shah Hl'lsan now left Tatta in oruer to proceed to 
'II ' "I 'I H • > h Se h wan. The dis ease from which the 
" rzo o '" 1 Mnn s ucal , 1lf' , ~ • I '] 

.t• l!'za was suaermg was c a1 y 
increasing and now took a very severe form. On his 
anival nt the village of Alip6t6, on ~iondny the 12th of 
Hnbi-ul-awwal of the s:~me year 962 A.H. (15511 A.D.) 
Mirza Slul.h Hnsrm expired. Sultan MahmUd Khan, who 
wns present there, wept bittel'ly, and uncovering the dead 
man's head and kissing his feet he called the bystanders 
to bear witness to what he was going to say. He then 
spoke as. follows-'' For the whole of my life I have 
remained faithful to the Mirza, even up to this moment, 
aod I am indebted to no other person so much as to this 
man, for kindness and patronage." Shah Hasan's body 
was then washed and funeral prayers wel'e offered over it. 
It was first suggested that the body be taken to Bakhar, but 
as the late Mirza's wife wanted to send it to Mecca, which 
was nearer from Tatta, the body was brought to the latkr 
])lace, Here thev were met by Mirza I'sa Tarkhan too. 
Slllih Hasan's coffin was fil'st deposited underground in the 
compound of Mir Ahmad Wall, on the bank of the river. 
Within 3 months, a Mausoleum was built on the Mnkli hills, 
to which it waa then removed by several Arghlin anc! 
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Tarkh(m Innurners. After t.11o •~nrs, it wns r~morril from 
there and earried to :Mete:\, wl~cro it was buried by tho 
side of his father's tomb. 

Immediately on Mirza Shah Hasan's death it was 
wiclelv known that 'l'attC1 had fallen 

Dil'ision of the country. to the lot of Jlirz:l !'sa Tarkh{m and 
lhkhar to tlmt of Sultan Uahmud Khan. A few other 
chiefs like l\[irz:i Sll!ih ~~ as-{td, Mir Shah Hasan 'l'akr\iri, 
nlir Abu! Kbnir, :\lir Iraruid S:irban aud Khwi1jah l3aki, 
therel'orc determined to seize Sehwau, which was about 
midway betlneu the above two citic~. So thry came to 
SPlnnin and occupied it. When Sultan Mahun'tcl Khan 
came to take possession of it they would not open tlw i!ates 
to him. He was therefore obliged to hurry on to Bakhar. 
llii'Z{t I's:l. Tarkh{m, learning the state of affairs at Selm[m, 
sent his son Mirza Muhammad Sa:ih with some forces to 
besiE·ge the fort and take it. He himself also soon came at:ll 
joined his son. When much pressure was put npon the 
fort, Sayyed Wr Kalan, the grandfather of Mit· l\lnnsltm, 
the author of the 'farikh l\Iaasumi, interceded and ht·ought 
ahont a rceonciliation. 'l'h~ forr was given to ~lirr.a l's:L. 
Mit·zi Shah Mas-lid and other chiefs, being much disap. 
pninted and asltamecl, left the place and went to G njt1'1t., 
through Parkar, on the pretext of going on a pil~rima~o 
to Mecci But they soon went over to Ilindu~tim uml 
ever aftcr1rards remaine(\ there. 

:Mirz;i Shi1h Hasan, WM born in i7G A.IT. (13i4 A.D.) 
and died in !lG2 A. II. (1 55 t A. D.) 

Rh,;h H~''"''' character His age was 60 years,. :md his I'E:'ign 
~nd hi, fa~nily. las1 ed for 34 ''ears. He was a braYe 

soldier. Fro;n his youth to his old 
age he was successful iL all the h~ttles he fought. llo 
performl·E\ several good and praiseworthy deeds. He wa~ 
fond of sturly and was a close J'eadcr of historit s. He was 
n good Persian writer, and wrote a good h·md too. Mir 
Maas1lm Shah says that he bad seen his writing with K:izi 
Ditt6 of S:•hwlm, when be was the IGzi's pupil. lie was 
a good poet and a r~adcr of poetry. II e paid great rever· 
ence to learned and pious men and to Sayycds of his time, 
and spent much of his time in their company. lie was a 

• .According to the calculation it •hould be 8ti, 
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vm'Y just and kind rul!'r ani! carried on the atlminidration 
of the country with great ahilit~·· In his ~·outli he enterrd 
the Emperor l3itber's service at Kandluir, and went wit.h 
}Jim to K:'tbul, whore he rem~ine<l f< r 2 vears. That 
Emp<·l'OJ' Mt ahrnys pleased with !Jim and· U!.ed to sny 
1
' Sluih Hasan has not come to serve under me but to 

learn the way of ruling a kingdom.'' 

i\Iirza Shah Hn>nn had two wires; the first was ~Tah 
l3egum,daughtor tol\Iirzit )luhammad MuldmArgh{m, who 
was his own paternal uncle, and tha other Gulbarg 13t·gum, 
daughter to :Mir Khnlifah a11d sister to l\Iuhibali Khan, 
B~· his form~r wife .Mir•a Shi1h Hasn.n had a dnugliter hy 
name Chuchak BPgum, who was married to .\lirza KiJmr:\n, 
lltnn:lyt'in's brother. 'Ihis same Mah B~gum had first 
been 'marrier! to Kasim Kukab hy whocm she had a 
d:mghtcr, c:tlled Nahid Begum. After Shah Ha~an's drath 
l\I:ih ]3Pf(um married i\lir~A. I's:i Tarkh:in and after his 
cll'ath 1ras taken prisoner by his son Mirza J3aki and she 
died in coufinPment. Shah Hasan'$ $Ocond wife, Gull•arg 
Begum, had been dirorcet! by him two years after their 
marria~e as they did not get on well together. She im· 
nwdiatdv went to Hindustin and died th~re. She was 
lmrierl ;t Dehli. Sh:ih Ha>an had a son by name Ahul 
~Jansttl', who died at the age of 2 years; 

CIIAPTER XI.* 

THE TARKHA'N DYNASTY IN SIND, 

TuE REIGN OF !lh'nzA.' !'sA. TARKHA.N. 

It is said that one dny, in his youth, Am!r Taim(tr 

Origin of Turkhl\uo. 
Klirk1in, Sahib Kicin, going out on 
a hunting excursion lost his wny. 

The night was dark and the cold was extreme. Loit,•ring 
about in the jungle for some time, he came to soma 
tents or huts wherein there was a light. 'lbe occupants 

• This cl>uptor is nlso tnken from the 'rdrikh Mnas(•mi with the oXCCJl' 
tion of tho first pnrngmph which is iro1u the l'uhfatulkiralu. 



of lhc·lm!s he lie ring him to b<' a t.hicf, rnme out in a bocly 
to beat him. But soon ll'arning who he w~~. took 
him in their huts nnd loclgecl him in one of their h<.'st 
cellars under gl.'ound and tl'iccl their best to keep him 
comfortable. This was when 'l'airuur was 18 years ohl. 
At the age of 34, when he occupiorl the throne of a vast 
empire, he called those people and enlisted thom in his 
sPrvice, simply to patronise them, wi1hout requiring them 
to do :my service at all. On this account he gave them 
the title of "Tarkha,n, '' which word means 'Excused of 
service' 

Some ~ay ' TarkMn' was originally' Tarkhun 'meaning 
1 wet with bloocl.' '!'hat was because the ancestors of 
these Tar khans bad once fought a battle with some enemy 
and there was so much blood shed in it, that they all 
returnecl' wet with blood.' 

}firza I' sa was t11e ~on of :Mirza l\Iuhammacl who was 

Mirz4l'si TarkMo. 
the son of l\Hrz:t Abclul-nli Tarkhan, 
He took the reins of government. in 

the beginning of 961 A.H.* From his youth he lmcl 
rPmained in the company of l\Iirza Shilhbeg Arghun and 
wns considered one of his selectecl chiefs. In the d:ws of 
:Mirza Shah Hasan when !mir Amranl had invaded 
Tatta, Mirza I' sa came from :Multan and fought with the 
inrndi~g. army, numbering 40,000 men. He showed 
much sklllnnd bravery in that battle, as 10,000 men of 
tiHl enemy lay slain on the battle-fielcl, After Mirza 
Shah Hasan's death, he was elected to the seat of gnvern• 
ment by the unitl'd voiee of Arghun and Tarkluin nobles. 
He was a vcl'y good and kind hearted person and was 
nlways partial to his soldiers and lenient to the people m 
grneral. These q ualificatious of his, therefore made him 
very popular.t 

• According to the Tnhfatnlkiram he a•conded the throne in the 
beginning of Jamadi·al-awwal, 962 A.H, (1554 A.D.) 

tIt is said in the Tohfatolkiram that though Argh6n noblea like 
Kibak, Farrukh and Tuim~r were in hi~ favour, they often occasionnllv 
broke into his house with arms and demanded shares of the late 1\Hrzla 
treaeur~a and Mlrz& l'aa nerer displeased them and alwa1s gave the~q 
good hopes and sent them away aatisfieli. 
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After about one year, at the instigation of some 
Al'ghllns he broke with Sultan Mah• 

Jle fight. with Sulton 'd Kl .< d , II t" f 
:/dahm6d Kb&n at Bakbar. IDU lull an CO ec mg a Orca 

marched forth in the direction ot 
Bakhar. In the commencement of Rabi•ussani 963 A.H. 
(1555 A.D.) he encamped opposite Bakhat' and carried on 
fighting with his troops for about a fortni~ht. Sultan 
Mahr:nl.d Kh{m had sheltm·ed himself in his fort, from 
which twice or thrice he made a sortie and fought severe 
battles with lliirza l'sa. 1'he latter wa~ soon obliged to go 
back to •ratta. 

In his a bsr.nce from Tatta n party of Etiropeans, whbm 
Mirza I' sa had sent for, for employ• 

0111~:;~~"" mllkc •• "1~'k ment unda him, came ft·om the port 
of G udah to 'l'at ta. Not seeing the 

ruler there, they plundtretl the city, took some men pri" 
soners, set fire to the buildings close to the bank of the 
riret• and 'rent all'ay. When l\lirzi I' sa got this news; hs 
left Bakhar abruptly, as mentioned abore, and came back 
to 'l'atta, ijOOn after the departure of the Europeans.* 

On his return jnurney, Mirza fsa Tarkhan was pursued 
by Sultan MahmUd KLan up to Sehmin, where the latter 
destroyed the wheat crops and caused some other damuge. 
But soon through the iutm·cession of Sayyed Mir Kalan, a 
reconciliation was brought about between them, and Sultan 
Mahmud returned to Bakhar. 

In the beginning of 067 A.H. (1559 A. D.) :M!t·za lisa'S' 
two sons Mirza Muhammad Baki and 

.~ight bctwcou Mtrz' Mirza ~:[uhammad Salih quarrelled-
Isa.'IJ aouiJ. ' 

and ~~ battle was fought between 
them. Mirza I'sa taking the side of Muhammad Salih, 

' 
• According to the Tubfntulkirtim they landed at the port of Lahrl on 

tho river, anti while the men wero ofi'cring pl'llyorn in mosques on Friday, 
they euten•d nod IDllSStlcrcd tho assombled men, plundered baznars and 
went away ~hortly boforo Mirzi~ l'"tl'" arrival. They scattered gnn· 
powder in different parts of tho town and ou the bank of the river and 
set fire to it, so that for somo timo the river appeared to be in flames, 
Mirza I'sa had tc repair tho town nnd the fort anew. He now pnt n big 
wall along th~ l'iver nud cut a winding and secret canal from the river to 
renl'h the town. .About this time he iJ also said to hAve built a new 
port and called it Slulhblllluar. 
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Muh~mma<l H{tki was ddeatcd ancl lu~ rtocl to lrnng6, a 
villa"'•~ of Sudit£1s and thence to Umat•k6t. '£hen pn:-~in~ 
t.ln·o~gh Jesalmcr, he came to Bakhar wherP. he was 
kindly received by Hultan ~1ahm{td IC11tin. :Muh~Jnunul 
Baki wanted to go to Hindu.;t:in, but 8ultti11 ~Ialunuu 
Kinin fearin•> lest he should bl'in"' smna succour aud pass . 
through Baklw.r, induced him t~ give up that idea and 
remain at Bakhar,* 

In 9i0 A.H. (1562 A.D.) Ufrza Muhammad Sidih, who 
was known to he a brave soldier, was 

D":'thof )f.~rdS,IJih, one murdered by the hand of a I3al6ch.t 
of ~tu·il:~ Uiik1 .s sona. 

· On losing one ot his sons lllit·za l'oll 
Teamed to see his other wn, Mirza :l\luhammad llaki. 
ire therefore sent some kind messages by his nephews to 
Sultim Mahnnid Khari, whom he requcst<lll to induce his 
son to come back to him. 'l'his was e~sily done and 8ulttin 
'hiahmud Khan gave necessat·y pt•ovisions for a journey to 
Mahmud B(tki ancl st•nt him away. The fathm· and the 
son met very affectionately and in token of his kind 
feelings Mirza l'sa gaw Sehwan to his sou as a Jagir and 
permitted him to go and live there. 

• According to the 'l'uhfntulkiram Mimi Salih, being joined by ~otr.a 
of Mirz:i Kdmran's meu, became very powel'ful. On the bt·othu·• di•· 
ngreeiu:; with one anotl!cr, Mirza Silih drorc nwuy Mit·dt Btild to Kat·hh, 
al!d his other brother .Jan B:lbti to tho desert of Sauwjah~. ~lirz:i U:\k( 
led a very mi,crahle life in Kachh, on one occasion catin~ bread half 
eaten by a dog and on another a stolen goat cooked. On the latter 
occa.<ion he wa• caught and taken tUI a thief to .llai Khan gar of Kaclilt, 
who rceogniHing him and lettrning the cnusc of hid mi.~ery. Hhowml g:t·ent 
fa•our to him. Here he married a Jat·ejnh nobleman'~ datt.~htet• by 
whom he lu1d n son called Mirzti.M:ur.atfar. After su.ne timo he tonk a 
rajput fon·e with him and came to fight 11 ith his br•Jther Mirzu ~:ilih, 
but was defeated by the :Mughula, His fot·ce• left him and he cntuo to 
Bakhar and 11<kcd ~ultan llbhmUd Kluln to help him with nn nrmy hut 
that wily .old man. aaid that ho ooul.d not ,do.so as !hero was a peace 
between htm and Ins father. He detamed htm m order to sent! him 11, a 
prisoner to Hinduetan, in accordance with tho "ishca <!f ~Iirza ~ltlib 
but fortunately for him, Silih died and he WlW called back by his f,lther 
to Tattil. 

t Tho assassin of M(rzil Solih is said to have been one Mttrid Balocb 
whose f~t~er Mfr::a Sulih had slain. He came into the Mi!'ZI\'s prescnc~ 
as a. p~tltloucr, w1th a dag~er rolled 'in a paJ!OI' and while givwg the poti• 
tion, killed him, (Tuhfatulkiram,) · 
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The Argin'ms in Sind, being rati,er dlssalisft('d with 
Fighting between ~llr1.A 

l\:~ and SultAn Mahmltd 
Klnin•t Sohwnn and 
!Jarbclnb. 

:Mirza l'sa, uuit<•d and made an attack 
on 1'atta, but they were defeated. 
'1 hey then betook themselves to 
Bakhar, where Sultan Mahmud lOuin 

treated them kindly and enlisted them under his own 
banner. Being thus encouraged by u. ue1v a<lclition to his 
nrmy Sulu\u l\Ia:hmud Khan marched against Sehwan. 
:Mirza l'sa learniug of the attack came to Sehw£m and put 
hint to fiight in a battle that was fought near the village of 
Rafiyan, in which Sultan Mahmud Khan lost a large 
number of men. At Darbclab. another battle was fought 
between them, but soon peace was made, Mirza I' sa 
came back to Tatta and Sultan Mahm(td Khan went tO' 
lluklmr, 

In 974 A.H. (15G6 A.D:) :Mirza !'sa Tarkban died after' 
. a reign o£ 18 years. • Just before 

. DMt,h of Mn-;tl hli his death he expressed a desire to 
Tarldum. ~ 

appoiut his youngest son Jll.n llahit 
~~~ his successor, but his wife :Mah Begum recommetJded 
!lis eldest wn Mirza :Muhammad Bikf for the honourable 
post. 1'be dying man prououueed Muhammad. ]aki as a 
very cruel aud hard·hearted person and i'eJected her' 
}'roposnl. "He will," suid i\lirza !'sa" oppress the people,. 
and one day you may .die at his hands." 1'his prediction 
was ultimately fullillecl. 'Ilte fact of 11li1za !'sa's death 
was hushed up for some days by his wife till Mirz!i, 
:Muhammad llaki came from :-ielrwau to Tatta. '!'hen the· 
deau body was taken aut nnd buried on the Makli hill 
and M irzi }1 uhammad Baki proclaimed us a ruler and 
seated on his father's thl'Onc .. 

' . 
• 9.SO A.H. (lu72 A.D.} according to the Tuhfatulkirnm whi,·h i~ 

correct ns ho cumo to the throne on Sluih Hasan· Arghiln's death in Utili 
A.ll. (Ui5J, .A.D.) and died after a rcigu of lti ycunl, 
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i\Iuh~mmall Bt\.ki was defeated anll lu! rtccl t.o Wnng6, l\ 
villa"'' of Sudin\s aud thence to Umat·k6t. 'rl.!en pa>sin~ 
t.hroi~:;h Jesalmcr, he came to Bakhar whel'<: he was 
kindly received by Hulttin. Jlah~ttd Khtl~. .Muh:llllllt~Hl 
Riki wanted to go to lilllllu.,bn, but ~ulta11 Jialumul 
Khan fearin•> lest he should bl'in"' s1mO succottr and pass 

I ::> ::J 'J d through llakhar, induced him to give up tltat 1 ca an 
rcmaiu at llakhar. • 

In 9i0 A.H. (l:J62 A.D.) ~Ifrza Uuh:llnm~d Salih, who 
· W<IS known to he a brave solllicr, was 

n~,thof ~'-!rdS:llih, one murdered by tho hand of a Baluch.t 
of l'.ll'•> JJ:lk1 • •ona. } • 'J' , l' , On losing one of us sons 11 ll'ZU :m 
Tearned to see his other son, Mit·za 1\luhammad llaki. 
ire therefore sent som9 kind me:>sag~s by his nephews to 
Sultim l!Iahmud Kluin, whom he requcstctl to induce his 
son to come back to him. 'l'his was e~~ily done an•l Sult:\n 
Mahmuu Klnln gave necessary pt'orisions for a journPy to 
:Mahmud llitki ar11l Sl•nt him away. The fathm· and the 
son met very affectionately and in tokon of his kind 
feelings )Iii·z;i l'sa gavP Seh min to his son a~ a Jitgir aud 
permitted him to go and live there. 

• According to the 'l'uhfatulkirftm ~lfrza S:ilih, bcin~ joiue•l by •o•na 
of ~lirz:i Kamrau's meu, became very powet•ful On the bt·othcr; .ti•· 
agreeing with o11e nnotiH!r, Mirza S:llih drove nwuy Mit·t,\ Iltild to K:ll'hh, 
nnJ his othot· brotlJer .Jau Buba to the desert of i:lanH'jah•. ~Hml ll:'•ki 
led a verv mi<erahle life in KiLChh, on one occn•ion entin" Ol'catl half 
eaten by· a dog and on another n atolen goat cooked. 0~1 the latter 
occasion he wa• cau~ht and takeu •WJ a thief to . Hai Khnngilt• of Kueld1, 
who !'ccogniHing him and lcttrning the en usc of hi.; mi.sery, Hhowc<l g~•ent 
fa1our to him, Here he Ulan'ied n Jat•ejah noblcrnau·~ tlan~htet• bf 
whom he lmd n son called Mirztlllfuzatl'ar. After ao.ne limo he tonk 11 

rajput fort•e with him and CtLme to fi~ILt llith his bt'<)tbcr Mir~.tl S:ilih, 
but was defeated by the Mughula. His force• left him and he cau1u to 
Bakhar and asked tlult:in Mahmud Khan to he! p him with an army hut 
that wily old man said that he could not do ao as !hero wua a 1;caco 
between him o.ud his father. He detained him in order to send him "' a 
pri•oner to Hindustan, in accordance with tho wi.Jws •>f Mimi :'iUiilt 
but fortunately for him, SQlib died 1111d be Wllll called back by his father 
to 1'attll. 

tTho assassin o£ Mirza S6iih iB said to havo been one Murid Buloch 
whose father Mirza Salih hn.d slain. He came into tho Mirza's pro~onc~ 
as a petitioner, with a dag~er rolled'in a papm· 1111d while givwg tho peLi· 
t10n, killed him, (Tuhfutulkiram..) · 
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'.the Argh(ms in Sind, being rat.iter dissaiisflNi wHit 

Fighting between ~1\rtJ. 
r~a autl SultAn Mulmd~d 
Kluiuo.t Sthwti.u and 
ll•rbclah. 

:Mirzi1l'$a, uuited and made au attack 
on 1'atta, but they wet·e defeated. 
'1 hey then betook themselves to 
Bakhar, where Sultan l\1Iahn1t'Ld lOuin 

t.reated them kindly and enlisted them under his own 
banner. llein[r thus encouraged by u. ue1v acldition to his 
nrmy SuMa l\Iahmud Khim marched ag'ainst Sell wan, 
111 irza l'sa learniug or the attack came to s~h wan and put 
him to flight in & b:~.ttle that was fought near the village of 
llafiy:'tn, in which Sult{m l\Iabmttd Khan lost a largE! 
numuer of men. At Darbclal.i another battle was fought 
between them, but soon peace was made, Mirza 1' sa 
came back to 1'atta and Sultan Mahmltd Khun went tO' 
llakhar, 

In 974 A.H. (15G6 A.D:) Mirza I'sa Tarkhan died after' 
, , . a reign of 18 years. • Just bcfor<1 

T•~~~~~. ol Mrrzo I ' 0 his death he expressed a desire to 
appoint his youngest son J1in Bah\. 

11s his successor, but his wife Mall Begum recommeuded 
!lis eldest wn Mirza Muhammad Baki for the honourable 
}lost. The d~·ing man pronounced l\1 uhammnd. B{tkf a~ a 
very cruel and hard-hearted person and l'eJected her' 
Jlroposal. "lie will," said Mirza l'sa" oppress the people; 
nnd one day you tuay .di~ at his hands." '!'his prediction 
was ultimutl'!y fultillecl. 'l'he fact of Mit za !'sa's death 
11·as hushed up for some days by bis wife till lllfrza 
:Muhammad B!tki came from Selrwau tu Tatta. '!'hen the 
dead body was taken out and buried on the l\Iakli hill 
aml ~I frzib ~I uhammad llaki proclaimed as a ruler and 
se11tcd on his father's throne.-

• 9.~0 A.H. (1572 A.D.) according to the Tuhfatulkiram whit·h i"i 
correct ns ho cmno to tho throne ou Sluih Hasnn-Arghuu·~ death in Utii 
A.ll. (l5b1 A.D.) nnd died after a rcigu of lti yca1~. 
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CHAPTER XII.* 

THE REIGN OF 1.f!Rza' ::Murr.uiVAD Ba'Kr' T.AnKHA'N'. 

In the beginning of Jllirza Muhammad Bald's reign, 
ArgbUm, under the leadership of 

Maa,.cre of ArgMne. "'[' . K, , d ']' , K, ] k .u: nza as1m an .t• n·za uc 1a • ,. 

began to oppose him and were not in favour of his· 
asccusion to the seat of government, as they had been 
greatly disappointed by the behaviour of bii; !a to father. 
1M Mirza Mub.,ammad Baki won tll6m over by giving 
them large rewards and donations. ConsPquently they 
1~cnme very insolent and overhearing to1rards him. 
llirza Muhammad Bak1 therefore determined to extirpate· 
them by having recourse to trcach~ry. One day, being 
much pressed hy !heir demancls for money, he sent for all 
the Arglnins in the to1m to tlle upper story of a house, 
intimating t!.at he wanted to di>tl·ihute to thorn the 
treasures tl:at had been left bv his father. At the same 
time he concealed several st;ong men with arms in big 
boxes, said to be full of treasures, and he postt•d arnted 
men outside too with instructions to fall upon them on !II 

signal being given. Accoruingly numbers of Arghtms 
assembled in the room. After explr,iuing to them tha 
ehject of the l!IDet.ing, he said that ns it wag probable th:1t 
there should be some uispute among them as to the amount 
of each share, he wanted to go down leaving them to take 
out the treasure and to diskibute it among themselves as 
they thought proper. So &aying he came down and gave 
a signal. Immediately the armt:d men jumped out of the 
l1oxes and slew all the men there. Mirza Muhammad 
Baki now se11t men to besiege their houst's aud kill tlwir 
womrn and .children. The massacre was so thorough and 
complete that a few only escaped, who disappeared from 
the place. t After that 11irza Muhammad .Btiki thou<>ht 
himself to be quite secure and easy. 

0 

The few ArgMns who escaped came to Sultim Mahm(td 
Re~·olt oO!fr1Ji J~n nr.1.~ Khan at Bakhar and were kindly 

";u. the aid of Sult.in treated by him. Mirza Jan Buba, 
Mahm6d Khnu. Muhammad ]aki's youncrer brother 

::> ' 
who was living among the Samejahs having mart'ied there, 

•Thill chapter is taken from the Tarlkh Maast'unl aud the 'l'uhfatulkirim,. 
both. · 

t Thiij incident i• related 1y the author of tho Tuhfatulkiram. 



came and joined Su!Um Uahmud Khin, who now espoused 
ltis cause and demander! his share of kingdom ft•om his 
brr.thcr. :Muhammad B:lki remind0d him that as he had 
refused to interfere nt. the time of his disagreement with 
his brother :lllirz:i Salih, he should do t.he same now and 
for the same reason. So Sultim Mahmud remained quiet 
for the time and Jan Baba \Yent back to the country of 
Samejahs, not liking to go and remain under his brother, 
although his brother wished him to do so. 

Soon after this, Uirza Jan BaM, being joined by Ar. 
ghUn chiefs like Shah Kasim and Ali Sher, mnrched against 
'l'atta with an armed force. Between the Makli hill and 
the city, a pitched battle was fought in which Jan Baha 
was defeated, but Muhammad Baki lost many a brave 
leader of his army. ,J:in B:tb:i repait·ed to Jam Desar, the 
ruler of Kaluiilah near the seashore, for hel pJ but not 
getting the same, he went baok to Samejuhs. 

Once more Mirza J:ln B:ibi with the assistance of Shah 
Kasim Ar~hun marchoJ against his broLher. 'rhis time 
they made a sudden nocturnal attack when Mirz~ 
1\Iuhammarl Biiki and his men were lying at rest quite 
ignorant of the enemy's movement. Muhamm:~d B:iki's 
force was disprrsed in confLt~ion. ·Shah Ktt>im succeeded 
in coming to tbe very boat, in whiolt Mlt·za B{dd. and his 
wif~ R:iihah Begum were lying fast asleep.* It was the 
lady who stu•ted up fit·st an1l hacl just time enough to 
awake her husband, who threw himself over board and 
was picked up by a boatman. She next threw the burn­
ing lamp in t:ihah Kasiru's face and bad nearly blinded 
him for ever, but in the dark Shah Kasim killed lwr 
taking her for .Mirza B{tki. :lllirza B:iki's mon were 
nlready dispersed in confusion, when he managed to 
reappear among them and seeing him with them, they 
renewetl fi~hting with redoubled vigour aud put the 
enemy to tlight. 

About the same time 976 A.li. (1568 A.D.) SulMn 
l\Iahmtid Khan at the entreaties of Argh(m chiefs again 

• This Raihnh Begnm was tho dnu~hter of Nahld Begum, dnughter to 
1llilh Begurn, who, ns will be seen below, hnd come to her motht:r WJ!h 
her daughter. R1\ihnh wn• the divorced wife of one Nijul!at Khin. 
:Mirztlll:ild fdl iu love with her uuJ. murl'ieu her. 
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marched out nnd bid ~iegr to N n~nrpnr fort. Rut ~oon 
henring that the :Emp~ror of Dl'hli, Akhar, • was coming 
to ~1 ultim to Yisit the shrines of the ~aints of the place he 
11bandoned the siege abruptly and returned to Bakllnr. 

On getting the nmn of the :Emperor's npproarh .\Ht•z:t 
Muhammad lliki determim•d to bring about some tela, 
tionship or connection with him. With that object in 
view he sent his daughter with a princely dowery, in 
charge of Mirza Y{ulg:ir ~Iiskin Tarkhan to be gil'l.'n awny 
in marriage to tho Emperor. M:i.h Begum, his father'~ 
\\·idow, and her dauzhter Nahid Bezum, who had nftc~ 
llirz:i Shah H ns::m1s death come hack from l:lindustan to 
her mother, were also asked to accompany the bride; when 
the party came to L~ki, Mirz•t Jan B:tb,-1 joined it and nil of 
them, making common cause, misappropriated the value, 
able propepty tllf'y were carr.ring and returned with some 
forces to fight with ~Iirza B:iki. A battle ensued, in whicl1 
J!fah Begum was seen riding an elephant and encouraging 
her men to fight. At last victory declared itself in favour 
of Mirza Baki and the insnrgen ts fled. Jan Bahii. and 
Yadgar lliskfn fled to Kakr4lah; 1:\ahirl BP~urn flee\ to 
Bakhar and ~lah Begum sutTendered. Shortly after thi~, 
Sultan i\lahnn1d Kinin came to 'l'attit. and through the 
intercession of some ~ayyeds n rrconl'iliotion was brought 
;lhout. But not !on~ after1 Mirz'1 Jim B:iha and Yadg:1c 
lli~kin were murdt•red aud M:ih Bt•gum also was put to 
death. t Sui !tin Mahrnud Khan now <'llt-rie1l on warfare 
wi'th 1llirza lliiki at the capital itself and alr.early se1•eral 
wen on .Mirza B:iki's siclew~r" lost. But at about this time 
Uch had been at.tacked nnd l>lockaded, bv 'l'ars!t M uham. 
mad Tarkhan. S11lran ?lfnhnnJ.d Khan wcn't in that dirtction 
~caring Alirz:L Baki to himself. · . . 

In 97~ A .H (l !>70 A D.) l\Ifna B(lk! a sooond time sent 
away Ins daughter, with frc~h pre,cnts in ~ompnny of 
Shekh Abdul Ghafltr and M ull:i 'l'ardi Beg, to the M ughul 

• Humayun after ren•cendiug the throne of Dohli in %0 A H, 
(1552 A.ll.) reigned for 3 year. ~~ntl died in Uti3 A.H, (1555 A.D.) nnd 
wn• succeeded by Ius son Akbar, who commenced his reign undor the 
regency of llairo.rn Khan. 

t Sl1o was closely confined in a room, where she diod of huuger nn4 
~)lir~t, ~· food ~nd watct• w~rc denied tq he~, 
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E~pe1•nr.*, The lnttrr, thPy s~~, nfter ~prrdin~ n night 
With the gtr), s<>nt her back, saymg he (l!d 11ot wal.)t tho 
dangther of a m.urdcrP.r. 

After he had freed hims~lf of tlw troubles of his hrotl1er 
and mother, ~lfl-za 13aki b~~:um that murd<·rous coursP, lor 
which he is renwmbered up to this day. He assassinated 
11. large II Umber of the nobles of the city, one by one, about 
whom he enteJ1t.ninflcl some suspicion. Srvrral pious ani! 
good men evc·n, who had don.e him great service, were not 
spared; as for instapce, 8hekb Ild•ak, Abdul Wahhab 
l'ur1\ni, Sayy~·d Jiibtl ~on of Sayyed Ali Shitazi, who was 
his brotheJ.' Mirza Salih's sonrin-law. Some of them were 
b,ehe~tdrd, otiH'rs hang.erl by the peok1 others taken on 
h.oats .and dropped iptp thll river. 

Jn th.e last days of )lis reign Mirza M tJha1!lmad Bak1 
. began to show farour to the Arghuus, 

lfhe t .. t dnys of Mirza "'hO had brfore this betaken them• 
Muh11mmad Btlkl. '' ' ' ' 
· · · selves to diffPrent parts of the <·ountry, 
Be allotted estates and allowances to them like his father, 
As about this time A>lqj:thid Khan, a gt>neral of Emperor 
Akbar had come to Hakhar and laid >iege tc that f01't, 
:Mirza Muhammad Bakl thought it was tlie best oppM­
tunity to seize Sehwan. Accordingly he sent one of his 
son~, Mirza l'aindah with Jani Bt•g ar:d Sham~ Kashmir! to 
Sehwan. Another of his sons, Slu1hrukh, he posted at 
Nnsarpur, wit.h Sher Ali Ktt~ah to take care of that part 
of the country. His third soD :A>l(i·za Muzaffar 'l'arkh:\n 
with Ali Kh{m Kukah, he put in charge of Cbachikim 
nnd Badin dist.riots 1 and lastly, Nertln K6t was entrusted 
to the cat•e of M~rza Muhammad 'J'arkh:\n and Ka>im 
Ali Sult11n Sarban. He himself remained at Tatta, with 
his counsellors, getting wcel}b Jeports from t4e 4ifferent 
divisions of his oount.ry, · 

The end o! Mivaa Bak1 was drawing near. He had 
already shown himself very cruel 

Mi'rzA MuhAmmad B&k! h~nr. tel!, but DOW he became more so, 
~ommita 1uicide. ) t J It is be~ieved by ~ome t lll Je. wns 
not in his right mind. Fearing lest . he should be ktlled 
by poison, he left )lis food and water ln the charge of one 

• According tp tl1e Tuhfatulkirtlm the girl WM sol)t with Sayyod Ja!tU 
Shirliz(, 
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marched out and lnid ~ie~r to N n~nrpnr fort. ]nt soon 
hearing that the Emperor of DPhli, Akbar, • was coming­
to 1\lultim to visit the shrines of the ~aints of the place ha 
11bandoned the siege abruptly and returned to Ba klmr. 

On getting the new~! of tho Emperor's npproarh .1lfrzti. 
Muhammad Bakl determined to hring about some 1.'eln~ 
tionship or connection with him, With that object in 
view he sent l1is daughter with a princely dowery, in 
charge of Mirza Yarlg:ir :\Iiskin Tarkhan to be giY<'U away 
in mmiage to the Emperor. :i\1:\h Begum, his father'~ 
widow, and her dau!!'hter N:ihid Bezum, wh() lwd after. 
:Mirza Sb:ih H asan1s death come back from llindustan to 
her mother, were also asked to accompany the bride; when 
the party came to L~ld, Mir7.'t Jim BiLh:i joined it and all of 
them, making common cause, misappropriated the value~ 
able propePty thPy were carrying and returned with some 
forces to fight with Mirz:t Hiki. A battle ensued, in whicl1 
)Iah Begum wa~ seen riding an elephant and encouraging 
her men to fight. At last victory declnred itself in favour 
of Mirza Baki and the insnrgen ts fled. Jan BaM and 
Yadgar lliskin fled to Kakr4lah; t\ahirl Brgum fie!\ to 
Bakhar and ~h\h Begum surrendered. Shoptly after this, 
Sultan Mahmud Khan came to 'l'atta and through tho 
intercession of some ~ayyeds n r~conl'iliotion was hrought 
fl.hout. But not lonll' after, Mi1·z\. Jin B:ih:i and Yacig•ir. 
lti~kin were murdered and Mah Begum also was put to 
dPath.t Sultan MahmUd Khan now ('arrio(l on warfare 
wi.th :l\1 frzlt Baki at the capital itself and already several 
wen on Mirza Baki's side wer~~ lost. But at ahout this time 
Uch had been at.taeked and blockaded, by 'J'arslt M uham· 
mad Tnrld1an. SulotJ' )fnhnnJ.d Khim went in that direction 
lea ring .i\lir~.i. Baki to himself. · · 

In 97~ A.H (1()70 A D.) illirzil Br.ld a second time sent 
away Ius daughter, with frc$h prc~cnts in ~ompany of 
Shekh Abdul Ghafur and Mulla 'l'ardi Beg, to theM ughul 

• Hnmay(m after ren~ccnding the throne of Duhli in ~60 A H, 
(1552 A.D.) reigned for 3 ycnrH nn(l died in VO:l A.H, (1555 A.D.) and 
wn• euccecdcd by Ius son Akbar, who commenced hia reign under the 
regency of Bairwn Khan. 

t She waR clo~ely confined in B room, where ehc dioJ. of hqngtr nnq 
~l!ir~t, aH food ~~ond water wore dcnicil tQ he,, 
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E;npeJ•nr.*. The latter, thPy sn~, nfter ~prrdin~ n night 
With the g1rl, srnt her back, snymg he <lid uot wal)t the 
cjangther of a m.urdere).'. 

After he had freed himst>lf of thn troubles of his brother 
and mother, ~lfl-za Baki began that murdNous cours<>, fol' 
which he is remt>mbe;ed up to this day. He assassin at< d 
1). large uum her of the nobles of the city, one by one, about 
whom J1e enteJ!t.ainlld some suspicion. Srvrral pious an4 
good men ev•·n, who hail don.e him l!l'l!at &ervice, were not 
~pared; as for instopce, ~hekh l\d•ak, Abdul Wahhab 
l'ur:\ni, Snyyed Jiilal son of s,,yyed Ali Shi,azi, who was 
his brother Mirza Salih's sonrin-law. Some of them were 
b,eheadl'd, · otlH'rs hang.erl by the peck1 others taken on 
b.oats .and dropped intp thll river. 

Jn the last days of pis reign :1\Hrza M l)hammad B:lkt 
began to show fa>our to the Arghuns, 

The J .. t days of Mirza n•ho had brfore this betaken them· 
Muh,.mmatl Bnkl. '' ' ' ' 
· · · selves to diffrrent parts of the ('ountry, 
He allotted estates and allowances to them like his father, 
As about this time A<lQj:lhid Khan, a genero.l of Emperor 
Akbar had oome to Hakhar and laid >iege tt, that fort, 
Mirza Muhammad Baki thought it was tlie best oppor­
tunity to seize Sehwan. Accordingly he sent one of his 
son~, Mirza l'aindah with Jani Bl·g and Shams Kashmir! to 
Sehwan. .Another of his sons, Shahrukh, he posted at 
Nasnrpur, wit.h SherAli K\tl.:ah to take care of that part 
of the country. His third son :Mh·za Muzaffar 'l'arkhim 
with Ali Khlm Kukah, he put in charge of Chichikan 
11nd Badin dist.riats 1 and lastly, Nerl'!n K6t was entrusted 
to the cave of l\'I~rza Muhammad 'J'arkluln and Kt\~im 
Ali Sultlin Sarb:in. .He himself remained at Tatta, with 
his counsellors, getting wce~~y 1epol'i;s from tl~e different 
divisions of his ooun t.ry, · 

The end of Mirza Baki was drawing near. He had 
already shown himself very cruel 

Mi'rzll Muh•mmod Bakt hearted, but now he became more so, 
J:ommita •uicido. ] t ] It is beJieved by ~ome t 1a 1e. WIIS 
not in his right mind. Fearing lest. he should be killed 
by poison, be left )1is food af.'l.d water lD the charge of one 

• According tQ the Tuhfntulkir&m the girl wa.a SCI\t wiU1 Sayyod Jalli! 
llhirtlzf, 
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.of hi~ mnRt eonfl(kntinl attendants. On receiving the news 
of his ~nn ilh~hrukh's nat.urnl death he been me so au~ry that 
l1e ordf'rrcl the hrt·a~ts of the femnles of h'is palace to be 
cut off and he caused the males to he tied to the legs of 
.ekphants and exposed them to the public by rirn:;!!illfl' 
them through the bazaars. He then sent Rrtsim Arghuu 
to succeed Slu'thruk h in the charge of N asarpnr. 

'l"'e story or ~liml. !laid's death runs as follows. They 
s:-~y one night he got up from his berMead, extinguished 
the la111p tlmt was burning, and taking out one. of his 
bPst ~words from its scabbard, fixed its sharp point on his 
stomach and placecl its other end against n wall and then 
pressed it with his body with such forct- that his stomach 
"lras cut open and his intestines came out. Ho then took 
up the s:J.mc in his .hrtnds and walked about in the room 
for a few minutes and then fell down dead. '!'his was in 
the year 993 A. H. (158·1. A. D.)* Several men were 
eJterwards arrested on the suspicion of being his as~assins 
aml beheaded. So that it was said that Mirza B{tki 
continued his cruelties even after his death.t 

His character may best be judged from his deeds, 

Hia charactt:. . 
He was extremely eruel and lwd 
hParted. He had his father's curse 

upon him as we have already noted. Efc filled his 
trrasury and his granaries with the. property taken by 
for.:e from other people. He is s~id to have been very 
stingy and covAtous. Instead of money he used to give 
com to uis servants, Even the corn that h~d got spoilt 
anrl rotten, was distributBd to men in payment of tlwir 
dn•·s. One of his favourite officers is said to have at.taine(l 
a high pm,ition under him for collecting a heap of !;!'ain 
from the dung of horses. He to1•tured several oflicers 
whom he suspected of he~ving acted dishonestly. H!l out 
60me to pieces ar,d sent the ~arne to their families. H o 
mutilat0d other> by cutting off their ears and noses. He 
plucked out the beards of others completely and made 
them go about in the markets. 

• Tie rc'gned for 13 ye11rs ~nd his body was buric(l on tho Mnkli hill. 
t The Tuhfatulkiram gires eomo instances of this. Dnrfal, water· 

bern·er, was rolled in a eloth and burnt in fire. A Kurchf was sown from 
top of the bend downwards and then cut into pieces and thrown hero 
s.nrl there Home Hindus were stoned to death. One Malak Ahmad wna 
fi~yed in public. nnd his flesh was then cut iuto pieced IIUd tltrOWII to 
dogs aud his skin filled with straws, 
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C!IAJ'>TER Xlil.' 

THE REIGN OF MfnzA.' J.a.'Nf BEG 1'ARKKA.'N. 

1\li'rzti :Muhammad R\kf wns succeeded by M.irza Jan( 
. . , Beg, who had become very popular 

Election of )hwl Jam with the nobil!t.y as weU as with II e 
Brg to the thi'OJte. ! l 

public, with whom be had always 
dealt rery kindly. Coming after a cruel ruler like Mirz:l, 
Bakf, he was haired to the seat of government by all men, 
who in his reign got gt·eat relief ftom the sufferings of 
the past reign. 

It is said that at first Mirza Bakf's eldest son Paindalt 
Beg was elected by certain nobles, but a.s he a:ppeared to· 
Ire more or less insane, the choice- fell on his son J(mi 
Beg, who was a clever person and a good man. On 
.Mirza llaki's deatll: both of thPm were called from 
Sehw:\n. Mit·za Hi\ld's son Muzaffar Beg had. com\\· tO' 
the spot from lhdl1t on the very fhst day, but thll :r:ohks; 
!lid not allow him to enter the city rill after 3 days, whell! 

· :Paiudah .lhg and J.i.u.i Beg c:tme from Sehw.i.n.t 

On coming to the throne, at the >pecL.tlrecommendathn. 
of thosa nobles who were well-wishet·s of hi.s fath€P; he· 
'tlllderteok to punish the persous who we1·e suspected 
of having assassinated his father: And how these nn• 
fortunate men were de:~lt with, we hare brieflv noted 
above. Seeing the tortures to which they were subjected,. 
1\li:rza 1\:[uzatfar Beg was so much afraid that from his· 
camp outside the city he went back to Badin in .S1.Hl'h a 
lnmv,that he left behind much of his baggage~ There h& 
bega'n to prepare himself against some fu.tu'l'e·evil day.· 

'When :tlfh·za Jimi Beg h€ard thnt Mil'za Muzaffar' 
He d.rcnts 1,;, unclo Tarkhan was mo~ilisin~ an army. at 

Mirza )[u, .. m,~ iu • Lattle Badin, he acquamted Ius nobles \\'lth 
lou~ht nt B•dm. the necessity of set.tliog the m,a,tter 

• 'J'ho first pnr! of t.his chapter is taken from the Tuhfittnlkiram and. 
tho rest ft•om tlie 'Nrlkh Mnnsumi. 

tThero seems to be somo confusion in both thc·t~x! hooks about the· 
relationship of J,lnl Beg·and Muznffnr Beg to ~IirZII Bakl. Iu.one Jllace· 
the formor is called his son nnd in another his gn\nd>on, p,\Jud:.b llo!f 
being his fnthor and Mirza Baki's son. So the lnttct• is in on.e place 
en lied Mirza B:lkl's h1•other nnd in another his son. But on Ci\l'cfnl c.Jll• 
side1'ntion I find that in hoth the cases tho last rolntionshi p is correct, 
IIW!lcly tlmt J!Wi £eg was his grnl\\\ijOU and :lliLZnffnr Beg hli sou. 



iO~ 

1dth him, as without. that., he said, the rcbellirln Wrluid 
not ('ome to a conclusion. }lirza :Muzaff:ar, with Alikhan 
li. uk1h; was fully prepa;ed for ~he e'll:ped~tion and .had 
resol wd ta start th·~ next mormng. Dm'lllg \.he mght 
that intei'vt>Iied Mirza J:i.r.i Beg managed to write letters 
to chief men of the :Mughuls at Badin stating "Should 
l\Iia·za M uzall'ar gain power and become suc~··ssfui, he 
wail certainly bring his 0\\·n re'lations, tho rnjputs of 
Kachh and prefe·r then:i to you. In that case you will be 
very much disappointed nn'd will find it hard to live 
happily, 'l'hi::; is the time for you to m<Yve in the matte•'· 
I ~hall try all I can to comply with your wishes. lf yott 
cannot at this hour withdraw from him, at least stand 
aloe)[ to"morrow, when the battle commence~ between 
us.'' 

in this n'ay i1e' gave ti.eni splcnclici promises and 
chrereJ them with good wrrd~, and won them OVtH' to hiS' 
side. 'l'IJe next morning when the martial drums beglat 
to beat and fighting commenced between 3IirztL ,J:mi 
13eg's me·n and ,\lirza l\fuzaffar's troops eompose~ cllil'fl~v 
of Kachh djp~ts, the fotmer' beg!tn to oYer'power the 
latter. Mirza :Muzaffar called his .1\Inglnils to take part 
in the fight and encouraged them much to· do so, but 
they paid no heed to him. }Iirza Muzaffa1· was thet·eforE!' 
obliged to beat a hasty Mreat t<Y Kllehh', having already 
s~nt hiS' mother and tlPpenclents ahetrd. After his flight,. 
.Mirza Jani Beg ordered all iJhtJ baggage and provisions left 
by him and his men,· to be loaded on camels and sent to him. 
He then entered the fort rmd showercrd more fa:vours olt 
the ~[ughuls than they had expected or' he had promised 
b them. He granted them large estates, and did all ha· 
eould to console and comfort the people, who had snlfered 
murh in the tyrannical reign of his father. Mirza lllu·. 
zaffar went and sought protection under' Rai Bharah, the 
rul<.>r of Kachh and, Mit·za Jani Beg returned victorious 
to 'fatta. 

lfirza Jani Beg now besan to take some measures for 
. the improvement of public affairs. 

T.~:z.peoceful m .... ure& at He distributed tue heaps of grain: 
lying useless in the granaries and 

storehouses of llis father, to the people who were in 
want of it, lle cxteLued his patronage to many of the 
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d,Psrrring. nobles, giving them rewarc!s and honornry 
tltles. He encourag~d commerce and made some im• 
portant ch<tngcs in wei~hts and me:toure~ and coinage of 
money. It is said that hefore that time no gold coin~1 
ivel'e used except the rr<Jhrafts bearing the French mark 
or impression. Mirza l'sa 'i'arkh:in had invented soma 
copper money, that was called l'sat. Mirza Jani Beg 
now reduced its value and called it jJJf1-t. He caused 
similar rl'duction in the weights and measures, whicb 
however was considered a bad omen in the midst of 80 

much happiness. 

In this way Mit·za Jani Beg reignerl at TaUa peacefully 
for some mo11ths till in tl.e next year 91H A. H. (1585 
A.D.) he had to fight with Muhammad <:ladik Khan, a 
noblen;an sent by Emperor Akbar to Sind. But befor1:1 
we record that event., we shall give au account of what 
wa~ going- on at Bakhnr, anll how the ~mperor of Dehli 
interfl'red in the all'airs of Siud, 

We have seen that Bakhar remained in charge of Sultan 
Mahmlld Khan, who wns carrying on 
warfare wit~ Mirza B:Ud, but in hiS' 

last days his attention was called to his own divi~ion by 
the arrival of some generals or agents of the Emperor 
.Akbar. Before giving an act•out ~~fit we shall take this­

. ~pportunity of saying something mot·e about 8ulta11 
:Malmalld Khan and the g.rauual rise to importance of 
13akhar, 

A.q tht• readers knnw St11tari Mahm\td Kh':tn was tb:~ 
son of .Mir .Fazil K6kaltiLsh who was the son of A'dil 
Khwt'tj:Lh Isfahimf. From hfahim, Lhe capital of Per.ia,. 
ltis grandfather had come to Khurasan. When Amir' 
~'aim(u• invaded Hirat, A'dil Khw:ijah'sr father .Ahmad 
Khwftjah had fallen inttt the ha:nrls of )fir Hasau Dasri, t 
the father of Mir Zunnun Arghun, who began to briug. 
him up and treat him like his son, Ahmad Khwt'1.j:J.h had 
two sous A'kil and A'dil.· A'dil Khwujal1 had a son and 
a daughter. This son was .Mir Fli>dl who had 5 sons, by 

• From hero the account is hLken from the Tarikh MAssumi. 

t Mir Hn.san Misri, according to th& Tt~hfa.tlllkidm. 
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5 different "+res. Sultan 1InhmUd. Khan's motlter wa~ 
the dtiU"'hter of an Afghan of Sluil and Mast6ng. From 
his youili Sultan Mahmud Khim led a soldiPr's life having 
remained with Mirza Shah Beg. We need not r~oprnt what 
be did during the reign of that prince or his succe,;so1·s. 
In 950 A.B. (1543 A.D.) he married Gohal"!{tj Kh:i.nuLJ, 
a dau"hter of Sh:ihburdi Beg through the endeavours of a 
relati;n of Bairam Khan. In the same year Sh:ih 
Tahma~p, king of Persia conferred the title of Khan on 
him and in 956 A.H. (1549 A.D.) he got Uch, Amln and 
some other nPigh bouring parganahs as a J itgir. In 979 
A.H. (1571 A.D.) Shah 'Iahmasp conferred the title of 
Khan Khinan on him and sent him some valuable 
presents. 

When Emperor Akbar took greatrr part of Hindu~ 
stan, Nabid Begum, ~lah Begum's 

Sultan Mahmud Khnn'a daughter, who used to remain in hor 
fight with ll•ii•hid Khan. ~ 

camp, came to 'l'atta to see her 
mother. And wben llbh Begum was murdered, shA flecl 
to Sultan MahmUd Khan at 13ukhar as we have already 
mentioned. Sultan liahmUd Khan promised to espo11se 
her cause and to avenge her brother's death, provided 
she used her influence with the Emperor and got ft·om 
him an order recognising him as a permanent ruler, orr 
governor of Bakhar. Nal1hl Begum went to the Emperor 
and brou!!ht the required order of confirm:ttion and 
brought with her two of the Emperor's nobles Muhib-alf 
Khim and l\Iujahid Kbar, on whom the Emperor had 
conferred Fatehpur and Kir6r near ~~ ulr:in as Jitgirs. 
They were soon joined by the Arghuns, who h~ing oppress~ 
ed at Tatta had come for help to Sultan l\I:lluuud K Mn, 
but he too had dismissed them without showing them 
much favour. On arriving at Ubao1-:.ili, 80 miles from 
Bakhar, Nahid Begum and her companions informed 
Sultan Mahmud Khan of their coming, but the latter 
being much annoyed with their conduct and fearing somo­
bad results, sent an offensive reply to them. Accordingly 
Mujahid Khan and others came to Mathelah and com~ 
menced fighting with Mubarak Khan, the governor of 
that place on behalf of Sultan Mahmud KMn. The­
latter was defeated and was obliged to shelter himself in 
the fort. Hearing of this, Sultan 1\fahmuJ Khan sent 
about 3,000 men to help tho governor~ but after all! 
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Mub:irnk Kh!m surrendered and Mithelab fell into the 
hands of Mujahid Khan. This event occurred in 930 A.H. 
(1~23 A.D.) In the same year, a marriage connection 
brmg arranged between :Emperor Akbar and Sultan 
Mahmud Khan's dau~;hter, the latter sent the bride with 
gre<tt pomp and glot·y to tile roy11l bridegroom, through 
Jcsalrnet'. Akbar had sent an officer of his to receive the 
party, but he was murdered by a Ritjput at Nag6r. Akbar 
therefore got angry and invaded Gujrat. Meanwhile 
Mubarak Khaq managing to come back, Sultan MahmUd 
Khan appointed him the governor of Al6r, to which 
place he went with 1,500 cavahy. 

Mubarak Khan and his son Beg O'ghli were now the 
. chief moving figures, in this division 

Sultan Mahm4d Kblin • of Sind. Beg 0' "'hli was a villain and 
death. ~ 

a drunkard. He made a conspiracy 
with some servants of Sultan lliahmud Khan to assassinate 
their master. But Sultan Mahmud Khan coming to 
know of the plot, Beg O'ghli took some men with him, 
went and joined ~lujahid Khan and Muhibali KMil. ami 
h<'gnn to speak ill of Sultan l\Iahmud Khan. In !ISO A. H. 
(1522 A. D.) they all came to 16hri near Al6r. The 
troopers spread themselves over the whole of L6hri and 
Bnkhar to the great annoyance of Sultan Mahmud Khan, 
who sent his nephew Muhammad Kuli to fight with the 
trespassers. The two armies met in a battle, in which 
:Muhammad Kuli and most of his men lost tLeir lives. 
:Mujahid Khan now crossed over tu Sakhar and was 
met hy Sultim l\fahmUd Khan's brother Amlt Sultan, 
but he too was defeated. Sultan Malunud Khan now 
took shelter in the fort of Bakbar .to which the enemy 
laid siPge. When after some time scarcity of food and 
sickness prevailed in the fort, and Mubirak Khan and his 
son Bt'g O'ghlf were murdered by some men of Muhib-nli 
Khan, Sultan Mallmud Khan got an opportunity of sending 
some envoys with prc~ents to the Emperor at Ajmer. 
The Emperor was pleased to send !lim an order confil'lning 
him as his agent and governor at Bakhar, which fact 
greatly mortified Mujahid Khan and his friend. As 
Sultan Mahmud Khan had been suffering from dropsy for 
some time, in 982 A. H. (1574 A. D.), he wrote a letter 
to the Emperor imforming him that he was unwell and 
unable to work and requesting him to appoint some other 



108 

II"Ollt to Ink~ cb:tJ'CI'e or t.he gorernmenf. of thr pbrr. Tn 
" " ' I f ' 11' ' I ' thr ~ame ve~r, on SatUl'rlay, tho St 1 o · ~a ar, :Su tall 

;MahmUd Khan expi!·ed.' Considering t.his, a faroumbla 
ppportunitr, ~lnjahid KMn and l\Iultib-'lli Kh:in tl'icd to 
take Bakliar, but they were bravely repulsed by the 
occupants of tl1e fort, 

At last, on Monday, the l:lth of .Jamnui-nl-awwnl Clf the 
same ~·ear 982 A.H. (1572 A.D.) 

'Empero~ Akl>tr sends Ke,Ji Khan arrived atBakhar,havirl" 
Ji:,(, Kh•u w ,ucceed b t J E Akl t !" 
llult.Au, Mahruud li.bau. ren ~AD lY mperor lrtr o ta \6 

charge of the gorel'tlment. He was 
wrllreceiwd by the peoplo of the place and admitted into 
the fort. Seeing E'llprror's agent on the field, Muj:ihid 
)i'han and l!uhib.ali Khan betook thermelvPs to Ganj:ihah. 
But Kesu Khan soon rec•·ived an ol'dt>r directing him to 
f(i>e half of the division of Bakhar in charge of 11luhih-.tll 
J{han and ~Iujahid K:h:in and to march against 'l'attit, to 
bring ~lirzit ~1 uhamm:ul Baki under suhjoctiou. .iH u hih·nli 
Khan and Mnjahid Khan having come bank to ll•tkh:1r 
tl1~y were given llakhar and L6hri, Kest'! Kh{tn r1•tainin~ 
Sakhar. Soon after this, internal quarrels and fights 
commenced bettreen thrse two parties and some ·~omplaints 
were lodged against Kesu Khan in the oom·t of Akbr~r hy 
Sultan ::\lahmiJd Khan's widows and others. 'l'hP. Emperor 
at first srnt 'l'ar>u :\luhammad Khan to succeed hi:-.:, hut 
on second thought he sPnt 'l'ar-u .:\Iuhammad to Agr.l and 
appoint1•d a Sayyed hy name Mir Acll to settle the affairs 
Pt :Bakhflf. '!'his was in ~he year 983 A.H. (15i5 A.D.). 

In the days of Snyyed :Mfr Acll, some men, of the 

K 
, Kl, ,_,, 1 tribe of Mangch.a havin~ raiser! tho 

l!tu HIO RUct.e(~•leu '1 d d · 
l!ir Ao\1, whu ag,.iu ""' stan ar of revolt, :\Hr Adl Jed a foree 
~.d"'lcd by hi• """ Abul against them and with ~rPat Jo,s 

quenched the rebellion. In 98,1, A. [f, 
(1576 A.D.) Mh· Adl died and was succeeded by his son 
Sayyed ~b.ul F1~zl unde~· the snnction of tho 1\mprror, 
Soma Kak1r clnefs havmg re,•oltecl, the Snvvcrl mnrle 
them prisoners and put tlwm to death by ha~ing them 
trampled under the feet of elephants. 

• The valu~ of lott~rs in the phrnae "dar Bihi•ht As\t<lah" (i.t. He 
went to rrst m parnd1H~) a.mounts to 982, the date 9f :Sult~11 M11hmu<'l 
Klu\u'a ~a•th. (l'ilrl\;h Al~••tlll1i.) 
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In 08:\ A.l!. (1577 A. n.) Emp~ror Akb~r sent T:ttim1d 
Khan Khwajah, as the governor 

Ak!.ar >ends loti mid f B k\ H f 
J{lulu to BnkJ.ar. o a · mr. e was a man o very 

bad temfler. He u<ed to abuse and 
in~ult people who n·m·e therefore diss!l.tislied with him and 
took their complaints to the Empe10r, wbo felt for them 
and 'aid that if he bel.aved like that, he would be cut w 
pieces. And so it hnppem•d ; fo1', on the lOth of Rnbi·u[. 
a wwal, 986 A.H. (1378 A.D.) he was as~assiuated bl some 
troopers. 

'l'he charge of Bakhar was next giren to Mnsnnd Ali 
. . :Fatch Khan llnhadur and Hu.ifl. 

Fatch Khdn oncl . Rnjil l'nrmanand a rehtion of RaJ'·i 'l'eom· 
f,.I'Uif~IJl\U(l bUCCu~liHU11 f ' ( 

· mal, jointly. After 2 yP.ars Raja 
Pa!'mnnand went to visit the king, leaving his brother 
)Itidhnudas. A rerolt brohe out in his pm·t ol the divi~iou 
and it was quenched by l'ateh Khan. Soon after, Faleh 
Kltan also went to vi•it the .Emp~rQI' who was ~o ple11sed 
with him that he made him the sole governor of the wltole 
division of Bakltar. Shortly after this, some fig-hting took 
place witlt the chief of Niihirs in which Fatt'h Khan lost a 
large number of lttt'll.· 'fhe Emptrur therefore gave the 
distt·ict "f l3o.kl1ar as a Jagir to .Nawab' Muhammad l:iadik 
:Khau t and scu t him with instruetions to take Tatta. 

'rhe Nnw:ib arl'ived at Bakhar on Tursday the 12th of 
. Rabi-ul-awwai99J, A.ll. (1585 A.D.). 

Nn<Vnil Muh•mmad Sorhk After St•en(\!' n<> some mOJJt.hs at 
){luln U' ttcnt to Bnkbnr. r :, ~ 

llakhar settling the affairs of the plal'e, 
l1e ~tarred for SPhwt~n. He sent a part of his mt-n iu 
ndva11ce and they went and engaged in a ftght with .Mirza 
J,'mi Bt•g's men ut Pat. 'l'he latter were dt>feated with 
great Ius&. l'roceeding to th!:l river, he was opposed by 
SubhUu Kuli Arght.in in a ~ort of naval battle. 'l'he two 
nrmi~s fought in boats. After all Subhan Kuli was taken 
prisoner with 12 boats of his. Muhammad Sadik Khan 
now marched straight against 8ehwan and laid siege to 
the fort, Mirza Jani Beg carue from Tatta to defend 
the place. When he arrived at about 12 miles frorn 
Sehwan, Muhammad 8adik Khan moved out to meet him. 

• More correctly Na~n·nb. 
t In the Tuhfatulldram the name ill writteu liB Sadik Muhammiid 

J{luln, 
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At T.nki fire 11ag oprncd from :Mirza Uni Beg's boats. In 
this way warfare went on for some days. A breach was 
made on one side of the fort. 'fhe occupants r11ised another 
wall about the place, so that when the enemy completed 
the bre:tch, they found a stornger wall in front of them; 
which fact greatly disheartened them. Muhammad Sadilc 
Khan was thertJ!'ore obliged to raise the siege and to 
return to Bakhar. 

• Soon after his father's death Mirza Jini Beg received 
a letter from the Emperor asking him to pay homage to 
him as had been done hitherto, to use his coins and to 
mention liis name in the public orationq, 11-lirza J1ini Beg 
wrote a rt•ply iu r~spectful terms, admitting the EmpCI'Ol' 
as his superior and promised to send his brother with 
proper pt·esents. 

Soon after his return to BakharMuhammadS:idik Khan 
went to the Emperor. In hi~ absence famine broke out 
in Sind ami people lel't the oouutry and went to other 
sides. In 996 A.H. (15R7 A.D) the Jagir of B:tkhat• fell 
to the lot of .Nawab Ismail Kuli Khan, whose son Rahman 
Kuli Beg came to Bakhar. He was a very rich mn.n 
ancl he showed great favour to the people or the place. On 
his r~turn to Hiudustan, the Jagir was given to Sher6yah 
Sultan who came to Bakhar in the beginning of 997 A.H. 
(1588 A.D.). This nobleman was a 'durnkard and he left 
his whole affairs in the hands of his inferiors. He sent 
one of his sons to take Si wi, but he was soon obliged to 
return unsuccessful. 

In 9!)8 A. H. (1589 A. 0.) the Jn.gir of Bakhar was once 
more given to Nawab Muhammad Sadik lCiuin, whose son 
:Mirza Muhammad Zihid came to Bakhar, on the 1~th of 
Rabi. ul-awwal. He was a very good man and he tried 
his best to please the people. In his time too, famine 
broke out to the great trouble and hardship of the people. 

In the same year 998 A.H. (1589 A. D.) the Emperor 
Arri••l of NawAb Kb~n Akbar again determined to bring 

Khanan and his 6gbt with Mirza Jani Beg under subjection, as 
Min& Jaof ll<!g. he had then made L:ih6r his capital, 
and Mirza Jani Beg was behaving like an equal in such 

•The following part of this plll'llgl'llph is taken from the 'fuhfatulkirl\m. 
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close vicinity. Accordingly he sent Nnwab Khan 
Khlmim• to take Tatta and that nobluman arriveJ at; 
Bakh:1r in the month of Shawwal of the same year. Mlr 
Maasum Shah the author of the rarikh .Mnusum.l writes that 
at thaL time he himself too had goue to pay his respecttt 
to the .ll:mpQror Akbar, who treated him kindly and gave 
l1im the Parganahs of Darbelah, Kakri and Chimdik6 in 
Jagir, and he returned to Bakhar along with Naml.b Khan 
Khauan. 

Without losing much time Kh:l.n Khanan mat·ched 
against s~hwan, and as Mirza Jani Beg had come out 
with a large army from his capital, he proceeded from 
Sehwan to meet him. Jani Beg encamped in boats, on the 
bank of the ril'er near Nasarpur. When Khim Khanau 
c3me to about 12 mile~ from his camp, Jani Beg sent 
Khusr6 Kh:in with 1~0 big !XJats and seveml small boat~ 
to go and open th·e on the fleet of Khan Khanan, but the 
latter succeeded in alighting on the bank and making a 
secure camp for his men by putting up rude walls or 
embankments. Khusr6 KbilD tried to prevent them from 
landing. 1'het·eupon a battle of boats commenced. 
Khusr6 Khan was defeated and pursued by Khan Khauan, 
lmt as some of the latter's boats caught fire accidentally 
tha former made his escape. 

The next day T\ han Kluin.h brought his force against. 
the camp of .Jlirza Jani l'eg, whQ llad already sheltered 
l1imself in a sort of rnde fori. He tiied to take it but did 
not succeed. Khim Kbanan therefore had recourse t() 
another strategom. He divided his army into parties and 
sent each party in a di!Ierent clirt•ction. One party wa! 
1ent against. S0hwim, :mother to Tathi., a third t() Barlin a 
fourth to ]'ateh Bagb ancl Jun. Khan Kham1n himself 
proceeded against 'l'atta and Shah B€'g Khan· was sent 
against Shahgarb. Sn.yyed Bahauddfn and others includ­
ing the aut.hor of the 'l'tirikh Maast1ml, were sent against 
Sehwan. '!'he forts in different places were besieged. On 
being called for help, Mirza J ani Beg came to defend the 
fort vf Sehwan, but was met at Laki by the imperial force. 
which consisted of 1,200 horse, the Sind force being about 

• His name wns Abclut'l'll!Jim Khnn. Nawnb 1111d KMn· Kh:iuan we•~t 
Ule titles that had been giveu to hiru:. 
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2,000 horse. 'Mft·z;\ J(m{ Rr•g att:ccked I hi P'i1cnly l11f,h lJj' 
land and hv wakr. About noon t.he enga,gement. l'om• · 
~enct•(l. A pitched battle was fought in which .rani Bei!'9 
mPn were defeated hut he himself "'ith 11 men st.il 
continued fighting bravely-, At last they too fled aml. the 
day was lost• 

Mirza jani Berr camP to Unarpur wllich was about 4() 
miles from thn "scene or the above battle. Th1~r..: h.., 
defcnrlrd himself in n rude fort, IVhich was soon encircle1{ 
bv Khan Kluin{m's eolumn. The siege went on for ~o111e 
d~1·s. Every day a battle was fought. Steps wPre take11 
to 'cnnse a breach which gre:ttly frighte·1ed .J:ini Beg. On 
llis ~ide a!o\ain, K ha 1 Khami.n wM convinced that as long as­
Jani Be~ 'til'ed he 1rouhl never give in. &;~ hoth of thetn 
1ret·c inclined to make peace, which ''a' soon arl".1nged. 

At this juncture Kluir, Khamin sent a me~s,•nger l() 
Jani Beg telling him,-" Both of us 

tPe.,,. marl• ootw .. n are servants of the ~arne master :~nu 
\hem. are att:~dwd to the same rovnl 
family of Sibib Kh·an. What if by the rerolutiou' of 
time some fig-hting took placr~ between u~. 'l'lte hr,,very 
you hare ~hown in it wm long be l'emembere!l. But ymr 
mnst rememhcr that on the other side von hare the 
}:mperor of the world, before whom brave' warrio1·s rub 
their foreheads ()0 the ground. Wo mu4 tlwreforo muke· 
up the matter and cease fv()[n shedding tire blood of the 
poor. I shall stand guara·1tee for you and see that you 
are treated well by that IOOnnrch, and it iS advisable· for 
you to mend matters 'before all is !Oiit.'r 

It is said toot Jani Beg was- tTw first to seek the· 
truce hy proposing to give W boats of his and the fot•t of 
Sehwan and to be allowed to go to 'l'atta and prt•pare to 

• U is said in the 'fuhnfa.tultir&m t~ orr comillg to· Sind Khan 
Kh!uan WM not quite snre of the succe1s. So he went on! taking 
blessings from pious men. Abou~ that time Mnkhdum N dh· 'a great 
Shekh of Halah Kandi had died·. Some fakirs informed Kh!\1; Kb1\nltn 
~hat whoever of the fwo advel'l!a:ries, viz, Khan KMmln and· Mirza ,Tft"i Reg, 
wonlrl be the fir•t to go and condole for Ure death of the 4aid ~fnkhdli•n 
would gain the· lipper hand.. Kh'u Khuntln e~ertelf himself in tlurb 
direetion and waa the first to go to H.Uab for the purpose and &o ulti-­
mately he proved vietorioUIJ. 

t TIWJ paragraph il tali:en from the Tuhfatulkidw. 
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fight with the enemy tbcre; and Khin Khamin, thou<>h 
arl vised by his officers io reject the proposal and take 
advantage of Jani Beg's weakness, on consideration that 
innocent blood would be spilt, accepted the terms and 
made ~eace with him. 

Before making the peace Jani Beg had written to his 
father Mirza Paindah Beg and his son Mit·za A.bul Fatih 
to destroy the city and to remove their families and people 
to Kahin K6t, which fortified town he had built for 
occasions like these, This was done and the splendid city 
of Tatta was brought to ruins. But unfortunately Jani 

. Beg's father and son died abo11t the same time. '!'his was 
a severe blow to him. He was mourning over these 
bereavements when he got Khan Khanan's message for 
peace and he h'ld no other alternative but to consent to 
it. Orders were immediately issued to the governors of 
different places to give the keys of the forts to the 
Emperor's men. N erun K6t was taken from the hands of 

. M11hammad Aman Tarkban. Shah Beg Khan took the 
charge of Shahgarh from A.bul Kasim Arglnin and so on. 

After every thing was settled Nfir~a Jani Beg returned to 
'Inth1 and K.han KhUmin spent his time at Saun, as tht:' 
river was then high. In I he beginning of winter he pro­
ceeded to 'l'atta. At Fatebbagh he was received by J:\n! 
Beg. It is said that the two nobles came riding on horses, 
being preceded by some men on foot. On their meeting, 
the f,>Otmen first emlH·aced one another as frienls aucl 
then their leaders alighted and ~reeled each other. After 
a while they a~1in got on their horses, and c \me together 
to the city. Jl,irz:\ Jan[ Beg- went and put up in Taghlak· 
abad leaving Tattl1 to Kh:in Kh:lnan, who engaged himsdf 
for the time in settling the_ political affnirs of the place. 
~'his occmred in the year 1000 A.H. (1501 A.D.)' after 
seeing the seaport of Lohri and visiting other places of 
importance, both Kh{m Khanitn and :Mirza J:ini Beg 

. prepared to go and pay their respects to Ernperot' Akbar, 
as the latter' had exvressed n desire for it. 

• This ycnr nmr!;s the I'"'"ing off of the in~~p~nrl~nt rulerahip of 
Tnttn from tho lt~lllily of Tnrklu\us, who now beenmo dopeuuont I'Ulors. 
Tho whole poriou of the Tal'ldu\u dyuusty wns 38 years. 

D 305-15 
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Mh·za Jan! Beg was very anxious about his own fate 
Khan Kh:lnun and ~!irza but on his going to Emperor Akbar 

J9ni Beg go to Emperor the latter showed him greet kindness 
.Akbar. and confirmed him, as the governor 
of Sehwan, Tntta and the seaport L6hri. Khan Khiman 
had left, Daolat Khan L6dhi at 'l'atta. Akbar desired 
1lirza Jani Beg to send for his family and live with him 
for some time. The Mirza was very unwilling to do so, 
and so, at the r~quest of Khan Khanan, he was excused 
the trouble. Mirza Jani Beg now sent his men under the 
autbol'ity of the Emperor to his minor son Mirza Gbazf 
Beg, asking him to rule at 'l'atta for him, with the 
assistance aud under the regency of Shah Kasim Arghtln, 
Khusr6 Khan Charkas, Bbai Khan Ar::~b Kukah and 
J am{tluddin secretary, who were especially sent out for 
the purpose, while he himself remained with the Emperor 
for about 8 years. During this period Mirza Jani Beg's 
daughter was warrried to Akbar's son Kbusr6 Shah. 

It was in the year 1008 A.H. (1599 A.D.) on the 
)!irzOanl Beg's death. 21st of Rajjib that Mirza Jani Beg 

died of apoplexy or brain . fever. • 
Under the orders of the Emperor his body was carried to 
Tatta and buried on the Makli hill in the mausoleum 
since known by the name of Rank. t 

CHAPTER XIV.+ 

THE REIGS OF MI'RzA' GnA.zr' BEG. 

On his father's death Mirza G luizi Beg was confirmed 
Cb . h . . as the governor of 'fatta and bo • 

anges m t c political b t J , d . ) £ 
.... Lli•hment.. egan o rue m epenoent y o anv 

regent'tl assistance. 'fhose of th'e 
nobles who had seen him in his childhood did not care 
very much for him. When his elder brother Mirza. 
Abul Fatih was living, those men were, on one occasion rid· 
along in his company, and Gnazi Beg, who was a child 

• According to. the T:lrfkh 'Ma:tHiimf ho died ill 10~0 A. H. but 1008 is 
correct aa given tu tho 'l'uhfatulkirarn, 

t The Tankh Mnas~mi gives the history of Situl up to this period 
only. 

t This chapter is taken !rom tho Tuh.fatulkiram. 
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th(ln, was left behind them. Ghizi Bog felt this and 
became oo angry that he said " When I happen to cret 
tha reins of government, I shall show them what ·I ;an 
do to these dark-minded double-sighted wretches.'' No1v 
that he was the sole master of the place he began to rule 
in his own way. Yaakub Ali Kukah, who during Gh:izi 
Beg's minority, had worked against his wishes by giving 
hardly one-tenth of the reward that the Mirz;i ordered to 
be given to some perooo, was now deprived of his JU"'ir, 
which was given to Mulla Yaak(tb, who was the h~ad 
master of his school in his childhood. He raised one 
Shahbazl who took care of his pigeons and dogg, to a 
high post, giving him the title of .'!(hahMz Khan and 
appointed Mulah, a Hindu, as his chief accountant, or 
lliwan, giving him the title of Dao!atr!ti, Re made 
.Ahmad Beg his chief secretary calling him .Ahmad Sultun. 
In short he dismissed the old offioers and appointed ne1v 
ones, through whom he tried his best to keep the subjects 
comfortable and the troops satisfied. Slowly he took 
back the Jagirs from the grantees, giving them cash 
allowances instead. 

There were several persons who were dissatisfied with 
. M irz:i Glu'tzi Beg and they wet·e on 

T~• rchelhou of Abu! the alert to cause rebellion as for 
KU.tm Sultnu. , , 

instance, Muhammadah, 8ultan · 
K:ilmli, who on one occasion, while playing at chess wil h 
)Iirza Gbazl Beg, had got annoyed and had run away 
wounding two noblemen and people had been sent in 
search of him; Khusr6 Khan Charkas, who had been 
one of the regents; Mirza Muzaffar son of Mirza Bakf, 
who was in Kaohh; · Mirza I' sa Tarkhan, who had run 
away to Samejahs to whom he was rehted on his 
mother's side; a11d the last but not least., Abu! K:isim 
Sultan son of Shah JL-isim Arghun, who for some years 
past had been in full possession of tho district of N asarptir. 
~his last nohleman was a brave soldier aml in the 
lifetime of :Mirza J ani lkg had defeated the S6dhas and 
taken U mark6t. Though his sister hi\d been Uit·z.l Jani's 
wile and his dnuglltor h:ul been betrothed to llis nephew 
:Mirza Abul Fatih, and after the latter's death to Mirza 
Ghazi Beg himself, still he did not like GMzi Beg's policy 
and began to aot against !tim. .At first he attacked a 
party of :m.orchants of 'ratta who wore going on private. 
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business to Namp{tr and plnnderl'd them. When Mirzi 
Ghazi Beg reprimanded him for .that and askrd him .for 
an explanation, he openly told h1m that be had nothmg 
to do with his division and wroto saying " I shall b~ 
ohli"fld to extend the boundary line of my division to tho 
very bank of the Alijlin, and forth witll be raised the 
$landard of revolt and stopped all tile ways of com­
munic:ttion with 'l'attU. either by land 01.1 by water." The 
old chiefs of Tarkhans and Arghuns, who were jealous of 
G-ha.zi Beg's power, became very glad to hear of this, a.s 
thev thought the Mirzi wottld soon . be brought to ruin. 
Ghhi Beg secretly made plans with his new officers to 
meet the insurgents, while apparently he asked these o~~ 
officers to help him in the undertaking. 

Having made necess:~ry preparations 11Hrza Ghazr Beg 
left •rutta for Nasarpur. ~'earing. 

!_!!l'Z!I Ghllzi .Beg "!•rchcs noctural attack from the enemy at 
aga•n•t A~ul K;i,im~ult.aiL , • 

every srage he used to d1g a trencl\ 
round his camp. On his coming to Ktiti!\r, Abul K:asirn, 
with a few persons, came walking t.o the trench and called 
out to Ghazi Beg agking him politely what he had come 
for and why he should have put a trench round the camp 
and telling him that Abul Kasim would not fall upon 
them treacherously or secretly, but was ready to fight witl1 
them, in-an open battle. Ghazi Beg replied that Abu! 
Kasim had turned enemy to his own self and that until 
4e had brought ruin upon himself, he would not &top in 

· his headlong course. · 

Mirza Ghazi Beg thence proceeded to Shahgarh, where 
he fixed his camp and made a halt. Here it is said that 
Abul Kasim out of vanity once came up to tho tower, 
and from that place spoke to his troops, savin" "I 8hall 
give Mirza Juni's mother to my far.her, and thf'l 

0 

dau"htm·s. 
of Mirza Muh1mmad B4ki and other Tarkhans t shnU 
distribute among you." But p.1or man, he did. n.ot kn,o1\: 

what bad consequences disloyalty always brought .. 

Abul Kasim's father was a very wi~e man. He could 

Th k foresee these consequences and there· 
'!'jllll!Cpcace. f · ddh' ' ore reprtman e ts son urgm"' him 

not to take such a step. He openly applied for hi; own 
as well as his son's pardon. B.hai Khan, ono of Gbazl 
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Beg's enemies, did not wish that peare be made and so he 
bPgan to put some hindn'!nC3 in the way, but he was soon 
put to death by poi~on, by the .Mirza!s men. Soon after 
his removal, Abu! Kusim becnme attached to Ghazl Be<> 
and thencrforth began t'> visit him quietly for some tim:, 

·~hough ll1irz6. Gh:lzi Beg had sworn to spare Abul 
K{Lsim's life, he still doubted his 

Abu! KIIRim V. blinded 1 1 R tl f I !t wltb a burui•g irou wire. oya t.y. e lere ore 1 upon a 
· piau to blind him, that he might 

live and yet be less harmful. With this object in view, 
one day he held a pleasure party on the further side of a 
erma! t.hat flowed near his camp. Gluizi Beg now sent 
for Abul Kasim Sultfin asking him to bring the book 
"Chanesar Namah" that had been written a11d dedicated 
to him by its author Idraki Beg and to read it for the 
amusement of the frif:'nc\s. Abu! Kasim, who was very 
fond of this book, took it with him and walked to the 
place. In t.he way he recrived a letter from lfu!Jammadali 
Sultan Kabuli, giving him a, warning. But. as destiny 
would have it, he was in such a hurry and good humou'r 
that be put it in the folds of his waist.cloth without read­
~ng it. While crossing the canal in a boat, alo 'g with 
one of his own attendants and several of the Mirza's men, 
when they came to about the middle of the strean, he was 
caught all of a sudden and his hands were tied behind his 
back with his own turban. Glul.zi Beg, being informed of 
this, ordered that a red-hot i1·on wire he passed through 
his eyes, 'l'his was done and both ol his eyes were blinded 
giving him great agony. His legs were then rhained and 
he was sent away to 'l'attn,. His friends hearing of what 
h!ld happened came and fought with Ghazi Beg's men, 
but were either captured or driven away. Mn hammadali 
Sultan Kabuli, was beaten with the ~tocks of guns ancl 
secured in a prison. I'sli 'l'arkMn left the country and 
wont away to IIindusmn. Thus Ghaz( Beg cleared the 
field of his rivals and cnemi\38 and ruled nt Tatta quietly 
for a long time. 

About this time .Hm Habh son of Jam Desar, the 
ruler of Kakrillah, had encroached 

Fight with Jilm Hdlnh of upon the frontiers of 1\Iirza GMz{ 
Knkrnl11h. }3 , t · d k'll d d ] t d r.g s em tory, an ·1 e an oo e 
some ja<>ird1.1rs and caused some other mischief. Ghaz.L 
l3og started with an army to ~unish the Jtl,m. Under the 
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guidance of Jam Dt\tul one of ,Jam H:Uah's kinsmen, he 
succeeded in driving a way Jam llilah and gai niug posses· 
sion of his country. Jam Daud now became a favourite 
of Mirza Ghazi Beg, who married Jam Daud's daughter, 
and dividing that country into 3 parts, he gave one to 
Jam DaUd and annexed the other two to his own territory. 
lt is said that tlus was the first instance of matrimonial 
connection between the Jams and the Arghun and 
Tarkluin rulers, for, before this the latter had tried much 
to get a girl from the Jams but had failed. 

While Mirza Ghlzi Beg was carrying on warfare with 
his enemies, Emperor Akbar had sent 

Mtrul ~hazt Beg prepares an envoy to call the Mirza hut as the 
to go to ,,.,t the Ewperor. • , 

envoy found lnm very busy settlmg 
the affairs of the country, which urgently required his 
presence, he would not tell him to accompany him to the 
Emperor, though he remained with him for some time. 
After the Mirza's return from Kakralah, howevet·, he 
heard of Nawab Said Khan's coming to summon him. 
He therefore called together his nobles and told them 
that if like his father he had a vast treasure with him he 
would certainly take steps to defend it by meeting the 
'Emperor's army in the open field; but sincll that was not 
the case, it was much better that before the Nawab's 
arrival he should start on a visit to the Emperor. 
Accordingly he left Khusr6 Khan Charkas, Arab Ktikah 
and secretary Alahkuli, witlt some troops at 'l'atta, and 
taking Ahmadbeg Sultan, Bh:ii Khan son of Khushr6 Khatt 
and a few other noblemen with him, he came to Fateh· 
bagh and prepared to visit the Emperor. 

Abul Kaslm Sultan, had remained a prisoner in the 
neighbourhood of Arab KU.kah under 

E<Cape an<l recapture of th ')} f ] • t D I. Abut K:iJtim sutti10• e surve1 11.nce o us servnn ary.t 
Khim. After :Mirr,a Glt{tzi Bc"''s 

departure h:J amnged with his ~>i;ter, Mhzi Gh{tzf's wife 
who used to scud him food, that on a particular dav sh~ 
should send him a noose concealed itt the tray of ·food, 
and keep a boat ready for him on this side of the canal 
and two riding camels on the other. About miduight 
when the watcltme:J. went to sh!cp, Mtwithstandin" his 
blindoe~s, he rai~ecl np his cot jnst und<'r the top wi~dow 
in the room, and climbing over it got himself out of the 
room, He had to pass through two othct• rooms which 
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he did with great cleverness. In the last room he fixed 

' his noose to a very small and narrow window, and reach­
ing it and pressing himself out of it, descended to the 
groun~. In this passage he undt>rwent so much difficulty 
that Ius skin was scratched off in many places. He then 
took one Jaafarali from a neighbouring house, in his 
company, and crossfl.(l the canal by the boat. Then riding 
the camels they hurried on to the hilly country of the 
Sh6rah tribe. Early in the morning, when the watchmen 
got up, they missed the prisoner, and immediately horse­
men and footmen went in every direction to find him out, 
Intimation being given to 1'1Iirza Glul.zi Beg at Fatehbagh 
he began to look sharp, lest that intrepid blind man 
should make a night attack o:::. him. Darya Kh~n, for 
fear of his life, lel't no stone unturned to remest the 
escaped con viet. With some difficulty he g,,t a clue and 
going on the tracks, be overtook tb.e two camels in the 
hills. In the conflict that ensued, J aafarali was killed 
and Abul Kasim dismounted. '£he latter now took a 
stand, having collected a heap of stones near himself, 
which he began to sb.ower at Darya Khan. Being alone, 
Darya Khan went here and there to secure some men to 
help him. In this attempt he lost his way and walked 
away from the scene of fight. After some time be met 
some headman of the village who seeing crows hovering 
in one direction understood that that was the scene of 
conflict, where the murdered man was lying. So he 
br)ught Dary:l KMn to the spot, where he found Abul 
Kasim still sitting in one place. He was tiecl on the 
camel and Jaafar~li's head cut off and placed before him. 
ll0 wa~ tlw!! brought to the town a"d after exposing him 
to the public in that bloody plight, Abu! Kasim was again 
thrown into prison. 

It is said thnt Jaafa1•nll hacl a faithful dog, which, for 
two days, con tinnally was sitting at thtl fout of the pole 
on which Jaafara!i's head was fixed in the midst of the 
market. When, on the third day the head W>JS hm·ied, 
the dog rernainetl at the tomb for several days and then 
slowly left tile place. 

Wlwn Ghaii RAg l1enrd (\f Ahnl Kasim's recnptnro he 
sent a horse and a robe of honour as a present to Arab 
Kukoh and increased the allowances of Daryu Khan. 
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i\Iirzi Gh{1zi l.leg had lti~ ndr:d at. rase now and so hA 
lt>lt Fatl1hi1g-h on bis forwm·d journev. 

~!In,: Ghnzl's ,.;,it to 11 k] ' ] "' .,: ] S ;d 
}:~1 ,,r0r Aklonr ntul nfter .-\ t a 1!\r IC met L' 8" U 1 Ill 
thelatter'"l"'''h, w Erup•r· Kluin, to whom he gave his explnna• 
or Jah:mgtr. tion for the ci<•lnv. It. is said that 
the Nawl1b was so much struck with the proud and over 
hearing look of the Mit·za that he rerr.arked to his son 
.Mirza Snadullah that he found marks of future glory and 
prosperity in the face of the youJJg man and be l'equPsted 
the Mirza to take his son in his company and keepin!5, 
like a brother. '!'henceforth the two young men became 
intimate friends. In plny;ng or in hunti11g they were 
always seen together. The party traYellerl on in this way, 
till they arrived at the capital city of A' grah in 1013 A.II. 
(1604. A.D.). 

The Emperor received Mirza Ghazi Beg w!th markerl 
distinction. He conferred hiq father's honours on him 
and made him the governor d the Subah of Sind, After 
the next few mouths, in the next year, Akbar died aud 
was sncceederl by his sou .Tahangir. • Being advised by 
some evil counsellors the :Mirza left A'grah for Tatta 
clandestinely. He had hardly arrived at his capital, wlwu 
he received Jahangir's orders to present himself bef01•e 
him. At the same time, :i\Ifr Abdurrazak was appointed 
to be in charge of Seh wan, L6hri port and Tatro. Gluizi 
Beg lost no time in going to the Emperor in response to 
his call, and notwithstanding the backbiting of some men, 
he wa8 rrPeiverl very w<>ll hy the Emperor, who kept him 
in Lis court for some time as a wise c.Jun>ellor. 

It is sairl on one of those d •ys the Emprror J ahlnoofr 
was in con~ultation with his courtiers with re;_;al'd to f11e 
revolt made by prince Khus1·6. 'l'he E,11peror wished to 
call Mirza Glul.zi Beg in orrler to se1.1 what advice he gave. 
'l'he other.s told !tim that the Mit·za was a young inexperi­
enced person aud tbu.t his coundl would not be very 
souurl, but tho :Emperor snid OMzi Tirg had been a ruh• 
anrl ns such must know woll how to solve political rlilli­
cul ties. Autl so he was callecl and nskerl as to what he 
had to say in the matter. Ghazi Bog said "whatever 
your imperial m~jesty. is inclined to do, is tho best." 

• His name was N liruddiu Muhamnmd Salirn. 
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BPing further pressed to give his opinion fredv, ii~ 
replied "when you have put one foot in your stirrup I 
E.hall say what 1 have to say.'' The Emperor understood 
~rbat he meant and was much pleased with it, for he had 
already made up his mind to march against the prince and 
to quell the rebellion hy forces. This was done and the 
whole affair enderlin success. -

. When Mirza Ghazi Brg was about to start on his 
· . . . . , journe,v to Agrah; he wanted to 

• n_~bc!hou of Khu'to leave Ahmad Be"' Sultan at 'l'atta Mtd 
K hau Ch&rkM, 0 

take away Khu>r6 Khan Char~a.s 
with hilll, as he was rather suspicious about his faithful¥;ls: · 
But Khus1·6 Khan tried sPveral means through sfi!m:··­
in tercessors to gPt himself free and at length succeeded. 
So he was prrmittrd to s+,ay at 'fatbi and as Ahmad Beg 
Sultan urged that in the preseuce of Khusr6 Khan he 
woulrl have no influence with the people, Mirza -Ghazi 
lleg asked him (Ahmad Beg) to accompany him."" After 
he bad visited the Emperor and received honour from 
him, Ahmad Bt>g Sultim was sent back to Tatta under 
the sam:tion of the Emperor, and Khusr6 Kh{m 1yas asked 
to retain criminal work, but to give up the civil or 
revenue work to Ah10ad B.•g. Kbusr6 Khan o)leyed the 
orders, but he conspired with some other persons to 1ind 
an occusionho show disr~sp~ct to Ahm~rl Beg publicly, so 
that he should give up in disgust the idea of governing 
the country. But Ahmad Beg coming to know of this1 
secratl,v left the pltwe with the n~si~tnnce of Abu! Ka~im 
Arghun, who had that day arl'irQd fro1u N~sarpur aml 
went to 1 he E·nperot·'s camp, though he was long put·sued 
by Khusr..i Kl,;in's men. 

8lulh Beg Khan was the governor of Kandhar Oil 

· behalf of the E~1peror. In lOli 
M!rz~ G)d~tl !leg is '""~ A l·I (160'' A D) Ha!"dnr one of to Kt\ndhur. · • 0 • · < • , 

Shalt Beg's men, grew disloyal and 
refractory and brought an army from Khul'<istiu and .laid 
~iege to Knndluir. On reccivin!j the report, tho Em!lpt•or 
Akl!ar deputed l\'lirza Kurrah Kp{tu to be the goveruor of 
t.he St1bah of K andhar and l\lir~t1 Gh{tzi Beg wns made 
his companion or assistant. 'l'hcy started with n lnrl!o 
army but nnfortunatolv Kurrah Kh<ln died on the wny. 
His men wantocl to sc~d the valuable property left by 

B 30~-16 



him to his son at Bakhnr, hut Ghazi Beg sngf!e~t('d tl1nt 
as he had not :vet received any money from his native 
estate, thr dece~sed general's property might be given to 
him as a loan for use during the expedition. And wilhcut 
waiting for their tlecision, he ordered the drums to be 
beaten and the army marched out under his command. 
All were now obliged to suspend their private inclination! 
and to co-operate with the llirza in his undertaking, tllat 
had been taken uul!er the orde1·s of tiJeir common master, 
the Emperor. Luckily the army had baJ·dly gone beyond 
hro or three stages iu the K.andluir territory wheu the 
Khurasan forces fled in ft>ar, and the victory was pro. 
claimtd to be :Mirza G luizi Reg's. 

As Gh:izi Beg had now received letters ab.mt Khusro 
Khan's rebellion, he was allowell by the Empewr to 
lea re straight for Bakhar in order to take necessary step~ 
for mending the atTairs of Sind, But soon a[tcr that 
he wns called back from Bakhar · as some of his 
ill-wishers hall representeu to the Emperor that Mirz:i. 
Ghazf Beg wanted to be au independent ruler. Gbazi 
Beg came to the Emperor, when the latter was ou his way 
from Kabul to Lah6r. 'l'he Emperor wa.~ so much pleaseJ. 
with him that he appointed him thtl governor of the 
Subah of .Kandhar, and increased his titles and Jaglrs. 

Thus, getting the province of Kandhar in addition to 
the districts of 'l'atta, Seh wan and part of Multim, Mirza 
Gbazi Beg came from Uh6r to ~Iult4n. From here he 
wanted to send an agent to .Kan<lhar before ho wa~ eble to 
go thitlu·r himself. Uo first nomirnt.e<l .:IIhz't iVIuham­
mad Amim 'l'arkh:in but as t!Je latter had first to go on 
some businlll's to Tatta, he appointe I Ahmad ll<·g Sulbin 
to the post, gil'ing him the title of Iatirnful Khan. 'l'his 
nobleman hastened to Kandhin• and with 11 wi~e policy 
and kind behaviour put the affairs of that division that 
had been so long in confusion, into proper order. ' 

Mirza Ghazf B_eg thus ~ot ~n oppor~unity of coming to 
Bakhar and settling the pubhc nnd pnvate affairs of that 
side tiJat badly required his presence and inte1·ference. 
He then came to Kandhar thrvugh Siwi and Ganjabah 
'faking some rest the;re, he deputed Bl!ai Khan son of 
Khusro Khan and anoLhCl'1 to figllt agllinst tho Af,.,.h{ms 

0 ' 
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and appointed R:ii Manikchancl son of R{ti Kh6riah to 
nmch against Haidar, Shah Beg's refr•1ctory servant. 
He sent M!r Abdullah Sultiin, title:l Mir Khan, as an 
ambassador to Shnlt Ahb:ls the king of .Persia,* with rich 
presents to ser.ure his good will. And uow he b!•gan to 
rule quietly at Kandluir. 

On receiving complaints, to the eff,,ct that Khusr6 Khan 
had been misappt'<)priating and 

Khu.r6 Khan Charkaa • • tl b • 
captured by Hindu Khan. mtsu~mg 1e pu he money at Tatta 

"Mirza Gha?.i Beg was ad vised by hi~ 
nobles to send some agents to examine tho accounts and to 
JUUke a report about it; accordingly S.lindinah snn-in-law 
to Rai Kh6riah was sent with the title of Hiudu Khim to 
Tatta to check the accounts and to take the monev matters 
of the place into his charge. He came ancl discovered 
several defalcations and embezzlemPnts of Khusr6 1\:luin 
and made his report about it to ~l(rza Glla~f Beg personally 
on his return to Knmlhar. 

It is said that Khnsr6 Khan Ch::.rkas, having found 
himself in power and being away from the real 01vner of 
the place, began to abuse his power. He put his grand­
sons in power. One of them, Muhammad Beg son of 
Rustam Beg, who was the governor of Nerun K6t, dPalt 
very cruelly with the A11ghuus nnd 'farkhimg, Another 
bud cal'l'ied away by force a Hindu girl of haberdashers' 

• Thill king belong~d to the SafaiVi dynasty of the kings of Persia, 
about whot~e origin and members, mention hns been made in a now in 
Chapter VH, (p. 61,) The following were the kings of the line. 

1. Shah Iemai~ who appeared in 750 A.H. (1543 A.D.) 11nd reigned 
for 24 years. 

2. Shah Tahmasb llOn of No. 1 who reigned for 54 years. 

3. Shah Ismail II, eon of No. 2 who reigned far 1 year aud 7 months. 

4. Suit lin Mulllllllmad, son of No.2. 

5. ShUh Abblie son of No.4, who reigned for 42 years. 

6. ShUh Safi, son of Safi ~firzt\ •On of No. 5 who reiguod for 14 yel\!'9, 

7. Shllh Abblis II son of No.6 who reigue~ for 25 yenrs. 

S. Snlniman Shah eon of No, 7 who reigned \iU the year 1078 .!,.H. 
(16~7 A.D.). 

9 Sultan Husain son of No.8. 
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cnste which <lee.l hnd cnusP<l 50n1P rioting ntH! bloodshed. 
Tht>s~ doings of his, to~"ther with his criminal mbap· 
propriatiou or the puhlic money, were fully brought to 
the notice of )[ir7.5 Ghitzi Beg, who became very angry. 
He determined to punish Kh,,sr6 Khin and his relations 
and to degmde them to a \'ery low p.lsition in society, 
With this' object in view he had sent 8iindi11ah Hindu 
Khan with r..uni1 llanikchanll and Shahb:,z Kliim to bring 
Khusr6 Kli[m Chark.ts witli a~! llis rdatious, young ami. 
old,. 

Hindu Khan came to X asnrpur and wanted first to 
s~ttle the affairs outside and then to enter the city. 
:Mukim Sultan with all his brothers, at the instigation of 
Khnsr6 Khan, laid siege to him at t.hat place, and Abu! 
Kasim Sultan, who had been set at liberty at the interces. 
sion of Khusr6 Khan incited his relations to st"p supplies 
to the besieged. Rana Manikchnn:l, happening to co111e 
out of the fort in order to bring ahout, reconciliation, was 
cut down by an Argltun. Hearing this, Manikcha11d's son 
Raising issued from the fu1t with a party of soldiers an(l 
vowed to btl revenged on the murderors of his father, 
before cremating the lar.ter's body. He fought with tha 
Arghuns, killed their chief, Sherbeg, a son-in-la1v of Shith 
Kasim Arghun with many picked warriors, ~ecured their 
animals and property, and thPn went to burn the body of 
his father. He now returned succe~sful to Mirza Ghazi 
Heg, who honoured him more than his father. · 

After all Hindu Khan succeeded in taking every th-ing 
o11:t of Khusr6 Khan'R charge, though tbe latter had tried 
his best to turn the chief landowners again~t him. Khusro 
Khan with all his relations was brought to Halah Kand( 
to be taken by Hindu Khan to Mit·za Ohazi Beg at 
Kandhiir, when he got the news of the Mlrz~'s death. 

Seeing liirza GMzi Beg rising to power more anrl 
Mitt.& Gltazl Beg's rlcnth. ~ore, from dar to day, some .of Ids 

. kmsmcn anti. fncnds became Jealous 
of him and resolved to do away with him by violence 
Accordingly in the yaor 1201 A. H. (1Ul2 A.D.) at thei; 
instigation hn was put lo death by a house-hold servant of 
his, by name Ahdullatif. His body was conveved to 
1'atta and time buried in a mausoleum, iu the nei,.;hbour· 
hood of his father. 0 
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Mirza Ghazi .Beg wns a brare soldier anJ a grnerous 
H. 1 te nohle. IIe was a V('l'l' g-ood rule!' 

,. • '"'"' r. I . 'd l I . - . · t Is sa: t wt he nse( to g-o about at 
night in disguise to learn the state of the countt·y and of 
his people's mind. He was so liberal that not\\:ithstaud. 
ing his holdinl!' big Jag[rs of Kanrlhar, Tntta, Sehwan anrl 
1\{ultan, he was very poor and was often in want of 
money. Once hi3 accountants reqursted him to see the 
accounts as the expenditure was exceeding the income. 
Mirza Ghazi Beg is said to have torn the account papers 
~aying ''my noble father spent what he !tad and did not 
leave any thing for me. '!'he all-bountiflll has made mo 
comfortable and ha~ given me plenty. I thank Hi.m for 
not leaving me in want of food. As so many years of my 
life bave passed away, the remaining also will do tho 
~arne. Do not trm~hle me with these things." 

He was a man of learning and composed poet.r.v too, 
taking Kart (reader) as his nom·de·plume. It is said that 
there was another potlt with the same nom-de.plume at 
Kandh:ir in his time. He called him, gave him rich 
presents, and requested birn to leave that nom-de-plume 
for him and take another. Both Ghazi Beg Hud his 
father were very good musicians and were foud of singing. 
'Their love for that fine art may be imagined from the 
general belief of the public that anyone, not lia ving any 
children, who would sing and play on musical instruments 
for some days in their mausoleums, would be blessed with 
children. 

As Mirz~ Ghazi Beg had no issue and as Hindu Khan 
was soon driven away by Khusr6 

Concluding remorks. Khan who now considered himself 
quite secure in possession of Tatta, the Emperor JahimgiL· 
thought it better to annex that part of the country to his 
empiro and to gvvem it like many other provinces of his 
by appointing some of his men as governors. 

Thus ended tha rule of TarkMns. About the close of 
Jahangir's reign, :Mirza !'sa ~'nrkhan was appointpd 
a governor for some days·, as will be sePn in the nrxt 
chapter, but no other 1'arkhan ever afterwards held the 
:reins of government. 
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Cll1PTER XV. t 

THE S1J'D.I.IIDA'Rs oR GovERNORs SENT DY THE 
EMPERORS OF D"EHLf. 

After :atirza Ghazi Beg's denth in 1021 A. H. (1612 A.D.) 
Khusr6 Khan Charkas tried to be independent and 
Hindu Khan, being unable to cope with him, wanted to 
retire but was asked by the Emperor to retain the govern• 
ment in his hands till a new man was sent. Khusr6 
KM.n now saw that 1he province had been annexed and 
that he could do nothing iu opposition to the Emperor; 
so be left the plactl and went away t The following 
governors were appointed successively to the Subah of 
:Sind, t with Tatta as their capital. 

1. Mirza Rustam, son of Sultan Husain Mirza son. of 
Bahram Mirzii, so1t of Shah Ismail Safawi, king of Persia. 
This nobleman was at first the governor of D:iwar, 
a province of Kandbar, but when Khurasan was 
conquered by Uzbaks he left that country and 
attached himself to the Emperor Akbar in 1002 
A. H. (1593 A. D). In Jahangir's time he was sent 
as the governor of Tatta with the rank of Panj~ 
hazari. He got 2 lacs of rupees as a rewal'<l and lravt>lling 
allowance and the whole revenue of Tat ta as his salarv. 
In fact Tatta was given to hirn as 11! Jagir, but he was 

• This chapter is also taken from the Tuhfatulkiram. 

t This is the last we heo~r of Khnsr6 Khlln Oharlw, It mny be nated 
here that K.hus:r6 Kbau, or Oharkas KIWI as he is generally called, was 
descended from that branch of Chaugez Khans' children that ruled 
Xabch&.k. He fell into the hands of Mirza I' sa in his infancy and soon 
rose to be an important person as we have seen. During the time he 
Willi in charge of 'l'a.tta he is said to have built 360 public huildingB, 
moequel!, tomb•, wells, bridges, &c., at 1\ll immense cost, Re did thi8 
charitable work by w:1y of penance for havinl( onoe accidentally seen 
a neighbour's wife while she was bathing. '!'hey say he Willi about to 
root out his eye-bnlls, bnt learne>l men sng!(e•ted that he might do thiB 
penance. He now went to Ihhrl fort and thence to Persia. He had 11 
eon whose name was Lotifulllih CAlled also Bhilf Khan aud he has been 
already ment10ueJ, ('l'uhfatulkir~m). 

l Properly speaking tl1e officer app~iuted in charge of tl1e Subah IV.!& 
CAlled " l:ltihibi t:llibab" or " Subahdar" from whicl. i~ derived the preseut 
title of Su~ed&- or the name t!obd&-. These officm were graded 11' 
Panj·bazari (commanding 5,000 men) and downwll!'de. 
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illshuoteu to try Ids best to impro,·e tl1e country and look 
to the comfort of the peop]P, who had S1dftud m11eh 
during the reign of 1.'arkhlins. But unfortunately he 
act~d quite contrary to the l10p1 s ent<'rt:.incd by the 
:Emperor, a'ld there were so many complaints against him 
that· he was suspended ar:.d called awa)', Rajah Sankdillin 
holding the charge in his ~b>ence. After 2 years, how­
ever, he was appointed to the Subah of Alabahad and then 
of Patna and Bah:lr. About the clCJse of Shah J ~him's 
reign he rt-tired and lived at A'grah up to his death, his 
son Mirz{l Murad being taken in service for him. 

2. Mirza Mustafa Khan, succeeded Mirza Rustam. 

3. ~Iir Bayazicl Bukluiri came n<'xt to Tntta in 1028 
A. H. (1618 A. D.) in the 15th year of Jah:inglr's reign. 
He had th1~ grade of Du-Hazari (commundcr of 2,000 
men). He had heeu the Faojdar of l:lukhar and from 
that post he was promoted to this. 

4. Nawab Shariful-)fulk, known as Sharif Khan. He 
was one-Pyed. It was in his time in 1035 A. li. 
(1625 A. D.) ill the 21st year of Jahangir's reign that 
pdnce tibah Jabau quillTellecl with his father and came to 
Tatta, with a feiV persons, in order to go to Irak A jam. 
Shm·iful-Mulk tried to ha.ass him and to drive him away. 
Several skirmishes to;Jk place between them, in which 
many lives were lost. It is said that the princ~'s wife 
hein~ pregnant desired to cat some p;JmcgmnatPs. Prince 
Shah Juh1in svnt a me$sage to ::.iharh;l.j( ulk r~qm·.sting 
him to get. him th.• fruit. 'llie latter ~e:1t for a European 
guuJwr and made him fire in the direction o[ th~ prince. 
0" ing to the sudden report. of tlul gun, the princess 
miscarried the child >he horf', and Slmirul-:llulk wns so 
nngry with himself for p:>inting out t h•! wrong uirecti··n to 
the gunner that he plucke•l. out one of his eye-halls, an:! 
from that day he became one-1•yetl. For this act of onmity, 
when Shah Jahan ascended the throno he put him t<1 
death together with S()Ult.l of his hicuds. 

5. Mirza I' sa TMkMn, a cousin of Mf1·z•\ GMzi Be;; 
nnd a grandson of Nfirr.!i r~1, th~ elrltJr, who in the 
beginning of :Mirza Gl.ul.zi's rl'igu joined Ahul Ka~im 
Sultim in raising tho stan(ltu·d of revolt. lie had left Sm<l 
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out of fear and come to the Emperor's camp. He brcnme 
the go>ernor of 'l'atta with the rank of Char·Hazari 
(commander of 4,000 lllen), in 1037 A. H. (1627 A. D,) 
:md in the last year of J nlubgir's reign. IIe was soon 
Eent to defend the fort of Knrn~l, where he remained 
up to his death. He was buried on the Makli hill and 
his "Rank" (~Iausolcum) is well known, for whiol:i he 
himself is said to have ~ent stoues during his life.time and 
which he built when h~ was 18 years old. Its cost was 
borne by the revenue of thtJ village of N 6rai, which was 
set apart for tlw repair,; of the tombs of his eltlers. Some 
SlY the :\lirz:l. died, while tlte building was being built 
and was yet m~.:ornplete. 

6. Nawah Amir Khan. IIis 1wne was Mfr Abut 
Baka ani he was the son o! Nawah Kii.sim Khan of 
Hirit. When Sh;tiJ J ah:'tn wccee•lcJ. his father J aluingir 
to the th rout>, he ordet·erl ::1 harif Klrin and his friends tl1e 
J:im of Kakr.ilah and othct·$ to be killel. The orders 
were carried out by Nawab Amir Kha 1. Tlte tllwn of 
Amlrpur was built by this N :11vah. which became the 
chief place of Batlt6rah an1l llalmimpur and l'alejah. 
He was a very learuel an(l willy person. He built a 
mosque on the site of a H indlt temple in the street of 
Bluu Khan. His bod1· was buried iu a mnlc on the Makli 
hill. lie is said to h;ve lisped Ol' st:tmmered in pronounc· 
ing certain letters of tl1e alphabet. But he was so clever 
that while speaking flu!'ntl,v he avoided words containing 
tho~n l<'t.t.m nnd ~nh~1itutr>1l other words of the same 
meaning, in thdr plac~. 

7. Na~nih ~fuza!Tar Khi~n. whose nnme was :\Jir 
Abdurrazzak. lie builL a bic; mosque at 1'att:i. 

8. Sayyed li>rithim, son of J\lir llayazid Bukhnri 
(No. 3). 

9. Naw.ih i\Iughul Khit.n carne a~ the govl'rnor of 
Tathi .in 10ti7 A. II. (1G47 A. D.) in the 21st year of 
Shah Jahan's rdgn. In his time, in the ~·ear 10::;11 A. H. 
(161;9 A. D.) in the 2:3rd year of Shah JaMn's rei<>n, 
Tatui together with Ilakhar and Sehwan were given as 

0
nn 

endowment to prince Aorangr.1•b, who, hefore this1 held 
the province of Jlfult{m as a Jagir. Henceforth the 
governors of 'l'atta were sont by him as his agents. 
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10. Nawab Zafar Khan; He came to ·Tatta in 1063 
A.H. (Hi52. A.D.) in tbe 37th year of the Emperor's 
reign. He remained hPre for 6 years. lie planted the 
celebrated "Musk garden." In 10()5 A.H. (1651 A.D.) 
Sipabr Shik6b son of Dar·a 8hik6h, eldest son of the 
Emperor was entrusted with the government of Tatta 
with the rank of "Haft Haz~hi" (commander of 7,000 
men), and the go1·ernor of the plaC•l was tp.'lde his ngent or 
liPutenant. About this time Aoran~zeb Alamgit· ascended 
the throne of Dehli in 1069 A. H. (1 G58 A.D.). 

11. Kabad Kln\n came in 1069 A.H. (1658 A.D.) 
In his time famine and plague broke out in the country. 

· Soon after, prince LJara Sldk6h a1·rived in the country, 
which fact still i1wreased the trouble.> of the people. 1'hat 
prince, believing that the cit.adel was not wo1'th residing 
at and not finding it to his taste, ordered it to be burnt to 
ashes. 

12. Nawab Lnslikar Khan. lie carne to Tatta in 
1075 A. H. (106.t A.D.) and in the lOth year of Aornugzeb's 
reign. He rllmained fc.r 3 year> and was succeeded by 

13. Nawab S!i.vved Izz~tt Khan, cnntmonlv krrnwn as 
Izzat Pir, who i1~d b1'en the .b'aoj:lar of Bnkhar. Ho 
came in 1078 A.H. (1667 A.D.). After 2 years be was 
recalled. 

14. Nawab AbU Nasrat Khan, who was maternal uncle 
to Emperor A'larngir Aorangzeb. He was a pi•)US noblo· 
man and was a poet. He came in 1082 A. H. (16il A.D.) 
in the 12th sear of Aorangzeb' s reign. He remained for 
2 years. 

15. Nawab Suadat Khan. He also remained for 
2 years. 

16. Nawab Sayyed Izzat Khan. He came a second 
time in 1084 A.H. (1673 A.D.) being the 13th governor 
at first. He remained for 6 years. 

17. Nawab Khanazid Khan. He came in 1090 A.H. 
(1679 A. D.) in the 22nd year of the Emperot•'s r.eign. 
He governed at Tatta for about 5 years. He wrote very 
good poetry. 

B 30~-17 
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18. Naw:tb Sardnr Kh,\n.' He camo in 1095 A.li. 
(1683 A.D.) and remained for 3 years. ln his time, too, 
famine and plague broke out. '!'owns that were depopula­
ted in those days, were nevet• populated again. 

19. Namib Murid Khan. fie W<L$ the son of a r<ijah 
and bad rec~ntly heoome a convert to Islam ism. Htl came 
in 1099 A.H. (1687 A.D.). He broug-ht, with him a fen• 
thousands of Rijputs, who so much annnyed the Musal­
man population of the place that be wns removed from 
the po>t, after 2 years. After retirt•mont too he spent 
time in 'faghlakabad with the climate of which place he 
had been much charmed. 

· 20. Nawab Zabardast Kh:in. lie catr.re in 1101 A.li. 
(1689 A.D.) and died iu the same yea!'. 

21. Nawab AM Nasrat Khan. lie came a second 
time, h:~ving first come as Uth governot•, He remained 
for 2 ye:~rs and some months. 

22. Nawab HifzuWih Kh:in, son of Saadulhih Klu.ln 
the wazir of the late Emperor Sh:ih Jah:in. He came 
inll03 A.H. (1691 A.D.) in the a:Hh year of Emperor 
Aorangzeb's reign. He ht'ld 'l'att..-1. aud S.·hll'{m both He 
was a very charitable persnn. As about thi• time princ•e 
l\1 uizzuddin was com ncr te~ Sind to at'J•est Miyan Din 
:Muhammad Siriti, the Na11·ab perso.tally superintended 
the work of putting a bridge over t:tc rirer at Senwan. 
He got a sun·slroke anrl died of its effrcts at Selman in 
1112 A.H. (1700 A D).* He c·mstrueted a new fort ac 
'fatt:i, which was left incomplete, as he was not allowed 
further expenditure on that account. 

23 Said Khan, known more commonly as Khiinazful 
Khan. He came a~ the governor of Tatta and Sehwan. 
in 1113 A. H. (1701 A. D.) in the 45th year of the Em· 
peror's reign. He himself resided at Tatta and sent his 
son .A.rshad Khan to live at Sehwan. 

"llfir Ghulum Ali Bclgrami has found this year by totalling the value 
of the letters of the following verse o£ the Korun, 

"To them will be given the gardens of paradise for the good deeds 
done by them." 
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21. Nawah Mit· Amlnuddin Khan Husain, son of Sn,yyetl 
Ahul Mak{n·am son of Mir Ahul Baka Amfr K!Jan (No.6). 
He ca~e to Tathi in 1114 A. H. (1702 A. D.). He was a 
reader of hooks and spent much of his timu in the com­
pany of learnerl men. He wrote two. hi~ books, one 
treating of fourteen nrts and sciences and another of 
general knowledge of the world. 

25. N awab Y usuf Khan '!'ad. He came in the next 
year and \ViS recalled after one year. 

26. Nawab Ahmad Yar Khan, He belonged to the 
tribe of Bar las, his forefathers having come fro:n Khushab, 
in the province of 11!11}~. His father Aln,hyar Khan was 
the governor of Liih6t• nnd Multan and the Faojdar of 
Ghazni for 40 ye~rs. He remained for 3 years. During 
his time, that is in 111~ A. H. (1706 A. D.) on 26tll of 
Zikaad, A'lamgir Aorangzeb passed away and was 
succeeded by his eldest son Bahiulur Shah. '!'his N a wab 
built the bridge on the A lijan which was close to the 
eastern gate of the city fol't. 

27. Nawab Atr Khrln. His name was Said Khan 
Babadur and was the ao!l or Said Kluin the elder (No. 23). 
He came in 1119 A. H. (1707 A. D.) under the orders of 
the new Emperor. He was recalled after a year and some 
months. 

28. Nawab Mihln Khan. He came in 1121 A. H. 
(1709 A. D). 

29. N~twab Shakir Khan. He came in 1123 A. H. 
(1711 A. D.) and in the s:tme year he w:ts recalled and 
was succeeded by 

30. Nawab Mihin Khan who came a second time to 
Tatta. In his time in the year 1124. A.·n. ( 1712 A. D.) 
the Emperor Ba.btidur Sluih died and was succeeded by 
his son 1\fuizzuddfn Jahandar Shah. 

31. NaW!\b Klnn\iah Muhamm~ul Khalil Kiuin camo 
to Tatta in 1124 A. H. (t712 A.D.). 
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In the course of nine montl1s prince Far1ukh Siyar 
dethroned J aMncltlr Shah with the assistance of the 
Sayyeds of Birah and himself took the throne. 

32. Nawnb Atr Kluin son of Sairl KM.n (No. 27). He 
was a young and inexpedencl'd person. He left his whole 
work to one Aluhammad Ynakub Knshmiri. t:;oon, con· 
fusion broke out in the affairs ol' administration. He had 
to fight with ~lir Lutfali Kh{m and was killed in the 
battle that ensued. JJir Lutfall Khan having some 
influence at the court, was made his successor. 

33. :Mir Lutfali Khan, His name wns Mir Muhnm· 
marl Shaf'ia. He was grandson to :Mfr Muhammad Ylisuf 
Mahdi Razawi a saintly person of Bakhar. His govern· 
ment last.d from the beginning of 1125 A.H. to 1127 A. H. 
( l7l3 -1715 A.D.). l:l e earned the title of Shan tali Khan. 
He was a po1rerful ruler nnd a learned man. He died in 
114-4 A.ll.ili31 A. U.). Himmat was his nom-de-plume in 
tlte poetry written by him. 'rhe poet Muhammrvl Hasan 
live I in his time. He had two sons ~lir Ghazanfarali 
and ~Iir Zulfikarall whose descendents are still living at 
Tatta. 

34. Nawab Aazam Khan, son of Salih Khan. He 
came to '!'atta in 1128 A H. (1715 A.D.) in the 5th year 
of EmpPror Parrukh Si,rar's rei~n. Before his coming his 
ag-ent Khwajah Muhammad Khalil was doing work for 
l1im. He governecl the countt·y for about 4 years. It 
was in his time, that Shah Inayat Sufi the great saint of 
the time died at Jhok or lliranpur on tbe hank of the 
Gbaziah or Gajiah, in the parganah of Bath6rah. 1t is 
said that the ~aryeds of Bulri were on irdmical terms 
with this pious man anrl his disciples, .as the disciples of 
the Sayyeds and the Fakirs of Bulri hearing the good 
name of Shah Inayat left Bulri and went over to Jh6k. 
At the instigation of these Sayyeds as well as of some 
zamindars like N ur :Uubammad Palejah and Hamal J at, 
:Kawiib Aazrtm Khan wrote a report to the Emperor, who 
ordered Khuditvar Khan Abbasi better known as Nur 
:Muhammad Kalh6rah to collect an army and extirpate 
that lendet· of the Sufi Fakirs. Accordingly Khudayar 
Khan came with a large force and besieged the town 
of Jh6k. This siege went on for four months. The 
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Fakirs occasionally made n sortie and fought with the 
besiegers. Finding t.l1at it was difficult to blke the place 
Khudayar Kh£m made peace with Shah Inavnt. On this 
excuse an oppot·tunity was soon availed of imrl the pious 
man was behe1drd on the 9t,h of Saffat· l 130 A.H. 
(1717 A.D.). Anothet•Jdous man Makhdum Rnhmatullah 
was also ill-trentrd in the same way, as he was made a 
prisoner and put in chains. And in the next 'ear Farrukh 
Siyar was succEeded by Muhammad Shah. • • 

35. Nawab 1\fahabat Khan son of Muhammad Mun-im 
Khan, titled Khan Khanan the prime minister of Shah 
Alum Bahadur Shah. He ('ame to 'fatta in 1132 A.H. 
(1719 A.D.) iu the second year of Muhammadsluih's 
reign. He was a very good man, respected, pious and 
h·arned. He was a good poet taking Kazim as his nom· 
de-plume. He died at ~'atta in 1135 A.H. (1722 A.D.) 
and his body was carried to Hindustan via Lah6r. He 
was succeeled by his son, a minor. 

36. Sultan :Uahmud Khan. His mother, the widow of 
the dP.ceased IS awab sent Razi Muhammad Khau to act as 
his guardian and manager. ~'his gentleman came in 
1136 A. H. (17~3 A . .U.) and remained for one year. In 
the next year the post was given to 

37. N.wab Saifullah Khan, who before his joining the 
post deputed Abdussamia Khan, brother to Shah Abdul 
Ghafur of Jlalnh Kandl, of the tribe of Sanwriah, to 
administer tile state affairs for him. The Nawab himself 
arriv~d at 'l'atb1 in the month of Zihaj 1137 A.H. 
(172·~ A.D.). He hrou15ht several learned n!en with him. 
In his time "'rent improvement was made m every way. 
Commerce also improved much. lie was a Shiah and 
encouraged that sect .. lie. eff~ctually prohibited the u~e 
of liquor and other mtoxJCntmg rlrugs. In short he IS 
spoken of as a very good man and au excellent governor. 
He died in 11'43 A.H. (1730 A.D.). He was buried on 
the Makli hill. His son Sadik Ali Kh:in remained in . 
charge of the government for a short time till he was 
relieved by 

• He woa rturdered by the em:no Snyyeds who had mi&ed him to the 
throne. This was in 1130 A.H. (1717 A.D.). He wna sncceeded by two 
other princes who diod within n few months one nfter another. Then 
Muhammatl Sht\h son of Shllh Jnhtln crune to thethrone. 

·' 
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38. N a wah Dilerdil Kluin. He came to Tntta in 
1146 ,\.H. ( 1733 A.D.) and remained there for two years. 
lie was a very good man. About this time, the Subal1 
of Tatta was given to Amir Khan as a reward, and was 
thenceforth held on a sort of conr.ract or lease. 

39. Nawab B.i:nmat Dilerdil Khan. He .hastened to 
take the contract of tl1e revenue of 'L'atta from Amir Khan, 
ft·aring lest some other person should find mistakes in the 
accounts of his fatuer. He came to 'l'atta in 1145 A. H. 
(1732 A.D.) Although the contract system could not come 
up to the Jagir system, this Nawab was fortunate enougb 
to continue in charge of the place for 4 years. 

40. Nawab Sadik Ali Khan son of Nawab Saifullah 
Khan (No. 32). He carne in 1H9 A.H. (1736 A.D.) in 
the 19th year of the Emperor's reign. Of course he had 
taken the contract from Amir Kluin. In the first y~ar he 
somehow managed to make up the amount for which he 
Lad contracted. But in the next year he failed and had 
to show a great deficiency and so he was unwilling to 
retain the charge. 

41. Namib Khndayar Khan, commonly known by the 
name of Mian Nur !fuhamrnad KalL6rah Abbasi. He 
was a nobleman enjoying the greate~t confidence and 
regard of the Emperor. He got the government of 
Bakhar, St>hwan and Tatta. He immertiately sent an 
agent of his, Shekh Ghulam Mnhammarl son of Shekh 
Azizulhb, who· relieved Nawab Sadik Ali Khan of the 
charge. 

Thus the government of Sind came to the hands of the 
Kalh6ras, in which it is said to have remained as long as it 
had remained in the hands of the ArghUn dynasty aud 
longer than it had remained in the bands of the Samrnahs 
and the Tarkhins. We give an account of that dynasty 
together with tha.t of the Talpurs who succeeded them in 
the second part of this volume. ' 





PART II. 

CHAPTER I.* 

0RlGIN AND ANCESTRY OF THE KALH01RAHS 
OR ADBA's{s. 

The Kalh6rabs are said to have been descended from 
• . . Abbas, patel'Ual uncle to the Prophet 
r•~•~o ongm 01 the Kalh<l- ]\] uhummad. t One of tlwir ancestors, 

by nnme l\Iicin O'dln1nnh, who li1•ed 
in the country of Keel! Makran wt,s celt bratPd for his 
piety and virtue, and was honoui·ed as It spiritual gouiae 
by a large number of people. .His immedis.te descendants 
were known by the titular name of O'dlHinah. One of 
these, Tbal hy name, twenty-fifth in descent from :Mian 
O'dhanah, im·adetl Kahrah .Belab, which was then in the 
hands of the llujnr tribe,· and took possession of it. On 
his death '!'hal was suc<:eedt·d bv his son Bhil. 'l'he fort of 
Barlas, and the cemett>ry kqowi1 as '' M6ti" still remain, 
and remind us of his tim:::. Bhil's son Ohinah, having 
quarreJle,l wit.h his bi'Others about something, left his 
native place and in company with a hu·ge number of l1i~ 
defendents went t<l Khambh,lth to lil'e among- the tribe of 
Udhejnh. llere he married a daughter of Dl1arabi:H Sam­
mall, a big landholder of the t:\lukah of Dip!ll K!\ngrnh. A 
Fon was born to tl1is couple, who was called 1\luhammad, 
and who is consider~d to be the l·• test ancestor of the 
Kalh6rahs . 

.At the time of the agents of the Ghazni and Gb6rl 
. kings, this Chiuah came to Mult:in 

nfu~m.~~~~~h~:!h• .. ona, with the as~ist?nce of some Hamis, 
and attached lmnself to the rulers of 

the place. He soon rose to be the leailt>r of a number of 
tribes, and securing the band of a girl from each tribe, 
by way of pledge, he c~tahlished h!mself as a cbi~f with 
the title of Jim. By Ins twelve w1ves he had eighteen 
sons, who became the fathers of large families. Ouo of 
them, Ch6liah, a grandson of Raua Uhanuh son of Dethah 

• The first 13 chapters abo~t the Kalh6rhs are translated from the 
Tuhbtulkil'am, 

t Henco thoy m·e ofwn called !bbilsis. 
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had a son whom be called Dil\td, from whom are descendPd 
the D:11J.dp6trihs. Anothrr, by name Li1sli:ir, hec'ame the 
anr.est.or of the tribe of L:'1shiu·i,, who reoided at .Bhaj nem· 
the billy district of Roh Ki1cld1Uh. 

In short .Elm Chinah fixe<! hi~ rr>iilence for some time 
at Chinah Buli, in the talukah c,f B11ir:\l6 of the parganah 
of 16hri. • Subsequent!~· go in~ on•r to Khumbh:ith, ho 
passed away on the bank of the S:1n~rah, wh(!l'l' hu was 
buried. Mir Ckibt Baluch, and A'ri D~clni of the tribe 
of Chana h were his cousins. 

After Chiuah's death, none of his descendants rose to he 

Miin A 'dou• Shah. 
of importance, except A'dam Slnih, 
who was ninth in descent from him, 

being the son of Kajnn, son of Sahnb son of Kh1in, son of 
'l':ihar ~on of Rimah sou of :Shah 11 uhamrnad (alias 
Sh{~ham) son of Ibniltfm sort of ~luhammad son of ,T:iru 
Chintlh,t and who ro~e to occupy the J,o]y stat. vacated hy 
the celebratc>d saint of the tin;e, ~lil'Ull :Muhannnad of 
J unpur. Altet· trav0lling over a ~l'(':tt part of the eiJUtJtry 
he settlrd at the village of Ilatri in the tidukah of 
Chflndukald H ;•rc he 1ras joined by Kabra Bar·hah with 
his dependP-ut<, who came from the villagtl of Dabah and 
became his disciples. 

At that time K aw:ib Khan Kluin:ln ~ having come to 
pay respe<'ts to .\li:m A'darn Shah and to ask his blessing-s, 
at the rPquest. of Kalmi :Barhah, grn.ntNI to him the 
za.mindari of Chaudukah, whieb at lbt belongecl to the 
tribe of Chandiah.ll After some time A'dam t:ihah wrnt 
over to Mult{tn, to pay a visit tv Lid l'san the celebrated 
living saint of the time, and a deocendent of Shekh 

• Now R!,brl. The viJlago of Bhiral6 ncar ROhrf, iu tho Khairpur 
territory, still exists. 

tEach of these men bore the title of !llian, which continued to be 
prefixed to the names of all the Kalh6rnh rulers. Tho title carries with 
1t the meaning of a spritual guid!l' rather thau n chief. 

~ The parganah round about Larknonh is even now called Clulndk6. 

, This is Abdnrrnhl.m Kh6n, Eon of Bairnm Kh&n, who Clllllo to Sind 
in 998 A. H. (1589 .A.. D.) in tho reign of Akbar (see Part I of this 
volume). 

II This then is the origin of the name of the pargmh ChtlndUknh. 
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Baluiudtlin Multanl.f A large number of disciples joined 
him here and he was obliged to occupy a spacious tract 
or country. This excited the jealousy of the landowners 
of the place, at whose instigation the ruler of Multa11 had 
him killed and thus he became a martyr. 

In aec:Jrdanoe with his dying request A'gha Shah 
A' h4Shdh Y.uhammad. ~~uham!llad, the K?twal of the t?wn 

g of Multan, who durmg the late p1ous 
man's imprisonment had received spiritual guidance from 
Lim, brought his dead body to Sakhar and buried it there 
on the top of a hill. t '£hen returning to Multan be made 
his late master's two minor sons Ibrahim and DaUd and 
his dependents, who had dispPrsed after the tragedy, settle 
in one pbce and himself took up the seat of his late 
spirituul guide. 'rhis Shah Muhammad, the K6twal, ori­
ginally belonged to the Bal6ch tribe of Kheri who resided 
in Ohatrbar, near the mountainous pass of 8iwi. 

When 'he died, he was succeeded by M i!m !lias son of 
Dittld son of A'dam Shah, who tried 

Mi~• !litis ••n of Daud his best to collect disciples and 
•ou of A' .Um ~bah, 

followers. When he passed away, he 
was buried nt the village of Dherf which is situated bet· 
ween the village of l:latri and Ladkanald 

-
CHAPTER II. 

Mu.'N SaA'HAL MuHAMMAD AND MI'AN NAsf& 
MUU.A.M:W.D. 

On his death, Mian Ilias was succeeded by his brother 
, Shah Ali better known as SM.hal 

lrlulu Slulhal Muhammad. Muhammad. In this pious man's 
time the number of his disciples increased largely and 
they occupied themselves in cul~ivating land. The canal 
of Ladkanah was du"' by them. He secured land on both 
the banks of thG can~! from the tribes of Sangi and Abrah 
and divided it amon"' his children and brothers, and 

0 

• A, short description of this pious man ia given in Part I. 
t A.'dam Shah's hill is still well known at Sukhur. We use the correct 

spelling of :lakhar in thojtext like Bakhar . 
. ~Usually written M L6.rktlna. 

II 305-18 
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himself selected his residence in the Yillng-e of llabibanf. 
This rise of Mian Shahal Muhammad exched jealousy in 
the hearts of some of the Abrah chief~ like Jam Siddik 
and J ahil. Khim, who forgetting the duties of disciples, 
conspirtd with the landowners of the place, and after 
several skirmishes with their master caused him to he 
killed under the orders of the governor of Bakhar. He 
was buried at the village of Murandhah in the out~skirts 
of Chandukall in the parganah of Kh:iri. 

On his death, Mian Shiihal Muhammad was succeed~d 
by his son Mhl.n I\ aslr Muhammad, 

YW>NaslrMuhAmmad. in the year 1108 A.H. (1696 A.D.) 
This Mian acquired more celebrity for piety and virtue 
than any of his predecessors, and therefore was envied by 
most of the people of his tim:. Accordingly the nativt>s 
of the place came and incited the Mughuls of Bakhar to 
harass and trouble him. Mian Nasir i\Iuhammad was 
therefore obliged to leave the place an<l go to a sandy 
desert. After some days of hardship and want, he 
returned and fixed his residence in the land of the Pan­
whars. Mir Panwbar, the clnef "f the l'anwhars, taking 
an army from the governor of .Bakhar, commanded umon~ 
other leaders by Mirza Khan Pini, the go1•ernor of Siwi, 
came and faught with Mian Nasir Muhammad, but soon 
a truce was made and Mian Nasir Muhammad wa~ sent to 
the Empet·or A'lamgir,• who kept him in confinement for 
some time. During this period, fighting went on with 
the Mi.an's followers, unt.il Mmn Nasir Muhammad 
managed to escape and returned to his nati vo place. lie 
once more setth:d his affairs satisfactorily and began to 
lead a comfortable and secure life among Ids followers. 
He laid the foundation of a new town on the land of the 
Panwbars, bounded on one side by the hills of Rob and 
on another by a stream of cool water. He called the 
town by the name of Khari and himself took up his 
residence in it. l'he village of Hatri he gave to :b'aojnh 
Fakir, one of his followers, and the land of Kaehhah 
to another of his Fakirs by name ln:iyet Shah. Iiis 
followers, who so Ion g had deserted their villages and 
strongholds, returned and settled permanently and occu­
pied themselves in extending their landed property' and 

• L e. !omngzeb whoasconded the throne of Dehli in 1069 A H 
(1684. A.D.) ' ' 
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territorial possessions. On one occasion they had to fl<>ht 
in an open field with :Mir Yakub Khan, the governor

0 
of 

Bnkhnr • and were vil'torious Similarly t.h~y fought 
several time3 wirh the governors of different neighhoul'in<> 
places and on all these oecasi1)ns their arms were attended. 
with success. 'fhe parganah of Likbat was taken from 
the MughuJs of Siwistau ton a farming contract. Makan 
M6rah was secured through the exertions of l!'arid Bhagat, 
and the pargana h of Snhti was brought into possession 
through :F-er6z Wirar, who builL a town thPre calling it 
Naoshahrnh.t .HtPr this, the Sir:iis ,- were firmly 
establislwd in different parts of the country. After a 
successful reign of 3j or 36 years N!Hn Nasir Mnhammncl 
died and. was buried on a red sand-hill in the village of 
Khari II 

It is said that in olden days, two bruthers, botlL 
models of virture nnd piety, ltved at this place and 
maintained themselves by culrivating latH!. One of t.hem 
was single and another was married. When thPy raised 
their crops the single bt·other, considering that his brothet• 
h:1d a family and that. his expens1~s were greater, removed 
-a large quantity of corn from his own hrttp and put it, 
unseen, into his brother's lwap. At the same time, the 
brother having a family believing that his brother was 
a good man aud did not much care for worldly profits, 
added a portion of his own granary to his bt•other's. Bot11 
the brot.hers continued doing so for some timr, without 
knowing each other's actions and rnoti ves. Owing to the 
piety of their minds and the honesty and goodness of their 
Jtrinciples, though they continued consuming the produce 
of their land for their usual wants, it never could be 
exhausted. After all they passed away leaving a large 
heap of corn, which changed into a red sand-hill, that can 
still be seen about the place.*' 

• A descendant of tb\a high official, bearing the same name is living 
now at Rohri. The family is called K6tai Sayyeds. 

t Sehwan. 
i This is the present Nauahahro Feroz. 
,-By Sirtlis is meant the Knlhorahs and by that name they will be 

often called, because they onme from Simh or the Upper Sind Frontier. 
II The tomb is still visited by people, The place is in the Kabr 

Tilluka. 
•• On that account it is nllllled Gnrhl (red). 
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CHAPTER III. 

Mu.'N Dr'N MmiAMllAD AND Mr'A.N YA.'R MUHAMMAD. 

On the death of Mian N a~ir Muhammad, he was 
~ucceeded bv his son Mian Din Mu. 

Miin Dfn ~!ub•mmnd eon ham mad. As he be(J'an to <>row in 
of Na:sir Muhammad. • o "' 

Importance and power, the landholders 
and governors of the neighbourhood rose l!gainst him. 
Mir PanwMr, whose chief town l•'atehpur had been taken 
possession of by the Sirai~, went with a complaint to the 
Emperor of Dchli* and brought an order for Mirza Khan 
Pinit directing him to fight with the Sirais. 'lhis chief 
tried his best repeatedly to subdue the enemy but was each 
time repulsed. The Emperor therefore sent An.ir Shekh 
Jahan to set matters right. Guided by Mir Panwhar, 
Shekh Jahan attacked the Fakirs or the followers of the 
Mian. Fer6z Wirar proceeded from Derah Kul( to meet 
him, and made a suddeu nocturnal attack on the Arnir's 
army at the village of Kharelah,t to the general confu~ion 
of the latter. He wns soon after joined by the army 
desp~tched from Khan and the two armies of Fakirs 
totally defeated the Amir's forces. Alahyar Khan, the 
governor of Bakhar fled, but being succoured by Kambar 
Khan Br6hl returned and fell upon the BirtHs all of a 
sudden, causing them gr~at loss. However, when the 
Sicils moved again under Miran Shah to meet him, he 
made peace with them and went away. 

After a short time the Panwh:irs again began to make 
Fighting of the K.!hUr&he 8 head against the ~'akirs, and the 

with the Panwluira and the Sirais of Marak pur, marched a<rainst 
Afghaoo. them and completely d~feated them, 
bringing a large tract of country into their possession. 
T~e Panwhars, being now subjugated, submitted to the 
Sir:iis and began to lead a quiet life in subordination 
to them. 

• This W88 Bahtidur Slulh Shahi AID.m who. succeeded his father 
Aoraogzeb in lll3 A.H. (1706 A.D.). 

t The governor of Siw~ who had fought with Mi.ln Nasir Muhammad. 

tIs it the present Gerelah in the Labdary.l Tlllulm.? 

~ In some places written as Mnrkhpur. 
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There still remained some disn"'rPement with the 
AFghans of Piul, the governor of Siwf and Shikarpur. 
For a short period there was fighting between them and the 
Sii-Ris, till the Emperor's son, prince Muhammad Muizzud. 
dfo, • hearing of the deat.h of Shekh Jaban and of the 
defeat of .Aiahyar Khan came down to Sind from Lah6r. 
Learning of the JJrincP's appronch, 1\tian Din Muhammad 
SPnt his youngest hr•.ther :Mir Muhammad with Kisim and 
Khamal to Bakhar, in order to welcome him and win him 
over on his side. 1'hey succeeded in doing so a· d the prince 
much pleased with the Mian, returned towards La.h6r . 

.A bout that time Maksudah, the elder brother of 
F. h~ 1 th ,._1 Bahar Shah, who Wt>s a foolish and 

•g ung 0 0 
""' • • · b l' ' I h · b6rnb.s with the impcri•l vam per. on, e 1evmg t 1a t t e prmce 

'nrmy •.nd the capture of bad "One away without knowing how 
Muln Dm Mub.smm•d. "' , 

brave the nat1 res of the plactl wer~ 
and wishing- to give him a proof of his bravery, took SC)me 
troops with him and attacked and plunde~ed Mathelah 
and slaughtered a number of people at Uch. When the 
prince heard of this rude and arrogant behaviour of the 
Mian's men, he became very a.ngr,v and returned with the 
imperial army and laid waste Kbari and its dependent 
villages. Mian Din Muhammad could do nothing itl 

opposition to him and thought it prudent to remain quiet. 
When however the pdoce passed on to Si wistan, t where he 
halted for abollt 6 months, the :~Han went over and 
submitted to him. A strong imperial detachment, was 
then sent to bring up his dependents, but the ~irais 
would not easily give in. A pitched battle was faught at 
kb6r near the stream of Gaj, where both the sides 
~bowed great bravery. The Emperor wns represente1 by 
Rajah Kajsing Bhatti and Surljmal of Udhopur1 and the 
Sirois were commanded by the Milm's brot.her Yiir 
Mnbammad, assistP.d by Tajab, Jadah and Bakhtar Fakirs 
of the Otbwal tribe. Blood flowed in streams, Every 
one of these heroes was killed, t'lgether with a large 
number of people. The Mughul force was ultimately 
defeated, and the prince had no alternative but to return 
with Mian Din Muhammad as his captive. The latter 
spent the remainder of his life at Multan. 

• Ho WIIS the eon of Babiidur Shah. He llSoonded the throne later on 
in 1124 A.H. (1712 A.D.) superseding his three brolhere. .After a reign 
of 9 months he was killed by bia nephew. 

t Sehwm 
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Meanwhile Din :1\Iuh:tmmad's brother llian Tar llfu· 
hammad went to Kalat where at first 

~lion r&rMuhamroadgoos tlte Br6his of the place fou<>bt sevet·e 
to Kal't. 0 

a battles with him, but after all pence 
was made between them and th11y allowed Miiut Yar 
:Multammad to live among them on his givir·g his two 
sons Mir Muhammad and Muhammad Kh1in as hostages 
for keeping the peace. 1 his event occurred in the year 
1111 A.R. (1699 A.D.). 

During the next two ye'\rs, Yar Muhammad led an 
unsettled lile in Kalat and the Sirais were mostly quiet 
·and secluded. After that period, however, that is, in 
1113 A.H. (1701 A.D.) when Rajah Fakir and other 
Sirai chiefs join~d him, Yar Muhammad took a solemn 
promise from them to abide by his commands, aud taking 
Alta.s Khan Brohi with an army to assist him, marched 
to his hereditary country. 

Passing Zaidi and travelling along the lake Manchhar, 
Miin Yar Muhammad in- he came to the villages of San6h and 

.oo .. Sind nod """'V'"""' N enak in the ta.lukah of Hatrf. 
the chief ptacea. '!'hen marching furt.her, he first took 
Samtani from Kaisar PanwMr and encamped at Kahah. 
From there, he sent on his brolher Mir Muhammad witlt 
some Sirai chiefs, who conquered the conn try up to 
Marakpur and Gahi Jamslled, and retook the fot•t of 
Fatehpur. Soon, they were joined by Miim Yar Muham· 
mad himself. A!tas .Br6h1 now seeing that the Sirals were 
sufficiently strong and did not mu~h require his services, 
withdrew to his native place. 

The number of the Sirais now went on increasing, as 
Shikirpur fixed .. the differe~t parties, who had disp~rsed 

central ciLy under the name SOme tJme before, returned and J' OiDed 
of KhuW\bAd. h • d Th k t e1r comra es. ey too posses· 
sion of Kacherah • and came to Shikarpur the chief city 
of the Panwhars. They called it Khudahad and fixed it 
as their camp. From this centre, parties were seat in 
different directions, till, they recovered Khari and Kadhi· 
rah t and dispossessed Malak Alah Baksh brother to 
Bakhtawar Khan of Ladkanah. 

• Perhaps Gachere.h in the Mor6 TMuka, 
t Perhaps Kandiarah. 
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Seeing no other help at, band Bakhtawar Khan hastened 
to prince Muhammad Muizzuddin at Multan and asked 
his help in the matter. But the prince could not be 
induced by his e11treaties to take his side. Unfortunately 
about the ~ame time the prince resolved to ·go to Bakhta. 
war Khan's territory, but the latter, fearing some bad 
result tried to di~suade the prince. This step, however, 
only irritnted the prince who, after some fighting, defeated 
and killed Bakht.awar Khan. 

Meanwhile the envoys of the Sir8ls were working at the 
Siwi given to Minn Ynr prince's court to win him over. Soon 

Mu!•nmmad by l'linco the prince C!Jme and stopped at 
1-!u!ZZud,uu. Bakhar, and entrusted Siwi, vacate!l 
by Bakhtawar Khan, to Ghazi Khan D6dai, .A.s that 
chief was found unable to manage the affairs of that part 
of the country, the prince removed Ghazi Kh£m and gave 
the chargl' to Malak Alah Baksh, brother to the deceased 
Bakhtawar Khan. '!'he charge next fell into the hands of 
lshim Khan and Kaim Khan Nahars successively, but as 
none of them gorerned the hilly country satisfactorily, 
the prin<'e gave it over to the agents of l\lian Yar 
Muhammad and directed that the .~Han should appear 
btliore him to receive the honour personally. 

Accordingly :Mhin Y111' 1\{uhammad proceeded to meet 
the prince and at Darhelah the charge 

Miau Yllr Muhammad f S' , f ]j . t h' 
•I'Poi•~<>cl .. the imperial o !WI was orma y grven o 1111 
ag•nt, with tho title of bv the prince's envoy Khw:ijah Hu· 
"Khudiydr Kluin." •' Kl ' 'th } ' l f " Kh d' sam Jan, WI t 1e tlt e o u a· 
yar Khan." '!'henceforth, Mian Yar Muhammad became 
one of the imperial agents or governors. 

After giving charge of Khanplir to Mir Aminuddin 
Kluln, of Shikarpur to Sanjar Khan, 

MfrShaluladTalpurdis· M b' kKh' dH6tKh' D''d 
tinguishca himself iu fight- u ara an an an au • 
iug at Derah Gb .. l Khnu p6tahs and of Siwistan to Ghulam 
for the J;:mpcror. Muha~mad Sukhani, the prince left 
Bakhar for Multan and thence to the Derahs' to settle 
the affair of Shah Muhammad, son of Ghazi Khan. In 
the fightin"' that ensued with that chief, MiL· Shahdad 
'l'alpu1· Baksch who bad been sent by the prince in 

• L e. Dot·llh Gbllz( Khtln and Dcrah Ln:nuil Khan. 





command, distinguished himself greatly for his bravery and 
~kill, as be settled the whole affair to the entire satisfaction 
of the prince, who raised his position and conferred more 
favours upon him. '!'he land of Put Baran was given as a 
jaglr to the Mfr . 

.A.fter these events Mhl,n Yar Mul1ammad's two eons 
1' tir l<Inhummnd and .M uham::nad 

ThcPiu!sanciDM•dr6tahs Kinin, who liad been so long in Kalat, 
revolt but are pnmshed. Kh d. b" .I s· . fi came to u a uu. IWl was rst 
left in charge of lHr Muhammad, Hr Muhammad's 
brother, and then in that of Muhammad Daud KM.n. ' 
Durinr:: their time, Rahfm.Khan Prank and Daolat Khim 
Pmi raised the standard of revolt, but they were promptly 
punished. 

For a short time, the Daudp6tahs also fought with the 
Sirais for supremacy, but they wl're so much CJ'Ushed that 
they completely gave in and thenceforth permanently 
remained subordinate to them, 

.A.ll the above events took place during the first 9 years 
~!inn7ArMuhumru~~<lgeta of Mian Yar Muhammad's rule, The 

Jbol, ll.Op"b aud other nt•xt 9 yeal'S were spent in peace aud 
P
1
"""· Pnjoymcnt, except for the war with 

Jhok' in which too the Mian was su<·cessful. And for 
these services, part of J h61 and several villages in 
Shamawati anti Chachikan were ceded to him as a jagir. 
After Na11ab SJ.akir Khan's departure the Mian also got 
tLe parganah of R6pah on a farming cont1·act. t 

In short, after a successful rule of 18 year~, Mian Yar 
Jrfuhammad died on }londay or 'Juesday the 15th of 
Zikaad 1131 A.II. (1718 A.D.). 

• A description of tho battle of JhOk is given in the last chapter of 
Part I (see No. 34). · 

t Nawab Shakir Kban came to Sind as Emperor's agent in 1128 A.H. 
(1711 A.D.). See No. 3G in the last chapter of Part I. 
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CHAPTER IV. 

THI! RULE or Mu'N Nu':& Mm:r.unu.n IN SINn. 

}Jilin Nur Muhammad succeeded his father with the 
' · title of "Khudayar Khau." For the 

l!f£n Nur l!uhamm•d or first three }'ears his young~r brother 
Nawab Kbud4yl.r Khlin. " 

lJaud Khan would not submit to him 
and tried to oppose him, but ultimately yielded and paid 
allegiance to him. 

In the 4th year of his rule, i.e. 1135 (1722 A.D.) tho 
. · . . . Da:udp6tahs revolted and took certain 

p.s!l,~hta mth tho Daud· nggressive measures. They fought 
with Mulhi Jiand Abrah, who was 

the Milin's agent in char!?e of c1:1rtain villages in the 
parganah of Jat6i of the talukah of Bakhar. ThPy 
further trespassed on the parganahs of Shikarpur, Khlinpur 
and othPr villages, that formed the jagir of Mfr Abdul· 
wash~ Khan and would not give ar.y explanation to the 
said Klu\n. Mian Nur Muhammad therefore, sent 
Thariah, one of his confidentinl men, to the Emperor • 

· requesting that under the circumstances the jagir might 
be conferred on him in his own nnmo, and at the same 
time marched against the Daudp6tahs. After some hard 
fought battles he besi<•ged them in the fort of Shilcirpu~· 
and compelled them to submit.. At last that division of 
the country was divided into fo11l' parts or shares, two 
shares being given to the original owner of the j:igir, one 
to the Daudp6tahs and one being retained by the Mian 
himself, who after taking sgme hostages, returned to his 
capital. 

The Daudp6tahs did not long r~main quiet. Again and 
· again they gave trouble, but were as often defeated and 

dispersed, till in 1139 A.H. (1726 A.D.) M:hln Nilr 
Muhammad Khudayar Khan fixed his residenc~ at Shi· 

• Mwzzuddin was succeeded by his nephew Farrukh Siy&r, who was 
.killed imd succeeded by his cousin Rafiuddnraj4t in 1131 A.H. (1718 
A.D.). On the death of this prince within a few, .months, .he. w~a 
'IUCceeded bp his brother 'Rnfinddilolal1 Shah Jahl\D<w'ho.als.~ di.ed'Y(lthm 
a few months and wns succeeded bv his son lljWammad. Shtb, who 'Ill 
the Emperor at thia time, vi:., in fli5 A.H;. r . : · ~,. 

1 
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karpur and sent l1is army to Pxtirpnte tbPm finally. The 
army pressed them hard in the fort of Dalu! ,but through 
the intercession of some Sayyeds t~ey were pardoned and 
swore solemnly never to revolt agam. 

The result of all this was that the land of N abars, that 
l1ad lately fallen into the hands of 

Th• ~'6.dfld•llh• compte- the DaudJt6tahs, came back into the 
.tely oubJugatod, , . d h 1"'1! -<d owner s possessiOn, an t e .v.1u. • 

p6tabs were scattered in confusion over certain parganahs 
of Multan, e. g. Pabli, the territory of Imamuddin J6yah 
and Farfd Khan Lakhwirah, Nain, Bahawalpur, the terri· 
tory of Banas Sammab, Patan of Baba Farid and the 
country near the settlements of the Afghans. Within 
two years, how~ver, they were r~duced to straitened 
circumstances and were obliged to seek service under the 
Miim who gave them suitable pensions and places in the 
talukah of Bak!tar, which had only recently come into 
the bands of the Sirafs, 

Similarly Shekh Hamid and Shekh Usman R6nkahs, 
noteworthy zamfndars of the suburbs of M ultan, emigra. 
ted to Bakhar and entered the smice of the Mian. 

In the year 1142 A.H. (1729 A.D.) Murad Kaleri, 
c.mm chit!• of tho known as Ganjab, was appointed as 

~untry. n~r Siwf brought an agent in charge of Siwi, and 
mto oub)ection. b I t • "1-. t' f l . . . roug 1 mto Su,uJeC ton power u 
chiefs hke Ka1sar Khan Mags!, the zamfndar of Ganja­
bah,• Mini K6dri Rind, the chief of Sh6ran, de~cendants 
of Guhram La~harf, the chief of Siwi, .Mir6 Buldi, the 
chief of Kacbhi, Mahyan Erf and Labna Machbi, big land 
owners of Bhag K arf, K<ila. Khan and other chiefs of the 
tribe of Baz6f, the owners of Dhaclar and other Bal6ch 
zamindars of K6histan, and Babar Khan Amrani the 
chief of Kangani, 

:Mian NU.r Muhammad now commenced hostilities with 
Boatiliti .. with Mtr Ab· thad Kbtihn of Kalad' t

1
, who 

1
w
1 

ads ah~r6blif 
4ulll.h tho KlW> of KaJII.t an w o prou y ca e ' unse 

· "the royal Eagle of K6histan.'' In 
1148 A.H. (1730 A.D.) he marched and took the fort of 

• Ganj,bah ia now crJ!ed Gandiwah. 
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Kartah from Mubarak Khan, aftPr a severe blockade and 
fight, in which Ismflfl Khan Br6hi was d~feated and 
Kakar Jlr6bi was killed. After these events :Mir Abdul­
lah Kban, the Khim of Kalat thought it expedient to 
conclude peace with the Mian, which was ratified by his 
giving two daughters in marriage to the two soM of 
Mi!in. 

Unfortunately, in 1144 A.H. (1731 A.D.) a force of 
Br6hfs, in open contravPntion of the terms of the peace,> 
invaded the land of Kachbah and plundered that part of'' 
the country. To punish them for this, Mian Nlir'Mu. ~ 
!lam mad ·himself marched out and encamped at Ladkanah. : 
From there he despatched some bravechiefs to fight with 
Mlr Abdullah Kh6.n. At Jandehar, whel'e Mlr Abdullah' 
Khan bad arrived in ad~ance, a pitched battle was fought 
which ended in the complete overthrow of the Br6his and 
the death of their 1·uler. 

In 1145 A.H. (1732 A.D.) tl1e Mian's son Muhammad 
Marriage eonnnetions bet· M uradyab Khan went to Khiar and ' 

w••• tb• Kalb6rah and Wankilr with a few selected chiefs 
Brohl chief" and celebrated his marriage with a 

daughter. of Muradali Khan, a cousin of Mit• Ab<.lullalt 
Khan; and in the next year his other son Khudachi.d Khan , 
also married a daughter of a kinsman of his. Thus the · 
connection bet.ween the Siniis and the Br6his became 
stronger and closer by these marriages. 

Then arose the rumours of Nadir Shah's coming, and 
diwlsllln and Tat\' •e· Mi8.n N\lr Muhammad began to _send 

eured by Mi&n 1!6r Mnbam· envoys to him to prepare the way 
mad. for their friendship .. In 1149 A.H. 
(1736 A.D.) the division of Bakhar was completely secured 
by the Sir.lls, Siwf.stan or Sehwan having al:readt. b~n 
brought into their possession. Next year 1150. A.H. 
(1737 .A:.D.) Tatta was obtained from the· Emperor of 
Dehlf, and Shekh Ghulam Muhattl.mad was deputed to· 
have charge' of it."' 
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Thnt same year, Naclir Sh:ih ~ ,having conqnc•rPcl K~n­
dlii\r determmecl to pas~ through Smrl 

Tho ~!iin'• aon Hnhom- on his way to Hill(\ and intimated mad YurA<idb ddr-:\ti the , , 
inradiugar~uicaof DMn\j .. h the ~r,me to the rn!Pr of Smd. 
andKakrAlllhatTatti. Acconlina:lr ~···iim :Kttr Muhnmmad 
went to Laclldnah in O!der to 'k.~::ep a fit·m pos~es~ion of 
that divi>ion, anJ >ent. itis son ~,[ubammad Muradynb to 
1'atta where he arril'eJ at the closr~ of Zikaad of 
1151 'A.H. (1738 A.D.). JHn:'l Ajmal, the ruler of 
Dharajah and the Jam _of ~akr:\.lah rose to oppose ~im. 
The:v brou.,.ltt down ~!ups from the sf'a to the r1rer 
and'comme~ced wn.r both by land and by water. 'l'he 
ships came as far as Khat and from there up to Na~arpm·. 
They commenced fighting and plunrlering on both tltA 
sides of the river. But as the !!'Uns were ~oon plnc('d 
alonoo the banks and fired by the Sirtiis, the enemy were 
driv:n back and pursued till lhey were comvelled to 
submit. 

Soon after this, Nadir's approach ~pread con fu~ion 
throughout the count.rv. In · t.he 

Nadir SHh'o in• .. bn and b . ' . f 81 "1 r' 1' 52 A H 
)!ianNur!.luhomm•d"o egmlllng 0 JaW\Vu 0 '· , , 
fligbttoUmarl<6twhereho (1739 A. D) Uubammad i\Im-advab 
;, taken priiioner, Khan left Tatt6. ancl joined his fati1er, 
who fled to Umark6t for shelter, having sent a~·ay his 
heavy baggage to 'falhar. Early one morning, befoi'O 
1\Iiau N ur Muhammad left the fort, as he had cietcrminecl 
to do, all or a sudden, Nnuir Shah appc'm·ed at the gate, 
'l'he Mian had no alt~rn .. ti re hut to Htlrl'Pnder, having tied 
his own hands like an offencl,·J'. The ld11g carried him 
with his camp and came to lt.itlk:\nnh. 

Accepting a gratification of. one million of rupees 
Mi4n lfilr Muhammad Nadir returned. from t.l~ere. to . TaLta. 

eonlirmed .. • ruler by He confirmed the Mtan m. h1s own 
Nadir with tbetitloo!Sbab country, with the title of" Shah Kuli 
Kull K~i.n,' . · • . Khan" and departeP. with the Milin's 
two sons Muhammad Muradyab and Ghulam. Shah as 
hostages ... At the same time, he left Siwi in the .hands o£ 
the Afghll.ns and Shikarpur in those of the Daudp6tahs aa 
used to be the case some years back. 

• It wae in 1150 A. H. (1737 A.D.) that l'lndir Shah conquered Hind, 
during tla ffig? of E~peror Muhammad Sholh and soon went to Pertia. 
Muhammad Shuh contiUued to reign for 10 year• after that, 
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On the 11th of Mnlwrrnm 1153 A. IT. (1 UO A. D.) 
..,... T , Nadir Shah left Ladkii1~~h, ancl <~hout 
,,..,.,•, oovo•• at atl · th 1 f Z'I d h' 

Snlt<ln samti•b •ppointed e o ose o l ma , 1s generals 
... the Ml:ln'o agent at the Salih Kh{m Bavat at.d Shah werdikhan 
place. Karat, who with S~>nte other officers 
at the head of several columns had spread 1 hem selves 
from U mark6t over the whole of Sind, carne tn 'l'a tui, 
having brought with them, Shekh Shukrullab and :\Iastf 
Khan J6yab from the town of Agham, about 3 kos ft'Pnt 
Tatta. From Tatta they proceeded with the above pris;mers 
under Nadir's orders to join his camp. At t.h•: $nrue time, 
a number of noblemen and chiefs of the city ac(J(nnpanied 
A 'ka Muhammad Karim Isfahani to pay respects to the 
king. The king received them kindly and sent them back 
with suitable presents and appointments. .A.'ka Muham­
mad Karim was appointed as an envoy for the people of 
the place, and Sultan Samtiah was posted as agent or 
administrator of 'l'atta, on behalf of Mian Nur Muham­
mad, Shah Kuli Khan. 

In 1154 A.H. (1741 A.D.) the tribe of Sh6rah, who 
Chief• of sh6rah and during the period of anarchy conse· 

othe_r tribee dofoated and quent on Nadir's arrival, had shaken 
puDIOhed b7 the M•An. off the Mian's yoke, began to assem· 
ble at Kanrl, Manani .Aresar and Khir in the talukah of 
CMkar Halah, under the command of Huud son of 
Sh6rah, and to display great audacity. Mian NU.r 
Muhammad marched against them and without much 
trouble completely extirpated them. He next punished 
'l'amachi, 'f6gM.chf, Tharu, Silah, Kahah and A'su 81imrah, 
the chiefs of parganah Wangah in the talukah of 
OMchikan, as they would not pay the fixed tribute. 

In 1155 A.H. {1742 A.D.) Muzaffar Ali. Khiin Bayat, 
Beglarbegi, who had gone to bring some ships that had 
been ordered by Nadir Shah to be built for him at the 
port of Surat, came to Tatta from Karachi port, ~awab 
Shah Kuli Khan (Mian Nur Muhammad) came to receive 
him at Tatta, where they spent about two months and a. 
half together, after which period Muzaffar Ali took Dis 
departure. . 

In 1156 A.H. Ta.hniasb Kuli Khan, the chief of Jalair 
Fmh anarchy In Sind in had been sent by Nadir Shah to 

<em .. quenco of Tabroub punish the Daudp6t:1.hs. Mili.n Nur 
l{ull Kb!n'o comins. Muhammad thought it expedient to 
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remain quiet and not take any part in the affair. Conse. 
quently anarchy broke out anew in Sind, during which 
Sultan Samtiah, the administrator of 'l'atta and Shekh 
Shukrulhih were called away by the Milin and the charge 
of the place given to Razabeg the king's envoy und 
·another noble by name Fazilbeg. These two thought it 
proper to co11clude a treaty of peace with the Rana of 
Dharajah and Sajan Ramah, the Hindu chief~, of ue~gh. 
bouring state>. But when subsequently the Mtan recelYed 
Tahmasb Kuli Khan, who departed with the Mllin's third 
son Atur KMn as a hostage, Sultan Samtiah and Shekh 
Slmkrulhih were again sent to take up the administration 
of Tatta. 

In 1157 A.H. (1744 A.D.) Shekh Shukrullah defeated 
Jam Hothi, the chief of Kakralah 

.Firhtin.g with certain and killed him and placed Jam 
Bmdu obiel•. • t 

:Mahar in hiS place. '!'he n&xt year 
the Mian himself proceeded to attack the fort of Kanji, 
and took it. As the Hindus of Kachhi had, after the 
conquest of Kanji, come to Badin and other neighbouring 
plnces, the Miim determined to punish them. In 1158 A.ll.. 
Bahar Shah and other Fakirs, who had been deputed for 
the purpose, completely ovel'powered them. Sultan Bam· 
tiah, being now dead, was buried on the Makll hill and 
his place given to his son Masu Fakir. 

In 1160 A.H. (1747 A.D.) at the instigation of the 
Fishting with tho RAn' Rana of Dharajah some hundreds of 

of Dharojah who u killed bill tribes invaded the town of 'fatta. 
-•herou&ly. Masu Fakir, Shekh Shukrullah and 
Bulah Khan Naomardiah Jakhrab,* advanced to meet 
them. As the bill people had been sacrilegious enough 
to pass through grave' ards without respect for the tombs 
or the spirits of the dead, they were completely routed on 
the third day, though on the other side there were 
comparatively few persons. Getting this news, the Mian's 
son Muhammad Kbudadad Khan came to Tatta with a. 
large army. Masu Fakir was removed from the charge 
of 'fatta and Biliiwal Fakir Naij was· ~ppointed in his 
place, who immediately marched against the Rana's fort. 
The Rann betook himself across the river and left the 
place to some of his men tc> defend. But they could not 
stand against such an overwhelming force. The fort fell 

• Thano BuHkhan is still called after him, 
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into the hands of the Mian's son, who returned victorious 
to his father. Shortly after this Shekh Shukrullah caused 
the Rana to he killed by Bijar J6khiah, who treacherously 
secured his presence to discuss terms of peace. 

In 1161 A.H. (1748 A.D.) Ahmad Shah Durani, who 
Th "" . h settled the boundaries of Nadir Shah's 

•=•nreoe•voato h f , 
tiUe of Sbahnr.wa• Kh&n s are o the country With the 
and bio •••• return from Emperor of Debli, and secured it for 
l'ema. himself,. confirmed Miiin N ur M U• 

l1ammad as the ruler of Sind, giving him the nm title of 
"Shahnawaz Khan." In the next year, the Miim's sons 
Ghulam Shah and Atur Khan, who had been taken away 
as hostages, returned from Persia. In 1163 A.H. 
(1750, A.D.) Gul Muhammad Khurasani became the 
Mians agent at Tatta. In the sa~e year news wa~ 
received of the Mia!ls third son Muradyab Khan's arrival 

· at Muscat and the death of Shekh Ghuhlm Muhammad, 
who had been in his company. Accordingly Shukrullah · 
Khan was ordered to proce~d immediately to bring the 
young nobleman home. 

In 1164 A.H. (1751 A.D.) ships left fot• the port of 
Muscat, but. Sbekh Shukrullah di~d soon after. In due 
course of time Muhammad Muradylib Khan arrived and 
was received with great affection by his father, who en· 
trustPd him with the entire management of the financial 
business of the state, and appointed Khudabad to be his head 
quarters. Siuibnawaz Khan, who used to be at Khudli· 
bad, came to mide at the new built town of Muhammada· 
bad. Khudadad Khan, who during the absence of his 
elder brother, bad put on the turban of an heir-apparent,· 
had now to resign th'lt honourable po5ition to the right· 
ful owner M:uradyab Khan. Being much chagrined and 
mcrtified at this, he left his native land and went ·to 
Hindustan. But Muhammad Muradyab Khim soon · 
proved a failure as a financial manager and so that; office 
was taken back from him. 

In the beginning of 1166 .A.H. (1753 A.D.) it was 
Th. ki to s·n• rumoured that Sardar Jahan Khan 

0 D!COmiB IU • * b h 
and Diw'n Gidum•l i.loont was commg to Smd. And a out t e 
.. an •••01 to him. close of the year a differl'nt rumour 

• Muhmmad Shtih died in 1161 A.H. and was succooded by his eon . 
Ahmad Shah. On the d~ath of Nadir ShBh, Ahmad Shah Durliui, who had 
beoome his successor, obtained superiority over the Emperor of Dehli. 

~ 
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was ~·irculated to the effect that the king himself was 
coming in order to pass O':J to Rindust~n.• On. the 4th 
of Muharram 1168 A.H. (1755 A.D.) mformatwn was 
received. that the king had movt•d from M uhammadabad 
to the sand-hills. Diwan Gidumal was therefore sent in 
a hurry as an envoy to m~et him at his camp and assure 
him of the Mian's loyalty and faithfulness, and if possible 
to induce him to turn back without marching further by 
the route. 'Ihe Diwan met the king's camp at the bridge 
of Sakbar.t As the king was augry and out of humour, 
the Diwan could not get an audience for 3 days. At last 
the king encamped at Naoshabrah. Here Diwan Gidumal 
was fortunate enough to secure the king's &udience and 
to conciliate him.~ 

It was about this time, on the 12th of Saffar of the 
Death of Millo liur llu· sanle year 1168 A.H. (1755 A.D.) 

bommad and the electioo of that the ruler of Sind Mian Nur 
.his ••• lllur&d,ab K'>an. Muhammad died of quinsy or the 
inflammation of the throat in the vicinity of Jesalmer.§ 

Tbe nobles of the state lost no time in electing the late 
ruler's eldest son Muhammad Muradvab Khan to the 
throne. That young nobleman, f<'aring lest he might be 
nga(u given away as a hostage, harlleft his father on the 
way and betaken himself in a: different direction, from 
which he had to be brought to fill the vacant throne. 
'l'his ceremony of enthronement took place on 16th, i.e. 4 
days after the late .Mian's death. · 

• In 1167 .A..H. (1754 .A.. D.) on the death of Ahmad Shah the Emperor 
of Dehli, he was oucceeded by his son Aazznddin A'lamgir II, but in 
his time anarchy set in and the minor rulers threw off hi• yoke, His 
eon Walag6hll.l' went to Bengal trying to obtnin some firm footing there. 
The Afghan princPs chiftly took possession of different parts of Hind, 
as Ahmad Sblih Duran! was an Afghlln him•elf. Henceforth therefore 
ihe sovereib'l1 of Dehli was called a king and not an Emperor. · 

tIt must have been a temporary bridge of boats. 
l Diwan Gidumal is mentioned here for the first time. Gidtl-jo·Tando 

and Gidwilni street of Hyderabnd are called after him. A gene~logicnl 
tree of his descendents is given in appendix II. 
· §The author of the Fatchnamah, in giving the character of Mian 
N ur Muhammad, says that he was a man o£ pure faith and piety ; that 
he paid great resvect to the deacendants of the Prophet; that he carried 
on state af!ain w1th the conaultation of Mlr Bahram Tilpur who was hi• 
chief mini•ter, and that be waa ve-ry popular with the people, hiih and 
low. · • 
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CHAPTER V. 

'tn& RULE o:F Mu'N MuHAMUA.D MuRA.'nn'n KH.A'N, 

On receiving the m•ws of Milli1 Ndr Muhammad1s 
neath, the ldng, who harl again been 

Ditl'eront•gont••ppointed influenced by the ~landers of some by the king'~t ordcrt~. 
malicious people of his court, named 

Ismail Kinin Pin! to be his agent in Sind1 and the latter 
had already proceedt·d as far as i\luhammadaMd, and had 
SPnt off a few mon under Silyyed Shah Muhammad to 
1'atta, and others towards the sandy desert, where t.lwy 
Jlillaged the villa!!es of 'l'har and Hing6rjah. Soon aftet 
the arrival of lsmaL Kluin's men, one Sidih Khii.n C:ime 
to Tatta on belJalf of the late administrator Gul .Muham· 
mad Kinin Khunis:ini to collect, the revenue demand~. 
l3ut just before that the kinr;'s ambassador Muhammad 
Bt•g tih1iwaH had come to Tat.ta and appointed A'ka 
l\lnhammarl Sit!ih as the agent in c·harge of 1'atbi ancl 
taking some nobles of the place had started for the royal 
camp S:'1lih Khim's men would not allow A'ka l\'luham· 
mad Salilt to carry on the State dutieSil' When Muhammad 
Beg ::ih1unl{t, who on rcceiriug orders to that effPct had 
~;ent back the nobles, aiTivt•d at the camp, he was blamed 
fot not making a good selection for the collection of 
revenue at 'l':ttti1. A f1·esh onlet• was therefore isstted 
~~ppointing Kazf .Muhammad Mahfuz to the post. Again 
the nobles were rt•quire~l to pay respects to the kiDg at 
Lis camp. 

While the Kazi's e\1\rst son wns quarrrlling with Salih 

h d M 
, 'b Kh-ln as to who should collect tho 

Mn nmma '""''"" d [ G d lihon appointed to be 'the revenue an ot 1er overnment ues, 
• ru_ler with th• t!tle of N<~· informati<in WflS received that the 

nab Sorbulanu Iehan. k' J l . t d M h d ·mg Jal appom e u aroma 
Muraclvilb Khan to be the r11ler of Sind with the title of 
"Nawib Sarbuland Khan." It would appear that all . 
this time the late Miim's en\'Oy Dlwin Gidtimal had been 

'at work in the court of the king and had now succeeded 
in securing the king's good will, as the chiefs and nobles 
l1ad paid nllegianllf3 to the king and Iliuh;~mmad Atur 
Kh:in had been given up as 11. hostage. So the nobles 
went direct to Umarkot to meet their new ruler, who on 
receiving the houour now marchecl to his capital. Slwkh 

B 30/i-20 
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Zafarullah was appointed to be the administrator of Tatta 
and once more there was peace and order at that place. 

Diwan Gidumal hatl joined llf uhammad l\1 umdyab 
Khao in the vicinitv of Umal'kot and 

The r~ception of the had given him the ~rder of rulet·ship 
Miau at NllllarpU... and the robe of honour, which he had 
brought from the king. Tlte plain near ~' asarpur was 
adornPd with tents and flags to he the first camp of the 
new ruler on his return to his count.ry. 'l'he Miim 
encamped at the place and spent several days there, 
founding a new town at the place, calliug it Muradauad 
after his name. 

About the close of tl1e year he determinetl to ~ett.le the 
The Mian Ularebea against affair of the ~am 0~ Kakr:\lah. Be 

the Jam. of KakraJoh auJ marched agamst Jnm and defeated 
d.t .. t.h•m. him aftc·r several battles. 'l'be Jam 
was removed from K6ditl'iah and confined at Kakrlilab, 
his head-quarters. The land of O'chtah, Lanj:irf, Miran 
and Kacilah was taken into his own possession hy the 
:Mian, who fixed upon the last named place to be the 
chief centre of stores, and strengthened each of the abo're 
places with a fort, 

For the next two years the l\fian ruled the count.ry 
The Miin'mpture with quietly and sati~factorily, but in the 

his noLics, who conspire fourth year of his rei<>D, symptoms 
agoinst him. f • ' J d f q b o m1sru e an con uswn egan to 
app~ar, as be a!togetlwr changord hi~ behaviour and com· 
menced ill-treating the Sirai chiel's and oppressing his 
sul~jects. Having been much annoyed and Lar1l pressed 
owmg to the pecuniary demands of the king, M ian M u­
hammad Murad determiued to retire after swaPping his 
countr,l' clean of whatever he could lay his hands upon. 
With that object in view he had already commenced 
sending up his treasures to the port of Mascat. About 
'the close of the year he thought of starting from his 
capital and while passing through the territory of the Jam 
of Kakralah, of laying waste to it and plundermg it. Be 
therefore proposed to send a large army to that State. 
'l'he Sirai chiefs, who on the occasiou of the last treaty, 
had sworn on tbe Korim not to make any breach of the 
terms, opposed him, and refused to join him in the under-
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tnldng. They withdrew, and combining together promised 
to espouse the cause of Mian Ghulam Shah and to put him 
on the tlll'One. 

Mustering strong among thPmselvPs on the night 
Muhnmmarl Murad pr1•ceding 13th Zi-Hajj, 1170 A. H. 

rlrtbronedandMinnGhulam (1757 A. D.) the Sinii nobles beseigt>d 
Shah elected, the Mhin's residence and took him 
and his favourite cl1iefs prisoners. The next morning hi~ 
brot.her Mifm G hulam ~bah was placed on the throne. 
He tri~d his best to please the nobility as w~>ll as the 
common proplE>, '''ho had been much oppressed by Mu· 
hammad Murad.* 

Soon after the A'slninh {the lOt.h of 1\'Iuharram) of the 
.. 

1 1 
'L' ne1v vear, that accursl'd town was 

Tuo loiVD o Ala'" ,d • d d b tl fl ] £ th • 
fnUll<le<l. onrl the revolt of SUl'l'OUn e y 18 00( s 0 e river, 
MuhnmruoHlurad'sLruther so that Miiin Ghulam Shah deserted 
Ahmadyar Khnu. • . d b 'It tl . h. It an 1.11 ano 1er Clty n~ar IS 

father's Muhamrnndab:id and called it Alahabad. All the 
chiefs and nobles recognized him as their ruler and paid 
homage to him. Pxcept Ahmadyar Khan, brother by the 
~ame mother to Muhammad Muradyab, who was then at; 
Klmdah:'id, and Maksudah Fakir, son of BaMr Shah, who 
at first left his father's side with the intention of adhering 
to Miim G hul{tm Sluih's came, and ~ubsrquE"ntly came 
and enter~d the Mhin's se1•vice, apparently to avoid un· 
pleasant results. 

· Meanwhile Atur KMn, who wns a hostage with the 
The Minn's other brolhor king, repreSei\ted his case in person 

Atur Khan appointed .. V('l'Y strongly and succeeded· in 
Ju!er by thu royal decroc. ha ring the order of rulership passt>d 
in his own name. Hearing this, Ahmadyat• Khan began 
to collect forces. 'fhe Sir~i chiefs now repented of what 
they hnd done and knowing that Atur Khan had been 
duly appointed as a ruler by royal decree, thought it 
prudent to submit to him. Mian Ghulam Shah therefore 

• Tho author of tho Fntohn~rr nh spenldng about llfuhnmmad 1\fur~d's 
chnrnotet•, sars thnt he was neither brn,•e nor experienced in manly 
exercise, tlult night and day, ho was engn~od in plens11re parties and in 
enjoying tho compnny of dmiUing girl' and singers, th11t his <>llil'ei'S als<l 
followed suit, ami that Mfr Baht•:im becnmQ o!Iendud aud in con•pirncy 
w1th the other nobles, dethronod him. · 
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lHtd no other alternative bnt t.n move with liis whoiB 
army to the sandy desert on 25th of Sall'ar of the ~am,e 
year. After be had travelled a few stag .. s, :Maksuda.1 
Faldr havincr received letters fi'Om At11r K!Hin to t.h3t 
effect, set ~I~hammad ~lu•'lid:nlh at lihet·ty, an~ d~sert.in~ 
:Miau Ghuhlrn Shah's cause, and taking some ~ir~1 chwfs 
wit.h liim started to meet the newly appointed ruler, while 
:Mian Ghulam Shah wit.h Raj:dt Likhi, a ft•w other 
friendly chiefs and a selected baud of sohlitrs bastcnccl 
a way to a distance. 

CHAPTER VI. 

THE RULE oF 1\-II.\'N 1IunAmL\D ATllR Km.'N. 

Finding the country vacant, 1Iuhammacl Atnr Kh:ln 
. . b·td no difficulty in rnterilt.~ it. 

Geucr•l fcehngs "!l"111' 1 Ahmad Y!ll' Khan considt'recl it e:~:-
lluharu.tnad Atur Khau. • ' · 

pedient to move toward• N no~halmh 
nn<l fix: his residence there. In the be~iunin~ of Rabiussimi, 
1\luhammad .Mur:idy:ib also arrived to join his brother. 
In fact he and the Sirai chiefs entertained hopes that 
Atur Khan had taken all that trouhle and securer! the 
rulershi p for him, being" hi~ elder brother. llut A tnt• 
Khan was too ambitious f•lr that. Without even meet.ing 
his brother, be ordrrcd him to be taken ancl sett.le:l at 
Khudahad. Alt.boug-h this conduct of his, iucreaserl had 
feelings in the minds of the noh;lity towards him, &till 
since he bad been appointed by th0 royal dPcree, t\i(•y 
could ouly submit to him ostensi hly, l'he olllcet·s hcgan 
to hate him ; the re•enue hef:an to fail; tho king's 
demands for t1·ibute and other govPrnment dnrs began to 
increase. All these things combinPrl to make the new 
ruler disgusted with the CO'lntry, whilst the peorle, being 
much oppressed by him, began to curs~ him and wish for 
his dethronement. 

Meanwhile Mi{m Ghulim Shall passing some time in the 
Mi:ln Ghuldm sJ~h State of Udhepur, returned to Baha· 

mard•cs agai~st Atur Khan W!l)pur, Where he S[l!lUt 3 months, 
aud defeats mm at L6hrl. Bei 1g eneournged i!y the state of 
things in Sind, he left his sou Muhammad Sarafriz Khan 
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with his bagp;:tr:e a11d rleprndrnts at BnHwalpur And him· 
sdf started for Sind, aLout the miclclle of :Bamaz:in. 
:Muhammad At.ur Khan hearing of his approach proceeded 
to ml'et his adversary. On the last day of Hamazan, he 
nrdved at Lohri' and fixed his camp on the bank of 
Umarkns, just ontsirle the town. Here 1\Iian Ghulam 
Shah came with his ~elected bnnd to measure arms wit.h 
l1im. Alter some fighting at a di,tance with guns aml 
arrows, he crossed the water and came to elose quarters 
with the enemy. A hard fight took place whid1 ended 
in the defeat of the ruler of Siud. Atur Khan, Ahmad 
Yar Klul.u and Mak~U.dah were put to flight disgracefully, 
nnd the whole army with all its baggnge came into the 
possession of 1\liim Ghul{nn Shah. l'liat dny and the next., 
which was the Rnmazan I'd, or holidav, he celubrnted his 
victor,v, and t[len taking the ~irai ~bicfs 1dth him, he 
came from Lohri to Siwistau. or Scl11nin.t 

As during this short porio1l Muhammad~~ urad yah Khan 
had died, lilian Ghulam Sluih tried 

)linn Ohu16tuShahcom.. j' 1 t ']' t tl · .1 f 
'" siwidn and thoucc to ns H'St 0 cnnc1 18 e 1e mmus 0 
Alaha\,nJ nuJ Muham· that deceased ex-ruler'ij followers. 
nmdaLad. About the close of. Shawwal 1171 
A. H. (1758 A. D.) he relLtrnul to Alalnibad, where he 
was mPt by his ~on an1l his othrr party. r\ft.,r spending 
a fc1r dass ther1•, he moved to ~luhamm:.Hlabad, where he 
remained up to the end. of the year. . 

In the becrinning of the nex:t year lli2 A. H. (17i\9 A. D.) 
o difficulties again arose making matters 

AtarKhlin go•.• ~· Knlnt; complicated. Muhammad At.ur Kluiu 
,,b,oquently JOIIIB tho d I . , }") , , t\ . fl' ht 
Kiug's c.mp nud returns an A llliadyar \. Jan lll 1eu• 1g 
with an imperial arwy iu after the above defeat went straight 
1uccuur. 

to Kah\t, where the ruler of the place, 
:Muhammad Nasir Khan~ on the strength ofthe friendship 
he bm·e to Mian G hul:im Shah, retained them with him 
till tl1e King's army arrived in that country to ~u~ish 
him and defeated him. '!'he two brothers then JOllied 

•Rohri. 
t Properly speaking lilian Ghuhlm Shah's rule in Sind commences 

from this date, although he wn• confirmed as the ruler by royal decree 
lator on, in 1175 .A..H. (See the next chpter.) 

~ Who bud succeeded Mir Abdnll:ih Khdo. 
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the roral nrmv on thPir rPturn to the cnmp. There 
they ·emploved 'means to re-sccure the rulers hip of Sind, 
and eventu;lly succeeded. A hrnndyar Kinin remainud in 
the kin<>'s camp, while Atur Khan was sent back with an 
army c;mmar·de1l by Atai KMn to reinstate him on the 
throne of Sind. • 

Getting this news, in the mont.h of Rahiussanl 1172 
Th t fsl ,1 h 1 A. H. (1759 A. D.) Mian Ghul!im e own '' 1u. 1 an< ar, • 

founded by Mian Ghuhlm· Sb6.h moved to Kujah, a deserted 
Shah. town. He ordered all the residents 
of the part of Ornnga to rem.,ve to Kujah, which once 
more became a populous ·town and which he named 
Shahgarh. He appoint!!d it as his he~d-quarters, and 
in its vicinity he founded a new fort, calliug it 
Shahbandnr. lie built a castle and co:lected all materials 
of wnr thertl lle then left that place together with the 
State prisoners be had with him in charge of his son Mu· 
bammnd Sarafulz Klain and bim•df advanced to meet his 
brothers. 

Muhammad Atur KMn was ah·eady advancing. with 

I d d b 
bis Afzluin forces t laying wa~te the 

Peace cone 11 e etween " 1.. , I , . 
Mi&n Ghnlftm Shah and country on ~<IS way, A aksudh bemg 
At~r Khan and tbecouutry the learl!•r of the advance party. At 
div1ded between them, Cl , ) . k, th t . F 1ac 11 an e wo arm1es met. or 
some time indecisive fighting went on, hut eventually 
Atur Khan losing all hope of success, sought for peace, 
which was concluded. '!'he country of Siocl was divided 
into tberre shares. 1'he srare extending from Shah"'arh 
to the limits of N asarpttr and 'J'atta, fell to the lot of 

1ll!an Ghuhim Hh:ih, and l'atta with the remaining portion 
of Sind was given to the two br(\thers, as their two sha.1·e~. 
Accorrlingly Mf~n Ghuhirn Shah went to dhahrrrah a{ld 
Atur Khan lt>ft for Naoshahrah. · o 

• According to tho Fatehnamllh, king Ahm.ad Sluih Durilnl also wrot& 
to the DBudpotah to hulp Atur Khlln and a heavy force accompanied 
him eornlllllnded by llahadur, who had only one ear. 

t These were the forces of Ahmad Shr.h Duran!,· commanded by 
Bnhadnr, as mentioned in the Fateh111lmah. It is said there that the 
two-armies met at Ubaorfih. Mir llahdm Talpur was on the side of 
Mian Ghnlam Shah. At first Ghulam Sh{Jh's men gave way, leaving only 
120 men on the field. Just tl1cll Mlr Bahril1,1 helped in encouraging 
the routed army. lu the fight that en&ued, llahadur was killed aud his 
army tied. 
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Up to lhe month of Ranuiz(m matters went on quietly, 
Disagreement between 'l'hen, as it Was destined that the 

Atur Kl.llln .,~d his brother whole country should fall into Miim 
Ahwdyor Khan. G bulam Shah's pos·ession, disag1·ee. 
ment b1·oke out het.ween tbe two brothers, Atur Khan 
and A hmadyltr Khan. It was represented to the king of 
DehH that Atur Khan was incapable of carrying on the 
administrative duties of a count.ry. It was therefore 
arranged that Ahmndyar Khan should leave his son with 
the king as a hostage and himself go to Sind, with the 
sanad appointing him the ruler of that country. 

nearing of this, 1\Iian Ghulam Shah started for the 
The whole ol Sind hils conquest of Sind in the month of 

into the hnnds or Ghu!Mn Ramazan ll72 A.B. (1759 A.D.) 
Shdh, and Atur Khan dees. When Atur Khan learnt that Gbu. 
him Shah was coming from one side and Ahmadyar Khan 
from anoth~r, he lost heart and fl~d frllm Naoshahrah. 
On the I'd holiday, Miun Ghuhim Shah got this news 
near Nasarput· auu he imnlcdia1ely advanced to take 
ad¥antage of the situat.ion. As Ahmadyar Khan was yet 
fnr away, t.he country fell easily into the hands of Milin 

· Ghul:im Shih's men. In the reign of Atur Khan the 
people of 1'atta )1ad suff~red a ~reat deal. A party of the 
tribe of J6khiah had fallen on the place and in open day. 
lif.{ht plundered the quarter of Mulah 'l'alahti. The 
Afghan forl'es had furl her oppmsed the people on account 
of the 'lleakness of the ruler. So they were now very 
glad to hall a new ruler. 

On the 2nd of Shawwal of the same year, Mian Ghulam 
, , Shah received a letter from Muham· 

MiAn Ohulam Shnh comes d K ~ . th t h 
to Ladkonah and Si•istlln IDa Atur hun statmg a e Wa3 
ond punillhea tho reb•llioua goin<> to leave the country for good and 
Kh

6••ha. that 'he and his brother Ahmadyar 
Khan might do whatem they liked with it. Being 
still more encouraged by this news, Mian Ghulam Shah 
advanced further· and secured the men left behind by 
Atur Khan to bis own side. He rome as far as Ladkanah. 
Tie put to death all the Kb6sah chiefs, who had invaded 
and plundel'ed KhUd!\bad in the period of anarchy, and 
posted a permanent force about the place to keep a watch 
over that tribe and to chastise them whenever necessary. 
rrhon ooming to Siwistan he took the fort of J6yah and 
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Laknalli, which hnd served as a rendezvous of th~ 
Kh6~ah~, and killing MmP of thf' l'inglraders of that side 
und capturing others, he rei raced his steps. · 

Mian Qhulam Shah now heard that Muhammad Alur 
.,., 01 1, 81 'I d. !\him oud 11Iak~udh .Fakir, being 
"''"" '" .. m '" 

1 0 
' l 1 D · ' 1 6 h 1 ' f f••t. Atur K h' n at ass1~teu. 1y son e :mr p ta c uc ~. 

tJba6rah. especially Baluidur Khan, wero com• 
ing prepared for fight. Al'corclingly he ma1·ched with his 
army to mf'et them. Coming to U b:i.orah, he gave thern . 
battle, and completely defeated them, killiug ~aMdur 
Khan nnd nnoth!'r chief named B IH\~al'. Vi~totious and 
hnppy at havi11g made his path clear, he turned back to 
the centre of his country. 

On 25th Muharrarn, 1173 A. IT. (1760 A. D.) 'Milin 
. Ghulam Shah fixed his camp nt the 

Tho .Jam of Kakrnlah •• new built. r.own of Sh:ihpur and sent 
defeated and put In tl•ght. ' 

for hi~ son from Shuhgarh. He harl 
alrl"ady sent }[uhnmmatl K.nim, as the administrator of 
'Jatta and the latter did his best to relieve tbe residents of 
the place from the opp1·essiou of the olu officers and tho 
tyranny of the Afgh:ius. 

In thi~ year, J:im Drsar, the chiPf of Knkr:ilnh, who 
during Mian Ghnh\m tllnih's nhsP)ICe at 8hiLbgarah, had 
t:.ke1~ the offeusive w~s dHf(•ated and driv(•n nway by 
Muhammad Siddik Wais aud othel' generals, 'rho' had· 
been specially SPilt for the pnrpMc. On 7th ~alhr 11 H 
AIL (1761 A. D.), the .him wa& compelled to lf~two the 
fort of A'bad nnd S<'ek shelter in Kachh. His sun1 

Hardarji, w\10 some tiu.e b~furc had come to the camp of 
Mian Ghulam Shah, was detained by tho Mian as his own 
aide-de-caml'· 



lGl 

Cl!1PTER VII. 

TnE RULE oF MIA.'N GnuLA'M SnA'n.• 

ln the beginning of the next year 1175 A. II. (1762.:\ .. D.) 
•1., Oh 

1
• 

81 
'h a royal sanad was received confirming 

nlnll u um lu •P· ~•[" Gl '" "hi.} 1• l f pointed ruler of Sind Ly n "' Jan lUwm "' u 1 as tue ru er 0 
royal IIC<Jron, with tho tltlo Sind givin"' him the title of "Sh:lb 
~r '~h:lh Wardl Khl.'"' W d' 1 Kl '?, 11 d b . . ar • 1~n, an rmgmg an 
elephant, a robe of honour and some other presents. lil 
the same year the Milin ag-ain marched as far as Khanpur 
in order to punish the D:\udpotahs, but at the intercession 
of the Sayycds of U ch he pardoned them and returned 
without going further. 

In 1176 A.H. (1763 A.D.), on the 9th of Rablussani 
Minn OhuMm sh,\h in· the Mh\.n marched towards Kachh in 

'"''"" Kaohh nn<l m•kM order to punish the Hindus of that 
I"'"'" w•th tho !lAo. place. He t.ook the fort of Sindrl on 
his way, and on the heights of Jaraht mountain killed 
about 6000 men of the K:~chhi's. Continuing his victori· 
ons march he came to within 12 koss of Bhuj, plunderin~ 
the villages and lawns in the vicinity of that city. lie 
took the sea-ports of Husta nnd Lakhpat. At length at 
the entreaties of the Rao of Kachh and on his suing for 
peace the M i:ln marched hack, arriving at SLahpur on the 
2nd of Rujjib 1177 A.Il. (1764 A.D.). 

In 1178 A.H. (1765 A.D.) 1\lhln Ghulam Slul.h again 
Annther hwMion ngnin•t invaded Kach,b and .took the forti~cd 

!\ncWmdlrc•htrcntywith town of Moru on h1s way. Commg 
•t. to within lOm.iles of Kachh, he mnc\e 
a halt. · Tbe Rao of Kach h n~n.in appliecl for peace and 
a fresh treaty was concludccl. RPturning from Kachh 
he went to the old Sluihpur instead of the new, which 
town he found uncomfortable on account of the excessive 
wind and dust.t About this time the king conferred a 

• Properly speaking :Mi~u Gl!Ulom SUb's reign commenced earlier il! 
1171 when ho dofeatoJ. Atur Khan. 

It mny be noted hero thnt Miun Gldnm ShUl1 wns t.he son of i\Ii~n N t\r 
M uhammnd hy n dnncin~ girl. It is l!llid N ur M uhnmmad ~ot thnt eon 
through tho blus•ings of hi>< contemporary saiut ~htih Abdul Latif Bhitai, 

t Jlu111a, in tho Sind Ouzottcer. 
S Sco e1trnct (ali) in AJ•pcudi:l: I. 

n 305-21 
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fresh title of "Samsamuddaolah*" on Mhin Ghul:im Shah, 
in addition to the former one, in consideration of his brave 
deeds and successful management of State affairs. 

Not long after this, Muhammad A.tur Khan, whose 
companions like Maksudah, had died 

Atur KMn sumndero. and left him alone, repented and 
surrendered to Mian Ghulam Shah, who showed him 
great kindness and kept him in his company. 

In 1181. A.. H. (1767 A.. D.) Mi<in Ghuh1m Shah was 
Mida Ghul{m SHh entrusted by the king with the~harge 

""t'"'ted wilh the admiuia· of the Derahs t whence some disturb· 
trati"n of the Der&bs. ance was reported. Accordingly in the 
beginning of Rabiussani, the Mian startod for that division. 
In the course of three months he settled all matt~rs 
and restored peace and order there. 'faking 6ome hostage~ 
from the chiefs of the place, he returned to Shah pur. 

Unfortunately during this interval, the force left by the 
Mian at the Derahs had to fight with the natives of the 
place headed by their chief Nas1·at. This confusion 
induced the king to send Sardar Jahan ,Khan as his agent 
to settle and administer the State affairs there. 'fhe Sardar 
came, dismissed the Mian's officers and appointed his own 

. in their place. In 1183 A. H. (1769 A.D.) however, Der~th 
13Mzi Khan was lost to the Sardar, and Mian Ghularn 
Shah had again to go in that direction to settle the cottntry. 
He succeeded in quieting the country once more. And as 
a reward for tlds remarkable piece of the service, tl1e 
remaining portion of Derah Ghazi Khan, that used to be 
attached to l1ulta,n, was given to the Mian and i~ 
governor made subordinate to him. 

On his return from the Derahs in Zih!tjj, 1183 A.ll. 
The city and tort of Mian Ghulam Shah went straight to 

H•ida,..b{d, founded by N erunk6t, where in Zikaarl of the 
:Ali'" Ghulllm ShAh. preVIous year, 1182 A. H. (1768 A. D.), 
he had commenced a strong fort with the view of tumin"' 
that city into his future capital. This fort, which wa~ 
built on hilly high ground was named Haidarabid. And 
there the Mian remained for the rest of his life. 

•Tho title litorally means "tho sword of the State," a very approprinte 
title for the Minn. 
t Derah Gh11Zi Kh!UJ and Dcruh Ismail Khtlu. 
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After Gul Muhammad Khan Khumilni and Muham- . 
mad Kaim no other administrator . 

Ta;t~~ administrators or was appointed at ~'atta. In the 
:Moharram ofll84 A.H. (1770A.D.), 

however, Habib Fakir Naij was put in charge of the 
place. Habib wns succeeded by Muhammad Husain, but 
he soon returned and resumed the same charge. Aft.er 
Habib was removed Murad Fakir Nizamani was made the 
administratot· of 'fatta and continued as suclt up to 1188 
A.H. (1774 A.D.). 

In 1184 A.H. (1770 A.D.) for several reasons the eharge · 
htntrimoni•I connection of the Derahs was taken from Mian 

botwoon tho Mi4n and the Ghulam Shah by the king and given 
!tao or Kachh. back to Sardar J a han Khan. In this 
year the Rao of K.achh gave the hand of a daughter of 
his cousin Wesuji in marriage to the Miim and the 
marriage was celebrated with great pomp and splendour 
on botu the sides. In consideration of this relationship, 
the tow11s of Busta Banclar and Lakhpt Ban dar and others 
that had bee11 conquered by the Mian, were returned ~o 
the Rao. 

It was in the year 1185 A.H. (1771 A.D.) that B 
. wonderful physical phenomenon was 

Thert~moraesh, aatrange seen in Sind In about a hfgah of 
pr.enomeuon. • ~ . 

land, near Dhand Chatt1, preces of 
flesh fell in rain. Each piece was more in weight than a ' 
seer of Surat. A few pieces were brought to the Mian. 
The flesh resembled the flesh of a pig, both in smeil and 
colour. It was thrown to dogs, but they would not eat it. 

In 1186 A. H. (1772 A. D.) foundation was laid for a mud 
fort on a hillock to the south-west of 

Th~ death of Milln the fort of Haidarablid and for thu 
Ohul•m Sh4h. • 

protection of the same. The hlllock · 
was sacred to Hajf Muhammad Maksi • and was called 
after his name. His remains had been buried there and 
round his tomb a spacious grave-yard had been formed. 
As a large number of tombs had to be razed to the ground 
to lay the foundation of tho fort, it proved to be a bad· 

0 This fort still exists. A.n annual f•ir i• held 11t the tomb of thia 
aaiut on the 9th of Zullmjj. 
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omen on acco-unt of the disrespect that wns shown t.c. t.he 
dead, especially to the snint. U nf. rtunntrly, 5oon at't.f'r 
the fore was built, Miau Ghul:im Shah died all of a sudden 
on the 2nd of Jamadil- awwal of the same year, having 
been attacked by paralysis on the previous day only. • 

About this time Ahmad Sluih Durani died and with tho 
, 888istnnce of his prime ministPr Shith 

Death of Ahmad Sh.h ,., li Kl , ) . S ) . , 
Dunln! and acoossiou o! hie n a lull liS younger Svll U at man 
oon Tnim6r SMh 1o tho Shah succeeded him to the throne. 
throne. H' ld T ' ' Sl 'l. 1 IS e er son :nmur mu, w 10 was 
at Khurnsan at the time of his father's death, hastened 
to the c'lpital, killed Shah Wali Kluin, rt>moved his 
younger brother from the throne, au1l occupied it himself. 

CHAPTER VIII. 

Tnm n.ULE oP MIA'N MunAMMA.D SARAFRA'z KnA'N. 

The next day after Mian Ghuliim Shah's death his son 
., d s 

1 
,_ Mian Muhammad Sarafr:iz Khan was 

ruubammn arnraz 1 d th tJ fS' d . l h Khan coufirmed by the new p ace On e ll'One 0 Ill WJt. l t () 
ling with tho title of unanimous consent of the nobility of 
• Kbudayu Ktu:n •• , • · the Faktts, or followrrs of the late 
llian, Taimnr Shah, the new kin)!, hastened to send a roLe 
of honour with his.. sanad confirming the new ruler wit.h 
the title of "Khudayar Khan" in addition to his fathPr's 
title. The Derahs were also attached t() him. Miim 
Muhammad Sar;,friiz Khan therefore prepared to go in 
that direction and started about the close of Zulhajj of the 
same year ll86 A.H. (17i2 A.. D.) He had to spend some 
months in settling the affairs of the De,·has, and on the 
12th of Rabiussani, 1187 A.H. (1773 A.D.) he 1·eturned to 
Haidara.Md. 

About the close of Shuaban, 1188 A. H., the Mi6.n set 
out for Kachh. On the way he took 

Tho ~w. goes to :tu.:hh the fort of Bajham. 1.'he Rao of 
and GuJrat, • d h , . , 

Kachh rece1ve t e M1an with dis-
tinction and was consequently left in undisputed possession 

• 'fhe author of the Fatehn,mllh sings loudly the praises of Mitln 
G~ullim Shilb. Only, he says, he was not an educated person, but quite 
tlhtero.te. · 
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oF his country. From Knchh the Mian pnss~d into the 
limits of Gujr(tt, wlwm hP received homage from the hi"' 
J·arrjah chids, Nath:~hji of' Gujrat and Daudji of Kaniarl 
K6t. "lhe Milin then retmned to Parkaran.* In the 
b!>ginning- of Slunnnil, he returned to the new Jy built town 
of Kl11idab:id. t 

We have said above in Chapter III that, at the time of 
'rho in8nonce of l·h• Miim Yar Muhammad's rule Prince 

'I'Aipu"' at the Courto of ·Muizwddln, who had come toBakhnr 
Knth6n'11 rutera. hnd sent Mfr Shahdad Khan ~nilpu~ 
Bal6ch to fight with Ghazi Khan, the chief of the Derahs, 
and that for the hra very and tact he IIad shown in Aettling 
the affairs of that division, thfl prince gave him the l:J.nd 
of Pat Bar{m as a jayll•. This :M1r Shahditd is th~ first; 
ancestor of the 'l'idpurs, of whom we read in the history 
of Sind.~ Suhsequrntly it appears that the Mir attached 
ltimself to the court of J\lhin, taking the lat.ter, as a 
spiritual guidr, as well as a chief, aa was the fashion in 
those dnvs. Grad ual':v he hecnme the chief councillor of 
the rnlil;g ehief and ;cquired a great deal of influence in 
political affairs. When Mi6n Muhammad Muri1d, became 
uupopubr, it. was through Mfr Bahram, the son of Mir 
Shahdad, that, tl1e nobles conspired aud dethroned him, in 
favour of his bt·other. § 

• This is perhaps Purlmr (1\'ngar), 

tHere end• the history of Sind, !18 given in tho Tuhftltulkirum, wnos& 
author was livu1g at this time. For the account coming after this, I tnko 
up tho Fntchnam:\h, n material history by Azim, written in the reign of 
Mit• ~'utch Khnn 1'nlpur. 

tIt mny be noted here, that Mfr Shahditd Khan T6lpur wna thflson of 
H6tnk Kh!in, who wns the son of Sulemim Khlln, commonly known 1111 

Kako Khlin, who agnia was the son of SMh6 Kh6n. Hdtak Kht\n had 
7 brothors, one of whom was Mnnik KMn, who with his son Alnhylir 
Khan became the g-rcnt·!!Tilndfnthers of M•inikani :Mirs of Mirpur Kh8s. 
While Mir Shnhd~d'a two aona, Mfr CMknr KhBn and Mir Bahram 
Khlm became the great·gmndfnthors respectively of the Khnirpur( and 
Haidrnbadi Mira. Sluih6 Kluiu's uncle Wl\8 TM6 Khnn, from whom the 
dynasty got the name of Ta.tpur (aee the geneological tree of the Tulpurs), 

§ Mir Shn.hd nd, son of Hotak's tomb can still be seen near Sh8hpt\r in 
the Sukrand Taluka. The village is called K ubi\ Shahdad. 1M to~b 
bears the date of 2nd Raijib, U47 A. H. (1734 A. D). Shnhdad s 
brother l''nteh Ali'~ tomb benra the date of 7th Sulfur 111)1 A. H. 
(1738 A.D.) 
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In 1172 A.H. {l759 A.D.) when Mian Muhammad· 
A tur Khan, the then ruler of Sind, brought the irnpArinl 
Afghan army to reinstate him, Mir Bahram was on the 
side of Milm Ghulam Shah in the fight that ensued and 
that ended in the victorv of the latter. During Mian 
Ghuhi.rn Shah's reign, Mir Bahram enjoyed the high 
est.eem of that ruler. On his death, his successot• Miim 
Muhammad Snra.fraz too regarded him as his chief couu• 
cillor and prime ministE>r. As Mir Bahram had grown 
old, his !JOn Mir Bijar often took phce in the council-hull, 
proving himself to be a worthy son of a worthy father. 

As the Mian was very fond of t.he Mirs, Rajah LI'khf, 
wuo was also one of the chief 

~!i&n:Muh~~MSara~ courtiers became J'ealous of them hew mea ~JU51ptclOUB of M lf • ' , , "' 

Bahr&m and. hi.! '"""• RaJah is said to have been an Illite. 
~1-:h 'i.fk~l.the Je&lousy •f rate and foolish person. He was 

J . naturally of a bad and mischievous 
temper. Having fot·mfd a resolution to bring about the 
fall of the Mirs, he began to back-bite them to the Mian, 
telling him that M ir Bahr·am hnd sent him secret messages 
r('peatedly tempting him to conspire against him {the 
}lilin). He advised the Miim to take necessary precau­
tionary measures before it was too late. Rajah went on 
slandering the Mir in this strain whenever he got an 
opportunity to do so. Although the Mian knew him to 
be a mischievous person and would have been the last 
person tu believe his whispers ag-ainst a wise counseller 
and a brave soldier like ·~Hr B:1hram, sfll, perhaps, it was 
destined that he should do so. Accordingly the Mian 
b~gan to show signs of distru$t of the Mir, gradually 
grew cold towards hi'D and finally turned his face frorn 
him. Diwim Gidumal, the old and faitl-tful secretary of 
the ruling family, interceded and tried to bring about a 
reconciliation between the Mian and the :Mir. " My 
master'' said he "Pay no attention to what these 
michievous people tell you, Those who fan tb1.1 fire very 
closely, run back, when it kindles into a blaze. Do not 
be rash and hasty, to make an enemy of such a party, or 
else it will end in a ruvolt and you will come to grief. 
If yo,u have any fear of the Mir's doings, be more kind 
and obliging to him. This wilL compel him to be a 
staunch adherent of yours." But as fate would have it, 
tbe Mi.an would not agree with the old Diwan's suggestion. 
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Perceiving coldness in the behaviour of his master Mir 
. . Bahram determinPd to plan some 

w!ITh!·~:~ 8 conaultat!OD decided course for himsdf. With 
this object in view, he privat!>ly con· 

suited his two sons, Mir Bijar and Mir Sobdar i bus,~" My 
sons, we are soon to receive our lot at the b'l.nds of our 
master. You know we have sworn on the Koran to he 
faithful to him and he has sworn to be kind to us. If, 
now, without any reason he causes some harm to us, we 
must quietly bear it, leaving him to the punishment of 
God. My wish now is, that for some time you must leave 
me to my fate and go som~where else. This may kill 
envy and restore good feelings in our master's mind. But 
if the matter comes to the worst, still you will be safe." 
Following the hint, the eldest son Mir Bijar set. out on a 
pilgrimage to Mecca, but the younger son Sobdiir would 
not leave his old father's side, and notwithstanding his 
sire's wish that he should look after the safety of himself 
and his family, Mir Sobdar determined to stay and abide 
by the will cf God. 

One day :Mir Bahram had come to pay his respects to 
Murder of Mfr B•hr&m Miim Muhammad Sar'lfrnz, in the 

and hio oon Sobdar by• usual manner, when some of the chief 
treachery. courtiers were present in his court. • 
1'he treacherous Mian !!ave a letter, that he bad received 
from Mir Bijar at Ma;cat to the old Mirto read. The 
latter put on his spectacles, and while he was reading the 
letter, a servant named Husain, who had been posted 
b1!hind him with previous instructions, gave a. sudden 
blow witl1 his sword to the Mir from behind, cutting off 
his head. The Mir died immediately.t 

• Mir Y~r Muhammnd Khan, the author of the Frereullmnh says 
that Mir Bnhram and hie son Sobdar came to pay a visit to the Mi1in. 
The Mian on this oconeion, sent word to them to como in without swords. 
The father gave hie sword to a servant boy of 10 years by nrune Arzr, 
but the son not likin!l' to r.nrt with the sword, remained outside talking 
to Alah !M:ab, son of RaJh Likhi. 

t The author of the Fatehnamah beautifully plAys on the senant's 
namnayiug " Look to the sacred nrune and to the impure person be&ring 
it. How cllll he be called Husain when he behaved really as Ya.dd.'" 

According to the FterenamGb, this event occurred in 1189 :A.H. 
(1775 A.D.). The Mlr's body W118 taken nway and buried gt 'Khudabad 
and that of !lah Baksb in frout ot .Mian Ghultim Shah's totrlb. 
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. Taking advantage of tue occasion, some persons rushed 
out with swords to despatch Mir Sobd:ir, before the 
traooioa.l n~ws was know!l. Mir Sobdar was at that time 
co:versin<> with Alah Baksh, the elclest son of Rajah. 
Likhi. S~eing the swordsmen cJming and perceiving foul 
play he lost no time itt killing AJah Baksh there and then. 
'!'he~ he had to confront his assailants, who surrounded 
l1im on all sides. He bravelv killed a number of the 
murderers, but at last fell under the h~avy blows of the 
the assailants. '!'his oet:urred in the year 1188 A.ll. • 
(1774 A.D.) 

Mir S6badar died leaving four sons, viz., Fateh All Khan, 
, Glmlam All Kinin, Karam Ali Kh£1n 

!lir Fat<h Khnn'a at•""k d u 'd AI' KJ , 'l'l Jl 
and Mlnn Sarafrliz's flighl an IJl Ul'a 1 Jan. tey WUre 8 
from tho fort of Haidurl.- young. Mir .l<'ateh Khan upon whom 
bid. be had looked as a brDLher, waiteu for 
a time, expecting the arrival of Mir Bijart when he thought 
that they would lay pl:..ns together to revenge themselves 
on their enemies. But as he did not receive any news of his 
coming soon, Mir Fateh Khan lost patit·nce, Not being 
able to bear the pain any more, he collec• ed a number of 
Bal6ches and attacked the fort of Khudabitd. He kille•l 
the keepers quite unawares and ente~ed the fort amid~t 
the consternation of the inmates. Miar1 Sarafraz had no 
other alternative hut to secretlv leave 1he fort with 5 or() 
attendant.s for the river through a juugl!l, and occupying 
a fisherman's boat he hastily sailed for the fort of Jlaidar:i'· 
bad, reaching the latter place, before day.break, that 
very night. Here there was plenty of trca~ure and of 
military stores to eiJable him to fight, hut as fate was 
against bim, he lost heart and left that place too. 

•In the Fatehnamah, the year, as calculated by Abjad, is 1185 which 
cannot bg correct because he ~mys clearly that the MU\n'a rule did not 
contin•1e for mol.'e than a few months after this event. 

t H6tak KhAn and Manik Khan were brothers; Mfr Shahdad was the 
son of the former and Mir ALlhyar that of the latter. .A{rain Mfr 
Babrtlm wn.s the son of Mir Shahd&d and Mir Mne6 Kluln wns the son 
of Mir Alahy6.r. M ir S6bdar wn.s the son of M\r l.l11hrfom and M [r Fateh 
Khan was tha son of Mit Masu Khan. Thus Mir 8obdur and Mir l!'atch 
Khan w~re distant cousins, each subacqueutly being tho ancestor of a 
differnnt branch of Talpurs, vi;;,, of Haidanbadia aud Mir1,uris (;ce tho 
geneological tree of Trupnra) . · 
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'l'he next day when. it was knowll that Mian Sarnfraz 
Mahm6d KhAn placed had fled, his brother Mahmud Khan 

~· the Vllcant throno and was placed on the vncant seat at 
th• fort of Hwdarabad Khudabad, and Mehrab, the Chief 
ott&cked•nd token. f h J /.! . h' h' o t e atu s g1ven to 1m as 18 
minister.• Mlr Fateh Kh{m then marched with his forces 
against the fort of Haidanibad. Seeing the intrepidity 
of the Mir and fearing the revE'nge of Alfr Bijar, most of 
the chiefs and nobles, including Rajah Likhi, and 
Alahbakhsh Jhinjan, left the side of Mian Sarafraz and 
joined Mir Fateh Khan in his expedition. They all soon 
appeared before the gate of the fort and laid siege to it. 
Within a week the fort was taken and au entry made. 
'J'he next moment Sarafra~ appeared abnsing Rajah L!khi 
to his face for his faithlessness and mischief and repenting 
of having got his loyal chiefs, the Mil's, killed. But it 
was too late now, The keys of the treasures were handed 
over to Mir Fateh Khan, who refused to keep them as 
representing the sole master of the place. " Far be it 
from ml' '' said he, " that I should call myself a ruler. 
Mir Bij:ir is our llhief, and when he comes he will mete 
out proper punishment to his enemies. What I have 
done is not to get traeasures but to quench the fire of my 
heart" 

.As there was no other alternative, the wily Rajah Likbi 
kept the keys wit.h himself and appointed his own son 
'l\iJah to be the chief ma.na~er of the fort. He now bad 
an ample opportunity to spend money and win over some 
of the chiefs, in order to be prepared for the fight that might 

· ensue with :Mir Bijar, when be came. Be s~cured the 
sen:ices of Alahbakhsh Jbinjan, Per6~ Pita.t'i and the chief 
of the tribe of Kh6sahs, whom he knew to be on bad 
terms with the Mirs, 

Mir Fateh Khan now thought it proper to withdraw to 

W h 
., h his det•ali or head-quarters, that were 

it tlmwnl of :Mir .ntc t h d' t f th 't t Khnu nod tho nsrension of a a S Ott !S ance rom e Cl Y • 
llian Ghuhlm Nab! to tho Rajah Lfkhi not liking the proximity 
throne. of the Mirs' quarters took Mahmud 
Khan with him and went to Kh:ihah, where in the midst 

• This wna in A. H. (1775 .A. D.). according to the Freronam6h• 
Tho town of Mcbrnhpur iu tho Kandiaro Taluka waa built by thiil 
l£ehrtih J nt6f. 

t 'l'hoir head-quarter cit.y waa Shaht!adpur. 

1 ao~-2a 
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of waters flowing on all sides, he thought himself safe 
and able to carry on his nefarious plans. With the 
consultation of his mercenary counsellers, he determined 
to give the government of Sind into the, ha~ds o~ some 
Kalh6rah chief, connected on the mother s s1de Wlth the 
tribe of J unejahs, whom he knew to be numerous and. on 
inimical terms with the Bal6ches. He therefore entermg 
into conspiracy with his comrades, elected ~Iian G huhim 
Nabi, son of Mian Nfu Muhammad (Khuda YarkMn) and 
raised him to the throne instPad of .MahmUd Khim, as 
he was related to the J unejahs. • 

CHAPTER IX. 

THE RULE 01 Mu'N GnutA'M NAnr' Kn.A.'N. 

lEan Ghulam Nab! was a very good mnn. Like his 

Death of Mjah Llkhl 
father he was wise, religious, and 
generous. His brother Abdunnab1 

was taken away and confined in a fort. '!'hough Rajah 
Likhi had assisted him in coming to the throne and 
therefore he was obliged apparently to show kindness to 
him, at heart :Mian Ghulam Nab! hated him. He paid 
no attention to his slander against the Bal6ches, whom 
he knew to be a brave and faithful tribe. 

About this time news of Mfr Bijnr's return from Mecca 
was recrivtd and Rajah Likbi became ill at ease. 'l'he 
approach of a dreaded enemy was a blow to him, which 
he did not long survive. ~·hey say he ended his life by 
poison. Whatever be the true cause of his death, l:u:. had 
a son, as wicked as himself, to step into his shoes. But 
1\fian Ghulam Nabi entertained as much disgust towards 
him as for his late father. For, it is said, that the Mian 
often remarked that he smelt blood from him and that he 
had the look of a murderer about him. 

• This waR in 1!9 A.H. (1777) A.D.). It isfenid in the Sind Gazetteer 
that "Sarafraz Khan discouraged tho English factories at TutU, whicb 
durin(( his father's rcit,'ll had, in 1758, been established thoro by the 
Eaet India Company, and those wore cvcntWiily withdrawn in 177i." 
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Mir Bijar, who had become a Hajf now, returned from 

· Mecca and at first came to Kalat, 
Mfr Bij&r'a nrri'"l from h h • d 

l!ecllll through Kalot. 'IV ere e was rece1ve very warmly 
by Muhammad Nasir, the Khan or 

ruler of that country. • He expressed so much affection 
towards him that he exchanged his turban with the Mfr 
showing thereby that they were like brothers and would 
stand by each other to the very utmost. The Khan 
ordered that an army be sent with the Mfr to help him in 
taking veng~ance over his enemies, but the latter rHfused 
to accept the kind offer, saying that he felt ashamed to 
draw an army against his own country, ancl that he 
depended for help upon God. As he approached his 
native land, he was met in the way by a mourning party 
of his relations consisting of lfirs Abdullah,t Fateh AI.(, 
Fateh Khan, Ghuhim Ali, Subrab,t Alahyar, Tba.rah and 
other Bal6ch Chiefs. 'l'hey then wrote letters to the 
people of Sind in general, complaining of the cruel and 
cowardly behaviour of Rajah Likhl and his son Tajah, and 
appealing to them for sympathy, which the public were 
not backward in expressing sincerely in return. 

When Mfr Bijar arrived within twelvo miles of the 
. capital he prudently made a halt 

J.hr Bijar £•" to the fori h f t' , d to 
ol Um•rk6t but , ..... it t ere or some 1me In or er 
ooon at the false cntroatioa know the feeliD"S of his COUntrymen. 
of Alllhb4kha~ Jhiujan. H · 0 k h' h f e was anx1ous to now w 1c o 
the chiefs visited him for the sake of welcome or condo· 
lence, and which of them showed signs of disaffection. 
Of course Mian Ghulam Nabi dared not do anything 

• According to the Frerenamah, Mir Bijlir oamo vid Kara<'hi, whieh 
was then in the Kal~t territory. 

tiM Irs Sobdnr and Bijnr were brothers. The former bad four sons, Mlr 
Jlnteh AH rrnd three others already noted. Mir Abdullah was the son 
of Mlr Bijar. 

t Mfr Suhrlib was the son of Mir Chtlkar KUn, brother t~ Mir 
Bahram. This· Mir CMkar was the forefather of the Mira of Khatrp~r. 
Mirs Alabyar and Tl11\rah were brothers, being sons of Mir Fateh Khan, 
the forefather of the Mire .of Mirpu.r. 

In the Frorenam~h tho un.'lle of Mlr Shah Ail Kh&n is also mentioned 
here. 

(See the S'eueological tree of the Talpurs.) 
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without the sanction or T:ijnh Llkhl, who prevented him 
from showing the least favour to his enemy. Al:ihbakhsh 
Jhinjan, as well as the Jat61 and Pitafi Chiefs and others 
made common cause. and determinPd to oppose the Mir, 
for, they thought any submissive behaviour would only 
make him tyranical to them. So they addressed a letter 
with the Mian's seal to Mlr Bijar, asking him why he had 
made snch a long stay near head-quarters and telling him 
that if he intended to fight he might advance, or else 
leave the place, This letter gave the Mira clear idea of 
the feelings of his enemies. While his younger relations 
prepared to measure arms with their opponents and be· 
came loud with indignation, Mir Bijar appe&red quite 
cool and prevented his comrades from taking offensive 
measurPS. Without giving any reply to the Jetter, the 
very next day he moved to U mark6t with all his depen• 
dents and baggage. He occupied the fort driving away 
the Kh6sahs, who lost no time in communicating the 
news to hPad·quarters. ImmeJiately Tajah Likhl took 
:Mi{m Ghul:im Nabi with him and marched with an army 
to Umark6t. Seeing that it was impossible to remove 
the Mfrs from the fort, he hit upon a trick to obtain that 
end without bloodshed. Alahbakhsh Jhinjan, being ap· 
pointed leader for the time, went to the Mir and com· 
menced excuses for his past behaviour, speaking ill of the 
Likhis. He toltl him that he was sorrv for the letter 
that had been sent to him and which had been written 
against the wishes of tJ,e Mi{m and that the Mir must 
look to the respect and pleasure of their common master 
and vacate the fort. He swore to the fact that all had 
determined to punish the Likhi for his mischief, lHr 
•)Jjar was a noble , hearted pmon. He ordm·ed his 
baggage to be immediately removed from the fort, and 
himself with his people marched out to a secluded place. 

As soon as :Mir Bijar believing the deceitful Jh in jan's 
T'J'b Llkhf ••nd! • forco words left the fort, it w~s occupied 

tooccupy~efortoiUmar· b~ 2000 men St'nt by TaJah Likhi, 
~~ BiJt. 11 attacked by mth necessary provisions. Mlr Bijar 

now saw clearly the trick that bad 
been played upon him. He waited for about two months 
and when he found that his adversaries continued on the 
d~fensive, he s~nt ~is challenge to Tajah Likhl, calling 
h1m to m.eet h1m m the field of battle, witlu.ut giving 
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any troubl~ to the lfian. When Tajah got this messagP, 
he called hiS comrades to the presence of Mi.~n Ghullim 
Nabi, to arrange a plan for fighting with the Mir. Mian 
Ghu!a.m Nab! earnestly, suggested that peace should be 
made with the Mir, but they were for fighting. The 
Mian was helpless. He was carried as a puppet at the 
head of a large army, numbering 30,000 men. The 
moving fi~ure among the chiefs was Tajah Likhf who was 
assisted by Alabbaksh Jhinjan, Per6z Pitati, Muhammad 
Hasan Kbuhawar and 1'11ihrab Jat6i, each at the head of 
his own squadron, together wit.h a large force of Kb6sahs 
and Afghans. This army marched out to meet :Mir Bijar 
in response to his challenge. 

Mir Bijar had 6000 Bal6ches with him, all veteran 

B 1 L
' , . h soldiers and all determ.ined to sell 

atte at any rim t e . li d , 
Sh•h<Lidpur Talukah and their ves ear. With these he 
~urder of Mii.n Gbulam advanced tomeettheenemy. The two 
N•hl. armies met. at Lanyari, in the Talukah 
of Shahdadpur and blood began to flow in streams. 
When l'er6z Pit{tfi, the chief leader of the Mian's forces 
fell, Mhl.n Ghulam NaH, seeing ihnt his generals were 
losing ground nnd falling- one after another, hastenPd to 
send one or two of his chief attendants with the Koran, 
to the Mir entreating him to get him out of the difficulty 
as he felt himself quite a prisoner in the hands of 
these wicked men. When 'l'ajah Llkhi heard of this, 
he bt~came \'ery an~ry. Taking a handful of his cruel 
band he came to Mian Ghuhim Nabi and despatched him 
with a blow, telling him "We knew that this was 'our 
object and that you were in the very beginning favour­
ably inclined to the Mir; as you were against us, we won't 
allow you to <·ontinue longer in that happy position.'' 
'l'h~y then turned back and coming to the l'iver, got into 
a boat and sailed away to Sbahgarh. '!'his event occurred 
in the year 1190 A.R. (1776 A.D.) 

As soon as the confusion subsided and Mir Bijar learnt 
that the enemy had murdered Mian Ghul!im Nabi and 
had fled, he was very sorry and went. immediately to the 
spot. Seeing the dead body of the late ruler of Sind he 
sat on the ground lamenting loudly for him. Then he 
ordered a rich coffin to be prepared and sent the body oJf 
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to Haidarahad, under the escort of a number or men. At 
the same time he sent an army in seureh of th~ villains 
who had committed such a murderous aut.• 

Seeing that the M1r's star was rising, most of the chiefs 
of the opposite side, like Alnh Bakhsh Jhinjnn, Muham­

. mad Hasan Khuhawar and :Melm'Lb Jat6i, came and paid 
homage to btm. The Mir was too noble-minded to remem• 
ber their past behaviour, and readily pardoned them. 

We have seen that Muhammad Sarafraz wns already in 

llubammad S or air• z, 
Atar Khan, llalun6d Kh6n 
and Mlr M.ubl\mmrH\ wur. 
de,..d in cold blood, by 
Abdunnabl at Bnirlar:lbad. 

the fort of HaidaniMd. He had his 
two sons Atur Khun and :Mir Mu­
hammad with him. Ris brother, 
1\lahmud Kh:in, whom the Mirs had 
raised to the throne aftt•r Muhammad 

Sarafraz's flight, being decoyed by the rebel chief, had 
subsequently joined them in the fort. Mian G bulam 
Nabi had purposely kept them there, ns he knew them all 
to be claimants to the tlHone. Ghul{tm N abf's brother 
Abdunnabi, who bad charge of them all, learning of his 
brother's death, became ambitious to secure the vacant 
throne. He therefore lost no time in calling the band of 
Junejahs, who used to keep watch on the four noblemen, 
and instructing them to quietly despatch them. '!'he 
instructions were readily ('arried out and tho htads of 
four innocent men fell quickly to the ground. 

CHAPTER X. 

TliE RULB OF MIA
1
N ABDUNNADI' KHA'N.t 

Aft~r the recent victory Mlr Bijur fixed his head. 
"" A"' bl 11 d quarters at the new town of Khuda-
...... uuunna ca e b'd S . b h 

lrom Haid•rllbad by the a • eemg t at t e1·e was no other 
M!r and. proelaimod tho Kalh6rah chief living he was obli"'ed 
~~~ , 0 

to call the murderous Abdunnahi 
from Haidarabad to fill the throne, vacated by his bt·other. 

• The author of the Frerenamnh s~ys that M(r Bijar sn~v the Mian in 
his death agonies and expreBScd his grief. It it said that Miau asked 
him to put his brother Abdunnab( on tho throne. 

t The reign of this princo commenced in 1197 A.R. (1782 A.D.). 
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Abclunnnbi wns only too ready to obey the summons. He 
started immediately and .in one day arrived at Halnh 
Kand!,' wllere loe was met by the Mfr and other chiefs 
tho next morning. The M ian was led in a procession to 
the shrine of Makhdum Nub and there the turban of 
rulership wns placed on his head. He was then escorted 
to Khudabid in great pomp and lodged in the palace of 
Muhammad Sarafr:iz Khan. 

As might be expected, Mir Bijar became the chief 
:minister and counsel of the new ruler; consequently the 
administration of ~ltate affairs was carried on on just and 
!mproved principles, to the great happiness of the people 
m general. 

The first act of the new ruler was to call Alah Baksh 
Jhinjan to his presence in an open 

A lab B•k•h Jhinjan nnd t h ) ' f h' d' 
Tajah Llkhl made po-i•onon. court, o reproac um or ts ts, 

· loyalt.y in taking the side of the 
villnnious Llkhl against his own masters, and to order his 
confinement. JI.I eanwhile Tajah Likhi also fell into the 
hands of the Mir's forces. The wretehed man was 
brought in chains to the .Mian together with his children 
and nea~ relatives. As the Mian had the murder of his 
iunocent brother fresh in his memory, he ordered his 
execution. 'l'he nnble-minded Mir forgt'tting his rpvenge, 
came foward to intercecle for him. lie entreated the 
1\liim to pardon him ao d his life was spared. 

Since the time of Mian Sarafraz Khan the revenue of 

1 
Sind had declined considerablv, and 

Tho king'o ormy un< er tl h fi d 1 t' 'b t ~z, ... tyar t\hnn invnd"" dind conscquen y t e xe annua r1 u e 
ond is ,lrf.,nt.d by tho Mlr could not be paid re"'U}arly into the 
in the District of Shilulrpur. l t It 0 ted roy a reasury. was represcn 
to king Taimur Shaht by certain envious people that the 
Bal6ch tribe was in great power in Sind; that an Abbasi 
chief had been made a nominal ruler ; that the reins of 
government were really in Mir Bijar's hands, who had 
become very powerful and headstrong ; that he would 

• The tOIY1). of H~lnh was so called. 
t This was tho youugor son of Ahmad Shoth Dnr~ni, who coming from 

Khurnaun, loud dof011ted his eldor brother Sulnimnn Sbf.h, who had been 
elected to tho throue nud had proclaimed himself the kiug. 
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not be disposed to pay annual tribute; and that he would 
not come to his senses unless he was chastised for his 
arrogance. Naturally the king was angry and or?ered 
an expedition against Sind, under the leadersh1p of 
Izzatyar Khan, who was an Abbasi himself and had been 
with t.he king as an hostage for some years past, being a 
cousin of Mian Abdunuahi Khan. As he had been a 
candidate for the vacant throne, the king- appointed him 
as ruler, to the exclusion of Abdunnabl Khan, who had 
been elected by the Mir. An army of ten thousand men, 
t·onsisting of Durini and Blibarf Afghans under the com. 
mand of MahfUz Khan, was ordered to accompany 
Izzatyar Khan. Kamruddln, the king's agent fo1· the 
Derahs • was directed to defray the expenditure of the 
expedition from the revenue of that Division, and also to 
furnish an additional force of Afghans and Bal6ches. 
Hearing of this movement, the Kb6sahs, who lived about 
the place, and who had a tribal feud with the Mirs, 
collected in vast numbers and joined the nel"ly appointed. 
ruler. At the same time, royal orders were is~ued to the 
Governors of Multan and Shikarpur, as well as to the 
chiefs of the DaUdp6t1hs and Br6his, t to assist Izzatyar 
Khan as far as lay in their power. 

When the above detachments assembled, the number 
reached to 30,000. Izzatyar Khan now· addressed the 
following letter to Mir Bijat· Khan-" 0 brave chief, you 
must know that Ahdunnabl has been set aside by the 
king and I am appointed in hi8 place. If you come and 
pay allegiance to me you will continue as the fortunate 
possessor of administrative powers as hitlwto. I am not 
a stranger. I am a grandson of Khudayar Khan. But 
if you will not submit and ~eek to fight with me, then 
you will gain nothing and cause the death of many 
innocent people for nothing." To this, M ir Bijar sent 
the following reply-" I am obliged to you for the letter. 
You have taken the trouble of coming to Sind as a 
claimant to the. throne, but you must know, that you 
eome to :fight with your own uncle, who is like a father 
to you. I am pledged to remain faithful to him. Victory 

• Derabs Ghllzi Khdn nnd Iamilll Kh&n. 
t That is, the rulers of Balulwalpur and Kalat. 
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and def~at are in the hands of God, I am bound to stand 
by Miim .Abdunnaoi. I shall soon be with you, alon"' 
with my master, and so good bye for the present." 

0 

lHr Bijar now called his brave Bal6ches, who numbered 
ahoirt. 18,000 men. He starLed with that force, in the 
comp~ny of Miim A briunnabi Khan. After hasty marches, 
he arrin•d at 16hri on the river. • Two hundred boats 
11ere ready and a bridge was instantly put on the river. 
In one or tiro days, the whole force passed over· and came 
to Shikarpur, where the enemy'a forces bad halted. 
Be!'ore Ion~, martial music sounded, flags were seen 
moving, and the .Afghan and Bal6ch adversaries joined 
in a clos!' fight. .A fierce battle raged now, as there were 
brave soldiers on both the sides.t .After all, the Afghan 
force gave way and was 8ucceeded by the Kh6sahs, who 
too did nrot stand the Bal6cb charge very long but were 
put to flight in great confusion, after a large number of 
them had been cut to pieces. J zzatyar Khan and Mahfuz 
Khan saved themselve~ hy gall(lping away on fleet horses, 
leaving behind their tents, elephants, and othE>r baggage. 
They did not halt till they had joined the king's camp. 

Some of the Afghan chiers, including the Governor of 
Shik1it·pur, took shelter within the walls of the fort, to 
which the victorious army of the Mian and the Mir now 

. la;d siege. It soon fell into their hands. The Mir issued 
· an order preventing his ~oldiers, on pain of death, from 
plundering the plnce, or harming the inmates, because, 
.said he. "This is the city of the king and we are all his 
sel'vants." '!'he next morning, all the Afghan chiefs were 
called one by one and asked to give their names and 
parer.tage. After this ceremony was gone through each 
of them was presented with a dress of honour, a horse and 
way expense&, and dismissed.t 

• R6hri was so called, then. 

t 'l'he poetical nuthor of the Fntehn&mah ~haracterizes this battle 118 a 
fight between lions on one side and tigers on the other. 

~ The above event ooeurred iu 1196 .!.H. (1781 .A.. D.) • 

• 305-23 
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. The recent defeat of the Afglui.ns gave ample opportu. 
nity t.o the Mir's enemies to excite 

The kinghim•ellm•rrhea J f tl k' 'l'b • 'd I towArds Sind •nd Mlr Bljtlr t le anger 0 lC mg. <y 11a1 Ill 
proceed• fro111 Shikarpur to had been disrespectful to the king 
P"Y ""poct.o to him. and arrogant, and that unless the 
kin" himself marched against him and made an exam piA 
of him for other chiefs, the prestige of royalty would 
be irretrievably despised and lost. Accordingly, king 
'l'aimllr Shah started with a Iar!?e army for Sind, with 

· }Iahfuz Khan in his company. When Mh\.n Abdunnahi 
Khan and M'~r llijar got this news, they cool!~· sent their 

· man to L6hr1, ~throw a bridge of boats on the river for the 
king to pass over. Proceeding a few stages fr()m Shikarpur 
the Mir sent a letter to the king, in a very re~peotful tonP, 
telling him that his enemies hnd ~landered him to his 
majesty, that .he was stiU true and loyal to him and thu t 
after he had paid his respects to him and given proofs of 
faithfuluess personally, his maje,;ty would be satisfied with 
his conduct. .At the same time the kin~ also heard that a 
bridge of boats had been prepared at L6hri for him to pass 
over. The ki11g received this letter atabout two stages from 
Sbikarpur. His anger was much appeased and his heart 
inclined to the Mlr. Shnrtly after this, the king was mE>t by 
the Mir, who bad come with 30,000 Bal6ches to receive him . 
.A short conversation was enough to show to the king that 
what the enemies of the Mir had spc;ken to him Hganist 
the Mlr was all false and that the .M·ir was really a wise 
man and a brave soldier. Seeing the king's kindness 
towards the :Mir, the latter's enemies in the king's camp 
began . to fear for their own safety. · Foremost of all 
Mahfuz Khan earnestly entreated the king to return fr·om 
there without proceeding to Sltikarpur. The king con­
sented to do so. He wrote a letter to Mhin Abdunnabi, 
confirming him as ruler of Sind, pardoning the Mir for 
his fighting with the royal forces, and calling upon him to 
be rPgular in sending the usual tribute. When this letter 
was received by Mi<i.n Abdunnabi, Mir Bijar returned 
to Shikarpur. 

After a short time two Hindu Rajputs, Rath6rs by 
, • .. caste, came as envoys from the 

tr~'h:;. of Mit ,Bljir by Rajah of Jodhpur, to Mi~n .Abdun· 
· nab!. They began to visit the Mian 

and the Mlr by turns. One day, these two treacherous 
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Hindus came to Mlr BiJar and told him that thev h"d a 
confidential letter of their Maharajah with them, the · 
contents of which they wanted to communicate to him in 
private. '!'hey hinted to him that the Rajnh of J6dhpur 
bad received some secret letters from Miim Abdunnabi 
speaking ill of the Mfr. They said the letter referred to, 
was in the Hindf character and so no other person could 
read it to the Mir except themselves. They therefore 
wanted to be with him alone in private. This was ar· 
ranged and Mir Bijar was left alone in the company of 
the two envoys, who had two attendants with them. The 
Iutter, however, sat at a respectful distanee, together with 
a native Hindu by name I'sar, who had brought the report 
of the envoys to him. The two envoys sat very close to 
the Mfr and one of them taking out a letter began to read 
it. He faltered, pretendin~ not to be able to read or 
understand the writing. So his companion drew close to 
him. They then took the letter to the Mir, trying to 
point out the writing to him. While doing so they thrust 
their daggers, which they had concealed in the folds of 
their dress, into the Mir's bosom. 'l'he blood began to 
flow in the room. The Mlr jumped up in an instant and 
with the sword lying by his side, cut the four treacherous 
HindUs into halves. Then be fell down dead almost im. 
mediately, before any help could arrive. At the time of 
death the Mir expressed his pleasure at sharing th~ same 
fate that had attended his own father and brother, and 
the grandsons of the Prophet, 'l!iz., Hasan and Husain. 
'l'bus died the wisest, bravest and most pious nobleman, 
that Sind had ever produced. • 

On the death of Mir Bijar, he was succeeded by his 
son Mir Abdul!!~ h. as the head of the 

Flight. ofl!lan Abdunnabt Bal6ch tribe. He was however not 
to Klllao out of fear. • f h' f th • present at the time o IS a t:r s 
death, t and Mlr Fateh Khan, being the eldest rela~ion of 
the late Mlr, conducted the mourning 'ceremony, till Mir 
Abdullah joined him. Mfr Abdullah was a worthy son of 

• This Slid avent ocourred in the year 1194. A.H. according to Frere­
namah (1781 A.D.) 

t About thia time the clerah or reeidence of the Mira was at Shahd~· 
pur, as already mentioned. 
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a worthy father and· possessed all the virtues of his late 
father. It was soon knowrr. to the l\Il1'S that the death 
of Mir Bijar wns at the instigation of Mian Abdunnuhi,* 
a fact which they could not easily bE>lieve, knowing I ull 
well that the late Mlr had done nothing to deserve su<·h 
treatment at the l1ands of his lord and master. '!'hey 
however thought it proper, to go and pay respect'! to the 
Mian, after the mourning ceremony wns Ol'er. Accord­
in~?ly Mir Fateh Khan (Mir S6bdar's son), und r.lir 
Suhrab, (Mir Chakar's son) accompanied their new chief 
Mir Abdulhih, to the 1\Han. Miau Abdunnabi, who hud 
been. stung by his own concience and feu red the revenge 
of the Bal6ches, believing tllat the Pa'l6ch chiefs were 
determined to murder him, left his palace during the night, 
attend~d by 200 of Lis confid.-nti:ll attendnJits from 
amongst the Jat6is, Jhinjans and others, on fleet horses. 
With the necessary provisions and gold loaded on caml'is, 
he started for the river, which he crossed hastily 1 and 
then, with the help of the Nuhmardfst of Knnk6r left for 
Kahit. At the same tin:.e, he sent his sons to the Rajah 
of J6dhp1ir. 

When the Mirs learnt this, tl1ey thought it proper to 
remove fear from the Mian's miud, as they nev<'r meant 
to do any harm to Mm. Accordingly, they sent some 
trustworthy men of theirs with the K6ran to the M.ill.n, 
with the following mes~age. "The word of God is 
between you and us, and we swear by it that we have no­
suspicions against you and that we mean you no harm. 
Moreover some of your councillors are very mis('hiel'ious, 
and though. they appear to be your friends; are really 
your enem1es. Eeware of .them .. They take yon from 
door. to door and make you a be~ gar before strangers. 
Avord them and return to your own country and rule it 
as before. You will never find loyal men like us in the 
whole world." . 

The solemn messsage WAS dulv delivered to Mian 
Abdunnabi, but his councillors dld not advise him to 

•It is believed tbnt for these scrvim, the Minn ga"c Ulllllrliot to th';; 
Rajah of J 6dhpnr • 

... J N~hmnrJi is th~ Pcl'llinu Lau:c uf the hilly li·iL~ Letter k1,,11111 "" 
"' umruu;, 
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comply with tl1e request. On the return of the messengm, 
thereforl', tbe Mir called Ids companions to put some ruler 
on t.he vanant throne. 'Jhe chief men of the Kalh6ral1s 
had already bl'en murderl'd and none remained fl'Orn 
whom to select for the purpose. One Sadikali Fakir, • 
a kinsmnu of tile late rulers, who "·ns said to be a 
1·~~reotable nr.d sensible person, livPd in retiremeot' nr. 
Khat, on the river. The Mir therefore took a detachment 

·of soldiers with him and went to escort him to the capital. 
Arrived at the place, he placed the turban of rult•rship on 
ltiR head, and brl)ught him on an elephant to the city 
with }JOmp and glory. 

CHAPTER XI. 

THE RULE oF :MIA'N SA'DIK Atr' KHA'N, 

Mian S:idik Ali Khan was plnct>d on lhe throne, hut as 
Mian s&<iik All Khiln he was a pious man, he did ?Ot ft>t>l in­

electod by btio· A.~dnlluh to <'lined to engage much lD worldly 
be tho ruler of Sond. affairs, 1111d so the whole burden of 
managing the State affairs fell on ;\-lir Abdullah Khan. 
'Jh~ latter tried his best to give ~atisfaction to the people 
hy having rt~course to jmt rnPaBures. Be repPaled the 
poll-tax and n bolished tltP giving of presents to ruiNs, 
which wrre in VO!!Ue at that time and had much 
incomenienced the ·people. As tlte fact was proclnimt>d 
throug-hout the proviHce, the people 11 P.re vuy glad aud 
felt grateful to the :Mir. 

Aftor a ~hort time news wns receivecl that a large army 
sent by Bnjesing, the Rajnh of J6dhpur, was coming from 
the eaft to invnde Sind, 1ond another sent by Muhammad 
Nasir Khan of Kalat, with Mian Ahdunnabi was marching 
from the north, joined by the mercenary forces of the 

· Nuhmardis. The Mir summoned his friends for consulta-

• The reader may observe that nbout this time Fakir was 11 respectable 
term or title for a courtier or a follower of the Kalh6rah chiefs, who 
were looked upon as spiritual guidPM. On the tombs of the old T!llpurs 
an.! Mit'S. tho word Fnki'r is inscribrd instead of Mir as on the tombs 
ncar Shuhpur in the tink rnnd Taluknh. 
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tion and after some discus~ion they defet·min~d to face the 
army of J 6dhpur and then to m~et the .IMhis. Prepara· 
tions were hurriedly made and on the third day the forces 
were in motion towards the sandy desert. 

When the Bal6ch forces left Khudabad, Milin Sadik 
.Ali K:han himself joined them along 

n.r .. t of the J6dbpur with Mir Abdullah Khan, who wa$ 
fol'C<ll by the M.lr. h C d ' 01 ' f ' I t e om;:;;.an er-m. ne of t 1e same. 
They passed the waterl~ss desert easily as they had carried 
their own supply of water with them, and came to a hilly 
tower, where they found about 100 men arm~d with 
golden muskets posted io it. They were Rajahs and 
Chiefs of the ll.ath6r tribe, among whom the most promi. 
nent were Bajesing's son and son-in-law. On the ground 
had assembled an innumerable army, who, when they saw 
the Bal6ches, flattered themselves with the belief that the 
latter had been brought to the place by fate never to 
return alive. 

Mir Abdullah now prepared to make an at.tack and 
began to array his army. Be himself h(~adtd the central 
division, while he put Mir l<'ateh Ali and M ir Suhrab on 
the two wings. 'Ihe advance gu.trd was given in chargll 
of the veteran Mlr Fateh Khan, with Mirz6 l<'akir* and 
his son Bagbah as his assistant, and consisted chiefly of 
Nizamanls and J amalis and Ligbarfs. ~'he kettle drums 
began to beat, the pipes began to play and Wal'-cries rose 
in the air. At first the fight went on with guns, subse· 
quently swords were brought in use, .A very severe battle 
ensued. It was a battle between the Bal6clws and 
Rajput.B. 

At last Mir 'FatPh Ali Khan gainl'd the upper hand on 
his side and the Rath6rs were put to flight. Soon they 
were followed by others, and a general route ensued. In 
a short time the field was clear of the enemy, who disap• 

. peared leaving a large number of Hindus dead and 
wounded, together with their heavy baggage. Valuable 
booty fell into the hands of the victorious Bal6chas,-tents, 
carpets, guns, elephants, camels, etc. The solid golden 
armlets alone, removed from the arms of the dead, were 

. enough to cheer the hearts of the Bal6ch conquerors. 

•He was called "Sultan Jang" as related in tho Frerenamllh. 
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'l'be conquerors bad hal'dly taken rest when a camelman 
Abdunnablwith tl1eBr6hl brought to t!Jrir camp a letter from 

'""' .. defeated by the Mir Mlr .Fatt•h Ali's brother Mir Gbulam 
•t the Chlilak B•idge. Ali, iuforming them that Mi!m 
Abdunnabi hnd arrived as far as Ladkanab with a Bor6bi 
fore~>, that had been given to him by Muhammad Nasir, 
the Khan of Kahl.t, under the command of his son-in-law 
Zarak, on the understanding that the Mian, when rein~· 
tared, would give him, in r(•turn, 3 laks of rupees and 
!iome part of his country; and that the 11rmy bad been 
joined by l\l~hrab and Dhingannh Jat6is and by the Jhinj· 
nns, Kh6sahs, N uhmardis and other tribes. When Mir 
Abdulhih got this news, he did not ungirdle himself. He 
also rrquired his comrades not to do so either. Without 
losing time, he startPd from there in the direction of the 
enemy whom he met at the bridge of Cbalak. There he 
halted opposite the enemy's camp, Mian A hdunnabi, 
believing that the Bal6ches had arrivbd there after hard 
travelling and that they must be exhausted with fatigue, 
advised his friends to attack them immediately and thus 
to gain an advantage over them. Hastily therefore they 
drew up their army in three divisions, the centre being 
led bv Miarl Abdunnabi himself with the forces of the 
Jat6i~ and the Kh6sahs, the rh:ht wing consisting of the 
Kala tis or Hr6bfs uncler Zarak and the left of N uhmardis. 
Seeing the advance of the enemy in the above orrler, Mir 
Abdullah likewise' divided his army in three divisions. 
He made Mian Sadik Ali Khan who had been brought on 
an elephant to the battle.field, with Mirz6 Fakir and 
his son Bngbah, go against Abdunnabf Khau. Mir Fateh 
Khan with the force of Nizamanis was appointed to fight 
with the Nuhmardis; while he himself with his cousin 
Mir Fateh Ali Khan on his right and Mir Suhrab Khan 
on his left, determined to meet the Br6his. The battle com· 
menced with guns. After a brisk contest Mir Fateh Khan's 
forces were pushed back. The Mir had received a bullet. 
wound in the last battle with the Rajputs and that had 
more or less disabled him from ,fighting actively. At the 
same time Abdunnabi gained the upper band over the 
column under Mian Sadik All and drove it back. Seein~r 
this state of things Mir Abdullah re-doubled his courage 
and called on his cousins to do the same. 'lhey left their 
horses and sword-in-hand made a vigorous attack on the 
centre of the enemy causing great confusion and killing 
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z~rak Br6hl, llehrah .Tat6i and a nnmber of oth('r veteran 
soldiers. 'l'he result was that the enemy lied in confusion 
h~wing much booty for the Ba16ches. Once more victor· 
ious, the Mian and the Mir returned to Khudab:id. 

Mir Abdullah Khan now got an ample opportunity of 
.. b' b attending to pt·aceful measm·es for 
m.lan A .. unn• I return• ' ~·[ ] '] M' AI 

wi•b roinlorcomente u•dor the COUntry. J.> eanw 11 e Ian l• 

Mod•d ~h&n Afghan and dunnabi returned to Ka!Ut., when he 
other ebiete. heard that Sardar .Madad Khan 

. Afghan had come to Baha.walpur, the country of Muham­
mad B·Iha.wal, the chief of the Daudp6tahs, with a large 

.army from the camp of the King, and that out of feat·, 
Muhamma·l Bahawal had left his capital and gone away •. 
Ahrlunnabi sent a. trustworthy me~senger to the Sardar 
with rich presents and splendid promises of gold, telling 
him that he h'ld been driven away by the Bal6clws from 
his country and asking him to kindly help him. At tho 
~nme tim!', he sent mPssengPrs one after another to the 

·King's carnp calling Mahfuz Khan to hi~ a~si~tance. 
Orders were issued by the king to Madad Khan to take 
the army to Sind. Accordingly the Sardar came to Sind 
and was met by Ahdunnabi with thA forces of Br6his 
and Nuhmardis. Madad Khan informed him that he had 
to defray the ex:pe11ses of the expedition from the time he 
had Mt Bahawalpur and that half of the money promised 
should be given tc him at once in advance and the .other 
bali might be given later on. Immediately Tahsildars 
were appointed by him to d!'mand and receive the money. 
Abdunnabi being thus pressed very hard, had no alterna· 
tive but to tell Sardar Madad Kh!m, that he had his va.qt 
treasur~s buried within his fort, that as soon as it was 

· taken from the enemy, the treasur~s would be at his 
. disposal, meanwhile the spoils gathered by the Afghans 
in the country would be enough to supply provisions for 
the army. Knowing that these were false promises, 
::Madad Kban called Abdunnabi's chief advisera Bilawal 
son of Tajah Likhl, Tajah Samtiah and one other person• 
to put them in chains. Next he ordered them to be put 
in the stocks, and as he marched on to the capital of Sind, 

. he ordered the prisoners to be tortured in order to extract 
the truth from them about the treasures. 

• This 11'118 the chief gate· keeper by name Budbah, according to the 
Frerenwh. · 
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'M'adad Kban came on like a wi!d.Jmrricane plundering 
ll!r Abnuhlh ndvances the country and devastating towns 

'W meet Mudnd Khau in tho and villages in his way. When he 
'Open field. 'crossed the river, heart-rending 
eomplaints were carried by the puor people to Mir Abdullah 
Khan, who thought bimself b'tlund by duty to remove 
their grievances. He held a council with his kinsmen and 
proposed an immediate march to meet the Afghan Sardar 
and checkmate him. l\Hr Fateh Ali and Mir Suhcib 
seconded him in his proposal, but the old Mir Fateh Khan 
did not join them in it. His brief argument was that the 
king was the shadow of God and 'that they should not 
draw swords against the king's army. But the young 
Mirs thought that the king should have God-like virtues 
in him; that he should be merciful towards his subjects 
and that it was inconsistent with. his duty to allow poor 
people to be plundered, or to levy cruel tax€:8 for his 
own pleasure. In short Mir Abdullah, accompanied 
by Mirs Fateh Ali, Ghuhi.m All and Suhrab started, 
leaving behind Mir Fateh Khan and Mirz6 Fakir with 
some of the Nizamani chiets, who had taken his side. 
After Mir Abdulhih Khan had travelled for ~wo stages, 
tbe old generals left behind became very uneasy without 
them, and regretted not having joined them at the outset. 
They therefore hastened to follow them, and overtaking 
them, entreated the Mir with· the Koran in their hands, 
not to attack the king's army without ceremony, but to 
halt at the place for some days and let the enemy 
commence hostilities and be the first to assault, and then, 
they said, they might do what they liked in de~ence. 

The Mir agreed to adopt the policy suggested by Mir 

Th 
,

11 
k 

1 
Fateh Khim and made a long halt, 

e " r mn °8 & ong h h h d ' d k' h•lt, and Madnd !{bon senda W ere 6 a arriVe 1 ma IDg pre• 
envoy• to tho Mir for pence parations meanwhile for the coming 
and then goea to KhudlluD.d. S . f . . d fight. oon m ormatiOn was receive 
that Sardar Madad Khan had arrived within 12 miles of 

. the Mfr's camp. While the Mirs were girding up their 
loins, Madad Khan hearing that his adversary was so very 
near, became more careful about himself and his camp. 
A column of Br6his and Nuhmardis was sent to recon· 
noitre, and the advance guard was at once tripled. He 
hastily summoned a council of war and came to the 
conclusion that an attempt should be first made to bring 

1130~-~, 
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about peace with the Mir. Accordingly a Babari Chief, 
with the Sardar's Chief Secretary, were sent as envoys tQ 
the Mir with the following tnesslge: " I know that you, 
one an.d all, are brave warriors and wise men .. Abdun. 
nab! is a fool and a mischievous person and is assisted by 
men who are false and treacherous. I have already 
punished them by putting three of them in chains. My 
~equest is that you should go back to your native places. 
I am coming with these fools to Khudabad as they say 
they have buried thE'ir treasures in the fort of Haidarabad. 
l know it is a lie and I wish to prove it so. For, then, I 
ehall be able to report against them to the king and speak 
in. yotu favour. I swear that I consider you all my 
~iends and have no ide~~o Qf fighting with you.'' 

When the above message was delivered by the envoys, 
the Mir gave robes of honour and horses to them. In 
reply the following message was sent to the Sardar through 
Alahdad' and mun~hi Anbratrai, two chief attendants of 
t;he Mlr :-'1 We are obedient servants to the king and 
eonsider you to be our friPnd, or rather a near relative, in 
the position of an uncle. Some envious t9ngues may have 
spoken against us to the king but we entertain hopes that 
you will kindly set the matter :tight. As you advise, we 
are ready to go back, but .)lefore receiving your message 
we had sworn not to turn away from our adversaries. S() 
long therefore, as your army remains there, in opposition 
to us, the oath cannot be broken by our turning back. If 
:really you intend to march on to Khudabad, you may do 
so going along the river. After you pas~ another way, 
we shall be free and will then move to U mark6t, where 
our baggage is already lying." 

Sardar Madad Khan agreed to this and sent back the 
Mir's en:voys with ptesents. He then ordered the Nuh· 
mardfs to take the lead and guide on his army. · Muham· 
mad Nasir's Br6hi column followed the NuJnnardfs and 
he bimsel{ with his Afghans went behind the Br6h!s. In 
this or<lel' the royal army moved to Khudabad, where it 
a.:rri:ve!l in one day and night, 

1 J\,lahdad Llk4i was brother to TaJ'h Lik4.t 



As soon as they arrived at the capital, Abdunnabl 
Oppre .. ion of ~l•d•d was pressed to produce the treasures 

Kb'n aud ~bdunnobl on the promised by him. To satisfy thie 
people of Smd. d d bd bi , eman A unna was obliged t() 
send his men to collect gold and silver, wherever they 
could find them. Madad KM11 also left his own men t~> 
their own ways to go about plundl1ring towns and villa..,es 
and securing by force whatevrr valuables they could ftnd 
~itb the people. A reign of terror now commenced. 
Every one, h1gh or low, rich or poor, was beaten and 
deprived of his property, "even to the clothes on their 
persons, to .the shoes in their feet and to the mats in their 
houses," • not to mention other kinds of oppression and 
cruelty, that wert~ practised on them by these unprincipled 
and unchecked villains. Cries and wailings went up to 
Heaven from every direction and all prayed to God for 
immediate relief and mercy. t 

When Mir Abdullah Khan heard at trmark6t that the 
l!lr .lbdullah leaves people of Sind were being treated 

Umnrk6t with alorge army mercilessly at the hands of the mixed. 
to help the pcopl• to oppoe• hordes of AfgMns Br6bis Nubmardis 
Maded Kb,n. , ' I and Smdis, he was very sorry at 
having followed Mir Fateh Khan's advice in not opposing 
the Afghan Sardar at the outset. He therefore again 
called his cousins Mirs Fateh Ali and Ghulam Ali and 
his uncle Mir Suhrab and after some close consultation 
determined to march against Madad Khan, disregarding 
the dissentient voice of the old Mfr Fateh Khan. Im· 
mediate orders were issued for the expedition and the 
army was ready before the next morning. Mir Fateh 
Khan perceiving the movements of Mfr Abdullah came 
with his comrades and joined him at the very first stage. 
'!'he Mir reproached him openly for his mistaken policy 

• The quotation. is from the Fatehnamo.h. 

t" About this time (1781) broke out the rebellion of tho Tnlpooriell, 
• which ended in the e1pulaion of the Governor of Sind. Iv the courso of 

the next year, the king (Timour Shllh) sent a force under M!ldnd Khl\11 
to roduco the insurgente, which soon o~erran. the whole province. The 
'l'alpoorioe retireu to their original desert, and the other inhabitant• 
appear to have fled to hills and jungles to avoid the Dooraneo army. 
:!.hdad Khan laid waste the country with fire and 8\Vord ; and so severS' 
were his ravages, that a dreadful famine followed his campaign, and tht 
province of Sind is said not yet to hnve recovered from what it suffered 
on that occasion."-Elphinatone'a Cabul. 
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and held him responsfl1Ie for the grievance! of liis. 
countrymen. Mi.r Fateh Khan, thou~h admitting the 
ll'isdom and advisability of the expedition, still rewm· 
mended the amicable settlement of affair bv words inst~ad 
of arms. But the Mi.r quietly pursued his~ own plans and 
started straight for Khudabad being still accompanied by 
Mi.r Fateh Khan, who did not like to _!:emain behind his 
chief. 

When Sardar Madad Khan heard of the approach of the 

C d b 
Mlr's forces he became restless. He 

orrespon enee etw .. n· • d d h d' 
the ll!r and ~Iadnd Khan tssue urgent or cr~ to mnrc , an 
·~d the di~agroementof Mir the next morning hA left' Khudabad 
hteh KhOn. and encamped a bout 6 miles from the­
Mir's camp. Here 'Mir Abdulh\.h st·nt the following 
message to the Sardar, through his envoy Alahdad-" You 
were a great chief and I trusted your word. I never' 
thought that you would say one thing and do another. 
You may be powerful, but that is no ren~on why yuu 
should oppress the poor people and make them feel your 
power. All are creatures of the same God and ~·ou should 
fear that God or else His punishment will overtake you,. 
sooner or later.'' · 

When the Sardar got this messng~, be was much 
ashamed. He sent the loll owing reply to the Mir with his 
own confidential men. "0! noble .l!llr, your words are 
:noble. You are doubtless young in years, but old in wisdom 
and experience. I value your achice and I myself do ll<lt 
like to oppress the creatures of God. As Abdunnabi 
'\\'ould not give me the promised gold or ev.en pmvisions 
f(,r the army, the latter was obliged to go about plunder· 
in g. Properly speaking, it is he who is responsible to God 
for this oppr~s~ion and not I. As for my words of honour 
and the promise made by me, I assure you that I have 
rE·peatedly sent letters to his majesty, recommending you to 
be the administrator of this country, on condition that you 
should regularly send the fixed tribute to the royal coffers. 
1 undertake to do the desirable, but if you are faithful to 
the king and true to me, come to visit me, who am your 
guest, with your kinsmen Fateh Ali, Fat~h Khan and 
Suhnib. But in tLe first place disband your army, for 
that will he the proof of your faithfulness to the king. 
Thereby you will gain your objeCt, and your enemies will 
be greatly disappointed.'' · 
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When t.Ms messnge was received, Mfr Abdulhih declared 
his inability to .agree to it, as he said he could not dismiss 
his men, wh() were all his brothren and castefellows and 
would be offen:ded with him for doing so. Mir Fateh Khan, 
however. ngam appeared ready to second the Sardar's 
suggestion. Mir Abdullah therefore in consultation with 
Mirs Fateh Ali, Ghulam Ali and Suhnib, started with 
their army to meet the enemy in the open field. At the 
same time they nominally called Mfr Fateh Khan to join 
them, but the latter turned his face from them, and rode 
away towards Um·•rk6t with his. bmd headed by Baghah 
Fakir. After a quick march Mir Abdullah with his men 
arrived at Dlngn.rh and encamped there. 

When Sal'dar Madad Kh{m heard about tho disagree-
.sar.t&r Monad Kh&u goe!l ment between the Mirs, he tried to 

to Urnnrk6t whcr• Mlr take advanta"'e of their rupturP 
Fateh Khan is induced to H t 0 h d u k a· 
vi•it him and to fall in • e a once marc e to mar 6t an 
trop, hut he .,.n•g•• to sent fl.atterin"' messaO't>S to Mir ~>ateh 

" 0 J: 
••capo. Khan, calling him to visit him and 
promising to get him an honourable position. Mir Fateh 
Kban agreed but wanted some assurance. Immediately 
Surdar Nawab Jang was sent by the Sardar, accompanied by 
:Muhammad Hasan, sent on behalf of Abdunnabf to pledge 
wOt·d for their masters. They induced Mir Fateh Khan 
to come and pay respects to the Sardar, and the Mlr 
instantly went to Sardar's tent. After ex:changiug m·dinary 
compliments, the S:udar, a.t first, treated him like an equal, 
and kept him pleased with words. After they hail travel!· 
ed a few stages and encamped at L6hri, the Sardar showed 
his true colours. He charged the Mir with having been 
a rebel, and called upon him to pay two lakr of rupees to 
secure pardon and freedom. The ~Iir had no alternative 
but to agree to pay the amount. The Sardar next asked 
him abount the whereabouts of Mir Abdullah and his 
kinsmen Mir Fateh Ali and Suhrab, telling him at the 
same time to write to them and to call them, or else he 
would be punished. Dumb with fear, Mir Fateh Khan 
wrote the letter dictated by the Sardar and despatched it 
with a camelman to Mir Abdullah. Mir Fateh Khan 
coming to his own tent, a guard of 50 men was put over 
him, to watch his movements. The Mir now, for the first 
time saw that he had committed a blunder in deserting 
Mir Abdull!ih. He knew that the latter_ would care very 
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little for the letter sent by him, and could already imagine 
what tortures he would receive after the reply was received. 
He therefore determined to escape by some means. He 
selected a few horsemen from among hi~ followers and told 
them outwordly to go to such and such a village and to 
bring such and such aHiudu, that he might take money from 
him to give to the S:mhir. Secretly, however he instructed 
them to wait in a particular place with some fleet horses. 
The next night when the guards went to sleep, the Mir 
made one of his men sleep in his own bed and putting on 
a watchman's dress left the place and was scon with the 
men waiting for him. They galloped hard and did not 
rest till they had arrived at the camp of Mir Abdullah, 

When the day broke, the Sardar heard of the escape of 
Modad Khm 80,. from Mir b'~~oteh Khan. Men were sent in 

L<lhrl to D~ngarh wbm \he all directions in search of him, but 
Mir'• ••mp ;.,, they returned unsuccessful. Be soon 
learnt that the Mir had safely. joined his kinsmen at 
Dingarh. His anger knew no bounds and he had the 
watchmen beheaded. Forthwith he left 16hri and came 
to Ubaorah, where be made a halt. From there be sent 
messengers to M!r Abdullah, expressing his friendship 
towards him and advising him not to believe Mir Fateh 
Khan, who had not yet seen much of him and did not 
know his intentions. " I am anxious " said be, " to meet 
you, as I have Abdunnahi with me and I have sworn with 
him to bring o11t reconciliation between you and by way 
of recommendation to give his band into yours. I there· 
fore urgently request you to meet me. Should you have 
any misgiving~ about me, here, I ~end the K6ran to you 
to assure you of my truthfulness. :My objeet simply is 
that this misunderstanding between you both should be 
removed and that there should be peaee in· this country. 
For, then, I can go back light-ruinded to the king and 
satisfy him fully about you." 

The Mfr was wise enough to see through the crafty 
words of the cunuiog Sardar. His reply was therefore 
short and to the point. "I am a man of one word, and 
I have said already what I had to say. If I bad no regard 
for the king, I would, ere this, have come to you to set 
matters right." Immediately he asked Mir Fateh Ali to 
make preparations for war and sent word to the Sardar to 
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expect him very soon. When Madad Khan got this reply, 
be hecamo very impatient. He determined to leave the 
country for good and that very day crossed the river. He 
dismissed Abdunnabf to shift for himself, but he caniPd 
with him his three friends who had been prisoners with 
him.• 

-
CHAPTER XII. 

Tll.E RULE OP MIA'N ABDUNN'!l3f AGAIN, 

Left alone and helpless, Abdunnab! thought of trying 
A~dunn•bl is reeonciled to. be re~oncil~d t~ the Mfr. With 

to the Ml.r and is ogain ,.. th1s obJect m v1ew, he deputed 
cognized •• • ruler. J3aghah Fakir son of Mirz6 Fakir to 
go to the Mfr and settle matters. At the same time he 
entreated Muhammad J3ahaual, the chief of the Daud· 
p6tabs to help him in the affair. FazlaH Khan's help was 
also sought in the same way.t Muhammad J3ahawal sent 
his brother Sardar Khan, whC> accompanied by Fazlall and 
other chiefs, went to the Mir. Abdunno.bi even succeeded 
in enlisting th& sympathy of Mir Fateh Khan, who 
undertook to speak in his favour. Abdunnabi sent a copy 
of the Karim to the M (r, with the following words written 
in his own handwriting on the margin of the book,-" I 
hereby commit to writing and swear by the word of God 
that henceforth, I shall remain true to the Mir and will 
not prove treacherous." When the Koran was brought to 
the Mir, he ~ot up before it, out of respect. He kissed 
it and placed it on his head. He read the words and 
accepted them to be true, though he still suspected 
treachery. For, there and then, he remarked to his cousin 
Mir Fateh Ali" J3rother, I lay my head as a sacrifice on 
the Koran. I may soon join my grandfather and father 
and uncle, and I leave my little children to your care. I 
hope you will treat them like a father." So saying the 
Mfr walked to the tent o.f Mian Abdunnabi, in the oom· 

• This occurred in •he ye!llll95 A. H. (1781 A.D.) according to the 
Freredtnllh. 

t FazlnH KMu was one of the Governors or subordinate chiefs of 
:Muhammad Bahilwnl Daudpotah (Frmnamah.) 
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pany of other nobl~.s. Abdunnab! apparently gave him a. 
very hearty receptwn. In the evenlllg he returned the 
visit to the .Mir and seemed to repent of what he had been 
doin"' so lon"'. Soon they became friends as before and 
trav~lled on °together, till they arrived at old KhudabUd. 
}Iian Abdunnab! was now treated as the ruler and the 
Mir went over to his court eVlll'Y day, as the fashion was, 
along with a few friends or attendants. Abdunnabi was 
secretly watc'hing for some opportunity to execute his 
nefarious plan. As, however, be could not yet succeed, 
be hit upon another treacherous plan. One night he put 
on the dress of a beggar and taking an attendant with 
him came privately to the Mir's residence. lie then 
add;essed him in the following manner,-" 0 l wise Mir, 
either kill me now or make me your prisoner. As I think 
you have not yet full faith in the Koran, or my writ.ing 
on it here I am alone and unarmed at your place. You 
com~ to my place with a large number of men, which 
shows that some suspicion still lurks in your mind about 
me. Now do whatever you like to me." 

The Mir was much ashamed. He gave worcl to him 
that in future he would.vioit him alone, as thereafter he 
had no fear of him. The next morning the .Mir sent 
away his~ followers and forces to his own dm·ak or 
residence, • along with his kinsmen and chiefs, Fateh Ali, 
Ghulam Ali, Suhrab, Alahyar, 'l'Mrah t and others. Only 
he himself, Mir Fateh Khan and Mirz6 Fakir remained 
behind with a few Bal6ch attendants and officers. '!'here· 
after the Mir began to visit Miim Abdunnabi, with one or 
two men only. 

The Mllin now began to laugh in his sleeve, pleased at 
Murden ol Mfro Abdullah the idea that he had at last got an 

and r'ateh Kh&n and Mirz6 opportunity to get rid of his enemy. 
Fakir b7lreachery. One day he instructed a number of 
his men to appear fully armed in the court the next 
morning, when the two Mira should come to visit him in 
the usual manner. The morning oame and Mfr Abdulhih 
with Mir Fateh Khan came to the court. Before they 
entered the presence of the Mfan, the latter asked some 

• 1"i:e., Shahdildpur. 
t :Wrs A.lahyar 1111d Tharah were M!r Fatch Khan's sons. 
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mrn to rrquire the "Alit·s to come to him wit.hout their 
arms. 'l'l•e m~n communicated the order to the Mirs, 
who tbou~ht the Mf;,n was t<•sting their faith and feelings. 
}',,r a minute they hesilat.ed, seeing that some treason wns 
afoot, but tht·y remembered the promise made by them on 
the Koran, and r~solved to bec<•me ma1·tvrs. E11ch of them 
quietly removed th~ir swords and band~d them over to the 
men. Instantly they wet•e surrounded by the :Mian's 
armed men and taken prisoners, At the same time some 
n1en ran to the Mir's tents, whereabout 100 Bal6ohes were 

\staying, including Mfrz6 :Fakir, who was confined to bed 
owing to illness. A voll••y of guns was fired at thPm, 
killini, :L large number of them. 'fhose who survived 
were killed with swords, though in doing so, about 200 of 
the Mi!m's own men lost their lives in the assault made 
bv the llal6cbes in their self-defence. An execut.ionfr 
now appeared at the plnce, where the two noble prisoners 
had been connned and wlrere they were spending their last 
moments in reading the Koran. First a blow was given to 
:Mir Abdulllih and his bead rolled down by the side of the 
Koran, reddening the sacred pages with his innocent 
blood. 'fhe next blow was givl'n to, the old Mir Fatelt 
Khan, and his head, separated from his body, struck his 
young relation's head. Thus died these two noble and 
i11nocent chiefs by the treachery of :Milin Abduonabi. • 

Mir Abdullah died leaving two little sons Ghulam 
Husain and :Bahram, and Mlr Fateh 

1/.tr Fot~h All Khlln Khan clird leaving two grown up 
auececds~hr Abdulltl.b, , ' , , , 
Oe<:upieathefort.ofDfngnrh son~. :Mns Alahyar and 'Iharah. Mir 
and,rroceedsagamstAWuu· :Fateh Ali Khim was formally declar~d 
na\J" 

to he t be head of the Bal6ches as 
· soon as t.he tragic news was received by them. All were 
prostratt•d with grief at first, but they were soon up, 
ready to be revenged on the murderous AbdunnabL Mir 
Fateh Ali Khun wanted to march against him without 
any loss of time, but Mir Subrab proposed to remove their 
families and their heavy baggage to the fort of Dlngarh 
for their safety, and from thence to march against the 
enemy. This proposal wns approved by all and M ir Fateh 
Ali Khan acted accordingly. 1'hey came to Dlngarh and 
occupied the fort. After the families and c.bilth•en,Jvera 

• ' r-..,... • • 

• This event occulTed in the year 1197 A.H. (178l1 A.D.) (Frer~··· 
tlamah.) {o·· ~ , "•'),) 

B 305-26 •~ c • , ',' • ,' 

'\. . ' ' ' 

";, \ I 
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comfortably lo~ged, ~Iir Fnteh Ali Khan accompanied hy 
his brother Mir Ghuhlm Ali Khan, Mir Suhrob, :Mir Fatrh 
Khan's sons Alnhyat· and 'l'hiirah, nnd .llaghnh Fakir, 
started with an army of six: thomand ~elet•ted Bal6ches .. 
.As that army was small as compared with the enemy's 
army, Mir Suhrab offered to go to Wangah• and bring 
Nindah and other Bal6ch chiefs with their forces to assist. 
The Mir permHted him to do so. Accordingly Mir Suhrab 
left his nephew and went to W angah. . 

When A bdunnahi heard tlwt Mir Fateh All Khan hnd 
come whh a .Bnl6ch army to the 

Advance of Abdunuab! b t] fi ld I d d 'tl h' to meet the Baloches. at e· e , 1e a vance WI l lS 
fo1 ces to meet him. Be appointed 

Muhammad Hasan Khuhawar to be the Commander-in· 
Chief and to go in advance w1th his Klnilt{nl'ars. He was 
also joined by Bihiwal, the son of .Hajah Likhi with a 
large squadmn. Ghuhim Hasan, the son of Alah Baksh 
Jhinjan, marched next wit.h · his tribesmen. He was 
followed by Tajah t:lamtiah, Dhing{mah Jat61, Per6z 
Kaleri, Per6z Tal pur, with thPir respective forces, together 
with large hordes of Nuhmardl~, Kh6sahs and Afg-hans 
under the leadership of Sardar Khan and Is-hak Khan, 
The number of these fighting men exceeded thirty thou· 
sand. 

Proceeding with the above forces 1.-Iian A brlunnabl came 
to llaliini t abc,ut 6 miles from fhe 

The battle of Haldni and Mi • d h 1 d th S · the defeat of AbdunnabL r Scamp an ate ere. PP!ng 
that the enemy had come preparPd to 

fight, Mfr Fatebali Khan, without waiting for succour · 
to be brought by his uncle Mir Suluofth, marched on to 
meet them. The two armies met and the bloody work 
commenced. Muskets and bows were brought in use at 
first. Then the turn of swords came. While the fight 
was hot Mir Suhrab arrived with 3,000 brave Bal6ches. 
The leader of the enemy's advance guard Muhammad 
Hasan fought creditably, but he soon fell under the sword 
of Mlr Fatehali Khan. His brother Bakar hastened to fill 
the vacant place, hut he too did not long survive his 

• Also e<~lled Wan gab W aUsab. 

t A town in the Kandiar6 Tnluka, 
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brother. Then the Mir ordered a general attack on the 
enemy from all sides. M ir Sulm1b accordingly fell on the 
party of Samtiahs and cut down Tajah Likhi and his 
brother Alahdad. Mlrs Ghulamali, Alahyar, Tbarah as 
well as Bagh'lh Fakir each made havoc in the enemy's 
line in his own way, killecl a large number and took 
others prisoners. In short Abdunnabi could not stand 
against the vehement attack of the 13a16ches and gave 
way. He plungPd into the water of a lake that was close 
to the battle-field and made his escape with a few attend. 
ants, leavin~ his friends to shift f(.r themselves. Crossing 
the lake with some difficulty, he betook himself to the 
river and put tin~ himself in a boat went to the other side. 
Then he fled once more straight to the hills. The above 
battle was fought in the year 1196 .A..H. (1782 .A..D.)* 

The fight of Mian Abdunnabl was followed by a general 
route of his army. After gaining this victory, Mir 
Fatal\ All Khan came to Naoshahrah t and halted there. 
BilawalLikhi was pursued by a force, but escaped by sea 
to the Halar mountains to seek help from the Hindus. 
Tajah Fakir, the son of Mehrab Jat61, and Dhinganah 
Jat6f, having repent~d of having taken the side of the 
cowardly Abdunnabf came and join~d the Mir with their 
forces. The Mir received them well and appointed Tajah 
to his father's post, giving Tajah's place to Uhinganah. 

CHAPTER XIII. 

THE J.SCENDENCY OF Mr'R FATER ALI' KHA'N TA'LPUR. 

Mian Abdunnabi had long before this privately given 
Death of Mlr Suhrnl!'s U mark6t to Bajesing, the Rajah of 

brother GhuiAm ~hdmmmad J 6dhpur, by takmg a SUm Ol money t 
•t tho hands of ll&Jputa. ~'be 1:16jah accordingly put a garrison 
of l\ajputs into the fort. · When they received the news 

• The author of the Fatehn amah hns found the date by doubling the 
value of tho name "FntehaH '' by A.bjatl calculation. 

t This is N aoshahro F er6z. 
~The author of the Frerenal!'ah Pays that Umarkot had been given to 

llijnh for hill services in murdo!'ing Mir Bijur, 
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of the Mir's victory, they sent messPngers to tlte R1l.jnlt 
informing him of the fact, and r~questing him to send 
fresh supplies of provisions and forces for defence against 
au attack bv the enemy that appeared to be now mos' 
probable Accordingly the Rajah sent a hundred camel­
loads of provisions and 2,000 men to Umark6t, and they 
were on their way to that place. Unfortunately, blir Ghu· 
lam Muhammad, brother to Mir ~uhrab Khan, had been 
out on a bunting excursion in that direction and happend 
to meet this party of Rftjputs. The Mir, with his party 
"'hich cousisted c,f about one hundred men, attacked the 
advance party of the Rajputs, who were not more than 
300 men. About 100 out of these were cut down by the 
:Bal6ches and thtl remaining 200 fled back to join the main 
column. 'l'hey were pursu~d by the Bal6ches, who were 
ignorant of the large numbers coming behind. :B11t they 
soon found their mistake, for they were s1mounded by the 
overwhelming force and one and all cut to pieces, after. 
themselves killing 300 Rajputs. Tlus eveut occurred in 
the year 1201 A.H. (1786 A.D.) 

When Mir Suhrab came to know of this event, his grief 
~. 1 ML s L-'b and anger knew no hounds.. in~t-
""vengeo " u·w•. l , . h I' h ant y takmg an army Wlt nm e 

stnrted t•) wreak vengeance on t.he enemy. He was 
followed by f~~h columns sent to his as~istance by Mfr 
}'ateh Ali Khan. 1'hey soon overtook the Rajputs, in 
their own country, and killt>d a large numbet' of .them. 
AftPr plundering 'th& C'Ountry and razing to the gr.mnd 
several idol-houses, the victorious Bal6ches returned to 
their native place. 

For the third time now, l'IIfan AbdunnaM went to Kalnt 
Abd bl

, • • to seek help from Muhammad Na·fr, 
unna • gomg agarn th 1 ' f f tl 1 H ' d to Muhammad N .. ir for e C He 0 1(' p nee, e promiSe 

htlp and thecorreopuodc.,co to give him half of Sind in return 
between the la\rer chiefaud f l , . . 
the lllr. m· us servwes. But the clnef h1ld 

not forgotten the losses alre;tdy 
suffered by him on the Mian's aceount in fight;ng with · 
the Bal6ches. And so be refuseil to do anything in the 
m,atter, seeing th~t neither the royal forces, nor the Riij­
puts, nor the Nuhmardis coulrl help him successfully 
against the Bal6chcs. But the Minn repeated his en· 
treaties and appealed to his good sense and feelings,· 
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Mul1ammad Nns!r was thus obli~rd to stir oncr more in 
his case. But before collecting his forces, he uote a 
letter to Mit• Fateh Alf Khan, r~que~ting him to send a 
"·ise umbassador of his, in order that he might discuss with 
him on various important political matters. 'i'he Mfr 
agrt·ed to the sugg~~tion and ~ent Kaisnr .Fakir Nizam{mi, • 
an uld oounseller of his to the court of Kahit. At the 
intrrview that ensued betwern him aud :Muhammad 
Nasir, the latter sent the following mt•ssage to the Mir :­
" 'lhis shameless .A.bdunnabi has come to me for the third 
time to seek hl'lp. I haYe told him clearly that I do not 
wish to do anything in the mattt·r, but he still presst>s in 
n10ving term", 1 have therefore determinf'd to get him 
away somehow and have promised to give him a force to 
take Lim safely up to Khuda.b!J.d. After that I have no· 
thing to Jo with him and you may deal with him, then, as 
you wish." He told the ambassador to r~quest the Mfr not 
to oppose his force, but to go out on a hunting excursion 
about the time, to show that the plan had not been pre­
arrangt'd, 'l'heenvoy returned to the 'Mir and communicated 
the proposal to him. 'fhe Mir wrore a reply to tbe chief of 
Kalat agreeing to the proposal but telling him to instruct 
his r .. rce to come up to the river only and not to cross it, 
''If they cross the ri ve1· this side," said he, " they should 
JlOt consider us far olf; any one coming this sidtl will be 
liable to be treated rudely and punished." 

Soon after this, Mil- Fateh Ali Klutn, started on a hunting 
Th• Mlr'• withdrowol ~~cursion in the dir;ction of Wangah. 

t~·m th• capiu.t on • oh""' 1 he Bal6obes learmng tlu~ true facts, 
excunuou, hPsitated to go with I he Mir, as they 
were unwilling to let their enemy go unpuni$hPd. Hut 
on the Mir's persisting in carrying out tbe plan that he 
lmd considered most expPdient, the .Bnl6ches gavP in and 
followed their lender. When they arrived at N asarpur, 
they asked the Mir's permission to proclaim to the people 
of different towns the desirability of their joining the Mir 
in the excursion for fear lest in his absence the enemy do 
harm to them or plunder their towns and villages. Many 
people accordingly joined the party. Unfortunately some of 
the rude Bnl6ches of the bills of Kachhah, who had arrived 
about this time, seeing the Mir with his army at a long 

. • Taud6 Kaielll', oelll'.HIIidlll'libad ia c~lled after this m1111. 
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di~tnnce, wrre induced to plunder certain villages. The 
Mfr on getting the news, was very angry. He I'Ompell~d 
them to return the stolen property to the owners and 
insisted that they should never do such a thing again. 

From Nasarpur the Mir proceeded to Wangab, where 
he spent about two months in amusing himself with 
huntin!!', at the same time watching auxiously that the 
arl'angement made be carried out without any bad result. 

Meanwhile Mian Abdunnabi taking nn army of Br6his, 
Arrival of Mian Abdnn· giv~n to him by .Muhammad Nasir, 

nab( with the Kalil force at can.e to Hatri in the District of 
B••rf in the Siwistln s· .. t' H h d h la f 
District and bi• ill·treat· 1 IllS an. e a c osen a p ce or 
tnout at t<.e band. of the crossing the river, but wanted to await 
~amo foree. the arrival of a 1M.jput force, for 
which it appears he bad secretly arranged with the Rajah 
of J6dhpur. He would not dismiss the Br6his who became 
impatient to go back, especially as they demanded pr·•· 
visions and money. He was therefore obliged to hint to 
the Br6his to sernre the necessary expenses by 'plundering 
the country. But as most of the villages about the place 
had been purposely deserted by the residents the Br6his 
could get nothing ily such means. They therefore became 
clamorous and prepared to go back without ceremony. 
Abdunnabi had sent men to ask the Rajput forces to come 
faster, but they said that unl~ss the Mian crossed the river 
first, they wnuld not come to his bel p. Hearing this 
Abdunnabi became v.,ry uneasy. The clamorous Br6his 
had no alternative but to plunder ALdunnabi's own camp, 
carrying away horses, camels, tents, in fact auything on 
which they could lay hands. '£hey deserted him and 
started for their native country. 

At this crisis Abdunnabi thought it better to leave the 
place and take protection in the district of the Derahs, 
and he forthwit.h started in that direction. The Rajput 
force, having waited long on tbe borders of their country 
and hearing that Abdunnabi had gone away without 
crossing the river, returned to their capital. This event 
occurred in the year 1197 A.H. (1783 A.D.) 

When Mir Fateh Ali Khan got the above news, he left 
Thellir returno to Khud· off hunting and returned to Khud· 

Ab&d ond puni•h .. the Nub· ablid. On his way arriving at 
Dlar<Ju ind other nfl'llCtory , , • I 
trillfll, B.&darabad, he ordered Baghah ~'akfr 
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to go and punish the NuhmnrcHs nncl take them pri~oners. 
This g!•neral collected 200 hoats in orde1· to cro~s the ri1·er 
aud go against that tribP. 'l'he N uhmardis h•·aring of the 
expedition against thE-m su1ren tlcred and sought the Mir's 
pardon, which was granted thew. 

Soon after tl1is, Ghulam Ali son of Kaisar Fakir 
. Nlzamiini, ~~ho was the adminiSII'ator of Tatta and Haji 
Ahmad Kh1zmatg11r (or servant) were ordered to marrh 
with a large army to Knkralab. Accordingly the two 
generals went to that capital of the Hindus, slaughtered 
a large number of them, and returned to their places. 

Mlr Fatelt Ali Kh!ln now left Khudabad nnd fixed his 
residence at Shiihpur. From there he sene H1iji Ahmad 
to go with a strong force to take the fort (If llaidarab:id 
by siege . 

.After some days, the news arrived that :Mian A bdnn· 
, 'he •11 d h" nahi aftPr srendin,"' some davs in the 

.o r sen • tB en,·oye • 
to the Court of King T•i· Derahs, had gone to the camp of 
m6rShah. King 'J'ainnir Shah, in order to seek 
justice at his hands. Diwan Gidumal, thP faithful courti•·r 
of the M ir, was the first t'l get the uews and he ad rised his 
mnster to send some envoys to the King's Court' to p!e!ld 
llis own cause against the complaints of the lilian. rhe 
Diwan's suggestion was >econdfd by Mir Ghulam Ali and 
wns willingly accepted by the Mil', who elected ~ayyed 
Ibrahim Shah• and Kai~ar Fakir ~izamuni with Mirza 
Ghulam Ali to go· as ambassadors to the royal court. 'rhe 
party soon left for their destinatron. 

Fazlali Khan, a chief of the DMtdp6tahs, who was on 
The Mlr ... iots the chief very friendly t~rms with the Mi~, 

of the Dn6dp6taJJ. against having been drrven away from his 
Akhtiyar Khin. country by Akhtiyar Khan, a neigh-
bouring chief, came to the Mir appealing for help. 'l'he 
Mir promptly responded to his appeal and started with 
large forces in the company of l:!'azali Khan. Arriving 
within the territory of Akhtiyar Khan, they commenced 
predatory excursions. The chief was so much frightened 

• The gmnd-fathe~ of the A'ghns living on the bank of the Fuleli, 
near lliidarabad, in a !lando. More about them fm·ther on. 
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bv the :lf'tion of the 13nl6ches that he quieti~· rnme forward 
a;1d Slll'rPno:'rt'cl. The bordering t1·ncts which fol'llH-ld the 
hone of contention or th" cause of dispute he tween the two 
chiefs were ceded to F11zlali 1\.luin nn1l two lalc8 of rupees 
were fixed as indemnity for war expenditure to tho .Mir 
on Akhtivar 1\h\n. As the money could n•>t he paitl by 
the chief' within the fixerl pe .. iod, he left his bNtlter in 
th~ fort ~nd himself escnp~d at midnight to seek shelt"r 
somewhe1·e ebe, as Abdunnabi had doM. The next 
morninno when the Mir heard of his flight, he sent a 
column ''in pursuit of him and blockaded the fort, .whi~h 
soun fdl into tho hnnds of the Mir tog-ether wtth tts 
occupants. But Muh;~mm:J.d B ,hawal the ruler of the 
Dllttlp6tahs anived in time to interce,[e for them, and 011 

receipt of the indemnity from the people of the fort, they 
were pard<med. 

Mir Fateh Ali return~d to Shahpur and the1·e got a 
lPttt•r from his General ffi.ji Ahmatl 

• The fort of HaidaraLi.d inf01·rnin)! him that he had taken the 
11 tAken. f H '] 'I'd ' I I tHt of at' ara la , w1t 10ut muc 1 

bloodshed, for the magazines in the fort had accidentally 
caught fire• and had facilitated the taking possession of 
it. 

It has been mentioned that A bdunna bi after spending 
Abdunnabl and th• Mlr'a some time in the DPrahs had gonl\ to . 

envoys al the court of tbe the COUI't of 'l'aimur Shah, complaining 
tmg. against the Mir and that the Mir too 
had sent his envoys 'to represelJt aud dofend his cans~. 
Abdunuabi's cause was espous~d by Mahfuz Kban, who 
constantly recommended him to the king for favour. 
Meanwhile the Mir's envoys submitted a petition to the 
king on behalf of their master, de~cribing in details tho 
mischievous conduct of Abdunnabi in very pathetic terms. 

• The author of the Frerenamnh snya that the fort of Hnidarnbud 
we.s then in the banda of Mian Abduunabi'a mother, assisted by Ghulum 
Haidar Mirnnni, one of Abdunnabf'a chief servants and Shnlmin s.n 
Abyssinian slave. In fact the families of the Kalh6rah chiefs lived here. 
When Ghulam Haidar heard of Hfijl Ahlllllil's arrival he set fire to the 
magazines. The shock of the explosion cau~ed e. breach in the walls of 
the fort. The Balochea entered and took the fort. Tbe families of the 
K~!hdrahs were sent along. with Sh~lmin to Jodhpur, at which placo 
Mtan Abdunnnb('s son lived. Thts event occurred iu 1198 A.H. 
(1784 A.D.) · 
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11 How long" wrote Mir Fateh Ali Khan in his letter, 
" May I trouble your majesty with the t•numeration of 
his crud ties. He murdered my uncle, who had always 
served him faithfully. He murdered my dear relations 
Abduilah and Fateh Khan in cold blood. .He wrote one 
thing on the Koran Rnd did another. He paid no rever• 
ence to the word. of God. Then, what did he not do to 
his own relations, young and old, who all died cruel deaths 
at his tre~cherous hnnds. All the&e men have gone to 
the august court of God with complaints against him and 
will surely find justice there. Such a person is unworthy 
of your majesty's favour and help." 

~'he above letter had the desired eft'Pct as it moved the 
king' in favour of the Mir. The envoys, at the same time, 
succeeded in enlisting the sympathies of some of the 
influential court.iers, who now and then began to speak 
highly of the i\lir. In the conversation that ensued in 
the c;urt on the subject in question, the Mir's envoys 
showed great cleverness in proving Abdunnabi to be a 
villain of the derpest dye. '!'he result was that the king 
issued an order to the effect that the province of Sind be 
divided into two halves, one-half going to Abdunnabi and 
the other half to Mir Fateh Ali Khan. .An officer was 
ap11ointed to go as an arbitrator and divide the country, 

.and a force under the eommand of B6stan Khan and 
lkhlas Kh:\n was directed to accompany Abdunnabi to 
~:~instate him in his portion of the country. This was 
done, because Abdunnahf feigned fear of the Bul6ches, 

· who, said he, were numerous and might cause trouble. 

~he Mir's envoys duly communicated to the Mir the 
Th• Mlr moves with an king's decision, and not being quite 

army~ meet tberoy•lforceo satisfied with it, they stayed behind 
brmgmg Abduunabl. · to make a further attempt in favour 
of their master, their object being to secure for him a. 
8anad for the whole country, to the rejection of Abdun· 
nabi' s claims. 

When llfir Fateb All Khan got the news, he marched 
with 40,000 Bal6ches to L6hri in o:der to mePt the royal 
forces coming with l\li~in AbdunnahL 'l'he latter hearing 
of the approach of th~ M ir, thought it proper to halt and 
inform the king about it. Mennwbil~ the Mir's envoys 

• 805-26 
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at the court had succeeded in their attempt and had a 
8anad issued in favour of the .Mir as against the ~lian, and 
an order to Abdunnabi and t.he two generals to turn back 
to the king's camp. The ~Iit·'s envoys were given robes 
of honour and were sent bnck with presents. '!'hey 
immediately wrote to the Mir preventing him from send­
ing the army across tlle river and infol·ming him tha' 
their object was gained. 

Soon the king's order was receh·ed by his generals and 
The r.turn of the royal they turned back with Abdunnabi 

fotce .nd the de• th of who~e despair and chagrin might well 
Mahf6z KhAn. be imagined. His patron Mahfuz; 
Khan tried to console him and promised to get him an 
estate in the district ol the Derahs for his maintenance 
from the king. But unfortunately for Abdunnabi before 
the Khan bart travelled over two stages, he fell ill and 
diPd, This event further disconcerted Abdunnabi, who 
now lost all hopes of getting Sind back or any landed 
estates. He was therefore compelled to accept retiremeni 
with dignity.* 

The Mfr's~envoys soon arrived bringing with them the 
sanad of his appointment as rub of 

Mlr Fatch All Khlln is th ·h 1 f' s· I t tb . 'tl tl appointed the ruler of Sind. e 'il 0 e 0 Ill( 1 oge · er 'I'll I 1e 
royal presents consist.ing of a rohe of 

honour and some .Arab horses. Mir Fateh Ali Khan 
putting on the robe took his seat on the marnad amici 
loud acclamations of joy and cong•·atulations from the 
Bal6chts, . . 

( HAPTER XIV. t 

TRE RULE OF Mr'n. FATEII ALI' Kn'N. 

After a time, some of the Bal6ch chiefs severed their 
Tho king again ••nd• • connection with Mir Fateh Ali Khan 

force to reiru!t.ate Ahdun· for certain reasons and retired from 
nahl. public service. When Abdunnabi, 
who was living on pension, heard of this, he sent a person 

• This event occurred in the year 1197 A..II. (1783 A.D.) (Frercnllnmh.) 

t l!'rom here the account is taken from the Frerenamuh as the Fntch· 
namah ends here. 
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with hi~ petition to king Taimtl.r Shah. The latter was 
at Jab\hihad then. 1'he :.VIian stated in the pAtition that 
disagreement had broken out betwe~n ~Iir .Fateh Ali 
Klul.n and the Bal6ch chiefs; that :Mir Sulmib had 
written to hi111 calling him and promising to join him; 
and that if his majesty would assist him at such a june· 
ture, he would g-et back his heriditary right and pray for 
his kindnes~. 1'lle king felt compassiorl for him. He 
ordered an army to go under the command of Ahmad 
Khan N U.rzai and B6stin Khan to reinstate Abdunnabi. 
At the same fime an order was sent to Muhammad Nasir, 
the Br6lli ruler of Kah\t, to drspatch a f1ll'Ce t~ join 
Abdunnabi and B6stim Kh{m. Accordingly that chief 
sent a force under a grand,on of his, who joined the royal 
column at Derah Gh!lzi Kuan. '!'he joint forces then 
crossed the river and came to the country of Muhammad 
llahl11val KMn Daud p6tall. 1'he latter, out of fear, fled 
to the sandy desert. 1'he forces thence proceeded to Sind, 
plundering the country along the mar0h. 

Mit· Fateh All KhD.n, though very anxious to check 
Mlr Fatoh Ali Kh~n ••· the attackin~ forces, did not like to 

vanccs with •• ~rn.y and infringe tho rules of etiquette by 
<Meat. the royaltorco. opposing the sovereign power. He 
therefore seut Sa.yyed (A'gha) lbnl.him Sllah as an envoy 
to tire king, to request tllat as he had been regularly 
paying his annual tribute and ~ending other presents, his 
majesty might not be so unkind towards him. 

Soon information was received that the enemy had 
arrived on the borders of Sind. 'fhe Mlr immediately 
ordered the collection of forces, which work was entrusted 
to .Mir Ghulitm Ali Khim. Meanwhile at the suggestion 
of Baghah Fakir, he ordered that the families and children 
of Bal6ches he taken to Kachh and .1 esnlme1', so tllat they 
should be safe from the assaults of the entmy. Ahmad 
Khan Nurz:il had now advanced as far as L6hri. At this 
juncture Mir Suhritb Kh{m wrote on a blank page ?f t~e 
Karim, callin<> on Mir Fatch Ali Khan to come wtth hts 
army to ficrl~t aaainst the enemy and assuring him 
solemnly th"at he o was ready to join him. Accordingly 
the Mir started with· his army to meet the enemy. He 
destroyed the brid"'es made for the enemy's army to 
cross the river. When he arrived within two stages 
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of the enemy, lHr Suhrah sent ·some excusrs for .not 
joining the .,Mir, and forgetting the ~olcmn pronmes 
made on the Koran, lefc for Sluihgarh. lie locked 
himself up in the fort and waited there to see 11 hat 
the result of t.he engagement would be. 'l'he Mir had 
now no help but to procerd against the enemy alone. He 
had 2,000 men to fight against 40,000 Afghans. There 
was a big canal flowing bet11een them, the watH in which 
was very deep. ~he Afghans were in p[\~session t f. it. 
When Mir Fateh Ali Kbim arrived on this side of the 
canal, he eommenred firing guns at the enemy, whO< 
readily rt·sponded. Amidst this fire the Mir ordered his 
horsemen to plunge into wnter and swim across the canal. 
They then fell on the eremy, ~word in band. A bloody 
battle ensued, nos tan Khan and the Br6hi chief, the son of 
Zarak, • were killed nnd Ahmad Kinin N {mai was pnt to 
flight. Retreating about 6 miles, ALdunuabi adl'i~ed 
Ahmad Khan to make a halt there in order to be able to 
make a sudden nocturnal attal'k on the Bal6ches. But 
Ahmad Khan had already lost heart and seeing a detach· 
ment still pursuing him, he lost all hopes of e>enpe even. 
He was therefore obli~ed to sue for protection to the 111ir, 
who called back his detachment. 1'his event occurred in 
1202 A.H. (1787 A.D.). 

When king Taimur Shah heard of Ahmnd Khan's dC>fent 

Ki T . 6 Sh'hh. 11 he was very angry. Immediatdv, he 
n~"'tnr • •m•c td 'h ] · •. 

march .. ngninst the Mlr, star e Wit a arge army for Smd. 
but, he returu• , t rom At Kandhar he was joined by p, in~'e 
Babawalvur, M h , d Kh, a mu an. He then proce• dcd 
straight against Sbikarpur. The men had to wffet· much 
in the way for want of water. At Multan, :Muhamn1ad 
Nasir K ha? Br6hi joined his camp. :K ext, the king 
l'ncamped m the temtory or Muh11mmad BahliwallJaud· 
:p6tah, who had already fled in the desert out of fear. 

1\Hr Fateh Ali Khiin hearing ofthe approach of the kin"' 
wrote a petition to him giving an explanation of his cor. duct 
in reference to his fight with Ahmad Khan. "I tried my 
best " said he, "to avoid fighting, but Ahttad Kinin would 
l1ave nothing but war. I was therefore obliged to take the 
defensive. Unfortunately the Khan was defeated. If 1 

• Zarak IVas son-in-lnw to NnMir Ehfln Hrchl nnd RO l1is son line t!Je 
KLan's grandson, who had come in commuud oi J.i; fo1·~e•. 



205 

had nut checked my Bal6ches, none of the Afghans with him , 
would have returned safe it'." When the kinoo got this letter 
h d 0 ~ " ' 

e b~l a counct!· Mo.st of the c~u~cillors were of opinion 
that 1t would he lmpossthle to adnnmster the country of Sind 
through ~ome A fgluin Cbi!'f or any other person and that 
Mir .fateh Ali Khan was a fit person for the post. About 
the same time the king received a letter from princes 
Zaman Khan and Ayyub Khan at Kabul informing him 
that Sluih ~iurad Khan, the t:ubahclar of Balkb, had 
ra~>ed tl~e standard of revolt and was marching against 
Kahul wtth an army of Turcom~ns and other tribe~. At 
such a juucturP, thHefore, the king bad no alLernative but 
to march back to Kabul. 

When Mir Fatel1 Ali Khlm hPard of the king's 
Thd!ir r. t 1l r D I to r·~turn to Kabul, he returned to 

ll•i•'•nlbnn which ie made Haidariihad, where he arrived in 11 
tuc Capital. dan. At the same tin1e he wrote to 
his b1·others Mlr Kara~ Ali Khan and :Mfr lllurad .Aif 
K\n\n, who had gone to '! har wil h their families, to come 
back to IIaiclarahad. 'fhrse events occurred in the year 
1204 A .II. (1789 A.D.). In the snme y~ar two forts were 
llllilt in 'l'h~r, viz., Fatelumrh and Ishimgarh, • that ware 
80 ndh s Hpnrt. 'I he llajnhs of the neighbouring States 
oLjected, but tile Mir paid 110 regard to their objections. 

'Ihe town of Baidarabad ,i·as now selected by the Mlr 
to he his future capital. Accordingly he built some 
houses in the fort for himself and his brothers and re· 
moved from Khudabad to that place. Some mosques 
wPre built, namely, those kuuwn by t.he names of M ulla. 
J!ahmntulhlh'a mo~que, Tlllibshah's mosque (which is 
DPnr the fort, gate and had originally been built hy 1\I\an 
Ghnlamshah.) a11d l\lUI Khairi's t mosque. All these 
buildin{;S were built in the course of 9 mouths. 

Next. year 1205 A. H. {1790 A. D.) Taimur Sh6.h after 
. qu~nching the rl'b~llion in Balkh and 

,.!"~~h~inf'~~~t :~;:,: ;: clwstising the ringleaders, again sent 
rnnolc nud tla• Mlr i• agnin 0 an ai"IIIY to Sind under the command 
confirmed .. tho· ruler. of Painclah Khan, who came , to 
Sbikfirpur by ordinnry marches. :Mir Fateh Ali Kban 

• This is now cnlted bltlmkot. In. fact flarh and k6t mean the sa.me 
tl1ing, l'i:., n lort. · 

t Bibf Khairi was the mother of :r.Iir Fnteh Ali Khan. The mosque is 
still well known. 
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advanced to meet him. Arriving near the place, he made 
a halt in order to knuw the fe··lings of the General of the 
royal forces. ·The latter, who had been already instructed 
to try to settle the matter witiiout bloodshed, sent some 
envoys to treat for peace which the Mir was alre!ldy 
anxious to secure. After some discussion it was settled 
that the Mirs should in future give as much tribute to th.e 
Xing as the 1~alh.6rahs used to pay to the late King 
Ahmadshah. 'l'he treaty was drawu up and signed. 
Paindah Khan presented a dress of honour, an el··phant 
with a ho•JJdak nnd a sword set with jewels, to the l\ll1·, 
on behalf of the king and gavo him a fresh sanad with 
the signature and seal of the king, confirming him as the 
ruler of Sind, 'l'o acknowledge this favour, liir Fateh 
Ali Khan sent his envoy, Diwan Jaspatrai* with rich 
presents to Kabul. On his return, the .Mir put on the 
dress of honour and riding the elephant came to llaidar. 
abau, with the pomp and ;;lory of a ruler. '!'his happened 
in the year 1207 A.H. (1792 A.U.). 

It has been mentioned before, that Zarak Khan, gon-in· 
law to Mubammtd Nasir, the khan 

~·Division •f. K6re il of Kalat was killed while fio}ltin"' 
acquired by the hhr. • o o 

for Abdunnubi with the Mir. As a 
compensation for that loss, Abdunoabi had ceded tile tr.:ct 
of country watered by Kurs or streams of rain water to 
the Khan.t Now that the Mir had bPcome the sole ruler 
of Sind, he wanted to have back that division. .Before 
taking it by forre of arms, he was ad vised by his brother 
Mir Ghnlam Ali Khan to apply for it to the· king by 
giving some plausible reason. '£his was done and the 
king ordered the Khan of Kalat to return that part of 
country to the Mir. The Khan raised some ohjPctions 
and made some ex:cuses, but he was after &11 obliged to 
comply with the king's man<late. 'rhe divisiou w~.s 
accordingly taken back about the close of the ab_ore year. 

Next year 1208 A.H. (1793 A.D.) Taimur Shah died 
Death of Taim6r Shah and was succeeded by hi~ third soo 

and the divi•ion of Sind Zaman Shah. Accordin" to the old 
among different Mlra. CUStOln til k. 0 t d , e new mg sen a ress 
of honour to Mir Fateh Ali Khan with a fresh sanacl con· 

• He WM Dlw&n Gid(unal'a younger brothet•. 
t This was Karachi, according to the Sind Gazetteer. 
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firming the ~ormer one. After tbn.t, Mlr Fateh Ali Khan 
had no occasion to go out and therefore remained in his 
capital. He divided the country of Sind into seven shares. 
He retained three shares for himself, gave two shares to Mir 
Suhrab Khan,• oue share he reserveri for his own relations 
and one he gave to M:ir 'rharah Khan, Mir Mahmud 
Khan, i\lir Ghnlam Husain Khan, Mir Bahl':im Khan 
and other Talpurs. t Similarly B tl6ches and tribesme~ 
were divided into 3 parties for the 3 sets of Mirs, who 
b~gan to live independently in their own divisions of 
country. Mir 'l'h{t.rah gave a part of his share to Mir 
Fateh Ali Khan for the contribution of the annual tribute 
to be given to the king, but lvlir Suhrab Khan wanted to 
have direct connection with the sovereign power by paying 
hi~ share of tri 1nte directly. In this way seven years 
passed away peacefully. 

In 1216 A.H. (1801 A.D.) about the close of Zulhajj 
Mir Fateh Ali Khan fell ill with a 

Death of Mlr F•teh All carbuncle. Seeing his end near, be 
Khau. l h' 'll ' ' ] ' b h ma< e 1s WI , appomtmg ns rot er 
Mir Ghulam Ali in his own place. After 5 or 6 days he 
expired on the lOth of Muharram 1217 A.H (lfl02 A.D.). 
His body wa~ taken to Kbudabad and buried there in 
order that his bones might rest with those of his grand 
relations.~ 

• Tho ancestor of the Mfrs of Klm1rpur who are called SuhraMnfs. 

t Th:\rah Khan \VIIS t'1e son of lii[r Fatoh Khan. Mahmtld Kh!\n was 
uncle to Mit Fateh Ali Kh~n, anJ Ghuhim Husain and Bahram were 
8011 s of ~Hr Ab.lnn.\h. The first is the anc?~tor of the Manikani M.irs 
of llfirpur, the second of tho Mahmudaui Mil'S and the third of the 
llijrani Mira near Haidarahad. 

~ It wM in this r~ign in 1799 A.U., that a commercial mission was 
OJlcoed np by the Bt·itish with Sind, nnd "a Mr. Nathan Crow~ of the 
Bombay Civil St·rvice W;<s se~~ to Sind to con4uot the metcnn~t!e and 
political interests of the ~r1t1sh Go.vernment W!~h the Talpur MtrS, but, 
like tho former attempt, 1t ended m an unsattsfMtory mann~r. The 
Briti,h A•ent resided at times at Tnttn, Slmhbunder and Karaoht, where 
he h11d t~ ondm·e vnrious petty indignities till at last he received 11 
p01·emptory order from the Mirs to quit the country within ten days, 
and this he thought it best to oboy."-Sind Gazettetr. · 
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CHAPTER XV. 

'fRE RULE Oi Mr'R GHULA'M Au' Ka&'N. 

The coronation ceremony of Mir Ghulam Ali Khan 
took place on the 16th of l\1 uharram 

B,attle w_ith Mir Th&nh 1~17 A.R. (1802 A.D.). It is said 
Rhan at ~hrpU!'. that on the dav of Mit· Fatt>h Ali 
Khan's death, a son was born to ilim, who was called 
S6bdar Khim• Bal6ch chiefs of different places came to 
the capital to condole with Mh· Ghulnm Ali Kluia on the 
death of the late !llir an~ to congratulate him on his 
becoming ruler and being blessed "ith a nephew. lllir 
Suhrab K!Jan came for the same purpose and was received 

. well by the Mlr, but Mir Tharah Kluiu, who !ired at his 
own town of Mirpur and had h.een dissatisfied with some 
of the Mir's arrang(•ments, did not come to visit him Jll 

such an occasion. He entertained certain vain thoughts 
and ~ought an excuse to openly fall out with the M ir. 
'l'llis he soon got, · 

One day a villager belonging to M!r Tharah's division 
stole some melons from the fidd of anotb!'r villagPr 
belon~ing to Mir Ghulam Ali Klian's division. The tl;ief 
was taken to the lllir's Kardar, who kept l1im in confiu~­
ment by way of punishment. The Kardar of Mlr Tharah, 
coming to know of this, came with a number of people 
and by force ret..-ascd the man. In the riot that ensued 
two or three men of both the sidPs lost tlwir lives. 'fhe 
mattPr coming to tl1e notice of Mir 'J M.rah Khan, he 
assembled his forces to wage war with the ~Hr. l.llr 
Ghulam Ali Khim, not being disposed to figl.t with a 
relation, tried' to pacify him with words. But }Hr 
Tharah would not be pacified. .At last Mir Ghubim Ali 
Khan was obliged to send his uncle Mir Mahmud Khan 
with an army and some guns to Mirpur. At the 'l'and1•ah t 
of Nindah the two armies met. Mir Tharab Kluin had 
dug a ditch round his camp and placed guns there to 
repel the enemy. Mir Ghulam Ali Khan divided his 
army into two columns, one he kept unrler his own 
command and another he gave to 1.Y1har Khizmatgar, a 

• Fnrther on it is said that the child wns born the day after his death. 

t Pronounced Tand6 in Sindhi, meaning a village. 
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semtnt of bis. The aetion began with a cannonad~. then 
followed musketry fh·ing, aud lastly ~words were drawn 
by the combatants. A bloody battle was fought., in whiclt 
many lives were lost on both sides. Mlr TMrah Khan 
wa~. at last woundeJ and taken prisoner. He was taken 
in a littPr with nppropl'inte respect, to Haidarab!l.d. In 
this battle 410 men of Mfr Ghul<im AJi's army and 30:J 
of i\lir 'rharah's were kill Pd. M ir Tb<\rnh was well 
ro•ceived and treated kindly by Mir Ghulam Ali Khan. 
After he was quite cut·i'd, he was SPnt back to Mirpur 
with some elephant~, horses r.nrl other presents. This 
eveut occul•rcd in the year 1 ~18 A.H. ( 180;$ A.D.). 

About the close of the same year, Shujaul Mulk succeP,d­
ed his brother Zaman Shah on the 

King Zand~·. Slu\h euc· throne of Kabul As z~nu1n Shah hnd cccdcd Ly ShnJnttl )1ulk. • ' 
prover! himself a cruel person, his 

\1 azfr·, Fateh Khan !1-ft him and went to Kandahar, where 
ht' instil-(ated prince .\-Jalnl'Uil Ktuin to claim the throne 
as a right. and promised to e~pouse his cause. Previous 
to this, :Fat.uh Ali Slnih Kajar, the king of Per,i>t, had 
<Me)tPd Zuman Shi\11 nnd takl'n him pdsoner, at tbe rlflme 
time tor·turing him hy passin~ a red hot iron wire thrOU!;h 
his eyes. On l'l~ceiving the new~, the chiefs of the Stattl 
raised ~huj;iul Mulk to the 1hrone. This event occurred 
in the y<'ar l::ll5 A.H. (!bOO A. 0). 

In 1218 A. H. (1803 A. D.) Shujaul :vf ulk invaded 

Shujt\ul ){11lk iu,·n(lc!i 
Silul, lm~ rctmm nftcr 
tnkiug inth1mnity nucl 
triLute. 

:Sind, with a lnrgc army. 'I he people 
of the provin~t' were so frightened 
that most of them clo~erted their 
towns and villag-Ps fleeing to the 

sandy desert of 'l'h~w. Mir Ghnl:im Ali Khan taking an 
arruy with him marched to Shikiu·pur to face the enemy, 
having left his brother ~lir Mur:\tl Ali Khan in his own 
place at Haidprabad. Arriving at L:irlk1tnah be was met hy 
Mir Suhrab Khan. After some consultation, they sent 
envoys to tho ldng's wazir H{lftz Sher Muhamm~d 
Khan, requesting him to settle the matter amicably. 
Accordingly it wns nrrangPd that the Mirs should pny 
ten lalcs of rupees there and then, anrl rromise to pay 6 l11ks 
as a tribute every year regularly. 'l'he terms were 
accepted and tLe king marched back to Kabul. 1'he 
Mir then retumed to Haidat•t\bad. 

B 905-27 



210 

About this time l\fulmmmnd Nasir Khan, the Khan of 
r .... ty and matrimoni.t Kahit died. ·His si>ter, Mid ~ainnb 

.. nnection with tho KL!In put. her nephew Mnhmud Khan on 
of Kalt\t. the vnrant s~nt of rulel'llhip. '!'hough 
there had been disagreement bet.ween the .Mirs and the 
late Khan, Mir Ghubim Ali Kinin thought it advisable to 
renew the old friendship with the new Kluin. With that 
object in view he sent envoys to condole with thll Khan's 
sister and her nephew on their rrcent hert!nvement and 

· to mout the matter of renewing the friendship. Soon a 
treaty was made and signed by both parr.ie$, who promised 
to rem'lin friends in future and never to transgre~ij the 
boundaries th~n existing between their territories. At 
the same time, a matrimonial arrangement wa• matle by 
which Mai Zninab gave the h•md oi her niece to Mir 
Ghuhim Ali Khim. Preparations for the marriage were 
accordingly matle. M:ii Zainah came to .13\u\.gnari where 
:Mir Ghulam Ali Khan also carue with his rei a tions and 
kinsmen. More than 40,0JO men met on the occasion 
and the marriage was c:•leh1·atPd with gr1•at pomp. Aftpr 
3 days Mfr Ghuhim Ali Khan start<•d for Haidarabad witll 
his bride and attentlants. 

Shortly after this, Sayyed Zulfikar Shah, one of the 
The Mtr'• anny invades ~e8pectable Sayyeds of ~cl~, bei~g 

the Bahawolpur territory, Ill· treated by Muhttmmacl S1d1k KJmn, 
but a tr .. tx 16 made. the chi<·f of the DaUdp6tah~, brought 
a complaint to the Mir. 1'he latter wrote a letter of advice 
to the Khan recommending the Sayyed to him. But 
Muhammad Sadik Khan instead of showing kindne~s 
bef?an to harass and annoy the Sayyeds of lJch all the 
more. This anger. d Mir Ghulam Ali Khan, who sent 
'l'abar Khizm\lgar anti other headmen, to invnde the 
Bahawalpur territory and to chastise the ruler of the place. 
When . this army arrived in the said territory, they took 
possessiOn of several places after some fighting. M uham­
mad Sadik Khan was at last obliged to sue for peace, which 
W3S granted. It was settled that the land grantell in 
•·harity to the Sayyeds of U ch by the biders of the Khan, 
8hould remain in their possession, tha~ the district of 
Rahzalgarh • be ceded to the Mir and that the Khan's son 
Baha.wal Khan be given up as a hostage, pending the 

• J.J~o called Sabzalk6t. 
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ca.rryin.g out of the terms of the peaoe. Aecor(lingly Tahar 
With lm own fot•ees aud the hostage, returned to H<tidar. 
ab~d. When he reached Kashm6r, which formed the 
boundary of Sind, he sailed by boat for Haidarahad and 
dismissed the Bal6ches who had been with him. In 3 davs 
he arrived at the 'l'andah' of Haji Mir Khan and hal~cl 
there, having informetl the "Mir beforehand. '!'he latter 
sent his son Mit· Muhammarl Khan to receive the Diud· 
p6tah ]Jrince and to escort him to the fort of llaidarabad. 
'1 he Mir treated .Bahil.wal Kl:an very kindly, and after 
keeping him for some time allowed him to depart to his 
native country. 'l'l1e district of Sabzalgarh was annexed 
to Sind and thenceforth remained under the rule of the 
Mirs. 

In the same year, a famine occurred in Kachh to such 
Famine in Kacbh and an extent that the people of the 

Sin.rl ~nd the lllr'• goue· country flocked to Sind in large 
roolty m tba~ r"'P"'~ numbers, Selling tueir children for 
Rs. 3 or 4 per child. Uorn became a great scarcity in 
Sind,jwari and b4fri selling for 6 seers per k6rah rupe_!!. t 
Mfr Ghulam All Khan distributed heaps of corn in charity 
among the poor and famine-stricken ]Jeople. After some 
time, when the famine bad subsided, the Kachhis returned 
to their native couutrv. llai Blllirah, tl1e Rao of Kachh, 
hearing of the miseries of his people, wrote a friendly 
letter t() the Mir requesting that the children sold and 
purchased in Sind btl ret.urned to him. Accordingly the 
1\Ur ordered Eakiral1 Khizmatgar;, his chief minister, to 
collect such children from all the Bal6ch chiefs and 
ordinary people, who had· purchased them, on payment, 
from the ,Vlir's treasury, of the prices paid by them. They 
were then sent to llhuj with some trustworthy men of the 
Mfr, throu"'h the British l:!esi<lent. For this act of grace 
and mercy "the lliio ()f Kachh as well as the British Gov· · 
ernment were very much pleased with the Mir and felt 
grateful to him. 

• Tan dab, Tandrah or Tando is s village. 

t In Sind rupees coined by Taim(U' Shnh were then in. n~e. Tt1o ~ffr's 
nsod k6rab :rupees, one of which was wovth 10, aJUlfl.l m· ~th of the 
Queen's rupee. 

: Fakirc·jo-Pir is still well known in the toll'n of IfniJnrlw:iJ 11ud •vJDe 
of Fnkiro's grand·childreu are still Jh·iug. 
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After two yenrs of p<•r~erful rni!:!n han rlnp~cn, Mir 
Ghulum Ali Kh;\n happenerl one (l:Jy 

D•ath of Mir Ghuhlm AU to !!O on a shootin!? excursion. He 
Khno. ' v 

8hot n deer, which he hq~an to sby. 
In the a~t of slav:ng it., the de<' I' moverl its bNtd, and 1 he 
point of its h(lrn grazed the back of the ~llr's fuot causing a wound, which bled profusely, rt'he physicians of' Sind 
tried their best to stop the bk~<li ng hy applying acids, 
which caused a great deal of swdlin!! nnrl pain. Ultima­
tely the wound proved fatal and 1\Iir Ghuh\m Ali Khan 
died on the 6th of Jamatli~·lini 1227 A. H. (1811 A.D.)* 

CHAPT.ER XVI. 

THE RuLE OF ~1I'R KARBr Au' KHA'N, 

Though 1\Iir Ghuh\m Ali Khan had a son, ·viz., 1\lfr 
:Mir M uh tmmad, on whosP head h 1s 

ooi~::~:f~~~:~ of •rt, father's turban ll'l\S placed, his brot]H•r 
:\Hr l\ a ram Ali Khiln, became the 

rulf'r of Sind. E1is cornnation cerem.ony was performed 
after 7 days of m11urning on accouut of the late Mir's 
dt'ath. The .Mir carrir·d on the adminbtrativn of Sind in 
con~ultation with his youn!.!Pl' brother :\li1· Murad All 
Khan. ln fact since the timr, of 1\Jir r'ateh Ali Kh~n tile' 
four brothers had livt d tog~ther go affertionately at d. 
ruled the country with one anotlu·r's advice so wisely, 
that they were termed "The lour fl'icuds." 

Mfr Karam Ali Khan was a very just and wise ruler. 
His reign was a peaceful reign in which no war rook 
place. Consequently he had awple tirne to devote to the 
promotion of art and ~cit,ncc and 10 the encouragement of 
commerce. l:lcing a literary man himst•lf, his court was 
crowded with poets anrl '!earned men. He contraeted 
friPndship with Fateh .All Shah Kajar, the then king of 

• It was in this rei~m in 1800 that "! treaty of friendship was entered 
into between the Sindinn and Briti•h Governments, mora, it would seem, 
to prevent Frcncbmev from scttlinl!' in Sind thnn with nny other objact:'­
Sind Oazettecr, (tlce the 3rd i'nra: of the ucxt ciJRjltcr and extract No. 1 
in Appendix 1). 
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Pprsia, and conscqurnt ly envoys merl to come nnd go 
brtwet·n the tll'o rulPrs, exchangi11g presents. As the 
}lir was fond of swords, rich und bpautiful swords wPre 
imported from difl'et·eul countriP~* and mall)' ~ood sword· 
:maket·s, ns well as good writPrs, paihlers, besidi'S nwn of 
art and sciPnlW, Palllt' from J:'ersia and Khurasau to live in 
tho town of Haidarahad. 

In the reign of l'H1· Karnm Ali Khan two :men hecnme 
celehr:tted iu Sind. 'l'!le first was 

Some noto·Worthy per· S . d '·1 1 1 R' I 'rl "'I , l h suua of this reign, an e l• U tam mal US II o ta I W 0 
was a WPIIJ,nown saint nud spiritual 

gnide, t and the other wa~ :Sa hit All, 11 ho was a Siudi poet. t 
The lattt:r wrote a nlllnbt•r of l'h'l!ics descri1Jing the 
martyrdom of the Im:ims or grandsons of the prophet, 
under the orders of Yazid . 

.As mentioned in the lwginning of this chaptrr the Mlr's 
Pnvo~·s used lo go to Pet·si:L with pr<!sents for the king of 
that country. A few ye:m ht~fon• this time, war hn•i been 
f!'"ing on bet.\\'ePn liussitL and Persia n bout the province of 
Georgia, the Govt·rnor of which H!·racleus had shaken off 
1 he yokl• of Per,ia and hnd ~iul'e been defe~ttNI and put to 
flight.. Heracleus' son liur!,\'in Kln\n wos thl'n assisted hy 
Paul, the then Czat• r,f ltussb, against the invasion of 
1\I uhammad Khan, king of Persia. ~orne bloody battles 
1\'Pre fon!!ht., llltet· whit·lt Georda passl'Cl out o[ Persia's 
hands and became a dependency of l{US$ia. 

In the ahove w·trs sPveral Geor.:ian children h:ul been 
seized by the Ptwsinn invnclers antl solll in the Bazurs of 
Isphin, the capital of PPrsia. Among these were Mirza 

• '' The Ameot•s hwe n.~cnts in Per.;bt Turkey nud Pale•tine, for the 
purchnso of swords nnd gun-bnm•ls and tht•y pnsscss a more vnlnnble 
collection of theso nt'lioles than is probably to be met with in nny other 
pnrt of the world. I hal'e hnd in m,v hnnd n. plain unornnmentcd 
blade which hns cost them half alakl• of rupee~." Burnes' Visit to the 
Oourt of Sind (1839). 

t He wns the grcnt·grnndfnther of the Pir of Kingri, in the Robr1 
Talukn., Hurs or Lurs nrc his 111111'ids or follower•. 

t The works of this poet hnve not yet been published completely. His 
grondson, bearing the Bame nnme is still living nt HnidnJ•:Ibtid. 'l'he poet 
was buried nt Sohwnn, where his tomb can still be seen. Some of his 
cl~gies and autiroa are excellent. (See his biographical sketch in 
Appendix lll). 
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Khmr6hr!:!', 1\Iirza Frcdlmhe~, :Mirza Muhammad Dakar 
and n few 'others, who were brought h.v the Mir's envoys 
from Persia to Sind. 1\Hr Karam Ali Khan hnd no issue, 
thou"'h he had four /,arams (wives). So he became very 
fond "of Mirza Khusr6heg, who was the first .Get>rg!an 
brou"'ht to him and who was the son of a Georgian chtef, 
who lu1d fought in the late wars in the cause of his country. 
The Mir looked upon him as an adopted son and treated 
him accorclin"'lv. He was nntm·a!ly an intelligent person 
and soon rose"t~ be an influrntial courtier and minister. 
The oLI.er Georgian, Mirza Fredunbeg, who came later, 
was equallv treated kindly and was attached to Mirzi 
Khu~r6beg,' b,>th of whom thenceforth lived together as 
rehtions and m~mbers of one family.* 'fhe third Geor· 
gian Mirza Bakarbcg was retanied by Mir Murad Ali 
Khan. .l\Iany other foreigners came voluntarily from 
different plaC<'s ab1ut this time and became permanent re· 
sidents at Haidacibad, as already mentioned. 

Mir Karam Ali Khan was the first ruler of Sind 
. . who contracted friendship with the 

A co!".merc••I treaty With British Govemment t It was in his 
the Bnt1ah Government.. • 

reign that MaJor Skee:ne came from 
Sir John Malcolm, the Governor of Bombay, as an envoy, 
with some rare presents for the Mir and his brother. The 
Major was to come from Kachh, and the Mir sent a 
numbe1· of officer• to re~eive him at the boundary of Sind 
and to escort him to the capital. 'l'lle envoy was received 
by the two brothers in open court and was shown great 
kindness. After some interesting conversation, the Mirs 
retired to theh· J'1>sidence in the 'l'andah of Nawab Wuli 
Muhammad. After two or three days the British envoy 
again got an audience and a commercial treaty was drawn 
up, signed and sealed by'the Mirs. There were three: 
conditions in it, viz :-

1. That no Europe~n should employ any native in his servi'le. 

2. That the officPr coming to take the survey of the river Indu~, 
should net be prohibited from or hindered in doing his 
work. 

• About Mirza Khusr6beg, see extracts 22 and 33 from the Blue :Book, 
&c., in Appendix I. A sketch of his life is also appended, aa also a 
sketeh of Mirza Fred6.nbeg's li£e, as published by their children (see 
Appendix III.) 

t Vide extnwt (1) in Appendil: I. 
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3. Th~t nny person c~min.,. through Kachh, with articles of 
trade, bearing a pa>s h·1~m the Governor of llombny, should 
be free ftom any t~x or toll. 

Arter tire treaty was signed Major Skeene returned to 
Kachb. 

After this trenty free communication commenced bet. 
ween Sind nnd Bombay. Before this time t.he people of 
Simi going on n pilgrimage to .Me,•ca, wrre grc>~tly trouhlt>d 
hy the PortugUPSI'l and thet·efore merchants W<•re afraid of 
trading with Bombay and other pnrts But now it was 
wid~ly proclaimed that traders could safely visit Bombay 
and other pla1>es by sea. The result was that commerce 
was greatly encoura~ed and foreign articles began to be 
sold in the bazars of Sind. • 

In 1230 A, H. (181 t A. D.) Shah Shuja heing defeated 
Sh ., 1 ,1 lk by Muhammad Azfm Khan came to 

UJuU "n comes to H 'd 'b'd It b • d Sind, but;. ddven nw•y by 81 ara i.L • may e mc>n!Ioru• 
th•. IIITivnl of King Ayy~b here th'lt when ~~ uhamma1l Shan 
Shall. 'ltl ' fF h wtt 1 1e asststanra o • ate Ali Sh;\lt, 

. king of Persia, took his step-hrothet·, Zaman Slulh pri~onr1r 
and blin1h·d himl the chiefs of Kabul rais~d 1 he blinded 
prince's brother Shnjaul :Mulk to the t.b1•one. But he was 
soon remnved and Ayyuh Shah placed on the throne to 
represent the dynasty of Ahmad Shah Durani. l'his 
prince too provPd a failure like his p1·edccessor. l\fahmud 
Shah being afraid of Azim Khan went t • Her.\t and settled 
there. Shah Shuja who ente1·taint>d great fear of Azlm 
Khan and other .Ugluin chiefs fled to ,J alidah:id, and 
thence to Sind. He came s.o serretlv to the tmvn of Haidar. 
abad that no one knew about him.· He put up at a place 
near the Taodah of Agha Ibrahim Sluih on the bank of 
the Phuleli, the big canal flowing to the east of Haidar· 
ablid. When Ali Baksh son of Fakirah Khizmatgar, who 
was the K6tw{ll of the townl informed the Mil's of the 
ex-King's arrival, the latter sent some tents and kanats 
and provisions to him. After two or three days, the Ml.rs 
paid him a visit and did their best to console the deposed 

. kinoo and to keep him comfortable. An army was soon 
coll~cted that escorted him to Shikarpur. 

' 1'icl~ extract (2) in Appendix I. 
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When Muhammad Azim Kh!tn heard this, he instigated 
Avyub llhiib tt• march with au army lo Sind to il.:l'ht wi.tL 
tl;e M.irs and fri~>hteu away Shih ::llmj.\. 'l'l1e two ar.nies 

' " " I . met at Shikat·pur, but soou a tre:tt~ was maue. hy w L~()ll 
the Mirs promised to pay 12 taka of rupees as m lem:my 
to Ayyub Shah, acknowledge his snperioriry, use ltis coiu, 
and give up the cause of s.hujaul ~ulk. ::lh:~h Shujii 
hearing of this, decamped qmetly durmg the n1ght and 
went to i Ludl.ti1ina. '!'he next day the Mlrs held an 
intt·rview with .\'Iuha•nmad Azim Kbb and the11 st:.trted 
for Haidarabid, tho Afghan prince retuming to his c:1pital. 

Iv 1233 A. II. (1817 A. D.) inform:1tion was receivt~d 

P t
. to ti"' 1 that HaJ'i'th HaniJ'it Sing-, the ruler of rcp:uoa mu me(! ""ln. 1 • i .... • 

Ranjit 3i •g of ,til• Panjab the PunJab had taken ~Itt han K6t. 
at Slliknrpur. and intended to inv:de Sintl and that 
he had all'eady sent his grandson Nihalsing with a large 
army and nrtille,·y. 'l'he Mirs c •~tsulrel among the.uselves 
and with the BI16ch chief~ nnrl re;olvecl to oppo'e the 
Sikhs beyon I Shik:il-par, With th 1t object in vie1v ~Iir 
Karnm Ali Kh:\n issue1l ·1r.le ·s to all tlte trih·~s of Bni6Jhes 
and Sit·ais t.1 Mllect M H:.~i lar.i1l:l·l. B tt .Hir Hura l Ali 
K.lui.n's plan wa; ditf,~r,~ut. He said to hi.;, hi'Jthet· that it 
wa~ impossible to figl1t with a p ·r;on li~e ttn .. tjit 8in.r, 
who had conqnered the whole country fi'O:n Pe :h:ilvat' nnrl 
Ktshmit· to Karnal and hac! tak"n .\Iult.U.n, .\lithan K6t 
and Dt•rahs, t.lwt had been in the po~session of tlw bravo 
Afghims. ue therefore SUg'(!f'st.ed tha.t asilislance he 
sought fro'Tl the British Government, who wero on ve1·y 
fritmJiy t~rm• with them. After s111ue cli~cussion, the pl:tll 
was considt•rerl to be the he!t and the rn •st exp •diont. 
A :cordingly a letter was written to that effect t•1 Sir Jo!m 
:Malcolm, the Governor of Bomha.t'· Savyed (A'gha) 
Ismail Shah, the son of S tyyed I brilhim Sh~h was st~nt ns 
an ambassador to B:Jmhay to arl'l nge for t.he succour• 
After the departure of the Sayyecl the Mirs taking about 
30,000 men with them together with some guns and war 
engines, started to defend the borders of their country. 
Coming to Khairpur they were joined by :M:ir Suhrab 
Khan with his forces. And the whole army now proceeded 
to Shikarpur. 

· • This Sayycd is mentioned often, in the following pages ns nn envoy. 
See extracts (7) 11nd (33) from the Blue Book, &c., in Appendix 1 and 
the gcneological tree in Appendix II. ' 
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Meanwhile Sayyed lsmMl Sluih, bad arrived at Bombay. 
Sir John Malcolm bad gone home and had been succeeded 
by Lord Elphinstone. The Sayyed was received well by 
the Governor and was alloMd 30 rupees for his daily 
allowance. After their interview the Governor sent the 
Mir's letter, with his recommendation to the Governor 
General at Calcutta. 'Ihe latter wrote a letter to Rajah 
Ranjit Sing telling him that the Mfrs were on friendly 
tbrms with the British Government with whom they had 
made a treaty and that be must not think of going to 
Sind or else they would be oblig~d to take the 1\Hrs' side. 
The Rajah sent a reply that he had no intention of ~oing 
to Sind or fighting with the Mfrs, whom he considered to 
be his friends aud that his grandson Niba!sing had gone 
on a pleasure trip to Mult{m, Mithan K6t and Derahs to 
spend Dasahrah holidays there. At the same time, he 
wrote a friendly letter to the Mirs and sent it through 
Sawanmal, the Governor of }fultan. The Mirs were very 
much pleased to get this letter, and being quite at ease 
now, returned to Haidarabad.• · 

In 1240 .A.. H. (1824 A. D.) lHr Murad .A.Ii Khan fell 
Dr. Burn .. com .. from ill with a carbuncle. The physicians 

Bombay to treat Mlr Murad of Sind tried their best to cure it, but 
A.ll Khtln. · without success, The Mir remained 
confin~d to bed for a very long time. ~'he two brothers 
then wrote a MtAr to Lord Elphinstone, the Governor of 
Bombay, to send an }:nglish doctor to them, Dr. James 
.Burnes was accordingly sent to Haidacibad. On his arrival 
the Mire showed a g1·ea:t deal of kindness. The doctor too 
showed '/ery !!'reat clel'frnPss in l1is art, for in about 
20 days, Mir Murad AU Khan got better and in a month 
and a half no sign of the disease remained. The doctor 
was given a good many presents a~d sent baok to Bombay 

• In a letter writlrn by the Governor General to the Secret Committee 
on 28th November 1836, as given in the Bl•1e Book, it is said thftt 
" The pGyment of 11 tribute of 12 lak: of rupees was de!Winded by the 
MGharajGh from the Ameers. A. force was sent in advance, which 
captured Rojhnn, the chief town of the Mazarees and carried by 
&BRault a fort garrisoned by the troops of the Ameers in the neighbourhood 
of the rich commercial to1vn of Shik!lrpur and prepGrations were in 
progress for opening the campaign on a more e1tensive scale nt the 
commencement of the cold season." 'l'be negotiations with the 
Msharnjnh were cmied on through Captain Wade, the British lleaident 
at Ludbiana, 

ll ~05-28 
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11ia Kachh. A party of Ba.l6ohes headed by a few nobles 
was sent as an escort with the doctor, to go up to the 
boundary of Sind. When the doctor arrived at Bhuj, he 
spoke very highly of the Mil'S t~ Major Pott~nger, the 
then Resident of Kachh, who was mduced to wr1te a letter 
to the Mirs, and thenceforth the Mirs remained on friendly 
terms with that officer. 

In 1242 A H. (1826 A.. D.) the late Mlr Fateh Ali 
,_ It d b "lr Khan's son Mir S6bdar Khan, htgan 
.m~~vo .tause y ru. , 

Fateh All Kban'a oon M1r to be troublesome to the two ruling 
S6bddr Khan. · Mirs, his uncles, claiming his here• 
dita.ry share of his father's country. As has been noted 
above, Mir S6bdar Khan was born on the d11y of his 
father's death and since then he and the late Mir's three 
harams had been maintained by .Mir Ghuhim Ali Khan. 
On Mir Ghulam Ali Khan's death, his son Mlr M!r Mu. 
hammad Khan was nominally made the successor of his 
father and given some pm·oanahs as a jagir, by which 
arrangement he used to live like a prince. When Mir 
S6b1hir Khan reached the age of 25 years, he requ~sted his 
uncles to give him an independent mean8 of livelihood like 
that of Mir Mir Muhammad Khan. lie also demanded a 
share in inheritance of his father's valuables and land~. 
Mir Karam Ali Kb6n was willing to comply with his 
request and to satisfy his demand, but }llr Murad Ali 
Khan would not join him in that arrangement and Sl 

they reje?ted their nephew's request. After some days 
Mir S6bdar Khlin went to Lar (Lower Sind! on the pretext 
of shikar.ng. He was joined by Ghulam Ali Khan Tal pur, 
son of Fer6z Khan, the father o£ Khan Muhammad Khan, 
residing at Ren, and some other Bal6ch chiefs, Mir 
S6bdar Khan had no money with him. He was therefore 
obliged to sell the few jewels and valuable weapons he 
bad in his possession, through his Dtwan ~Iunshi Partlib· 
rai and his chief adviser, H6sh Muhammad Habshi 
(Abyssinian) and maintain his retinue, which went on 
incre~sing. He now openly raised the standard of revolt. 
Mir Mul".ld Ali Khan, hearing of this, prepared to put 
down the revolt. Taking an army of 800 men, he left 
the fort to meet his nephew. As he began to shower 
money on his dependents and sepoys, the Bal6ches enlistPd 
by Mir S6Mir Khan deserted him and went over to Mir 
:Murad Ali Khan, So that in one day and night, the 
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number of Mir S6bdar's men decreased from about 8000 
to 1200. Mir Sobdar had now no alternative but to 
eutrent Mfr Ka1·am Ali Khan to interfere and ~ettle the 
matter amicably. The .Mir accordingly brought about 
reuouciliation between the uncle and the nephew. At 
the same time the young Mlr was granted an allowance 
similar to that, which had been granted to Mir Mfr 
Muhammad Khan. He was also· given a similar share of 
his father's property. 

A few days after this Mir Karam All Khan fell ill and 
remained confined to bed for a ion"' 

K~~\h of )!fr Karam All time. At last he expired in 1244·A.if. 
(1828 A.D.•) His body was buried 

on a hill to the north of Haidarabad. He was the first 
'l'alpur, IVho was buried at Haidara.bad. t Before this any 
Tal pur dying, was removed to Khudab:id and buried there. 

It was in the reign of Mir Karam All Khan that a 
terrible inundation of the river Indus occurred submerg· 
ing large tracts of lands and villages, and it was in his 
predecessor's time that snow had fallen in Sind. 

CHAPTER XVII. 

THE RULE o:t Mx'R MuttA'n ALI' KaA'N, 

Mir Murad Ali Khan occupit>d the seat of rulership 
vacated by his brother, on the 16th 

st;•ndebip with other of Jamadlssan( 1244 A. H. (1828 A.D.) 
• ••· As Mir Karam Ali Khan bad died 

without any igsue, his treasure and armoury and other 
valuables came into the possession of Mlr Murad Ali 

• About the character of Mir K$ram AH KhUI aee (extract 28) in 
A ppendiii. 

t "The tombs of the deceased members of the reigning family are 
grouped at a distance from those of the Calor~e. 'fhe only ~aniso~e 
one of the 1'ulpurs is that of Mlr Karam All; d1splay charnctenzed th1a 
prince in life, aud he bas oll11'ied his love of pomp to the gr"&vo. The 
edifice is cha.te and bandsome,-ite figure a square, Clipped with a tine 
cupola-and the heaviness of the whole ie much relieved by a tower m 
each angle."-M.S. Journal of Lieut. Wood, l.N. (lba5·36.J 
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Khan. This Mir behaved so wist~ly and justly that all 
the Mirs of Kbairpur and Mirpur and other Bal6ch chiefs 
remained attached to him by ties of affection. His reign 
was a peaceful reign, in which cultivators and traders 
lived very happily. At Kabul there was anarchy about 
this time and so, in fact., the Mir bad become an independ· 
ent ruler. Eis friendship with Fateh Ali Shah, the king 

·of Persia, grew to intimacy, so much so that the king was 
inclin~d to give a daughter of his to the Mfr in marriage, 
but the latter declined the honour gracefully owing to the 
long distance and his old age. 'fhe friendship with the 
Governor of Bombay continued as before and the envoys 
used to come and go regularly. Major Pottinger, the 
'Political Resident of Kachh, paid him a visit and was very 
much pleased with the reception ~iven to him.• Similarly, 
envoys from the courts of Rajah Ranjit Sing, the Rajah 
of .Jrsalmer and the Rao of Kachh and from the Imam of 
Ma~cat and the Sharif of Mecca commenced visiting 
Haidarabad. In his time, Shujaul Mulk once more came 
to Sind as a refugee and the Mir allotted the town of 
Shikarpur with its revenue to him for his temporary main. 
tenance. 

Being now independent, the Mir for the first time 
struck coin in his own name. A mint 

u!~b'J. ••tabliahed at was established under the superintend· 
ence of a skilful iron-smith by name 

Fateh Muhammnd. ~'he work commenced experimentally 
and 40 or 50 ashra.fill (gold coins) were also struck. The 
Mir then ordered that all tile gold in the treasury be given 
into the mint to be made into mohar8, But before that 
work was fl.uished, the Mfr expired. 

The death of Mir l~Iurad Ali Kh£m occurred on Sunday, 
the 6th of J arnadissani 1249 A.. H. 

~tb of lllr Murad All (1833 A.D.) He died of pain in the 
· chest and knees, which kept him 

confined to bed for about a fortnight. 

Mir Murad Ali Khan died leaving four sons, 'Diz., Mfrs 
Nur Muhammad Khan, Nasir Khan, Muhammad Khan 
and Yar Muhammad Khan t and two daughters. He was 

• Vide extmct (3) in Appendix I. 
t Mfr Y llr Mnhamrnad Khan is the author of the Frerenamab, from 

'!lhich these page• have been translated. 
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fortunate enough to see his grand-children also for 
Mir Nur Muhammad Khan had got two wns Mfr Sh~hdad 
Khan and Mir Husain Ali Khrin, and :Mir Nasir Khan 
had got two sons Mir Hasan Ali Khan and Mir Abbas 
Ali Khan.• 

It was in the previous year that the Mlr's Wazir Nawab 
Wall Muhammad Kh:in Ligharl died "full of years and 
honour, having retained the confidence of his masters and 
love of people to the last."t 

CHAPTER XVIII. 

THE RULE OF Ml'R Nu'R Mmr..unu.n KHA.'N, 

After Mir Murad Ali Khan's death the chiefs and 
headmen of the Bal6ches met to· 

Division of Si~d .. into gether and after some consultat' 
leveralowalloub.dlVWOllL IOU 

among themselves divided the terri· 
torial possessions of the late M lr into four parts, one part 
becoming the share of each of his four sons. These four 
young Mirs then began to rule at the town of Haidarabad. 
Similarly on the death of Mir Sulmih Khan of Khairpur,~ 
was dividPd among his sons Mirs Rustam Khan and Ali 
:Murad Khan and their nephews Mlr Muhammad Hasan 
Khan son of Mir Rustam Khan, :Mir Muhammad Khan 
son of Mir Ghulam Haidar Khan and Mir Nasir Khii.n 
son of Mir 1Mub6.rak Khan.§ In the same way, Mir 
Ali Murad Khan soD of :Mir TMrah Khan of Mirpur, 
having died about that timt>, his pat·t of the country was 
divid~d among his ~ons, Mirs Sher Muhammad Khan, 
Shah Muhammad Khan and Khan Muhammnd Khan. In 
this manner the whole of Sind was divided into small 
shares each being retained by a young .hlir, who con-

• About 1\Hr :Murad Ali Khan's chAracter see extract (27) in Appen­
di:t I. 

t See extract (82) in Appendix I. and the genealogical tree in Ap. 
pendix 11. 

t M!r Suhr&b Khan died in 1830 A.D. at the BiG of 90, from 1 lall 
from the upper storey of & house, 

§ Who died in 1255 A.ll. (1839 A.D.). 
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sidered him9elf independent of every other. But Mir N lir 
Muhammad Khan, the eldest of the Mirs at Haid:1rahad, 
beir1g a wise and genrrous nobleman, soon became popular 
and came to be acknowledged as the chief ruling prince 
of Sind. 

About this time a report was received from Sayyed 
Kazim Shah son of A'gha Ismail 

lfarohoHhoHln against Sl 'h h .NL · G f 
Shujiul Mull: at Shikirpur . 1a t e uzw• or overnor o 
and tho dopartun of tho Shikarpur • to the effect that 
latter. Shujaul Mulk, who bad be~:n lod~ed 
at Shlkarpur by the late Mir, on hearing of his death had 
become the sole master of Shikarpur and dismissed him. 
After some consultation, tl1e Mirs co:Jected their forces 
and started to dispossess the .A.fghim ex-king of Shikarpur. 
At Khairpur t they were joined by the Mirs of that part, 
and they all marched together in the direction of 
Shik8.rpur. At the snme time they clespatched some 
envoys to admon;sh him to leave tlle town and go away. 
Shujaul Mulk knowing well that tbfl day of Bnl6ch 
bravery and heroism had gone, flatly refused to depart. 
The Mirs proceeded and halted ahout 6 miles from 
Shiklirpur. From there, tl1eir army, which amounted to 
18000 men, attacked the two or three thousand Afghans 
of the place. Th~>y were however soon repulsed by the 
hardy Afghans with great loss. Kazim Shah himself and 
G6lah :Shah, belonging to the Khairpur army, were 
among the killed. 1.'he Bal6ches without waiting longer 
to fight with the enemy, fled back to tht~ Mirs' camp. 
The latter were now obliged to send A' gha Ism6il Shah 
to sue for peace and settle any terms with Shujaul 
Mulk on condition that he should leave the country. 
Accordingly it was soon arranged that the Afghan prince 
should receive 12 laks of Sind rupees (equivdPnt to 
8 loks of British rupPes) and dep1rt. 'l'he money 
was forthwith given and Shujiml Mulk left the place 
for Ludhiinah. Snyyed Ismail Sh!J.h was then put 
in charge of the administration of the place, and that 
officer having appointed his son, Sayyed Zainulabidin 

• !gh8 Ismail SMh hi01self had aiRo been the Governor of Sbiknrpur 
and had been succeeded by his son on bia trallfller. 

t .!lao called Snhdbplll' at that time. 
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8Mb to act for him as a ndib (agent), left for Haidarahad 
·along with the Mirs, and arrived there in Sha wwaJ. 1249 
H. A. (1833 A:.U.)• 

In 1262 A.H. (1836 A.D.)t information was received 
:naloobes advanco to op· that Shujaul Mulk had applied to the 

poae the EngHah from pass- British Government for help against 
1ng through Smd to J!JihuL: h' t t K'b l d 

IS own coun rvmen a .. u an 
the Government had appointed Sir William Macnaghten 
to accompany the Afgluin prince with an army and reinstul 
him on the throne of Kabul.~ 

At the same time the Governor General of India, Lord 
Auckl&nd, ordered an army to gc. from Bombay ·under the 
command of General Sir John (afterwards Lord) Keane, 
passing t hrou~h Sind to assist Shujaul M ulk. But before 
their coming, Colonel Pottin~er was deputed from Kachh 
to go to the Court of the Mirs ancl take their formal per· 
mission about it and to request them to arrange in a way 
that the army passing through Sind v1.a Karachi, might 
not be mol~sted by any natives of the province, and 
traders might supply provisions a3 well as camel~, bullocks, 
labourers and boatmen, nt any rate or wages fixed by the 
lllirs. Mir Nur Muhammad Kinin was wise enough to 
knPw that unner the circum~tanet•s !Jf the time, the 
Dal6ches were utterly unable to oppose the English in the 
open field, and so he gave his consent, But the other 
~Hr~, t>ach of whom considered himself an independent 
ruler, being instigated by rude Bal6ches objH•ted and show· 
ed readine~s to fight witlt the English. Colonel Pott!nger 
was pelted at with stones in the streets of Haidarabad 
by the boys of the place, and a force was hurriedly got up 
and marched to the bank of the river, where they en. 
camped in the village of A'blid §. :Bur .Mir NUl' Muham· 

• flUe extract (U) in Appendix I and the genealogical tree of the 
!ghtls in Appendix 11. . 

t" One year b~fore this, i e., in 1835, Colonel Pottinger had succeeded 
aftor much difficulty in obtaining permission to survey the sea-coast o£ 
Sind and tho delta of the Indus; and in 1~36 the Kabul campaign 
neceositatcd the despatch of British troops from Bombay to join the 
main army in tho .N ortheru Provinces, by way of the lndus.''-.Sind 
Ga:~tt~er. 

: See extract (8) in Appendix I. . 
§Where Mlr Muhammad Khan's Tando at1111d.s now, about 2 wi!ea to 

the north of the Gidu Bandar, . 
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mad Khan had already given his permission and Captai11 
Whitelock had already left for K:michi. Mir Sher Mu· 
hammad Khan now arrived from Mil·pur with 12000 mea. 
and joined the other Mirs. The Bal6ches running short 
of provisions sG soon, begm to plunder the traders, who 
had collected large quantities of provisions for the British 
army, whioh had already b~>en purchased and kept ready 
for them. This was all the work of the first night and the 
next morning. 'l'he Bal6ches were ready to loot the bazar 
of Haidarabad. Mir Nur Muhammad and his brothers, 
hearing of these outrages, tried their best to check the 
wild Bal6ches and with great difficulty succeeded in quiet• 
ing them, after they had shaved the beards and cut the 
eats of a good number of them. 

Soon a report was received from Jamadar Alahrakhi11h 
Tho f rl of Yonoh~ iB the governor of Karachi, that ships 

~uen .~d theBritieh forco bearing British tt·oops had arrired 
ulanded at Karici!i. off Karachi, that the Sindi gunners 
posted in the fort of Manahrah,t had fired two or three 
guns at the ships, that the return bombs were fired from 
the ships razing to the ground one side of the fort in 
about a quarter of an hour, and that General Keane had 
landed his army by force. On hearing this, the Mira 
sent Sayyed Ismail Shah to meet. Sir John Keane and to 
treat with him for peace throu~.th the medium of Major 
Pottinger, who h~d since left Haidarab:id and joined the 
general. Accordmgly, the Sayyed went to Karachi and 
tried his best to bring about pPaoe by givin,., excuses and 
explanation for what had happened, At last the followin"' 
treaty was drawn up, 'Oi~. :- 0 

(1) That the Mfrs must supply provisions and beasts of burden on 
reasonable prices and hire. 

(2) That as the Sind rupee contained much alloy, being S masds 
out of 11, and its circulation Callljed great loss to tradoi'IJ 
the Mfrs should strike a rupee weighing 8 maaas, containing 
no alloy. 

(3) That the Mirs should pay an indemnity of 23 lakl of pure 
rupees to the British Government. 

(4) That in !uture a British force of 3000 men would be posted 11t Karachi. 

• Man6ra, 



(5) That a Itesideut would be a-ppointed to reme.in at Baidar,Md 
to superintend the British fmce and to watch. the interests of 
the British Government in Sind. 

(6) That the Mirs would pay 3 laks of rupees e.nnually,;to tho 
British Government as a tribute, e.nd 

{7) That the Mira would readily comply with any reasonable reo 
quest that the British Resident might make and that the latter 
wonld in no way interfere with any public or private affairs of 
the :Mirs. A copy of the above treaty was taken with Sayyed 
Ismail Shah's lett~r to the Mfrs, Ly Captain Whitelock, 
assistant to Major Pottinger, the British Resident. The Mlrs 
accepted the terms anJ. signed the trea .. 

After this Sir John Keane with his whole force started 
for Kabul. 'l'he troops were pre· 

P"'"il" of British forooa vented from going to the east Of the 
ap tho mer to Kobul.t • 

Indus, on their maroh along the 
river. When they arrived at K6trf, the European Military 
officers expressed a desire to visit the town of Haidarabad. 
Permission was asked from the Mfrs, who were requested 
to anange in such a way that no mischief or hurt be 
caused by the people to the officers. The permission was 
granted and Sayyed Jiandal Shah, the Kotwal or Police 
Superintendent of the town was ordered to proclaiw by 
tom·tom that the people should keep aloof from doing 
any harm to the Europeans coming to see the town, or 
else they would be punished severdy. The next dny, 
after sunrise, all the European officers crossed the river 
and came to HaidaraMd. It was winter then. ~hey 
went about the town visiting places of importance till 
4 p.m., when they returned to K6tri. The next morning, 
the Btitish forces started again on their march. Col. 
Ledge was sent ahead to inform the Mirs of Khairpur of 
their coming. ~'hose Mirs at first showed some opposition, 
but subseque.atly they remained quiet. In a sbort time 
General Keane arrived at Chhipri, where after some con· 
versation Mr. Ross Bell was left as a }{esident. The 
13ritish force which consisted of 2000 men then proceeded 
to Khurasan. 

After a year and a half Mr. Ross 13ell died and the· 
Residency of Khairpur too was at • 

. Re~~~~~~ .. ;~.;~h.~11:jtieh tached to Major Pottinger, the Resi· 

• 305-29 

· dent at Haidarabad. After 7 months 

• See extracf (5) in Appendix I. 
t See e:mact (8) in Appendi.t I. · 
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that officer fell ill and went home nna was succeeded by 
his assistant Captain Leckie. :But he too did 'not remain 
long and was soon transferred to :Bombay, Captain East. 
wick being next appointed as the Rt>sident. This officer 
remained until after some days, Major Outram was 
nominated to the post and arrived at Haidarabad vid 
l{acbh. After a short stay at HaidaraMd Major Outram 
left his assistant Captain Whitelock to act for him at the 
capital of Sind and himself went to see the Residency at 
Khairpur and to settle some affairs in connection with 
Kal~t. 

In the month of Zi-Kaad 1254 A.H. (1838 A.D.) 
General Sir John Keane after re· 

General Keone rellli'Jlll • u· Sl . ' 1 lk th h 
from K'bul and P•"eo msta mg IUJSU mu on e t rona 
through BlidarOLWI 10 of Kabul returned to Bomba'\', with· 
.l!omb•Y· Sardar Ghulam Haidar Khan, 'the eon 
of Amir D6st Muhammad Khan, as a hostage, On his 
way, he alighted at the Residency bungalow of Major 
Outram, which was situated on the bank of the Indus, 
near Mir Muhammad Kban's villuge. Mir Nlir Muham· 
mad Khan ordered a salute of 19 guns in honour of the 
General. That morning the Mirs paid formal visits to 
the Genenal, who rPceived them with distinction. In the 
afternoon, General Keane, accompanied by 25 other 
European officers, returned the vis1ts. They were received 
by the Mfrs in an open Durbar, which had been held for 
the occasion, with all the pomp of an Indian ruler. The 
General gave some gold as nazranak to each of the thr.;e 
Mirs, Nur Muhammad Khan, Nasir Khan and Mir Mu. 
hammad Khan and then took his leave. He next paid a. 
visit to Mir S6bd:ir Khan. About sunset he returned to 
the Resi;ency, The next day, the General, with Sardar 
Ghulam Haidar Khan and other officers left for :Bombay. 

In Jamlidissani 1255 A.H. (1840 A.D.) Mir Nllr 
Muhammad Khan became ill. He 

ha~:!: tJ:.~ N4r 11:... remained for some time under the 
. treatment of Native and European 

doctors, but in vain. At last early on the morning of 
Wednesday, lOth Shawwal, 1255 A.H. (1840 A.D.) t he 
died and was buried by the side of his father.+ 

• See emact (10) in Appendix I. 
t The Sind Gaz~ttetr is mong in giving this date as 1841 A.D. 
t Ab~nt NUl' :lrfvbamma!j Xllan'a character see eztrr.c• (29) m 

Appendix I. 



OHAPTBR XIX. 

TtiB Rl7Lf OJ Mt'B :MUH&MllfAD N!sr'l. Kll.&.'N. 

After Mir N-ur Muhammad Khan's death all th& Bal6eh 
Dl.!pute between M I r. chiefS" acknowledged Mir Muhammad 

Hull&in All KhAn and lllr Nasir Khan as their head, as hl'5 W!IS 
BhahdOd !Wn. 11 very good man and a perselir of 
literary' pursuits and princely habits. . 

In the- very next month a dispute arose betwe-e:tl the 
late Mir's gons Mir Husain Ali Khan and Mir Shahdad 
Khft.n,. about their father's legacy. The dispute was about 
to pass from word:J to at•ms. At the instigation of Abmlid 
KMn Lighari Mir S6bdal' Khan took the aide of Mir 
Husain Ali Khan, and Mir Nasir Kh&n espoused the 
cause of Mir Shahdad Khan. As there w!ls no probability 
of settling the matter otherwise,. Mir Nasir Khan sent 
A'khund Bacha!, one of his chief courtiers, to Colonel 
Outram,. the Resident, requesting him to interfere as !Ul 
umpire and settle the matt.En' between the, two brother!t. 
Accordingly the Colonel came and soon brought about 
reconciliation between them a.nd settled the disput~ 

In 1257 A.H. (1841 A.D.) Colonel dutram went on 
C& 

1 
• 

8
. d. sick leave to Egypt and his assistant 

• •" m m Captain Mylne acted for him. tn 
RabiussA.ni of the next year, 1258 A.H. (1842 A.D.) 
cholera broke out at Haidat'llood, and from there it spread 
throughout the province of Sind. All the Mirs with their 
families, except Mfrs Husain Ali Khan and S6bdar Khatt 
and thror sons, who went to liTe at Agbimani, left Baidat• 
ab:l.d and went to Mianah, where they remained fot 
3 months. In Jamadissani they came back to the fort, of 
Baidara.bad. · 

.About the close of Shuaban of the same year (September 
. 1842 A.D.) Sir Oharles Napier. being 

srr Charlee, Napulr ap· ap""inted 8$' the Resident of Sind fblnted r.8 ilea>dont. rv ' • I 
left Punah • and came to• Su:id. Frolil. 

Karachi he camEl to Haida.rab&d by' a steamer; On his 
arri:l"alf·at the Residency the Mirs sent theit' men to 

=-
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welcome him. In the afternoon, he came to visit Mfr 
Nasir Khan. Mir Abbas .!li Klul.n with a few other nobletJ 
was sent to receive him at a short distance from the fort 
and to bring him in. Next he visited .Mir S6bdar Khan 
and then returned to the Residency. After three days he 
left for Sakhe.r. At the latter place he saw all the Mirs 
of that part. In the month of Ramazan, Captain .Mylne, 
Assistant Resident went to Bombay and in the next 
month Captain fitanley came in his place. On the 18th 
of the same month he visited Mil· Nasir Khan to get his 
sanction to a fresh treaty for which he had been sent by 
Sir Charles Napier. 'Ihe terms of the treaty were (1) that 
the coin of Sind should bear the name of the King of Eng­
land on one side; (2) that the Mlrs should cede t() 
the British Government Karachi, Shikarpur, Snbzalk6t, 
U me.rk6l and all the land attached to these towns ; (3) and 
that a slip of land 100 yards in width, nloug both the 
banks of the river be given to the British Government. 
The Mir did not agree to the terms of the treaty and 
refused to sign it. • 'fhe Captain, therefore immeuiately 
left for Bombay by e. steamer.. . 

About t.hat time, Mir Ali Murad KMn of Khairpur, 
Dl b 

with the secret help of Sir Charles 
eagrcoment etweon ., . l d . , 

lilt AU Muo·ad Kh!.n and Nap1er, open y eolured h1s enmtty 
Mlr RYhtam Khan and tho a<>ainst his eldest brother Mir Rustam 
fttgbt o! tbe latter. K"' d . . 

han, an put lnm to fhght to seek 
shelter, in his old age, in the ~andy deserts of 'fhar. It 
would appear that after the division of the late Mir Suhrab 
Khan's country among his children, the other Mirs. 
entertained e. dislil>e towards Mir Ali Murad Khan and 
wanted to molest him. '!'he latter therefore thourrht 
it proper to save himself by attaching himself to Sir 
Charles. 

At the close of Zfkand 1258 A.H. (1842 A.D.) Colonel 
Di•ngrroment between Outrnm, the former Resident arrived 

Mlr SJbdAr Khan and tho at Haidarab{td, but he did not alight 
other Mll'll of l!llidnrabtld. from the steamer. The Mira sent 
presents to him. The Colonel accepted the presents of 
Mir S6hdar Kh6.n, but rejected those of Mlr :t-insir Khiin 
and other Mira. The latter, therefore, got grieved at this 

• The full text is given in extract (14) in Appendix I. 



and understood tbnt Mfr S6bdar Kbiin was behaving in 
the same way as Mir AH Murad Khan was. doing at 
Khairpur under the guidance of Sir Charles Napier and 
they feared that Mfr S6bdar Khan wanted to cause them 
similar harm. This heightened the- enmity between the 
two .h1frs. 

About the olose of Zilhajj of the same year, Mfr N' asir 
Dio•w•emont between Khan and Mir Muhammad Hasnn, 

tho ~t. ... nd Sir Charlo• the nephew and the son of Mfr Rust am 
Nap•••· Khan, came to Baidarabad from 
K6hlrah, asking help from Mir Muhammad JSasfr Khan 
for Mlr Rustam Khan. On the 2nd of Muharram 
l25H A.H. (1843 A.D.) Mir Rustam Khan himself, with 
his other sons and brothers arrived. All the Mirs, except 
Mfr S6bdar Klu1n and Mir Shahdad Khan went out to 
receive him and brought him into the fort of Baidarabad. • 
Shortly after this Mirza Khusr6beg, Y usif Khizmatgnr 
and Ghulam Ali Nizamlmi were sent as envoys to Sir 
Charles Napier, whose camp wns near Sehwan then. 
They delivered the message of the Mirs, stating that they 
were ready to accept the t~t·ms of the last treaty, but 
their wish was that nt first !IHr .hustam Klu\n should get 
back his right, through the iutercession of the General. 
During the conversation that ensued with Sir Charles, 
'Mirza Khusr6beg" was bold enough to tell him in strong 
terms that the Mfrs of Haidnrabad had been much griev<·d 
to hear of the treatment of Mir Rustam Kblin, and that 
the Bal6chcs had tal;en the matter so much to heart that 
if the En~lish people should come to Haidnrabad, they 
would dra\v swords at them. "And the fi[Ehting of thf,! 
Bal6ches," said he," is not a trivial thing. You ~hould be 
sure that Sind is not a cold pudding t.lmt you would eat so 
easilv." These words coming from an envoy, exasperated 
tbe General beyond measure. He refused to have any 
more conversation with the envoys. "I am al$0 for war,'' 
said Sir Charles, "let us see how the swords of the 
Bnl6ches resist the vollr.ys of muskets and guns." He 
said the next day he would send Colonel Outram by a 
steamer to :Haidarabad to hear from the :Mirs direct what 
they had to say. 

• Soe eitr110t (15) in Appendi1 I. 
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On. the 6th of Muharram, Colonel Outram, Lieutenant 
Brown and a few other officers with about l 50 soldiers 
arrhed. at N ami bad, where the British camp and Residency 
were. The next day Colonel Outram and the other offi<:ers 
came to visit the Mirs. They were arrived at the bungalow 
of Mir Nasir K.Mn. Aftet• a long discussion, the Mirs 
promised to sign the treaty after the lOth of Muharram 
was over. Tile officers then went back to their camp in 
the evening. On the 12th, Colonel Outram and Lienten. 
ant Brown again went to Mir Nasir Khan to have the 
treaty signed and sealed, as promised. Mlr Nasir Khan 
118id: that his seal was with Mul1ammad Khan son of 
Luktnan Talpur, and that of Mir Shabdad Khan was with 
his· Mukhtia1·kar Muhammad Khan Lighar~ and the next 
day they would take the seals from their confidential 
attendants and fix them to the document of treaty. The 
officers· therefore went back to return the next day. 

During-the· following night Ghulam Muhammad and 
Yakhtiar Khan Lagharls induced Mir Nasir Khan to 
cba:nge his' views in regard to the English, Mirs Ghuhim 
Shah Shahwani and Khan Muhammad :M{mikani, who 
were the chief advisers of the Mir, advised him to declare 
war against the English General, while A 'khund Bacha! 
amd Nawab Muhammad Khan Talpur, entreated the Mil 
to keep peace with the English and give up any idea of 
W"ar; But· as fate would Lave it, M!r Nas1r KLan was 
inclined to fight with the English and to refuse to sign 
the treaty; 

The- nett day Colonel Outram • sent the document in 
question with a confidential subordinate of his to the Mir. 
6hulam Muhammad Ligbari snatched the same from his 
hands and' tore it to pieces. The man went back disap• 
pointed to the Colonel. 

Itr may be noted here tbat during this discussion :Mir 
Bihahdlid. Khan wisely stood aloof from giving any opiniol! 
011 takiug any side. While Mira S6bdiir Khan and Mfr 
Mwhammali Khan displayed duplicity by joining the 
:Bal.Gc•on·one side and the· English on the other:t · 

• Who was .the former Resident a.nd who had pre'rioUJiy lelt Siud
1 

but 
w.&m,cai!M I~ January 1843. 

t llto tt;lracll ( 6~ and (17) in A.ppendil L 
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At last on 14th of the ~ame month, in the aftemoon1 

'l'he B•tdoh .. attack the Mlr Muhammad Nasir Khan and 
En8tioh camp and rooideno7 Mir Husain .Ali KhB.n oame out of 
11 Hoid~~tab&.t.• the fort in order to attack the English 
camp and Residency. They encamped in a garden about 
!.1 miles from H!lidaraMd. .About 8000 Ba16ches, eoma 
on wretched horses, others with useless al'ms, gathered 
about the place, and beating the dt·um of war marched 
towards tht' river. When they arrived near the English 
camp, Oa pta in Harding was directed to fire a volley at them, 
The result was that the Bal6ches withdrew to a long dis. 
tance, halting under Mbul trees, standing in clusters there. 
Nawab Ahmad Khan Lighari now sent a messenger to 
Mir Shahdad Khan telling him that he with his brothers 
and kinsmen was going to fight with the English and 
asking him to come and join the main body, While Mir 
Shahdad was wavering on the point., Mlr Jan Muhammad 
Khan's message arrived that he and the Nawab were on 
their way to the river and that Mir Shahdad Khan must 
join them, in the name of family honour and the word of 
God. Mir Shahdad Khan, therefore, "'as obliged to get 
ready and taking a few cannons with him stBrted for the 
riverside. . 

Meanwhile Colonel Outram and other European officer• 
aeeing that it was no longer safe to stop in the midency, 
picked up the necessary and valuable things with them 
and moved to the two steamers lying along the ban.k. 
Immediately the Dal6ches poured in on the empty camp, 
plundering the place, sett.ing fire to the old tents and 
houses and taking away a large heap of bread and other 
articles which had been left behind as unnecessary. While 
they were thus busy, balls fired from the guns in the 
steamers began to shower upon them. Mashhadi a 
Persian cook of Mir Nas1r Khan was directed to fire a 
cannon. lhe balls fell on the steamer and nearly destroy• 
ed them, A little before sunset the two steamers were at 
last seen moving away up the stream, to the north, in the 
direction of Sehwan, where General Napier's camp waa. 
Then tho Bal6ches returned to their homes, and Mil 
Shahdad went and joined Mir Nasir Khan who was ~m 
in Khathri. The next morning the two Mil's with their 
forces came to Miarut and e!lcamped there. 

• See extract (18) in Appendix I. 
t .A.loo ll*UelllW'D•IIe 
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A little before noon information was rec~ived that the 
The b&ttlo of Mi,n! &lid Eng~ieh al'~lY had left Halah. on the 

tho defe&t of the .!Uro ,,f prev1ous ntght and were movmg for· 
H•idl.r,bll<l.• ward. In the evening a report came 
that they bad arrived at Muta·nllawi (Matiari), and were to 
leave that place the next morning, and that they we!e abo~t 
0000 men and hacl12 guns with them. On gettmg tlus 
news Mir Nasir Khan sent word to Ghulam Muhammad and 
Yakhtiar Ligluiris and Ghulam Shih and Jan Muhammad 
Talpurs, who were the leaders of the Bal6ch forcPs, to 
get ready and to send a reconnoitt·ing party to ad vance 
arid check them. But the zeal of the Bal6ches began 
to slack.;,n and they openly refused to advance. Mir Nasir 
Khan repented very much at having depende<l on such 
fickle people and having acted according to their inclina· 
tion. '' l'hese Bal6che~," said he, "have done to me, what 
the KUfis did to Imam Husain." That whole night was 
spent in conversation and close consultation as to what 
to d1.1 to avert the impending calamit,y. When the sun 
rose the next mornin~, Mir Nasir Khan prepared for 
battle and adjusted his arms on his person. His example 
was followed bv Mir Shahd:id Khan, Mir Husain Ali 
Khan, Mir Rustam Khim and other chiefs. 'raking 17000 
mPn and 11 guns with them the Mirs advanced to the 
old Phuleli, whero they arrayed the army to meet the 
English. Soon some spi<•s informed them that the 
English army was in sight, and forthwith the Bal6ch 
gunners began to throw bombs in the direction of the 
enemy. Just ahout that time three English officers on 
fleet horses were seen reconnoitring close to the Ba16cb 
army and going back to join their m:1in force. 'l'he 
English now began to respond with their guns, and soon 
a general fight ensued, wnich did not last long; for the 
Bal6ches were put to flight and they did not rest till they 
had reached the town of Haidarabad. 'fhis battle took 
place on Friday the 17th of Muharram 1269 .A..H. 
(1843 A.D ), In the afternoon, about the time of Friday 
prayers, Mlr B usain Ali Khan was the first to return to 
the fort, and about an hour after, Mir Nasir Khan, Mfr 
Shahdad Khan, together with the Mirs of Khairpur also 
arrived. 

• ~ee extl'ICt (19) in Append.il I, 
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' Genernl Napier, after securing the booty left behind by 
· surrender of tho Mire, the Bal6ches encampe~ at the very 
"!"\ sec ... ion of Mh· Sobdor place, where the camp of the Bal6ches 
Khan. had stood. Fearing lest some .Bal6· 
·ch~s should have concealed themselves in the hunting. 
grounds of Miani close by, a search was made, but no sign 
of the Bal6ches was found there. 

. During the night, that followed, Mir S6bdar Khan sent 
some trays of sweetmeats anrl other presents to General 
Napier, through Munshl Awatrai, who had held out hopes 
to that Mlr of reaping the sume advantage from the 
friendship with the English, as Mir Ali Murid Khan of 

. Khairpur hnd done.* As the night was dark and the 
· watchman of the English camp could not be made to 
distinguish between a friend and a foe from among the 
llal6ches, the Munshi returned disappointed. ~'hat night 
there was all confusion in the town of Haidarabad. It 
was expected that the next day the English troops would 
come and plunder the place. So the people began to 
migrate with all the valu·1bles and necessary articles they 
could carry with them. Th.e same was the case with the 
occupants of the fort. The next morning, Mir S6bdar 
Khlm openly sene Munshi Awatrai t and Musa Armani 
(Armenian) to the Eoglish General expressing a desire to 
have an interview with him. The General's reply was 
that, hefm·e anything else could be done Mirs Nasir Khan, 
Shahdad Khan anrl 'Husain Alf Kln\n should surrender to 
him or else he would besiege the fort and raze it to the 
ground by cannonade and would not be responsible for 
what worse might happen thereby. Mir fil6bdar Kh:in 
sent the two men to deliver the General's message to Mir 
Nasir Khan. The latter had no alternative. Taking both 
of his nephr':1wS with him he rode to the .Fnglish camp, 
accompanied by 7 or 8 men. When tbiR party drew 
nPar the camp, Colonel Qutrnm came out of the tents 
and after exchanging salutations took the three Mirs into 
his own tent. After a few minutes, General Napier and 
Colonel Pattie entered the same tent. 'fhe Mirs opened 

• About Mir S6bdnr Khfin'a character aee extract (31) in Appendix I • 
. t Munshl Partabra{ wo.a the aon of GurbOmol and grandson of Knliiln· 

d8a. He lived at his landki, near Shahdad~•1r. Later on he was openly 
assaulted by some Jahiltlol Bnloches and killed. He left two sons Gir· 
dhnrdas o.nd 1'o.khtrilm. The latter's son is Gagaudas. 

I 306--30 



the belts of their swords and placed the weapons before 
the General, who received them and again tied the same 
with his own hands on the waists of the Mirs. He then 
told them that he was sending his report to the Governor 
General, Lord Ellen borough, at Calcutta, and would act 
according to the ordm received from him. "Till then," 
be said, "the Mirs might remain in their camp on thl! bank 
of the Indus.'' As Mir Hmain Ali Khan was very young, 
the General, following the suggestion of Colonel Outram, 
permitted him to return to the fort. ~'he next day 
(19th of the month) Sir Charles Napier moved his army 
to his camp at Na6abad. The two Mirs were lodged in 
the garden, now called Mfr Muhammad Khan's garden, and 
a guard oUst Brandesbury regiment under Lieut. Johnson, . 
was sent over them. Lieut. Brown, the General's 
Secretary, was asked to look after the comfort and wants 
of the Mirs. 

On the 21st of the same month, Captain Pdly intimated 
'l'h•lllru,. modo pri•••· to the Mirs that some officers would 

"''· ••d t.h• fort of go into the fort during the day and 
BudaribM .. taken. raise the British flag on the tower. 
About 2 p.m., Colonel Pattie with a party of 12th Bombay 
Infantry ann 9th Bengal Cavalry and two guns enttr<·d 
the fort. At the same time a cavalcade of Jacob's Horse 
came to the town to keep peace there, and Lieut. Mollison 
went to the K6twali and removed the officers of the Mire 
.and took charge of it. 

Colonel Pattie first came to the bungalow of Mfr 
S6bdar Khan in the fort and then wont to the tower and 
unfurled the British flag. Next he wanted to have the 
keys of the fort and treasures. The gates had already 
been secured by a guard and communication stopped. 
In about three days all the treasures, open or buried, were 
taken possession of by Colonel Macpherson and two other 
officers, who were deputed to .do that duty. Of all the 
Mirs, Mir Nasir Khan's valuables were the most that fell 
into the hands of the English, for unlike the other Mirs, 
he had had no opportunity of removing any part of his 
property. 

On the 26th of the month Captain Brown took away 
::Mlr Mir Muhammad K.Mn on an elephant to the English 
camp to join the other :Mirs. And on the let of the next 
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month (Safl'ar) Mlr S6bdar KMn also was taken away in 
a palankin, from the fort, in which only the young Mirs 
were now left behind. On the 3rd o! the month Major 
Wright, of the 12th Bombay Infantry was appointed to 
relieve Colonel Pattie and remain in charge of the fort. 

On this very date, in the evening, a comet appeared in 
the heavens. Its head was to the west and its tail to the 
east. It remained for about a month and then gradually 
disappeared. The people considered it very unlucky and 
attributed the loss of Sind out of the hands of the Mirs1 to 
its inauspicious influence. 

On the 22nd or Saffar 1259 A.II. (1843 A.D.) Sir 
Battle ofDabbah and the Charles Napier prepared to march 

defeat of Mlr Sher Mubam· against Mir Sher Muhammad Khan 
mad Khon.• of Mirpur. Heavy showers of rain 
prevented him from leaving the place, that day, The 
next day, he started and met· the Mfr's forces at the 
village of Dab bah about 4 miles to the east of Haidarahad. 
Here, a severe battle took place, whioh ended in the defeat 
of Mir Sher Muhammad. H6sh Muhammad Hahashi 
(Abys~inian) t who was one of the chief followers of Mir 
S6bchir Khan and was a brave soldier, was killed in this 
battle. Mlr Sher Muhammad Khan fl,·d to Mirpur, being 
pursued by General Napier, Arriving at Mirpnr, the M!r 
hurriedly carried some necessary baggage with him and 
left for the Punjab, to take refuge with Shersing, the 
Sikh ruler. His first halt was near Sehwan, where he put 
a ditch round the camp on three sides, leaving the westside, 
along which t.he river ftowf'd. He appointed his brother 
.Mir Sluih Muhammad Klu\n to watch the baggage left 
behind the oamp. Colonel Wright, who was then at Seh· 
wan, made un attack on Mi.r Sher Muhammad. The three 
or four hundred B!tl6ches, under Mir Shah Muhammad 
Khan were put to flight and Mir Shah Muhammad himself 
was taken prisoner. Colonel Wright immediately sent him 
to Haidarabad. All the Mirs, who had been captured, 
were now removed from the English camp to a steamer, 
which was pushed off to about the middle of the stream 

• See extract (20) in Appendix I. 
t He was killed in tho battle of Dabbah. His son KarlmcLid had & 

son by name Bacha!, whose two sons Hosh Mnhlllllmad nud Imam Ba.ksh 
live at Taudo ThorO. 
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and thAre anchored. It remained there till, after the 
battle of Dabbah, the whole country from Umark6t to 
Haidarabad came into the complete possession o~ the 
English conquerors and their posts . were esta~hshed 
everywhere. 'fhen the Mirs were again landed Ill the 
camp. 

A court-martial was then held to decide the fate of 
three men, who had been charged with 

Three men hanged by • murder. One of them, :Muhammad 
cour\·martW. 

son of Dittah, was all<•ged to have 
killed a Nrs! and the two others werP- Ba16ches, who had 
murdered Captain Ennis. 'lhe burden of the~e murders 
was laid by Sir Charles on the head of }Iir Shahdad 
Khlm. The first prisoner was banged by the .nPck near 
the fort· gate, and the la~t two, below the fort-hill. • 

CHAPTER XX. 

}!r'RS AS PRISONERS. 

On the 9th of Rabiu!awwal orders were rcceil•ed fmm 
S•••• . t 1 the Govcrnor-Genrral to the effect 

1;1\w pnsonera Ren o . 
llombay and thence to that the State ]JriSOners be sent to 
Poona. Bombay, 'l'he Mit·s wet·e according-ly 
informed and asked to pt·epare and give a list of the 
folloll'ers whom they wished to accompany them. They 
were also asked to arrange for the removal of their 
families from the fort to any place outside. Within two 
days all the llarams m· dera./1s of the Mirs were taken away 
by the Mir~' men to the l'andah of Y usif, on the western 
bank of the PhulelL Three days after that, i.e, on the 
evening of 14th, Captain Brown with 20 soldiers of the 
9th Bengal Cavalry took away the young Mirs, Hasan 
Ali Khan and Abbas Ali Khan, the sons of Mir Nasir 
Khan, Soon after that, Mirs Fateh Ali Khan and 
Muhammad Ali Khan, the sons of Mir S6bdar Khan were 

• Sir Charles Napier w1ites ns follows in his letter to tho Governor 
General, dated 13th March 1843:-

"I executed the murderer of the Parsec, putting- n lnbrl on his breast 
that he was not hn11ged for fighthw with us, but fu1• Uturt!cring u man 

h 
. ,, 0 , 

w o wus a pmoner. 
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also taken away to the English camp as prisoners. And 
the next. morning they with their elderly relatives Mirs 
Nnsir Khan, Mir Muhammad Khan, S6bdar Khan ancl 
ShalidCd Kh:in were sent to Bombay by a steamer.• 
On 23rd Rabiulawwal 1259 A.H. (April 1843 A.D.) 
Mir Husain Ali Khan son of Mir .Nur Muhammad Khan 
a11d .Mirs Muhammad Khan and Yar Muhammad Khan 
sons of Mir Murad Ali Khan, wlio had been left brhind, 
were also taken away under the t•rders of Sir Charles 
Napier, who had now become the Governor of Bombav, 

, by Captain Brown with 10 men of the 9th Bengal Cavah·>·, 
from the fort to the river and thence by a steamer to the 
mouth of the Indus and thence to Bengal, where they 
nrrived on the 2nr1 of Rabiussani. All the Mlrs were 
lodged in a bun~alow on the Malabar Hill. Captain 
Gordon was put in cbnr~?e of them. 'Jhey were visistt•d 
by the Governor of Bumhay. As the monsoon had com­
meneed, on the 2nd of Jamadilawwal of the snme year, 
the l\l!t·s wet•e taken to the village of Sasur, about 2·t miles 
off Punab (Puona.) After some 5 months, l\lir Sb!th 
Muhamnwd Khan uas also brought and joined tlle other 
M irs, at this place. · 

Up to this time the Mlrs were entertained at t.he 
Government expense. But now each 

Tho Mlro •r• ~·k•n to of them was given a monthlv allow· 
Caleu tlllaml Haz11riLagh. , , h. 1. f I a nee to rnam tam tmse . n 
Muharram 1260 A.H. (1~44 A.D.) orders wm ret·Pivecl to 
send the l\lft·s to Calcutta. l\lir Rus1am Khan, \\ho was 
considered unfit for such a journey owing to his weakneos 
anrl old n<>e, was allowed to stay at. Poona, with his son 
Mir Alulibakh~h and his nephew 11ir l\asit· Khn.n. 'l'Le 
rest of the Mirs were taken to llornbny fir>t nnd the11ce 
hy a stPumer to Calcutta, where they a;rivrd on 4th 
Rabfussimi 1260 A.H. (lb44 A.D.) Captam Gordon hatl 
come with the :Mlrs as Supet·intendent in charge, and he 
continued in that post hereto. The Mirs after bPing 
itJtroduced to the Governor-General at Government Houso 
were lodged in a bungalow outside the town. 

In the next month the Mirs were given the choicll of · 
going to live at Hnz:iribagh or of remaining at Calcutta. 

• His Majesty's ship-of-war llllDled Nimrod. 
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Mirs Husain All Khan, Muhammad Kban, Hasan AH 
Khan Shah Muhammad Khan and Yar Muhammad Khan 
prefe;red going to Hazinibagh. Accordingly on 24t.h Jama· 
dissani they started by steamer to Murshidabad, thence 
to Azi~abad (Patna) and thence to Hazaribagh, where 
they arrived in Rajjib. Here they remained for 8 years, 
some of them constantly going to Calcutta to visit the 
other Mirs and coming back. 

In 1262 A.B. (184~ A.D.) :Mir Muhammad Nasir Khan 
D h f )r!, d died at Cdlcutta.• In 1263 A.H. eat o eome 1n an ,. , 

the rotu111 of oth01t 1o (1847 A.D.) Mir Shn]tdad Khan, who, 
Baid...ab6d. 11s noted above, bad been charged by 
Sir Charles Napier with setting fire to the English camp 
at Haidarabad and with murdering Captain Ennis, and 
for that reason, bad bt•en kept ~epara te from the other 
Mirs at Surat, was after much enquiry declared not guilty 
by Lord Dalhousie, the Governor-General and brought to 
Calcutta to live with the other M irs. In the same year 
Mir Fateh Ali Khan son of ::Mir S6bdar Khan died at 
Calcutta. 

In 1270 A.B. (1854 A.D.) at the representation of the 
Governor-General (Lord Dalhousie), the Court of the 
Dir~ctors of the East India Company permitt<•d the }J irA · 
'to return to Sind if they liked to do so. According-ly some 
of them prepared to return. In Rablulawwal 1272 A.H. 
(November 1855 A.D.) ::Mir Muhammad Khan was the 
first to arrive in Haid"rabad 11ia DehH and the Panja!J. 
His brother Mfr Yar Muhammad Khan who had been lert 
at Alahtl.bad with their h11ramB, left tl:at place in Rabfus. 
san! 1273 A.H. (December 1856 A.D.) by the same route 
and reached Haidarabad in Rajjib of the same year. On 
the 7th of the same month, 4th March 1857 A.D., Mlr 
Abbas Ali Khan died at Calcutta. On the 7th of ::Muhar­
ram 1274 A.H. (28th August 1857 A.D.) Mfr Shahdad 
Kb{m breathed his last. ln the same year the coffins of 
all the Mirs, who bad died there were brought to Haidar­
abad and their bodies buried in the Talpurs' burial-ground 
to the nurth of the town. In Shuaban 1275 A.H. (March 
1859 A.D.) Mir Husain Ali Khan returned to Haidarabad. 
The Commissioner in Sind gave a piece of land to the 

• About his clwacter rlllld emact (30) in Appendix I. 
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Mirs, along the bank l)f the river near Gidu :Bandar to fix 
their residence there. Soon a pretty village grew up 
about the place, where the surviving Mirs with their 
children and followers have since lived, 

· In 1259 A.H. (1848 A.D.) when Sind was conquered by 
. . the English, Sir Charles Napier, who 

T~• firet C.=""oners was the conqueror of Sind was put In S1ud, , , , , I 

m political charge of Smd as a Gov· 
ernor. In 1262 A.H. (1847 A.D.) General Napier was 
sent with an army against Mulraj, who had revolted at 
Mult!\n, and Sind was annexed to the Bombay Presidency, 
Mr. Pringle being appointed as the Commissioner of Sind. 
Next came Mr. Frere • as the Commissioner of Sind (in 
December 1850). He became very popular. It was in 
his time and at his suggestion, that the Mirs were 
permitted to return to their native place. Mr. Frere 
became Governor of Bombay and left Sind in 1859 when 
he was succeeded by Mr. Inverarity.t 

• Afterwards Sir Bartle Frere. The Frerenamah written by lWr 
Y 8r M uhalllliUid Khan was dedicated to him. 

t The Frerentlmah which we have been tranelating, enda here. 
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1. On lOth Rajjib 1224-21st August 1809-a treaty 
was made by the British Government 

Treaty between the Bri· "th "'"', Gh I, Ali KhL K ti•h Government and Mlr WI ll'.UIS U am Hn, aram 
Gh•tlam All Khan and his Ali Khan and Murad Alf Khan. 
a brothero. • Th . I f h e artw es o t e treaty were as 

follows:-
" ( 1) There shall be eternal friendship between the British 

Government and that of Sinde. 

(2) Enmity shall never appear between the two States. 

(8) The mutual despatch of the vakeels of both the Govern· 
menls ~hall always continue. 

(4) The Government of Sinde will noi allow the establishment 
of the tribe of the F1·ench in Sinde." 

2. In the Blue Book one treaty is mentioned between 
the British Government and Mirs 

Treaty between the Bri· K li Kb . d M 
tiob Gomnment and MirR aram A an an urad Ali 
K•rnmAU KhAn and Murad Khan throuO'h A'"'ha Ismail Shah on 
All Khilu.t 9th November 1S20. In addition 
to the assurances of friendship between the two Govern· 
ments, the following two articles are given, viz.:-

" (3) The Amirs of Sinde engage not •o permit any European or 
Ametican to settle in their dominions. If any of the 
subjects of either of the two States should establish theil' 
residence in the dominions of the of her and should conduct 
themselves in an orderly and peaceful manner in the territory 
to which they may emigrate, they will be allowed to remain 
in that situation; but if such fugitives ~hall be guilty of 
any disturbance or commotion it will be incumbent on the 
local authority to take the offenders into custody and 
punish or compel them to quit the country. 

• See page 214. t See page 215. 

J ~04-11 
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(4) The !mira of Sinde engage to restrain the deprtdations of th-' 
Khoosas and all other tribes and individuals within their 
limits and to prevent the occurrence of any inroad into 
the British dominions." 

3. On 20th April 1832 (18th Zikaad 1247 A.B.) a 
Tre•t between the EMt treaty was concluded between t~e 

!ndi• gomp••r and o~ur East India Company and Mir Murad 
Murad All Khan.• Ali Khan, through Lieut .• Colonel 
Pottinger. The following were some of the important 
articles:-

" (2) That the two contracting powers bind themselves never to 
look with the eye of covetousness on the possessions of 
each other. 

(3) That the British Government has requested a pnssage for th~ 
merchants and traders of Hindustan by the river and 
roads of Sinde, by which they may transport either goods 
and merchandize from one country to another, and the 
said Government of Hy.!erabad herehy acquiesces in the 
$&me reques~ on the 3 following conditions-that no person 
shall bring any description of military stores by the above 
river and roads; that no armed vessel< or bonts shall comll' 
by the mid river, and that no Enghh merchants shall be 
allowed to settle in Sinde, but shall come as occasion re· 
quires, and having stopped to transact their business, shall 
return to India. 

( 4-) When merchants shll determine on visiting Sinde they shall 
outain a passport to do so from the British Governmeut, 
and due iutimation of the granting of such pa~sport shall 
be made to the Eaid Goverument of H) derabad by thll 
R•sident in Cutch, or otLer officer &f the said lsritisb 
Goveromcnt. 

(6) That the sa:d Government is to promulgate a tariff or tablll' 
of duties leviable un each kind of gooJs as the case may 
be ••.•• ''-

This treaty was mcdified by another concluded in 1834, by which a. 
toll was fixed on each boat of 19 Tatta rupees per Tatta Kharrar, 
of which 8 rupees were to be l'eceived by the Government oi 
Hyderabad and Khairpur and 11 by other States on the banks 
of the Indu~, viz :-H. H. Bauawal Khn, Mabarajuh Ranjitsiog 
and the East Ir.dia Company. The size of the boat waa fixed 
to be 30 Tatta Kharrars for the &ake of levying toll. 

• See page 220. 
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4, The following treaty was concluded between the 
Tre•ty bet .. een the E .. t E ~ s t I n d i a Company through 

India Company and Mira Colonel H. Pottinger and Mirs N ur 
Nur ~!uhammad Khan and Muhammad Khiin and Nasir Khan 
Nasir Khao.• 

on 30th Aprill838 :-

" (1) In consider~tion of the long friendRhip, which has subsisted 
between the British Government and the Amirs of Sinde, 
the Governor-Ueneral in Council en;, ages to use his good 
offices to adjust the prese:~t differences, which are under­
stood to subsist between the Amirs of Sind and Maharajah 
Rnnjitsing, so that peace and friendship may be estabhsbed 
between the two States. 

(2) In order to secure and improve the. relations of amity and 
peace which have so long subsisted betwe('n the Sinde State 
and the British,. a minister shall 1eside at the court of 
Hyderabad and that the Amirs of Sinde shall also be at 
liberty to depute 11 vakeel to reside at the court oft he 
British Government; and that the British Minister shall 
be empowered to change hi& ordinary place of residence as 
may, from time to time, seem expedient and be tuten~ed 
\,y sneh an escort as may be deemed suitable by his Govem­
meut. 

As the Am irs had large arrears of tribute to pay Sb&h. Shujaul 
Mulk, they we1e required by the Goveri10r-General to pay 
30 laka to the king at once. The Govefll.lllent Secretary 
wrote the follcwing to the Resident in Silld :~" Ileyond 

· the payment of this sum, you will consider facilities heartily 
and a.ctively given to the British force on its advance, as 
the first means, by whi-.h the principal Ameers may redeem 
any portion of the favour, which they hal'e forfeited. But 
they will understand at the same time. that such has been 
the character of their measures 11s to render it absolutely 
necessary that military posts be occupied in their country 
for the safe maio teonn~e of communication between the 
army and the sea, and for tbe easy return of the British 
force to the Presidency of .8ombay." 

The treoty of 28 Articles 
between the British Govern• 
ment and Mira Nur Muh•m· 
mad Khan nud N01ir KhO!l.t 

5. The following is the treaty of 
23. articles,. the most important of 
which are given here. 

"(2) The Governor-General of India. bas commanded that a British 
force shall be kept in Sinde and stationed at the citJ of 
Tatt!l, where a cantonment will be formed, The strength 
of this force is to depend on the pleasure of the Governor­
General of India, but will not exceed 6000 men. 

• See page 223. 1: See pagu 225. 
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(3) Meer Noor Mahomed Khan, Meer Nuseer Mahomed Khan 
and Meer Mahomed Khnn bind themselves to pay 1111- • 

nually the sum of 3 laks .. f rupees in part of the expen~e­
of the force, from the prese11ce of which their respecti v& 
territories will derive such va.st ad vantages. 

(fi) The British Government pledges itself neither to interfere in 
auy degree, small or great, in the internal management, or 
affairs of the several possessions of the A meers, nor to think 
of introducing in any shape its regulations or adawlats. 

(7) The British Government agrees to protect Sinde from all 
foreign aggressions. 

(9) Should any Ameer attack or injure the po~session of another 
Ameer, or those of his dependents, the Resident in Sin<i& 
will, on being applied to by both sides act as mediator 
between them. 

(11) Their Highnesses the A meers agree to fe1·m no new tmties, 
or enter into any engagements with Foreign States, without 
the knowledge of the British Governmet1t, but their High· 
nesses will of course carry on friendly correspondence, as 
usual, with all their neighbours. 

(14) The Ameers agree to either build or allow the British 
Government to build an enclosure and store·hou.se at 
Karachi as a depot for stores. 

(15) Should any :British merchan!H or others bring goods by the 
· way of Karachi Bunder, the duties of Sinde Government 

will be paid on them agreeable to the custom of the 
country. 

(16) • • • As the thorough.fnre (on the Indus) will now be 
increased a hundJ·ed·lold, the contracting Government~; 
agree to abolish tLe tolls on the river from the sea to 
Ferozepore. 

(19) Should the British Governmtrt at any time reqnire and 
apply for the aid of the army of Sinde, their Highnesses 
the Ameers agree to furnish it accort!ing to their meat1s, 
and in "ny such case the troops, thus applied for are not to 
exceed 3000 men, are not to proceed beyond the frontier 
of Sinde, and are to be paid for by the British Government. 

(21) A separate treaty has been made between the British 
Govern men tJ and Meer Rustam Khtin of Khy1pur, 
5th February 1839 A.D. =: 20th Zikad 1254 A.H." 

6. Lieutenant Eastwick to the Resident. in Sind. 
waming of the Mira Sind Residency, January 26th, 1839 

before aigning the laat -. • • • (on 22nd) about 1 o'clock 
tre&tr.• ' 0 

• Captain Outram, Lieutenant Leckie 

• See page 230. 
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and myself sbrted for the fort. We were received by 
Meer Noor ~lahomed, Meer Nusseer Khan and Meer Me~r 
Mrthomed in a private apartment in which Meer Shadad 
Mit·za Khoosrow, Nawab Mahomed Khan and :Munshi 
Choitram were present after a profusion of civiliti~s 
evidently forced, Meer Noor :1\<Iahomed produced a box 
from which he took out all the treaties that had been 
entered into between the British and Hyderabad Govern· 
menta, showing them tomeonlyone, he asked "what is to 
become of all these. Here is another annoyance. Since 
the day Sinde has been connected with the English, there 
has always been something new. Government is never 
satisfied; we are anxious for your friendship, but we can· 
not be continually persecuted. We have given a road to 
your troops through our territories and now you wish t(} 
remnin. 'l'his the Baluchis will never suffer. But still 
we might even arrnnge this matter were we certain that 
we should not be harassed with other demands. There is 
the payment to the king; why can we obtain no answer 0n 
this point? Four months have now elapsed since this 
question was first discussed. Is this a proof of friendship? 
We have failed in nothing ; we have furnished <•nmels, 
boats, grain; we have distressed oursalves to supply your 
wams. We will send our ambassador to the Governor· 
General to repre~ent these things; you must state them to 
Colonel Pottiuger" , • • • . • . • , , • , • 
(on 23rd) intelligence was brou!-(ht that a nig~t at~~ck 
was meditated. • • we therefore made the best d1spostt10n 
of our small force, conveyed the baggage (except tents) and 
servants on board the boats and waitl:'d the result. All the 
people and bacrcrage were embarked on board the boats and 
sent forward; 

0
the gentlemen of the Residency followed in 

the steamer. 
i 

7, The Resident in Sind to the Secretary with the 
' Governor-General. February 16th 

.soyyod lsmlill Sho\b and 1839- , . , , The only persons iu 
hll•ons.• whom the Ameers seem to put con· 
fidence just now are Syad Ismail Shah and his family and 
I believe they have really exerted themselves to prevent 
a ruptUl'e. 'l'hey have all visited India frequently and are 

• See page 216. 



248 

.much better acquainted with our power and policy than 
any other people in Sinde, 'l'he advice they have lately 
given no doubt .chiefly proc~eds froll'! self advant~ge, but 
it mirrht be desirable to retam them m our own mterest, 
which from their avaricious habits could be effectually 
done by granting to them a small pension for the lives of 
Syad Ismail Shah (who is now 80 years of age) and his 
three sons, Tukkee Shah, Sadik Shah and Zynool Abdeen 
Shah.* 

8. The Governor-G11neral of India to the Secret Com. 
D I ... 1 tho Br•ti•h mittee, 18th March 1839-(. , ,) The 

•• m,. o n· ' . £ h B l d O.vemmen~ with. tho lVlSIOD o t e enga Army, un or 
Ameel'8; the po•".''"0n of the command llf MaJ' or-General Sir 
Bak.hll!' ond Karach• Jllld the 
march of the Brilieb t.roopa Willoughby Cotton reached the IndU!i 
along the Indua.t · within a week after the force of 
Shah Shuja-ul Mulk. Permission had then been afforded 
for the construction of bridges of boats over the two. 
channels of the river between which are situated the 
island and fort of Bukkur. With the Ameers of Khyr­
pur, to whom the fortress belongs, I have directed a 
tr~aty to be formed receiving them formally under the­
protection of the British Gr,vernment and stipulating for· 
the possession of Bukkur, whenever it might be required, 
during the continuance of defensive operations. 'l'his 
ready and amicable acquisition of so useful a position may 
be expected to have produced an excellent effect in all 
the neighbouring countries, for the fort is one of much 
celebrity. Intelligence had reached me in March 1838 of 
letters having been written by the two principal Arueers,. 
lieer Noor Mahomed Khan and Meer Nusseer Mahomed 
Khan to the Shah of Persia professing deference to his 
power and encouraging his advance; and even at that 
early period I caused it to be notified to the Ameers that 
these proceedings could not be tolerated. This warning 
was not taken and down to the latest period, advances 
have been continued by the principal Ameers to the Shah 
of Persia .•.• From all proceedings of this character, one 
of the Ameers, Meer Sobdar Khan, has held himself free 
and it was to him, as a friendly ruler at Hyderabad, that 
I originally looked on the supposition of a change in the 

• See the biographical sketcll of Ismail Shah in Appendilt II and 
genealogy in AppendU: ill. 

t See pages 228 &lid 225. 
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GovPrnment being iorcecl upon me. When Colonel 
Pottinger proceeded to Hyderabad in the course of 
September last, he found that the feelings of the principal 
Am(•ers bad been shown to be to the last degree un:rrate· 
ful and hostile. • • . Colonel Pottinger himself bad been 
insulted and his person exposed to some danger, by the 
throwing of stones and other missives by the populace of 
Hyderabad acting on the clandestine instigation or 
permission of the chiefs. • • . A recommendation was 
subsequently received from Colonel Pottinger that the 
British Government should accept a tract of country near 
1'atta, instead of any money contributions for the expense 
of the British troops to be stationed in Sinde • • . While 
this correspondence was in progress the Bombay division 
under the command of Sir John KeaniJ had landed at the 
Hujamro mouth of the Indus in the early days of 
December. No resistance was ventured to his disem· 
barkation, but from the date of his arrival every artifice 
wns resorted to to thwart and impede his movements •••• 
At length after the lapse of weeks, Sir John Keane's 
dil'ision had been able to move on to 'l'atta, ••.• Colonel 
Pottinger had determined to offer to the Ameers a 
revised treaty .••• Transcripts of his instructions to his 
assistant Lieutenant Eastwick, with this draft of treaty 
to Hyderabad, accompany this address. ~'he reception of 
Lieutenant Eastwick by the Ameers was in the highest 
degree unsatisfactory. • • • On the 23rd of January 
Lieutenant Eastwick with his companions was obliged to 
leave Hyderahad and proceed to join Sir John K€ane's 
force, which had then reached Jerruck within two marches 
of the capital. Communications were cut off, letters 
seized, boatmen and other work-people threatened and 
every appearance of intended hostility exhibited. At 
Jerruck Sir John Keane had to wait a few days 
for the arrival of the boats with his stores and 
ammunition; and with the prospect of an early assauU 
upon Hyderabad before him, he judged it prudent to 
call for the aid ••• from the Bengal division, which he 
then knew to have reached Bukkur. Before, however, his 
orders had reached Sir Willoughby Cotton, that officer 
having received authentic intelligence of the imminent 
hazard of a rupture in Lower Sind had marched with the 
large force of two brigades of infantry, one brigade of 
cavalry and a considerable proportion of artillery down the 
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enst bank of the Indus, in the dirMtion of Hyderabad .••• 
A portion of the disciplined troops of Shah Shuja-ul· 
Mulk had been also sent down from Shikarpur to 
occupy Larkhnna. . . 'l'he Ameers sent a deputation 
on some date before the 30th January to Colonel Pottinger 
asgenting to all his demands, when they perceived that be 
was resolved and prepared to enforce them. He here 
judged it requisite . . • • to secure the payment which 
we have desired for Shah Shuja-ul.}J ulk by. making it 
11 new condition that 2llaks of rupees should be paid by 
·the A meers of Ryderabad on tbis account; ten lalcs 
immediately and the remainder within some reasonable 
time to be specified. This stipulation was also at once 
agreed to. . • . Sir John Keane with his force 
arrived opposite to Hyderabad on the 3rd or 4th of 
February, 11nd the treaties were duly signed and delivered 
by the A meers and the ten laks of rupees made over to 
Colonel Pottinger without delay. The orders of Sir J o!Jn, 
Keane, announcing the favourable change, reached 
Sir Willoughby Cotton on his march southwards and these 
troops were immediately moved back, crossed over the 
bridge at Bukkur and concentrated at Shikarpur b,v the 
21st of February. 8ir John Keane with his division 
marched northwards from Hyderabad on the lOth of 
February; while the events described had been occurring 
at Hyderahad, two regiments of thtl reserve force for 
Sind had proceeded to land at Karachi, Her Majesty's 
rPgiment being embarked on board the flagship 
"Wellesley'' in which Sir Frederick Maitland, the Naval 
Comruander·in·Chief, had obligingly afforded it accom· 
modation. The landing of the troops being oppose'! 
and a shot fired upon them from a small fort , • • the 
" W elle~ley" opened her batteries and in a very short time 
the southern or sea face of the fort •.. was levelled with 
the ground. The troops in the meantime landed from 
the boats and the garrison of the fort was immediately 
apprehended. The Governor of the ttJwn at once gave 
over military possession of it by capitulation and we have 
thus gained the occupancy of a Military post which is 
likely to become one of much interest and importance, 
I may be permitted to offer my congratulations to you 
upon this timely settlement of our relation with Sinde 
by which our political and military ascendancy in 
that province is now finally declared and confirmed. 



9. The Resident in Sind (U. Pottinger) to Lieutenant· 
. Colonel Spiller, Commanding at '!'attn, 

. Tho vnltm of ~h•knt·;4ho 30th March 1' 39 :-"However we 
111 the tll\ys of tho Mm~. 

. u:ay regl'd that the Amcers should 
dt>vote ~o large a portion .:>f the very fine.st parts of their 
country to such pul'pnses, we must netther forget the 
scwerity of our for.·st Jaw~, whc·n Englund was further 
advanced in the scale of civilization than Sind now is. 
, ... We nlttst also he.tr in mind that the Shikargahs 
provicle the only amusements the Ameers take any 
interest in, and of the depth of that interest some notion 
will be ~ound when I tell you that the preserYes are kept 
up at so great an expense, that, it. is said, every deer, their 
Highnesses shoot in them, costs Rs. SOO. Besides this 
positive and well-known fact, their Highnesses did not 
lwsitate to distinctly avow to me that they value their 
Shikill'::\'<1hs bc'yond even their familir.s and children, which 
shows tlw t we cannot at all estimate their anxiety regarding 
them." 

10. The Political Ag~nt (.l. Out.ram) to the Secretary 
to the Government of I n d i a 1 

Denlh of M(r N~tr ~In· 6 h D b lf<40. "I h , , 
bnmmn<l nuol hi< fcclmg' to- t eccm er .- ave eveiy 
'""'d' the JJriti•h Go\'crn· reason to lament tbe loss of Meer 
n•cnt. :Koor Mahomed Khan and do so most 
sincerely both on public and private grounds. Whatever 
that t·hief's secl'et feelings towards the British may 
have been, certainly his nets latterly wrre an most friendly 
and I cnnnot hut place faith in almost. the last words the 
dying chief uttered, ro]('mnly pl'otesting the Aincerity of 
his friendship for the British GovPrnment, not only because 
b~iog then pc'rfectly aware that he had but few hours to 
live and ~ecking nothing he could have no motive for 
deception, but also because I had myself always found 
his Highnc•ss most ready to forward our interests and least 
ready to welcomo reports prejudicial to us, which during 
late exciting times were so industriously propagated and 

· greedily devourl·d by those more ini!llical to us," 

11. The Governor-General of India in Council to 
. the Secret Committee, 20th August 

Trcnt.y .w.th Mlr Shcr lS-il ·-"It will he seen (from M~J·ar 
M!~lwmctll\huu. · • u 

Outram'~ rcpcrt) that Meer Sher 
M ahomed Khan has entered into a treaty, by whch he binds 

B 305-32 
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himself to pay 50,000 Company's rupees ns annual t.ribute 
and to submit his territorial disputes wit.h the .Ameers of 
Hyd(•rabad to the decision of the Political Agent •••. We 
llHve intimated to Major Outram the high sense we enter· 
tained of his conduct on this occasion and of the friendly 
spirit with which his endeavours to reconcile the dilfet·ences 
of Meer Nuseer Khan and MePr Sher Mahom~d Khan 
had been seconded by Meer Mahomed Khan. 

12. The Governor-General to the Secret Committee, 
I I • 1 th Ml 8thJunel842:-"lnm sol'l'y to notice n nguea o 1 rs . . 

ogaio .. the British Govern· that MaJor Outram has detecteclln· 
moot. trigues on the part of the Ameers of 
Upper and Lower Sinde, which evince cleal'ly that these 
chieftains entertained projects of a hostile nature, if any 
further disasters to our arms in A fglmnistan had afforded 
them a favourable opportunity of attt•mpting to throw off 
their allegiance to the British Govt'rnment.'' 

Sir Chari .. Napier finding · 1~. Observations by . Sir Ch~rles 
•vret.ext•• tnkcsomo,hier N~p1er upon the occupatwn of Smdr, 
""'"'ill SioJ. 17th October 1842 :-

"Several Ameers have broken the treaty. I have main· 
tuined that. we want only a fair pretext to coerce the 
Amt>ers and I think the various acts re<•ordecl in the return 
(of complaints) give abundant reason to take Kurrarhee, 
Sukkur, Bukkur, Shiknrpore rmd ~ubzulkote for OU!" own, 
obliging the Ameers to l•·ave a tr1.1ckway along b .. tJJ hanks 
of the Jndus and stipulate for a supply of wood; but at 
the same time, remitting all tribute aud arrears of tribute 
in favour of those Ameers whose conduct has been 
correct, and finally enter into a fresh treaty with OM of 
these princes alone as chief and answerable for the 
others." 

14. 4th November 1842-" (1) the.Ameers of Hyderabad 
Dr•ft of treaty botw~en are relieved from the payment of all 

tho Bl'itioh o":•rnmcntand tribute to the British Government 
tho Mlro n! Ha1dar6Lad. h · h d . . ' 

w IC un 1•r exJstmoo C'ngngements 
would ?t•come due after the 1st of January 1843. (2) The 
only com legally current in the dominion of the Ameers of 
Hyderabad, al'ter the 1st of January 1845, shall be the 
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Company's rupee and the rup~e hereinafter mentioned. 
(3) 'l'he .British Govemment will coi•• for the Ameers of 
liyderabad such number of rupees as they may require 
from time to time, such rupees bearing on one side the 
effigy of the sovereig-n of England with such inscription 
or device as the British Govemment may from time to 
time adopt and on the reverse such inscription or device 
as the Ameers may prefer. (4) • • • (5) The Ameers in 
consideration of the above engagement rcnouuce the 
privilege of coining money and will not exercise the same 
from the date of the signature of this t1eaty. (6) With 
a view to the necessary provision of wood for the use of 
steamers navib'ating the Indus and the riVerll c·mmunical· 
ing therewith the British Government shall have the 
right to fell wood within one huudred ya~ds of both banks 
of the Indus within the territories of the Ameers. (7) 
'l'he following places and districts are ceded in perpetutty 
to the British Gavernrnent-Kurrachee and 1'atta with 
such at·roncli~sement as may be deemed necessary by 
Major General Sir Chtu·les Napier. • . (8) All the rights 
ancl interests of the A meers or of any one of them in 
Sabzulkote and in all the territory intervening between the 
present frontier of Hahawalpore and the t(Jwn of Roree 
are ceded in perpetuity to his Highness the Nawab of 
Bahnwalpore, the ever faithful ally and friend of the 
British Government. (9) '£o the Meer Sobdar Khan, who 
has constantly evinced fidelity to his engagements and 
attachment to the British, is. cedcil territory producing 
half a lac of annual revenue, such cession being made in 
consideration of the loss he will sustain by the transfer. of 
}{urrachee to the British Go.vernment and as a reward for 
his good conduct, (10) •••• (11) •••• (12) , ••• " 

In the draft of a similar treaty with the Ameers o~ 
Khyrpur the first two articles are the following :-" (1) 
The pergunnah of Bhoong Bhara and the third p11r~ of 
the district of Subzulkote and the villages of Gotki, 
'Maladee, Choonga, Dadoola and U zeezpur and on the 
territories of the Ameers of Khairpore or any of them 
in~ervening between the present dominions of his Highness 
the Nawab of Bahawalpore and the town and district of 
Roree are ceded in pP.rpetuity to his Highness the Nawab~ 
(2) The town of Sukkur with such arrondissemPnt as 
shall he deemed necessary by Majo1· General Sir Charles 
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Napier and the island of Buk~mr and the a.djoining 
.islets and the town of Roree w1th such arrondissement 
as may be deemed n.t'cessary ~ Maj11r Gener~l . .Sir Charles 
Napier are ceded m pe1•petmt.y to the llr1t1sh Gvvern· 
ment." 

15. Sir Charles Napier to the Govemor.General, 29th 
· December 1842 :-"And now, my 

,illr Ruatam Khan'• fliHht. Lord, I have to tell you that M ir 

·Rustam has decamprd yesterday morniug. I met Ali 
Moorad the night before and desired him to say that I 
would pay my respects to his Highne~s the next day, and 
the next day I hr.ard of his flight. I can ouly account 
for this in one or two ways-first, that Mir Rustam, who 
is a timid man and has all al ng fancied that I want to 
make him prisoner, believed ihat the time for this step 
had arrived, and that his brother and I were ahout to 
execute our con~piracy ag<linst him; or second, that Ali 
Moorad drove his hroth~r to this step. M ir Ru>tam has 
resigned the turban to his brother Ali Moorad in the most 
formal manner, writiug his rPsignation in the Kuran 
before all the religious men collected to witness the 
resignation at Dt>jee.'' 

· . 16. Sir Charles Napkr to the GovE'rnor-General, 
; The fort of Im:lmgarh lHth January 18.J.3 :-"I anived ht•re 
blown up by Sir Clmrlca yester(]a~·· ... , 'l'his fortt·ess is 
Napier. d' I f • t f . . excee wg y s rang agams any orce 
without artillery. The walls ~re 4.0 fret high ; 011e tower 
is 50 and built of burned bricks; it is a square with 
eight round towers .... 'Within it is a vast quantity of 
powder. There are some bomb-pruof chambers. . • , • 
When I reflected that the existence of Inuimoarh can 
only serve to fostr.r confidence in the Amecrs" of both 
Sindes when discontented or rebellious, and will, sooner 
or later, force 11s to another and more perilous march 
perhaps, I made up my mind to blow it down. It Le. 
l1.1ngs to Ali Moorad who consents to its destruction. I 
have thel'efore undermined it. 'fhe vast quantitv of 
powder, which we caunot remove, will be better' des· 
troyed. It is well stored with gl'uin, which l have distri· 
buted as rations. 
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.. 17. Notes of conference with the Amerrs of Sind on 
The draft of tho lnst the 8th and 9th and arrain on the 12th 

treaty io •iguc~ by, the Mh• }'ebruar" 1843 -" lft er tl ·l 
after wuch heSitatiOn • . • • · , 1e USUo1 . 

. . prellmmams MaJor Outram producl'd 
the Persian copies of the IJraft treaties formerh• ) u b­
mir.ted ~o the Ameers by l:lir Charles ~apier and requested 
the1~ liighnesses to apply theit· seals in his presence, as 
prevtously pledged to do by their vakeels. A long dis­
cussion then ensued regarding :Meer R.ustam's afl'Hirs 
they insisting thnt Major Outram had full authoritv t~ 
investigate the case . • . • ~'he A meers then endPavo~red 
to induce Major Outram to drclare that in the event of 
Mt-\er Hust.am proving everythinc: he hacl advanced his 
cltiefship and what had b~en ~~de over from Upper 
Sind Ameers to Ali :Moorad would be restored. Mnjor 
Outr:~m rt•plied that it was not in his powH to say what 
would be done. . . . The Ameers said llle~r ltustam could 
and would prove all he bad as~Prted with rPgard to his 
having been confined by Ali Mo01·ad, haviug, when in· 
confinemrnt, hud biN ~enl foreibl~· taken from him, 
ha1•ing been induced to fly by Ali Moorad when the 
G('nt•ral was coming to Dejeekote, etc., t·tc. Major 
Outram ~aid that this case r<·sted with the Gt>n~·ral ...• 
After long urging this poiut the Ameers of Byderabad 
applied their seals to the draft of the new Treat~·, as did 
Meer Rustam and Meer Mahomeu of Khairpore .. , ~lajor 
Outram tlwn proeeed1·d to Mcer ~obdar's Dut·bar, where 
that Ameer and .Merr Hoossein Ali s~uled the t1·eat.~· without 
demur. On returning home, after lea1·iug the fort, l\Jajor 
Outram and his companions (Captain Bro1rn :md the offi­
cers of Ht•r Majerty's 22nd Henimt·nt) hnd to rass through 
a dense crowd of Bdoochee~, ~vho gave uneqniYocal evi· 
dence of bad feeling in their mann1'r and PxpressionF, but 
were krpt from O'ivin!l' further vent to tbeit· fedings hy a 
strOll" escort of horse "the A meers sent under some of th~·ir 
inftu:nt.ial chiefs. After getting clear of the mwd _MaJ':r 
Outram was informed thnt one of tue offict>rs m his 
company had been struck with a stone." •••. 

18. Major Outram to Sir Charles Napier on board the 
"Planet", 15 miles above Hyderaba.d, 

The attack on the 6. p. m., 15th February 1843 :-" S1r, 
Residency. my despatches of the last few days 
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will have led you to expect that my rarnest endeavours 
to effect an amh·able arrangement with the Ameers of 
Sinde would fail; and it is with much regrut 1 have now 
to report that their I:fighnessc.s have ~ommen.ced hostilities 
by attacking my residence tlns mormng, wlueh after four 
hours' most gallant defence by .my honorary ~scort, 
commanded by Captain Conway, I was compelled to. 
evacuate, in consequence of our ammunition running 
short .. , At 9 a.m. this morniug, a dense body of cavalry 
and inrantry (ascertained to lmve amounted to 8000 men 
under Mt>er Shadnd Khan, Meer Mabomed Khau, NaW!Ib 
Ahmed Khan Lugharee and many pducipal chiefs) took 
posts on t.hreo >ides of the Agency compound (the fourth 
bein" defended by the" Planet" steamer about 500 yards 
dist;nt) in the gardens and houses, which immediately 
C•lrnmanded thtl inclosure. A bot !he was opened by the 
enemy and continued incessantly for four hour~. but an 
their attempts to euter the Agency inc·losure were 
frustrated by Captain Con way's able distribution of his 
s:nall band under the gallant example of Lieutenant 
Harding, Captains Green aud Wills aud Brown, , , Our 
ammunition being limited to 40 Joumls per man, the 
ollicers directed their whole attention to reserving their 
fire and keeping their men dose under cover .•• conse­
quently great execution was done with trifling expenditure 
of ammunition and with little loss (the enemy losing 
upwards of 60 killed and more wounded, amoug the 
latter Meer Mahomed Khan). Our hope of receiving a 
reinforcement and a supply of ammunition by the 
"Satellite" steamer (hourly expected) being disappointed 
on the arrival of that ve.;sel without t"ither, shortly after 
the commencement of the attack, it was decided at 
12 a.m. to retire to the steamPr, while still we had 
sufficie~t ammunition to fight the vessel up the river, 
.A.ccordmgly I requested Captain Conway to keep the 
enemy at bay for one hour, while the property was 
removed. • , After delivering their first loads on board, 
however, the camp followers were so terrified at the 
enemy'~ cross fire . • , that none could be persuaded to 
return, except a few of the officers' servants, with whose 
assistance but little could be removed during the limited 
time we could afford ; consequently much had to be 
abandoned. • • After the expiration of another hour 
(during which the enemy despairing of otherwise effecting 



tla•ir objPct, hncl brought six guns to bear upon us) we 
took m.easures to evncunte the Agency. Captain Conway 
called m his posts, a.nd ~II being united, retir~d in body, 
oovel'(•d by a few skirmishers, as dPliberately as on parade 
(carrying off our slain and wounded) which and the fire 
ft·om the steam boats deterl'ed the enemy from pressing 
on us as they might have done. All being embarked 
1 then dir!'ctcd l\fr, Acting Commander Miller, 
Commanding the "SatPilite" steamer, to proceed with 
his \·essel to the wood station, three miles up the river, 
CJn the opposite hankl to secure a sufficiency of fuel for 
our purposes ere it should be dPstroyed by the enemy, 
\l·hiie I remained with the "Planet" to toke off the 
barge that was moored to the shore. '!'his being a work 
of sume time, during which a hot fire was opened on the 
\'esse! from three gum, besides small arms. • • . The 
"Satellite" was also exposed to three guns in her progress 
up to wood station, one of wbid1 she dismounted by her 
fire. 'J'he ves~els were followed by large bodies for 
about thtee mile~, occasionally open!ng their guns upon 
us to no purpose; since then we have pursued our 
voyage up the Indus, about fift,"en mil(·s, without 
molestation, and purpose to- morrow morning anchoring 
off Mnttar•ce, wh~re I expect to find your camp. Our 
casualti~s am.mnt to two men of Her Majesty's 22nd 
HP"iment and one c1mp follower killed; and Mr. 
Co~dw·tor Kiely, 1\Ir. Cadisle, Agency clerk, two of the 
ste:uner'R <'rew, four of HPr Majesty's 22nd Regiment, 
two camp followers wcunded, und four camp followers 
ruissing; total thrre liilled, ten wounded and four missiug.­
I have, &c., J. Outram." 

19. Sir Charles Napier to the Governor-General, Mifmi, 
Sir Chnrlce llopior'• 6 miles from Hydcrabad, :February 

ll<l<)OUDt of tho battle ol 1843.-" My Lord, the forces under 
hli.!ui. my comm'lnd have gained a decisive 
victory over the army of the A meers of Upper and Lower 
Sinde. A detailed account of the various circumstances 
which led to t.bis action does not belong to the limited 
space of a hasty d~spatch. I therefore begin with the 
transactions belonging to the battle. On the 14th 
instant the ~hole body of the Ameers, assembled in full 
Durbar, formally affixed their seals to the draft treaty. 
On leaving the Durbar, Major Outram and his companions 
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w~>re in grPat peril : a plot had been laic! t.o murder them 
all. 'l'hey were sav1·d by the gu~rds of the -~mP.ers; but 
the next da:v (the 15th) the residence of MaJOL' Outram 
\ras attnck~d bv 8000 of the Ameer's troops, headed by 

· onA or more of the Ameers. I heiH·d of it at Haln, at 
which pL1ce the feal'less and distinguished Major Outram 
joined me, with hi~ brave ~om p~nions in t~1e stern and 
extraordinary defence of Ins restdence agamst so over• 
whelmin"' a force, accompaniPd by six pieces of cannon, 
On the lGth 'I marched to Muttaree. Having ascertained 

·that the Aineers wera in p.>sition !l.t Miaui (tt!n miles 
distance) to the number of 22000 men, and W('ll 
knowing that a. delay for rPinforcements would botl1 
stren"'thm their confidence and add to the:r numbers, 

· alreadv seven times that which I commanded, I resolved 
' to attack them, and we marched at 4. a.m. on the 
morning of the 17th. At 8 o'clock the advancPd 

· guard discovPred their cnmp ; at 9 we formed in 
order of battle, about 2800 men of all arms and 

··twelve piect•s of artillery. We were now within 
··rangP- of the enemy's guns, and fi[teen pieces of artillery 
opened upon us and were answered by our cannon. 'l'he 

· ent~my were very strongly posi~d ; woocls were on their 
· tlnnks which I clid not think could be turned. These two 

woods were joined hy the dry bed of the river FulaillrP, 
whieh had a high bank. 'l'he bed of the river was nearly 
straight and about 1200 yards in length. Behind this 
and in both woods WPre thP enemy posted. In front of 
thtir extreme right, and on the edge of the wood, was a 

· village. Having made the best examination of their 
position, whieh ~o short a time permitted, tlw artillec·y 
was posted on the right of the line, and some skirmishers 
of infantry, with the Sinde irregular horse, were sent it I 
f~o~t, to try and make the enemy show his force more 
distmctly; we then advanced from the ricrht in echelon 
of battalions, refusing the left to save it fr~m the fire of 

· the village. The 9th Bengal Li"'ht Cavalry formed the 
reserve in rear of the left wing~ and the Poona Hor~e 

· together with four companies of infantry guarded th~ 
baggage. In this order of battle we adv~nced as at a 
.review, across a ,fine plain, swept .by the cannon of the 
~ne~y. The artillery and Her Majest.y's 22nd Regiment 
tn hue formed the leadin~ echelon, the 25th Native 
Infantry the second, the 12th Native Infantry the third 
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snn the 1st Grenadier Native Infantry the fourth. The 
enemy wns 1000 yards from our line, whi(•h soon travursed 
the intervenin~ space. Our fire of musketry opened at 
about 100 yards from the bank, in reply to that of the 
·enemy, and in a few minutes the engagement became 
geneml along- the bank of the river, on which the com­
batants fought, for abnLtt t hreo hours or more, with 
great fury, man to man. Then, my Lord, was sem the 

. superiority of the musket and bayonet oYer the sword and 
shield and matchlock. 'l'he brave Belooohees, first 
discharging thrir mat-chlocks and pistols, dashed over the 
banks with desperate resolution, but down went these 
bold and skilful swordsmen under the superior power of 
the musket and bayonet. At one time, my Lord, the 
courage and numbf'rs of the enemy against the 22nd, the 
25th and the 12th Regiment bore hearily in that pnrt of 
the ·battle. 'l'hc:re was no time to be lost, and I sent 
orders to the cavalry to fmce the right of the enemy's 
line. 'l'his order was very g-allantly executed by the 
~th Bengal Cavalry and the Smde Horse, for the struggle 
on our right and centre was, at that moment, so fierce 
that I could not go to the left. In this charge the 
9th Light Cavalry took a standard and sevPral pieces of­
artillel'Y• nnd the Sinde Horse took the enemy's c:.mp 
from which a vast body of thPir cavalry slowly ret.ired 
fighting. Lieuter aut l!'itzg~rald gallantly pursued for 
two mile~, and, I unde~sta~d, sle'Y three of the enemy in 
a single rom hat. . . . ~he nr:rllery made great havoc 
among tl1e dense massf'S of the enemy and dismounted 
sevPral of their guns. 'l'he who'e of the Pnemy's artillery, 
ammunition, standards and camp, with considerable stores 
:md some treasure, wet·e taken. :MePr Uoostarn Khan, 
Meer. Nuseer Khnn, and Meer Wullee :Mahomed, of 
Khyrpore, Meer Nusebr Khan, Meer Shahdad Khan aad 
Mecr Hooseiu Ali Khan, aU of Hyderabad, came into my 
camp and surrendered their swords as prisouers of war. 
'l'heir mi&fortunes are of their own creation, but as they 
are great, I returned to them their swords. Tbey await 
your Lordship's orders. Their Highnesses have surrender· 
ed l:l.yderauad and I shall occupy it to-morrow. It is not 
to be supposed that so hard fought an engagement could 
be sustained without considerable loss on botb sides. 
1'hat of the British force is 2'56 men killed and wounded. 
r.rhe enemy is genemlly supposed to have lost 1>000. 
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M'11.jor Teesdale, while animating his sepoys, aashed on 
horseback over the bank amidst the enemy, and '_fall 
instantly shot and sabred, dying like a glorious soldier. 
Major Jackson , • • Captains Meade, TEnv, and 
Cookson with Lieutenant Wood, all fell honourably' • 
Liouten~nt·Colonel Pennefather, l'lfnjor Wyllie, Captains 
Tucker and Couway, Lieutenants Harding and Phayre 
were all wounded • • • • I ough~ to have observ.ed 
that I had the night bef?re the actiOn detached MllJor 
Outram fn the steamers, w1th 200 sepoys, to st~t fire to the 
wood in which we understood the enemy's left flank wa.s 
posted . • . • f!o~e\·er, t~ll enem~ ha~ moved about 
eight miles to their rtght dunng the mght. • • • • 

20. Sir Charles Napier to the Governor General, 
s· Oh 1 N • , Dubbah, four miles frtJtn Byderabad, 

• ..,,~:, ot"~h: 8bat:F."r,i March 24, 1843 :-"My Lord, the 
Dabbah. , forces under my command marched 
from Hyderabad this morning at day-break. About half 
past 8 o'clock, we discovered and attacked the army under 
tbe pPrsonal command of Meer Shere Mahomed, consisting 
of 20000 men of all arms, strongly posted behind oue of 
those lnr~e nullahs, by which this country is intersected 
in all directions, After a combat of about thr!'e hours, 
the enemy was wholly defeated with considerable slaughter 
and the loss of all his standards and cannon. His positiun 
was nearly a straight line; the nullah was formed hy two 
deep parallel ditches, one 20 feet, the other 4\! feet wirle 
and 17 deep, which had been for a long distance freshly 
scarfe,J, and a banquette made behind t.he hank expressly 
for the occasion. 'fo ascertain the extent of his line was 
extremely difficult, as his left did not appear to he satis· 
factorily defined, but he began moving to his right, whPn 
he perceived that the Briti:;h force outflanked him in that 
direction. Believing that his movement had drawn him 
from that part of the nullnh which had Leen prepared for 
defencP, I hoped to attack his right with less diffioult.y 
and Major Leslie's troop of Horse Artillery was ordered t~ 
move forward and endeavoul' to take the nullah · the 9th 
Light Cavalry and Porma Horse advancin<> in lin~ on the 
left of the artillery, who was supported 

0
on t.he ;i<>ht by 

Her Majesty's 22nd Regiment, the latter bein"' h~wever 
at first considerably retired to admit of th~ obliqu~ 
fire of the Lealie's troop, The whole of the artillery now 
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opened upon the enemy's position. and the British line 
ad1•anced in echelons from the left, Her Majesty's 22nd 
RegimPnt leading the attack. The enemy was now 
perc~ived to move from his centre in considerable bodies 
to his left, apparently. retreating, unable to sustain the 
crO$S fire of the British Artillery ; on seein2' which Major 
8tack, at the bead of the 3rd Cavalrv, und~r command of 
Captain Ddamain, and the Sind Horse, under command 
of Captain Jacob, mode a brilliant charge upon the 
enemy's left flank, crossing the nullah, and cutting down 
the retreating enemy for several miles. While this was 
passing on the l'ight, Her Majesty's 22nd Regiment, 
gal!antly led by Major Poole who commanded tl1e brigade, 
and Captain George, who coll!manded the corps, attacked 
the nullah on the lfft, with great gallantry, and, I regret 
to add, with considerable loss. The brave battalion 
marched up to the nullah under a heavy fire of match· 
1< cks, without returning a shot, till within 40 paces of 
the intrenchment, and then srormed it like British soldiers. 
~.'he intrepid Lieutenant Coote first mountrd the rampart, 
seized one of the enemy's standards, and was ~everely 
wounded, while waving it and cheering on his men. 
Meanwhil~, the Poona Horse under C'ap·ain 'l'ait and the 
9th Cavalry, undu Major Story, turned the enemy's right 
flank, pursuing and cuttin~ down the fugitives for several 
miles. Her Majesty's 22nd Regiment was well supported 
by the batteries commanded by Captains Willoughby and 
ll utt, which crossed their fire wit.h that of Major Leslie. 
~ hPn came the 2nd Brigade, under command of Major 
Woodburn, bearing down· into action with eJcellent 
coolness. It consisted of the 25th, 21st and 12th Regi· 
ment under tl1e cpmmand of Captains Jackson, Stevens 
and Fisher, respectively : these regiments were stron~ly 
sustained by the fire of Captain Whitlie's battery, on the 
right of which were the 8th and 1st Regimt>nts, under 
Majors Brown and Clibborn : these two corps advanced 
with the regularit.y of a review, up to the intrenchments, 
their commanders, with considerable exertion, stopping 
their fire, on seeing that a portion of the Sinde Horse and 
Srd Cavalry, in charging the enemy, had got in front of 
the Brigade. The battle was decided by the troops of 
Horse ArtiliPry nnd Her Majesty's 22nd Regiment. The 
Beloochee infantry and artillery fought well> their cavalry 
made no stand; and 6000 di~oi plin.ed soldiers were not to 



260 

be long r sisted by a barbarian force, even though that 
force were nearly flve to one. From the acco.unts whicll 
have come in, since writing the abovl', there 1s reason t() 
believe that the lo>s of the enemy hns been very gr<•at : 
about 500 bodies hwe bPen counted upon the fi£-ld of 
hattie, nnd it is said thnt the neighbouring villages nrll 
filled with deacl and wounded men. Eleven pieces oi 
cannon were t~ken in position on the nullah and seventeen 
stanJards. It gives me great satisfaction to say that 

. some prisoners llave been taken; and though the numbe1• 
is small, it is still some adnmce towards a civilised mode or 
warfare. . • . We are at present employed in collt·Ct· 
ing the wounded BPloochees within our reach, in order t() 
render them medical assistance. 1 have dePply to rPgrPt 
the loss of the brave and t•xcelhmt Captain Garret of tho 
lith Light Cavalry and nl&O the faU of Lieutonnnt Smi1b 
11f the Bombny Ar1illery. • • • Many of the Sindian 
people (who are all in great deli~ht at the dest1·uetion of 
their Beloochee oppressors) have eome into camp from 
diffel'ent parts and bring assurance that the llt·loochoo 
force is wholly disr.ersed and that Meer Shere Jllnhomerl 
l1as lied into the drsert, with his family and 11bout forty 
followrrs; but as Imamgarh has hPen destroyed, the 
l1eat will soon force him to quit his temporary refug"• 
where there is no protection from thP- sun. He will there. 
fore probably endeavour to reach Multan, I h!IV!' written 
to his Highness Ali Moorad to arrest his progras~ in that 
direction, if possible, aud to make him prisoner. 'l'hre~ 
Beloochee chiefs fell in the action; one of I hem was the 
great promoter of the war-Roche Mahompd Seedee, nncl 
llmve every reason to believe that not another shot will be 
fired in Sind.-I havf', &c.-C. J. Napir~r, 1\Iajor-General. 
(' ommanding in Sind and Beloochistan;'' 

21. Sir Charles Napier to Meer Shere Mnll{)mecl, 
A'gh~ Khan plundered Hyderabad, April 7, 1843.-" Chief, if 

•nd Mtr Sher ~luhalllolllad. you will give back to A!!a Khan th& 
oalled to eurrender. 1 .1 f ' p unuer you took rom Jerruck, and 
come in an? make your salaam to me, I will pardon, and 
lle your frtend, and your jttgheers shall be re~pect.ed. 
b. J. Napier." H~·derabad, May, 2, 1843.-"Chief, come 
anrl make your salaam, and you shall receive from the 
l!:nglish Government all you held under the Ameers; and 
1 will place the sword which you have sent me agaio 
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in your hands tl1at you may fight as bravely for my nation 
as you did against us when you served the .Ameers 
C. J. Napier." Hyrlerabarl, May, 6, 1~13.-" Ameer, vo~ 
nevPr disb:mrlerl your army, as I desired you to do. You 
sent a most in~olent letter to me bv vake~ls. You offered 
that if I would capitulatr, you ~ould let me quit the 
country; I gave your vnkeels the only answer such a 
letter deserved, uamrly, that I would answer you with 
my cannoJl. Soon after that, your brother sent to me a 
letter, offering to as~assinate)OU; I sent the Mter to you. 
In my letter, 1 tol,J you that you wet·e a brave enemy 
that 1 sent you the proposition of your brother to put yo~ 
on your guarrl. I did not say that you were not an 
enemy. If Your Highness cannot read, you should get 
trusry people to read lor you. Your Highness has broken 
treaties; you have mode war without the slightest pro­
vocation, and before a fortnight passe& you shall be 
]JUnish~d as. you desme. I. will. hunt yo? into the 
11est'rt and mto the mouut.mns; 1f yon wish to save 
) ourself, you must surrender within five days.-0. 'N, 
!i a p ie1•,.'' 

22. Meer Nusseer Khan to the Governor of Bombay, 
· . April 28, 18·13 :-" Mecrza Khoosroo 

Teetimony to l! 1 r • 1 
] 00 ·b f .A • t t d Kh be ·, re•p&tability, e,, 'II om ormer mee1s rra e as 

anrlu~~~ ill~tre&tment at the their child, was beaten and disgracPd. 
baudo of the EugU•h. His house and that of B~hee WPre 
plundt'red." Meer N usseer Khan tn the Court of Direct. 
ors :-" 'l'he Me Meer Kurum Ali Khan and Meer Moornd 
Ali treated MPerza Khoo~roo as a son. He was impt·ison~d 
with ns. One day he was taken to the fort and chnrged 
with havinoo misdirect<•d thPm to the spot, where was the 
treasut•e of the late M<•er Kurum Ali Khan, for which 
they bad him disgr:tccd and flogged until he fainted. 
on'his recovering, he was tied up for two hours in the 
fort and afterwards brought back to the place where I 
was' imprisoned." • • • Observation by Sir Charles 
Napier .on the Memorials of the Ameers. Hyderaba.d, 
June 12, 1843. , , , "Meerza. Khoosroo .Beg. was 
not beatPn, nor was any body else; but bemg 1.n a 
passion he seized Major llcl'hcrson (who had netther 
said no; done anything to him) by the throat, and was, of 

1 d . " course, instant y rna e a. prisoner. • • • 



262 

23. Meer N'usseer Khan of Ryderab:1d to the Court of 
Dirretors. Sassoor, September 22, 

!lfr \l'ulr KhAn's account 843 " I f 1 t h t 
of the whole •ff•ir and hie 1 .- or mer y sen you a s or 
01planation about his account. of my history, which has 
eooduct. probably reached you, and a~quainf:t>d 
you with most of what bas befallen me. I wr1te agam, 
to inform you that in the time of the late Meer Gholam 
Ali Khan, Meerza Nusseer was dPputed to Calcutta, and 
brought back a tr£>aty bearing a seal of the then Governor· 
General, which treaty was re~pected as lon!l as that Ameer 
lived. Subsequently, in the time of the late Meer K urum 
Ali Kl1an and my father :Meer Moorad Ali Khan, Meer 
Ismail Shah wns sent on a mission to Governor Elphin· 
stone, and concluded with him a tl't'aty which was 
observed until the death of the Amem above mentioned. 
In the time of my father, Meer Moorad Ali Khan, Colonel 
Alexander Burnes, being desirous to proceed through 
Sinde, by the river Indus, on a visit to Runjeet Sing, 
arrived at K urracbee, whence be wrote several letters 
requesting permission to advance by that route, but as 
this had not been stipulated for in any former treaty, my 
father refused to comply, on· which I wrote to him 
(Sir A. Burnes) and told him to leave the property in 
his charge at Kur1 achee and to come himself to Hyderahnd, 
whence he should be allowed to pass up the river; he 
came accordingly; but my father told him be could Mt 
be permitted to proceed up the river, and that he had 
written to him to that effect at Kurrachee, asking him, 
moreover, why he had come to Hyderabad without his 
(my father's) permission. Sir A. Burnes replied that 
he bad come to Hydorabad ns desired by his son Meet· 
Nusseer Khan, who had written to say he would permit 
him to pass up the river. My f11ther was greatly displeased 
at this, and ask~d me why I had consented to what it was 
impossible for him to grant, I replied that I wrote to 
him for our advantage, and that I should certainly allow 
him to proceed up the river; and through my representa· 
tion my father acceded to his request. A full account of 
this is given in Sir A. Burnes' Travels, and also in 
Government records, so that I am the individual who first 
opened the Indus to the English. After this Colonel 
Pottinger arrived at Ryderabad and concluded a treaty 
which opened the river to the merchants of the nei.,hbour· 
ing countries, and allowed their boats and mercha~dise to 
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pass and re•pas.q duty-free i it was stipulated that this 
treaty should bind the Cllntracting parties for ever A 
copy of it, bearing the seal of the then Governor-Gtln.ernl 
was given to my father, who made it over to me, and said 
he had Illade it to ensm·e tile stability of my aff~irs. On 
the death of my rather, the said Colonel Pottin"'Ar sent 
for a frie~dl~ letter from the Gov~rnor-General a;d gave 
it to me; m 1t there was no mention made of oppressing 
us, or our own country. With pm·e intentions, I applied 
for a .Bl'itish Resident to be appointed at Hyderabad, and 
on the English army advancing to Cabool, I incurred the 
ill·will of the .Beloochee tribes and the enmity of the 
Afghans, by ·having, through my friendship for the 
English, allowed their army to pass through Sin de; yet 
I preferred the friendship of the English to every other 
consideration. I have read in books that the Christian 
religion commands you to cherish, and not alienate, your 
friends,-friendship being a tree which produces good 
actions: relying on this I was indifferent about the 
displeasure of the .Beloochees and the hostility of the 
Afghans. My late brother Meer Noor Mahomed Khan 
and myself undertook to provide boats, camels, provisions, 
wood and every other kind of supplies for the army and 
proclaimed to all the Beloochee tribes, that should any of 
them be dissati~fied with our alliance witll the .British and 
take to plundering the property of the army they should 
incur our displeasure and be severely punished: none of 
them dared to <iisobey our orders. When Sir John 
Keane arrived with his army at Jerruck lle deputed 
Mr. Eastwick with a memorandum stating that he 
required 21 laka of rupees; of this sum I was required 
immediately to pay 7 laks and the other 14 laks 
were to be paid by the late Meer Noor Mahomed 
Khan and ~leer Meer Mahomed Khan equally. We 
were also called upon to pay S laks of rupees annually 
to the .British Government; this was the immediate 
result of my faithful services to the English and Sir 
J, Keane, having arrived unopposed at Jerruck about 
twelve coas from Hyderabad, began, in violation of treaties, 
to oppress us and to assume a hostile attitude; as I was 
helpless I paid the money, knowing well, however, that it 
was taken from me unjustly by order of the Governor• 
General. In the treaty conolud~d with Sir Henry 
'Pottinger, and bearing the seal of the Governor-General, 
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it was nflirmrd that our friend~hip would last to. tl1e latest 
posterity and that no oppre~sion should ?e exPrcmd on us, 
or on our country; in defiance of tb;s, why ~·ere we 
required to pay 21 taka of rupees at one t1me and 
the sum of 3 laks annually? lf you say ~hat it was 
on account of Shah Shooja, l reply that the sa1d Shah had 
written on a Koran, which he presented to me, that he 
would never act to the d~:triment of us, or our country. 
I answer again, that during Shah Shooja's sojourn of 
~vPral years at Loodiana, nothing was demandrd from us 
on his account· but setting this aside, w lwu Shah Shooja, 
finding that lit> 'was ~owerfui at Cabool, thre~ off his a!legi• 
once to the English, did he inform me on what account 
and for wl1at purpose the tl'ibute was exacted from me? 
If you exacted it on your own acct.unt, you .did. s? in 
breach of the articles of the treaty. You are ducrimmat• 
ing and just; examine and judge for yourself whetht'r 
our t1eatment. bas been just or unju>t. When Sir John 
Keane's army arlvanced towards Cabool, Colond Pottinger 
framed and c ncluded with us a t1·eaty of twelve artirles, 
which he said would be permanent :1s the wall of Alrx· 
ander, and would last for ever. 'Jhank God· that, from 
the first treaty to 1 he last, I have not infringed even one of 
their articles; copie~ of thrse treaties must be in tl1e 
Governmt11t records and a ref'E'rence to them will ~atisfv 
you whether I state falsehoods or tell the truth. Whe;\ 
Major Outram was appointed Hesidcot in Sinde, I aded 
agreeably to h :s wishes, and ns long as he remainE'd nt 
Hyderabad, I'Verything procel'rlcd satisfactorily, until 
he was suerrrded by Sir Charles Napier, who after an 
intrrview with me at llyderahad, proce(·ded to Sukkur. 
Shortly after, the Assistant (Mr . .M ylne ), who was stationrd 
at Hyderabad, sent off all the propel'ty from the Residency 
and prepared to leave. I sent my :Moonshce to him and 
inquired the reason of his leaving; his reply was that the 
A meers found th~ prPsence of a British Resident di~ngrec. 
able.and that MaJor Outram ~as superseded by Sir Charles 
Nap1er. I remarked that, wlthout a 11esident, our affairs 
wo?ld be suspen~ed, . Mr. ~ylne replied that I should 
wnte and· explam tlus to S1r Charles. When he went 
away, no perso~ succeeded. I appointed people to take 
.~are of the Residency, and bad the trees, flowers, etc., in 
lts garden, watered at my own expense until a soldier 
came 'there to ta.kEJ charge of them. On' the 5th Zilkad, 
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Mr. Stanley nrrived at Hyderabnd with a treaty from the 
General contravening all forwer treaties, which perfectly 
~onfouncled me, lind I ~aid to Mr. Stanley that this treat.y 
meant not more or leso than a desire to Uburp our country. 
On what account does the GPneral wish to inflict upon 
me so heavy a lo~s P Ee replied "You wrote a letter to 
Dewan Sawun Mull of Moo I tan, and another to the chief 
~f the l3eebruck tribe, exprl•ssing your enmity to the 
British Government." I answerl'd ''I did not write a. 
letter to Sawun :Mull to that effect, but I may have 
written to him about some timber I required for building, 
~nd even that letter was shown by me to the British 
Resident, or his Assistant. I have never sent a letwr 
without informing the. Resident, to whom I also showed 
the r!:'ply I received. This is agreeable to treaty ; and as 
rega1ds the chief of the tribe of Beebruck, I have never, 
to this timr, had the ·slightest correspondence with him; 
whu and what. is he, aud where lies his country with 
reference to mine, that I should hold any correspondence 
with him P" l\lr. Stanley replied that he would give me 
a steamer to convey vakeels from me to the General, at 
Sukkur, to arrange with him. I accordingly deputed 
Akhund Bnchal and Syad Saad 1\li and sent them by 
land to Sukkur, in order to prove to Sir Charles Napier 
that my statement to Mr. Stanley was true. After their 
departure agreeably to the Gem·ral's angry writing, I sent 
llleerza Khoosroo Beg and Mahomed Yusoof with full 
powers to treat and our seals. 'J:hcy met the General 
at Nowshera; but he, not deeming it fit to have our 
seals affixed to the tr~aty at that place, wrote and 
delivered to tbem letters desiring ns to bring :Meer 
Roostam Khan to •Hyderabad as Major Outram would 
soon he there to settle his (Meer Hoostum's) affairs, 
when he would also have our seals affixed to the treaty 
and that he (Major Outram) was invested with full 
pow~rs on the part of Government to treat with us. 
Meer Roostum and the vakeels accordingly came to 
Hyderabad, and Major Outram also arriving there on 
the 8th of Moharram (8th February) sent me, that very 
day, a memorandum relative to the proposed treaty. I 
immediately sent Mirza Khoosroo Beg and Mahomed 
Khan with my seal to Major Outram ; and, in his presence, · 
they affixed H to the kuboolyatnamah (a document in 
which the Ameers agreed to sign the treaty when pre· 
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sented to them), and retumed lt. ! sent lllso a message 
to Major Outram, that, as I bad. signed the. kuboolgat• 
namah without delay, he would kmdly contrive so that 
the General should return with his army from the place 
he was now encamped M, The Major replied, "that this 
was the reason he wished me to agree to tbe kuboolgat• 
Mmah as of course the treaty would cause sottle delay; 
·and as' you have now signed the former, I am quite 
satisfied. If you will send me a shootur suwr..r, I will 
despatch an officer to the General to infol'lll him that you 
have agreed to the treaty, and of the manner in which 
affairs are proceeding at Hyderabad, so that the army may 

· not advance further." I accordingly sent a camel to the 
Major; and about 8 p. m, he sent to my house an officer. 
As it was in the first ten days of Moharramj 1 was 
engaged in the offices prescribed by,~y religion for that 
period, when a ser.vant came and 1nformed me that a 
gentleman was at my house. I immediately went to him 
and learnt from him that he had come for a swifter camel 
than the one I had previously sent him, as he said he 
must reach the General speedily. I gave him a better 
camel and sent with him four or five l1eloochees to point 
out the road and to escort him. Next day (9th February) 
Major Outram visited me and said that he h<J.d sent an 
officer to the General, whose arrival there would stop the 
advance of the army. The lOth was the day of Ashoora 
(anniversary of Hoossein's death) •md consequently no 
business was transacted, nor had I any intercourse, with 
Major Outram on that day. On the 11th the camelman, 
who accompaoied the officer, returned and told us that .he 
had left him in the General's camp at Sukkrund, and 
that, immediately after the officer arrived there, althou"'h 
there was no previous preparation for a march the 
General set out with his army, and marched to Kootul 
Synda, where he halted. On the evening of the 
12th Major Outram came to me, and I mentioned 
to him what the camel-rider had told me. The Major 
desired me ~ afi!x my seal to the treaty which he had 
brought With h1m, and to get ready a camel-rider to 
take a letter from him to the General who would halt 
and fall back with the army, on hearing that the treaty wa~ 
signed. The seals were immediately affixed to the treaty 
It was stated .i~ ~hat treaty that the. fort and territory of 
Subzul was disJomed from my dommions. The revenues 
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of Kurrachee were divided into four shares, three of which 
belonged to myself, Meer MahomE>d Khan and Meer 
Slli}dad Khan, and were valued at Rs. 25,000 a year, each 
share giving a total of Rs. 75,000, which sum was to be 
taken in lieu of tribute to that amount; and the port of 
Kurrachee made over to the English. Meer Meer 
Mahomed Khan, Meer Shadad Khan and myself were 
also to make over to Meer Sobdar Khan, for his share 
(one-fourth of the revenues of Kurracbee ), land valued 
nt Rs. f.O,OOO a year. I replied that "it was stipulated 
in former treaties that the English would protect the 
country of the Ameers; instead of which, you are assign· 
ing it to another; and as regards Kurraehee, as you value 
nne share of its revenues at.Rs. 50,000, how does it happen 
that you estimate the other three shares, belonging to 
M eer Mal1omed Khan, Meer Shadad Khan and myself, 
at Rs. 25,000 each; what justice is there in this?" 
Helpless, I affixed my seal to the treaty and gave it him 
(Major Out1am). I afterwards remarked that he might 
take the tract of country belonging to Meer Roostum 
Kban, which li~s between Subzal and Roree, leaving to 
him the remainder of his dominions, to which Major 
Outram replied that it rested with Sir Charles Napier. 
I entreated him vehemently on this subject; and, seizing 
the skirt of his garment, implored him not to ~uffer Meer 
Roostum Khan, who was an old man of eighty·five years, 
to become 1.1 homeless wanderer, but to permit him to 
retain the remainder of his dominions if only to prevent 
disturbances, '!'he Major ag9.in replied that it was not in 
his power, but he would mention it to the General. When 
the Beloochees threatened to rise in arms, in consequence 
of the ejection of Meer Roostum Khan, intelligence 
arrived that Sir Charier Napier Lad irupl'isoned a Murree 
chief, named Hyat Khan, without any apparent cause; 
on which some of the Beloochees, who were at Hyderabad, 
assembled and took a solemn . oath, resolving to attack 
Major Outram on his l'tlturn from tbe fort to his Residency. 
I was informed of their intentions; it was then twilight. 
.As the Major was a friend who was dear to me as 
my own lite, I sent, in consequence of the ferment 
t 'llongst the Beloochees, Meer .Jan Khan, Hajee Ghulam 
Mahomed, and t.en or twelve other nobles of my court 
to accompany him ; they after escorting him to the 
Residency, returned and told me that they had seen 

I 
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parties of Beloocbees ready for mischief at two or th.ree 
places on the road, a?d had sent them away. On h;_armg 
this I sent to MaJOr Outram n verba~ lJJ:ss~,e . by 
Moonsl1ee Madhajee and also wrote. to lnm mfo~nung 
him of it, as Major Outram had prom1sed me to Wl'lle to 
the General, to request him not to advance an~ to send 
the letter bv one of my camel-riders. He d1d so that 
night. On 'the 13th I endeavoured to restrain, by 
f!oumel, by for<'e and by reproaclws, the Belooohees! and 
urcred tht·m not to excite disturbances, as I l1ad s1gned 
th~ treatv and the Major had written to the General to 
beg be would not advance, and that this request would 
he attended to, I asked them what it would take out of 
their pockets my having agrPed to the treaty ? On the 
morning of the 14th the ca111el-rider, who conveyed th& 
Major's letter to the Gene1•al, returned .a~d brou~ht 
intelligence that the General, on recernng !ll:lJ-Ir 
OutraUl's letter, pr••part·d to ad1·ance. My Uoonshee 
Moolram, in Sir Charles Napier's c11mp, sent me a 
letter to the same purport as the camel-rider had st:tte~. 
On hearing this news, the Beloochees marched out of the' 
town and on camped on the hanks of the Fulaillec, and ruauy 
of the chiefs en me to me and requested me to join them; I 
told them I had signed the treaty, and ho1r then could I 
fight? As Sir Charles Napier bud proclaim I'd that if any of 
our followers jointd M ecr Hoostum Khan, we sh<>uld Ire held 
mpomible, and considerl'd equally guilty as if we joinl'd 
)lim, I reflected that. even if !he Beloochees went without m!', 
the ~lame woultl fall upon me, as declared by the General; 
I was at a lo~s how to act; 1 snw tlrat it was perfectlv 
hopeless to attempt to fight with the English, a11d I knew 
that the GenPral, notwithstandino I had aoorccd to the treaty 

• ::"1 0 •• 
was fast approarhmg; I 'II as averse to tl1e Belooclwes 
setting out fl'llm the town, and to tl1eir t'XCitPmcnt from 
the first, but on reflection I thought it best to join 
them on the Fulaillee and to endeavour to allav their 
excitement, hoping that my presence would gratify them, 
and t!Jat they might thereby b1l induced tn desist from 
their hostile intentions. With this expectation I went to 
the Belo~ch em·amprnent and stayed there day and night 
counsellmg- and advising them until I gained them 
over; next morning I intended to depute an experienced 
vakefl to the General, to entrPat llim not to have 1·ecourse 
~force, but to seltlo everything in a. friendly manner. 
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I was about to appoint a vakeel when word was brought 
to me that the G!!neral, wit11 his army, had reached the 
yillage of D?~t .\l ahomed .Khidmutf.tar, and having taken 
1t, was conang on. l:le Immediately after attacked the 
Be!oocb po~ts, and I heard tl1e noise of cannon. I had 
hardly time to mou.n~ before the action became general. 
Before the two Bnttsh Officers rode up to reconnoitre; I 
would ~ot allow the Beloochees to .fire at them, as I hoped 
everythwg w"uld be .arranged w~thout fighting; but I 
~oon ~1scovered my m1stnke. Am1dst showers of balls, by 
the w1ll of God, many of the BP!oochees were killed, and 
<>thers fled. 1 remained with 20 horsemen ; at Jength in 
amnzement at the power of destiny, I rt•turned to Hyder­
abad, where before eveninf.t a fresh for<·e of 10 or 12,000 
Bt·loochees had as· em bled, also soma of the fugitives; but 
·as I felt. ussured that after dispersing thPm the General 
'1\ould approve my ~incerity, I went to bim of my own 
11ccord next moming-; I did not even S<'nd away my 
treasure or family, as I was confident of being recompensed 
for my fiddity; and taking off my sword delivered it into 
his hands. He kindlv returned it to me and buckled it 
rou11d my waist, u'siug many consoling expressions, 
and telling me that in ~5 tla~s m,l' affairs I'I'Ould be $3lis. 
factorily settled, and thnt I should be placed in Hyderabad 
liS formerly; I\hjor Outram wns present at the time. 
Next n10rning I rode with th~ Gcn~ral to the camp and 
presPnted to him the guns wh1ch were under the chaqte 
of 1\Ioosa (the Armenian or) the Fe1'1mgee. 'fhe com· 
motion amongst tLe Beloocbees was occasioned by the 
arrival of MePr Roostum at llydPrabad and the seizure of 
Bvat Khan, the Murree Chief, and the cause of all the 
bloodshed. From the first I was opposed to Meer Roustum 
Khan visiting Hyderabad, as I believed it would cause 
the di~turhance, which the seizure of Hynt Khan height· 
ened ; and his coming there was at the sole desire of the 
General. When General Napier was at Khyrpore and 
Dejee·ka-Kot, I wrote to him to say that it would be 
better if he oame to Hydernbad with a few men to gratify 
me with a meeting, and spend a few days with me in 
shooting game, and that then I ~bould comply with 
his demands ; hut that I was afraid, if he came with 
an army, the Beloochees, who were furious on account 
of Meer Roostum Khan's ejection, would excite a com. 
motion which would· bring ruin on themselves and 
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others. "My advice was not attended to. If the GE>neral 
says he conquered Sinde, I reply that as we were tributa­
ries and subjec:~ of the En~lish for m~ny year~, he ca'!l 
hardly claim a v1ctory over Ins own subJects. Tl'Uly h1s 
slaughter of the reople of Sinde and plundering their 
property was at the expense of the Que~n of England. 
The day after I arrived in camp with Sir C. Napier, 
:Moonshee Ali Akbar was sent to me with a message that 
the GenPral wanted some of my people to be stationed, 
with a few of his own men, in Hyderabad, so that the 
townspeople might be protected from all injury. As 
long as Major Outram remained there, all was tranquil, 
but in a few days be left for Bombay. '!'he day after his 
departure Moomhee Ali Akbar came with a messngo from 
the General, who wished to go and inspect the fort of 
Hyderabad, and required a few trustworthy people along 
\vitb him. .Accordingly I sent AkhooJ?d Buchal, Bahadur 
Khidmatgar and ~loonshee Metbaram; again Moonshee 
Ali Akbar returned and asked for keys of the toshakhana. 
(a. depository wherein valuables are kept) in order to 
obtain all the trfasure and property. I told him to do as 
he pleased, but if he tonk them according to the eatalo"'ue 
they would get everythin~, otherwise others would r~sh 
in and tak{l wlwte:ver they could lay their hands upon, 
My counsel was not listened to; at last Mr. Fallon and 
Col. Pattie and Major Reid and several other offic~rs 
with two rPgiments of cavalry and infantry, entered th~ 
fort and seizt>d on all the treasures, gold, silver, swords 
ma!A·hlocks, knives,· daggers, shields, and other property' 
such as jewels, and whnt else belonged to our establish! 
ment, costly fabrics, Korans and books, horses and camels 
and mules, saddles of gold and silver, utknsils of copper 
and silver, everything in fact of the value of a needle • 
so complete was the pi uod~r that precious stones wer~ 
falling out of the bosoms of the sepoy~, and they were 
selling gold, jewds and other valuables in the city. The 
work of plunder was continued for seven davs; the first 
day they rushed into the seraglio of the late Meer Kut·um 
.Ali Khan ; and the occupants of tho seraglio, for fear of 
their lives nnd shame lest thf'y should be exposed to the 
gaze of intruder~, abandor,ing their houses fled on foot from 
the fort. Afterwards the s~raglios of the other AmePrs 
were entered by the British troops ; and their inmates 
who had never before crossed the threshold of the seraglio: 
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fled on foot from the fortr; the sepoys who were at the 
gates, on seeing a woman with ornaments on her person. 
immediately stripped them off, so that those who would 
.avoid exposure threw away their Jewels, taking with them 
only the clothes on their b!lcks. The officers carried off 
even our cots and bedding, leaving us nothing but the 
ground. 1 bad taken to the seraglio the hooks and clothes 
tbr.y (the officers) had given me the day they entered the 
fort, all of which were again ta.ken from me the day I 
left; also the swords of my sons, Meer Hoosein Ali and 
Meer Abbas Ali; depriving us also of our bedding. The 
horses and saddles of gold, on which my sons came to me, 
were also taken away, notwithstanding my remonstrances to 
Captnin Brown and Ali Akbar; and at this date they are 
without, swords. Although my swords and matchlocks 
are of'iron and of little valuP., yet, having descended to 
me from my ancestors, they are by me prized as my life. 

_t3t~sides that, the late Meer Kurum Ali Khan ar.d Meer 
·~lCJorad Ali Khan treated Meerza Khoosroo as a son; he 
:was imprisoned with us; one day he was taken to the 
fort and charged with having misdirected them to the spot 
where was the treasure of the late Meer Kurum Ali Khan, 
for which they had him disgraced and flogged, until he 
fainted; on his recovery, he was tied up for two1 hours 
in the fort and afterwards brought back to the place 
where I was imprisonrd. Besides this, whPn Meer Shere 
Mahom~d was about to fight Sir 0. Napier's army, although 
he was my bitter enemy (ns is WE'll-known to .Major Out· 
ram, Captains Leckie, Whitelock and Mylne), who never 
let slip an opportunity of destroying my propPrty and 
injuring me, yet was I removed from my spacious abode in 
cam 1J, on board the confined accommodation ofa steamer; 
9 days after I was taken back and imprisoned in my former 
abode, When I was being conveyed on board the steamer, 
I asked Captain Brown to detain my two sons and my 
cousin Meer Mahomed Khan, and to take me with him , 
to battle, as I knew tha.t on seeing me, all the troops 
with Meer Shere Mahomed would abandon him and 
come over to me; and the said Meer would either be 
obliged to fty or to surrender himself or to permit me to 
to go and fight with him; but my suggestions were not 
attended to. In former times I was in the habit of 
send~ng an expPrienced person on board every stemear 
passing up and down the river, to procure for them fnel ' 
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and other necessaries, and wns equnlly eareful of t~e · 
convenience of travellers by laud, f(•munerating them m 
full for whatever was stolen from them and could not be 
recovered. In the time of Meer Noor Mahomed these. 
los.~es were shared between us, but after his death I 
employed servants on board the steamer$, and if llrit!sh 
officers or those in their service lost propel'ty of any kmd 
in Sin de, one part of it was paid for lly Meer M cer .Mabo· 
med Khan and the remainder by me, to ·our great 
detriment; which however, we con.idered again, in con· 
sequence of our friendship with the En~lish. llesi?es ~he 
above I have performed many other serviCes to the Enghsh, 
in the' hope that it would lead to my advantage, instead 
of conducting me to a priRon. It will be notorious all 
over these countriPs that this is the reward of a person 
who has ser1'ed the British faithfully through lite, -I 
formerly sent you a brief account of my cir1~umstances, 
whieh I write a second time more in det?.ii, that you may 
know all that has passed. I have n·ad that C llristianity 
is opposed to oprmssion !Jf every kind; but from tlw .. time 
the British first arrived in ] ndia to the present date no. 
such tyranny was ever practised as on us. Bad a shot 
bePn fired from the 11 ails of Byderabad, tl!e llt·itish army 
might have lawfully plundend ir; but, after promising 
sPcurity, and making peact>, to console us with a promistl 
to restore us to power and afterwards to plunder thtl 
treasury, and to disgrace the ruins of the country, is not 
allowed by any law of the country, is not allowed by 
any ~~~-; and I have heard from expPrienced persons 
that lt IS not tbe custom of the Enoli~h to punish a 
man before be is proved guilt.y, not to" degrade him on 
the h~ars~y ~viden~e of others. I therefore hope that 
you wlll tirst mvestlgate my case, and then determine by 
the la:'·~ of _Christianit.y, w hethur or not, we are suffering 
from m~ustice. I look to you for ju~tice and to be sent 
back, With my former honour and dignity, to my country, 
where I pledge myself to be bound by the kindness of the 
E~glis.b, as long as I live, to Berve and obey them ; and 
this will exalt the renown of the English all over the 
world. Restore me, therefore, to my plundered country." 

24, Sir Charles Napier to the Governor-General, Hydef· 
Sir Cht.rles Napier'• ~bad, July, 3J·d, 1843:- , , , , 

explaoatiou and detenee, Another charge against me I find to 
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be t11at my 'continued march upon Hydf!rabad, in 
spito of the advice of Maj<>r Out1·am, wa~ that whicll 
forced the Ameers to war.' I certainly did reject 
1\l:tjor Outram's advice, because I soon saw that he 
was gl'Ossly deceived by the A meers. I had sereral proofs 
of this, one or two of which l now feel it' right to state to 
;your Lordship :-1. Major Outram, being at Hyderabnd, 
sent me two or three despatches by express on tile 12th to 
assure me that the Ameers had not any armed men except 
th~i1· usual personal attendants, a1.d that these were 110t 

more numerous than lnclian princ~s of their rank would 
move with in time of pr .. found peace. At that moment 
the army of the Am~e1·s 11as assembled at Meeanee, only 
6 milt•s !'rom Hyderabad, and were preparing their 
position l At th~ moment hP was \Vl'iting these dt•spatclws 
to me, his hou;e was ~urrounded bv 8000 Beloochees 
( w \10 had b pieces of cannon) preparing lor their attack 
011 h;m, on the 15th of :February. ll. :Major Out1am 
wrote to ask me to go to Hyderabad alone to meet tbe 
A .met·rs. 3. He proposed my ~ending my troops to 
:M"' rpore. Bad I allowed myself to be guid~d by Major 
Outram, my own tluoat and his, and the throats of nll 
with us, wo~ld probai.Jiy have been cut, and the army left 
without a h·ade1· at :Met'rpore, 40 mih•s from the river, 
whieh formed our lin~ of communication by st(•amers 
with SuHur and Bombay, and with the frit·nclly ten·itory 
of H. H. Ali :Moorad, whi<'h ex1ended south :~s far as Noll'­
shera; when thus isolated, t.he army would have. ht•en at­
tnded by 60,000 men, puslwd back upou the D1·sert, and 
there hal'e miserably perished. As 1\Iaj •. r Outram hatl 
lived many ~·ears at the court of Hyderahari and eveq one 
spoke of his "gr1•at local knowledge of the Ameers aml 
of this country,'' while I was a pe1·ffct stranger to both, 
I might well have been excused, had I allowe<l myself to 
have been guid~d hy Major Outram; and his adviee was 
pressed upon me with all the zeal inspired by honesty of 
purpose, added to an ardpnt disposilion. .But my spies 
brought intelligence that 30000 men were in my front; 
some said 40000. I concluded that these spies exagger,lt­
ed numbers, but it was clear to my mind that the 
Beloochees were above 20000 men, and in sufficient 
numbers to make them believe that their victory would 
be certain. Therefore I argued that Major Outram's 
report was wrong, that he was detehed und ignorant 
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of what wa~ pnss1ng about l1im. ~is propo~al to mnrch 
the troops to M~erpore made 1ne th~nk tlmt he ~nderstoo.d 
verv little of war; I tht>rl'l'ore pH!d no amnuon to Ins 
snggtstions. 1 put all my sick and treasur~ on board a. 
steamer and resolvfd to attack the ent>my. If WI' Wt'J'C 

bea1en, we had plenty of provbions, and wi1h our 
backs to the river (for rPtreat would have heen 
disastrous) and the steamers, I coul<l lwve entr~>nched 
mrsdf till reinforcements arl'iV!·d. I had full ('onfidence 
in' the troops n1:d little feared an undisciplined multitude; 
but still the game was not an N1sy one, and 1 have ~hown 
1hat, had 1 tahn Outram's advic<·, as I was reproached 
for not having done, a second Cabool massacre W011ld 
probably have taken plac<•. One would l1n.Ye imagined 
1hat the attack on the lt~sidency would have, nt I e. st, 
opened Outram's rye' to the trrnchery of 1h!-! ch~rarters 
l1e had to deal with. 1\ ot a bit; he jl.ined me on 1 v lilt h 
at Mut1arer and still wnn1~d mo to delay my att11ckXfor a 
dav! Yet, siK hours d1·lay would have addo<l :!4,00 men 
to 'the forces of the Amm·s at ~I e~a ner. Jt is 1rue( hat I 
l1ad no positive information of this a1 the momP.IIt; but. { 
was sure of it from the lrt.tl·r I found on •.he Um1·ee' CT.iei 
Hvat Khan, whom I had seized. In tlds Jc.ttcr the 
.-\~Jeers p1·essed the .Murrees to join on the 9th. .!\ow, I 
knew that these barbarhn~ would not. hare thei1· villages 
while the fenst of the Moharram lasted. It "·as to finish 
on the l11h ; tberefo, e I guess<'d how fast 1 bey would 
l}'(lther after that day, nnd I rt·sol red not to lose an hour. 
/lf my conduct be att.acked in the Honse of Common~, I 
think the foregoing statement will be a sufficient dPfence, 
I am not conscious of having erred in 1·ejrc1 ing :Major 
Outram's advice. Outram's answer will be ''there 
would not have been war." 'l'he Ameers answered this 
on 1he 15th; but suppose not; was I to place the army 
at their mercy to ~pare or destroy, as they pleased P 
'!'heir mPrcy I I have it in proof that about the time 
Major Outram kept assuring me of their pacific feelings 
and disposition towards us, they had sent orders along 
both banks of the Indus to their people ''to kill every 
Englhhman, woman and child they could lay their hands 
upon." We should have rereived the tender mercies of the 
A1ghnns in the Tezeen Pass. The mercy which Outram 
would have received himself, hut for my forebodings and 
sending him the light company of the 22nd Regiment." 



EV'idenl!& in fovour of 
Sir Churl.. N•pier's line 
of condnc~ 

25. Evidence given by P e e r 
Budroodeen, confidential servant of 
the e.v-Ameel" Sobdar- Khan of· 
llyde:rabad :-

"Q.-On what dnte did the army of the Ameers leave· 
Hyderabad? 

.A.-On the 6th of Feb mary 1843, the troop under the command 
o£ Gholam Mnhomed KomriewnTia and Mir Khan Mahomed 
T;tlpoor (Khananie) went out and encamped in the Babool 
Jungle nenr ~leer Futteh Ali K~ball. The two chiefs thfll' 
retnrued to H,ldembad and tofd Me~r Nusseer Khan to g~t 
all in r0adiness fur battle. Afterwards the fnrce collected 
there, and chiefs as they arrived remnined there. On the 
evening of: the 14th February 1843, Meer Nnsseer Khan 
moved out and }•ined their force. In the morning, an order 
was issued to plun•ler Major Outram's dwelling. 

Q.-Who COillllmndcd this parly? 

.A.-Meer Slmdad commancled the palty ancl by him was giveR 
the order to plunder the age11ey; and Meer Nusseer Khan of 
Khyrpore, Meer Jehnu Mahom~d, Meer Khan Mahomed, 
Gholam Mahomet! Komriewal\a, a Nizamanee chief, whosl!' 

/ na.me I forget, Ahmed Khan Lugharee, Meerza Buli:u1, aud 
other iuferio1· chiels accompanied him. 

Q.-When Major Outram quitted the agency, what did the troops 
(Sinde) do? 

.A.-They plundered all the property left and burnt all the buildings .. 
'l'hey then joiued Meer N usseer Khan 111 the garden and Meer 
Sh·1dad Khan and the aforenamed chitfs said "we have 
~ained a victory; Ma,io•· Outram ha< fled, a••d we have plun,; 
d~red his property. Our ptuty htwe behaved mo>t bravely. 
Meer Shadad sent a m~n to give the news of his victory to 
Meer Sobda.r Khan in the fort, and to inform him that 
Major Outram bad fled. Meer Sobdar, on hearing this, 
answered "you hnve done ill. If with 8000 ~n you have 
been unable to destroy I 00 men, what will you be able to M 
in front of the General's army 1 '' On the evening of the-
15th of February Meer N usseer Khan moved from his gardo n 
and took up a position at N oonar, half a coss from it; and 
on the evening of the 16th he reached Meeanee; ne1t 
mo!'Ding the battle took place. 
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Q.-Was Meer Sobdar in the battle (of Mreanee) ond what !meers 
were there 1 

.d.-Meers Sobrlar and MahomPd Kh~n were not in the bnttle. 
Except these twu, all Am~ers of Upper and Lower Smde 
were there. . • • • 

Q.-Did Meer Sobdar Khan send information to the General that 
troops were collecting at Hyuerabud? 

.d.-On the night of the day on which the General reachr:d 
Sukkurund (lOth February) ~leer Sobdar called me and sa~d 
'Take two days' food and urink nnd proceed by the jungle to 
the General's camp; and tell him, if he comes quickly, it is 
well; but if he delays, the forre here will very gready in­
crease.' Jamadar Coura said 'Budroodeen is a great man. 
If he goes it will be well-known, and you will get a bad 
name; it will be better if some oue else is sent.' I after­
wards heard that orders were given to Syad Abbas Ali Shah 
ami a Cazce to proceed to the General's camp and to beg o{ 
him to cume on quickly. • . • • 

Q.·- When did the A meets commence collecting troops 1 

.4.-When M eerza Khoosroo returned from the General they 
commenced doing so. Meetza Khoosroo wrute from ·Now-· 
shera to the A meers: • The G~neral is bent upon war, s. > 
get ready.' When the Meet·za returned to Hyderabad, the. 
order for collecting troops was given. • . • E. J. Brown." ' 

I 

26. The Governor-General in Council to the Secret 
Committee, August, 14, 1843:-Monthly allowanoos f,,. 

the tx:·Arnln at Poona. 
ann of their ladies at 
Haid&rnbad. 

. • "We transmit for your 
consideration certain memorials 
whicll the ex-Amecrs have addressed 

to us from Sipde; but we consider it unnecessarv to 
make any observations upon them. Sir 0. Napier's 
indignant refutation of the calumnious charges brought 
against himself and the gallant troops whom he commar.ds 
will be sufficient to satisfy you that the Ameers are 
without t.ruth. 'fhe ladies of the Zenana in Sinde have 
consented to receive a monthly allowance of Rs. 4,-500 
for their maintenance and we have temporarily fixed the 
allowance of the ex· A meers at Sassoor at Rs. 15,000 
per mensem, subject to future revision.'' 
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27. Meer Mourad Ali Khan is about 55 years of anoe, 
• 0 

of low stature and stout habit of 
C.:har•cter of Mlr .Murad b d H . I . . . 

Ali Khan. o y. 1s comp exwn IS rather fa1r 
and his countenance is the index of 

a sullen and gloomy mind. He is cold and repulsive in 
his manners, seldom relaxes into a smile and never 
condescends to familiar convers1tion. His personal 
attachments are confine'! to the cil·cle of his familv .. , • 
Inconsistent. a,§JtJm.ll}t _appPar, this t.vrant is at l;eart a 
poor hypochondriac, co~tan.t1L haunted by. the .rca~ of 
death, a~rl the phantoms ofi11S ow'n -gloomy lmagwatJOn, 
. . . ~' • I have myself known him pass several sleeptesF~· 
mghM from a horror of the cons~quences of bodily 
.derangement of the most trivial de~cription. 1'he 
·-prevailing feature of Met•r Mourad Ali's ch9racter is 
a'·arice; and he is ever too ready to sacrifice, Jor its 
gratification, his own dig-nity, and the interests of his 
people. Seldom making promise~, be even more rardy 
fulfils them; and altogc:lwr his character may be summed 

-up as that of a s~!fish and gloomy despot; an Asiatic 
'liberius or Philip the Second, ruling a kingdom by the 
energies of his mind, with none of the better feelings of 
the human heal't. 

28. The character of Meer Kurum Ali Khan forms 
a perfect contrast to t.hat of his bro­

Ch.•racter of .Mtr Kmm ther. He is a man of approved p~r-
AliKMn. , 

sonal bmvery, and as far as the 
etiquette of the Court permits, is cheerful, condescending 
and even aliable. Fond of dress and display, he courts 
Jlopular applause, which Mo1.1rad Ali affects to despise; 
and till lately he was generous to profusion. Even yet 
he is libet·al, although he now shows a disposition to 
follow the general policy of the Sinde Court, and to hoard 
money. I found the public voice at Hyderabad decidedly 
in his favour, as a prince who was kind to his subjects 
and attendants, and who was strict in the performance of 
his promises. In person he is below the middle size, 
with a pleasing countenance and engaging manners. • • 
Meer Karmal.i is possessed of slender talents, though his 
education has been .good; and he is .of so indecisive and 



easy a disposition that l.e l.as accustomed himself through 
life to l'egulate his conduct chiefly by the advice aud 
wishes of othl•rs, . 

29. Meer Mourad Ali's 'eldest son M eer N oor Mabomed 
Khan is about 30 years of age, and 

Cba~11eter of Mfr li6r 1 'd d 1 tl t Muh•mmad Khan. may Je cons1 ere as near y te coun er· 
part of his fat her, with all the bad and 

but few of the strong parts of his character. He was 
very unpopular; and I n~ver heard of any virl ue he pos· 
sessed, except a selfish attachm!'nt to Jlis parent. Accu­
m~latio.n o.f w~alth is the app~r'lrt' ofijt~t . of his life. 
Tla~ ch1ef 1s the only OD!l of thetamily who~\IS illiterate. 

I ""--- --.,..,, . .nf.ln·. ............ ·~, 

" 30. Meer Mah6med Nusseer Khan is the sec<'pnd son 
of Meer Mom·ad Ali, and is ow far 

Cha~'"ter of MlrMuhom· the most engaging and popul;t·~. of 
madN .. i:rKh&n. ' • r· '[ . s· d H ~. . the re1gnmg amt y tn m e. e J'iJ · 
25 years of age, of handsome figure, though rather corpulent, 
with much dignit.y of manners, and a noble expression 
of countenance, undisfigured by the least resemblance 
to his father or brother. The diRsimilarity, fortunately, 
is as complete in character as in prrsonal appParance. ~ 
Mcer 1\ussecr Khan is as generous as they are sordid, and 
has lavished the treasures which were allotted him with 
profuse liberality. • , . • . Met>r 1'1 ussee1· Khan 
has ever expressed a favourable feeling towards the 
British Government. He has been unremitting in his 
civilities to our native agent at Hyderabad ; and during 
my residence there he was even more attentive to me 
than the others. He is the darling of the soldiery, from 
excelling in all manly exet·cisea, and the most likely of 
the younger branches of the family to attain that pre· 
eminence which some one or other wilL probably in the 
end acquire. He does not appea1· a very determined or 
aspiring character. 

81 Meer Sobdar Khan is the son of Meer Futteh Ali 
Khan, the chief to whom the Talpoor 

:Ui:rBdbdirKh'n '"fl. :aur family owes its greatness· and he 
Fateh AH Khan. , ' 

. was born m 1801, a few hours before 
the death of his father, who had only time to entreat the 
kindness ,of. his. brother to his infant before he I!Xpired. 
For many years Meer Sobdar was the adopted child of 
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MPer Kuruni Ali; hut. being snhjert. to epilep~y. and 
having on!.! day fallen down in the durbar, Mourad Ali 
Khan conte111pt.nously askPd his bt••>ther what. he expected 
to make of such an unfortunate Wl'Ptch; and since tlum, 
until very lately, he has live1\ in obscurity on a paltry 
pcnsir•n of 25,000 rupPe~ pPr annum. 'l'he personal 
11 ppParauce of 1\leer Sobdar Khnn is favourable. He is 
about the middle size and rather inclined to corpulency, 
In his man1W1'S he is fol'lnnl . , . • Great pains were, 
I unclerstar,d, taken with his education; and although he 
is, no rloubt, a man of weak mind, anrt mo~t. likel,v the 
to11l only of a party, he is not drficicnt in litPrary taste 
and attainments, if a knowle.l;;e of Persian books and 
pol'tl'y can b•: ~ig.n~fied by mch an appellation. 

·-. 

3J. Th~ :\" awab, W~llee }[ nhomediG;;in Laghm·"e is 
hv t lw Am errs tlwmsel v~s ternwd 

li~wulo Wnl! Mul>•mmad tlie V nzier of Sinde and n xt to tl 
i(hl'u Lu~hr\.rl. J ' • ' P. IU 

principal members of the 'l'alpm· 
family, ffi\tgt be conoidt>red the most important perso11a"'e 
undr't' their govern mrnt. Being himself the head of" a 
powe1·ful Bdorwltee tribe, wltieh contributed in the field to 
the ~~~~vatio" of the pt'e>CIIt rulet·~. he has evet• sin('e been 

· their· laitltful an•.l able servant, and seems to enjoy not 
only HH· entire confidence of his masters, but, wbat is rare 
indeed in a despodc governruPnt, the C'Stecm and r•·spect 
of tlJe peflple. He is the arlviser of the A meers in the 
management. of the internal affairs of t.he State; and hy 
his ndroitne,s and mild dl'meanour, hns it often in his 
po1rer, and seldom loses an opportunity, to avt•rt or 
mitigate the rffects of .th••se ~hocks of tyranny and 
oppression which emanate from their durbar A ~incrre 
regard for the interest of his masters has taught this old 
and respectable individual the necessity of maintaining a 
friendly intercourse with the British Government, and it 
is to his advice I owe not only my visit to Sinde, but the 
wish of the AmePrs to detain me. • • • . . ln 1832, 
the Vazier Wullee Mahomed Khan Lagharee dropped 
into the grave full of years and honour, having retained . 
tbe confidence of his masters and the love of the people to 
the last. To give an idea of the wealth of a Beloocbee 
'Jhief of the big best rank, it may be added that the whole 
annual revenue of the possessions transmitted to his heir 
did not exceed £3,000 sterling. His death left the arena 
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open to his suttle advmary, Meer Ismail Shah, who1 

aided by his sons, ~till pursues an adi ve career of am hi· 
tion, sharing, w1th Mirza KhoosrooBeg, the chief influencE 

. at Court.• 

33. Meer. Ismail Shah is the adviser of the governmeni 
in his foreign, as :tiawab Wullee 

Mlr '•r. A'gU) Ism&.ll Mahomed .Khan is in its domestic 
Shah and his oons. • , 

'- pohcy. Be 1s ~econd only to thE 
latter in the estimation of the Ameers, who in addition 
to their religious reverence f, r him as a descend~nt of thE 
l'rophet, enteriain an e:xaggerated idea of his judgmen1 
and experience. Be is the son of a Persian who emi· 
grated about 60 years ago into \!_~§~. whcr~ .he wa! 
attMhled ±q, tho lo.-~ "'-'-...-· q• • 

1 ·~~!Clan anJ ... ;.~,,rus·s1umg with tne 'l'atpoors, receiV<~d cr ' u 

rif tfieir- service. Ismail Shah i~ well· knoll ~ployme~1 
ambassador to Bombay in 1820, when it was '!':I_ .. ~s . ~ -~ 
war would be declared hetw~en the governments. . . . 
MPer Ismail Shah is a man of re~pectnble appenrnnco and 
good addre~~. about 50 years of age, has the silly vanity 
to pretend ignorance of the common language of Sinde, 
and never speaks or allows himself to be addressed in any 
other language than Persian. • • • He is no doubt 
thoroughly skilled in the system of intrif!ue and chicanery 
so requisite in an Asiatic cabinet. Be has sen'ral sons 
holding important situations under the governm~nt, one 
of whom was lately at Bombay as rakeel, and another is 
the representative of the Ameers at t-hikarpoor. Be 
himself receives a monthly salary of eleven hundred 
rupees as ph~sician, which is the best paid appointment 
at Hyderahad, but his prescriptions are little attended to 
by the A. meers. t 

34. Next in importance to these officm are a few 
.... Kh 6 B courtiers who exert a personal influ. 
=musreg. f b' )'. ence, rom emg constant y m private 

attendance on the Ameers or as leaders of Beloochee tribes. 
The first of this class worthy of notice is Mirza Khoosroo 
Beg, a Georgian slave, who was purchased about eighteen 
years ago by Meer Kurm Ali Khan,~ and wbom his 

• See page 214 and the genealogical tree in Appendix lli. 
t See page 222 and the genealogical tree in A ppendi:~: III. 
t He waa a mere war priwner. See bia biographical eketch in Ap· 

penfu: 11 a.nd page 214. 
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master now ci'trents as an adopted cllild. Re is not a 
fav?~rite of,1 Meet• Mourad Ali Khan, and possesses little 
pohncal C'll:nsequence, though he was envoy at Bon. bay in 
1823. .ll(Jlj is a man of q uict retiring character, and is 
known m, Sinde as the author of lersian verses, the merit 
of which laJe is willing to yield to MePr Kurm Ali Khan, 
wl~o has (.;;~onsiderable vauity as a pJet. I requested His 
H1ghne.s~ o~e day to favour me with a couplet of his own 
composltJOu to engrave on a sword, and I observed that 
he immediata.tly called Mirza Khnosroo Berr to him and 

" ' after some " l·hispering, produced the following verse as 
hi.s own:-"£ I am sharper than wisdom from the mouth 
of Plat~; I ct1m more blood·spilling than tho eye-brow of 
a beautiful J fuistress." 

35. Th)~ Jbarejahs arc the aristocrac·y of the country 

J 
. , and are all mo:·e or less connected 

Tho ,;,.. , b n.· uta 't\ t. f '1 f '· R T of Kacbh. rr J• JP Wl l tue ami y o tuc ao. ltey 
. ;r tmce their descent fl·om Lncca. 

Gorarr;:v, a prince who reigned in Sinde a thousand yeat·s 
ag", l!'/(our or whose sons, :Moor, Ont·r, Phool and Munya· 
b.haP;), emigrated iuto Cutch on account of some family 
d1ssc1'1nsions. The two last had no issue. The posterity of 
.'t.r!'~;(lr e<.ded in tile third generation at Lac<'a Phoolanef', 

whose name is still known and c•elebrated throughout 
this province. From O~?r desrended the present Jam of 
Nuwanugur. One of hi! descendants four hundred years 
ago had four sons, Khenyar, Rhayehjee, Sayebjee, and 
Aleyajee. :From the first of these the Rao is lineally 
desceudt·d ; nnd all the present ,Jharejahs, with a few 
exceptions, who claim still higher birth, derive their 
origin from the other three • • • • the Jharejahs of 
Cutch trace the cu>tom (infanticide) to Jarrah, one of 
the posterity of Oner, abovementioned, from whom they 
det·ive, their nnme, and who first set the example by 
putting to death seven of his daughters some hundred 
years a~o. His d~scendants, it is to be feared, have not 
confined this practice to females only. 

36. The royal family of Cutch have never objected to 
Tl K \l 1 

. . form matrimonial alliances with 
1C l\ \OrO. 1 ln\'MIOh 

of Kachh, nncl their nmtri· Mahommedans, when the match 
monia! C~llll<!dion with the Wa> SUitable or when a political 
royal fam1ly • ' , 

obJect was to be gamed. Rao Gore 
gave one of his female relations in marriage to Meean 

II 305-36 



Shah, who, 
2&2 'll' of ambi· 

. f h h f C 1· :nfiuence Suru fraz Khan, a prmoe o t e ouse o a or~ 
and more lately, Kasser Bhye, the sister of Rao Bt 
was united to the Nawab of Joon'l.ghut·. . • lment 
of the invasions of Cutch were headed bv Ghor:ullee 
Calora in person and two of them by· his sonestic 
Surufraz Khan. The former wished to com the 
Rao to give him his sister in marriage; but afte!lition 
had been entered into, in which this stipulatioJof the 
an article, it was evaded, and Gholam Shah w dgment 
his secend invasion, to content himself with ho emi· 
of the chief of Khanker, whose family st he was 
pretensions to the throne. • • • •. • n and 
Cutch, Gholam Shah left a garrison of 5 yment 
Luckput Bunder, which was t.h!'n a p s the 
He also proceeded to build an embankment \ · · ·-' 
the waters of the Indus from fallin~ intc ~nd 
through the eastern branch of the river whic1ity 
elose to Lucl(put; and by this unjustifiable \e 
converted a fertile plain, w bich yielded from l'ice c~ 
tiun a revenue of eight lacs of eories annually to the B. 
durbar, into a dreary salt-marsh. When Gholam E.)" 
died, his son Surufraz Khan re-called his troops f1 
Luckput, but as before stated, he twice after this entt 
Cutch -il·itb a considerable force, and devashted a great 
part of the country before he quitted it. 

(C) ExTRACTs FROM LIEUT.-COL. OuTRAlr's 
COMMENTARY ON "THE CONQUEST OF SIND." 

37. Nearly a month before the battle of Meeanee 
Liout .• Col. ou tram •, I not only clearly foresaw the 

viewB&bout the conque>t of said events that were to follow 
Sind and biB own defence. but I declared to Sir Charles NapiP; 
my conviction, "that every life wbich mi,bt hereafter 
be lost in con~equence would be ~ murder." 
Admi~·ing him as a gallant soldier, and giving him credit 
for h1s professed anxi~ty to maintain peace, I could not 
di>~uis.e my regret .at his persisting in what I deemed 
UnJustifiable proceedtngs, and my sorrow that his should . 
·be the hands to work rt·sults so disastrous-disastrous, 
I mean, not in a military, but in a political and moral 
sense. • • . . Even had the wretched captives 
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APPEND:r.x II. 

IliOGRAl'HICAL SKETCHES OF A PEW IMPORTANT PERSONS 

MENTIONED IN THE BooK. 

(1) Shekh Bahauddin Zakariyga. • 

He was the son of Shekh AM Muhammad bin Shekh 
Ibrahim bin Shekh Abdullah bin Shekh Shahabuddin bin 
Shekh Z:tkariyya hin Shekh N uruddin bin Shtkh Sirajud­
din bin Shekh Wajduddin bitl Shekh Masud bin Shekh 
Raziuddin bin Kasim bin Jaafar bin Abi Bakr. Thus he 
is descended from Abu Bakr, the first khalif or successor 
of the Prophet .M ubammad. He wns one of the most 
learned and pious men of his time and was a disciple of 
Shekh Shahabuddin Suhrwardi. With the permission of 
his sphitual guide he came to. Multan and became a. 
permanent resident of the place. He was considered to 
be a 8hekh-ul-Islam and a large number of people flocked 
to him and became his disciples. He is well-known for 
several pious and religious deeds and superhuman habits. 
He died in 360 A.H. (970 A.D.) and was buried in the 
fort of Multan and his tomb is ~till visited annually by 
p!!ople from Sind and the Punjab. 

Shekh Bahauddin Zakaryya was succeeded by his son 
Shekh S!!druddfn, who continued as a spiritual guide in 
his fntlwr's place for 18 years. He was succeeded by his 
&on Shckh Ruknuddin, who oceupied his father's place 
for 52 y<'ars anrl tlwn on his death was succeeded by his 
son Shekh Ismail, who was ldlled and was succeeded hy 
his son Sadruddin II. 'l'he latter, too, was murdered after 
acting as Shekh-ul·Ishim of :Multan, and was succeeded 
by his son Ruknuddin II, who again was succeeded by his 
son Shekh Yusuf. In 847 A.H. (14-13 A.D.) ShekhYl\.suf 
was elected as a ruler of Mult::m, but after 2 years be was 
killed, being succeeded by Sbekh Shahrullah, who again 
was succeeded by his son Shekh Ilahauddin. Several; 
descendants of tb'is family migrated to different parts of. 
Sind and became permanent 1·esidents of those places• 

' From the Tuhfatullr:ir8m. 
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(2) Kalandar Ldl Slt" hbdz. • 

His name was Shekh Usllian ~Iarwa~di. He is ?ne o,~ 
th~ four contemporary saints calkd ", Tl~e Fo~r ~rteuds, 
the other three being Shek h Rah:iuddw Zakar1yya, Makh. 
dum Jahaniun (Snyyed .Tal:ll Bukh:iri), and tlhekh l!'add 
Shakarganj. ln 662 A.H. (1263 A.D.), when he came to 
'.Multan, Sultan 1\luharnmad the son of Suhan Ghayasud· 
din the Emperor of L>eh li, who was vet·y fond of poets 
and pious men, med to visit him very much. Shekh 
Babauddin and Shekh }'arid as well as the celebrated poets 
Amir Khushr6 and Amir Has{m of Dehli, pressed him to 
become a permanent resident of the place, but he did not 
c'>mply with their request and went to Shah Shams BU. 
Ali Kalandar. '!'his saint tol<l him that there hnJ. been 
already some three hundred Kalandars in .Elindustan, that 
there was no place for him th~rP and that he had b~tter 
go to Sind. Following this hint Shekh U smim M:mvandi 
came to Siwistim (Sthwim) and determinrd to settle there. 
'l'he piece of ground which he occupied and where his 
tomb now stands was the residing place of public wnmen. 
It is said that during the very first night of the Shekh's 
stay at the place the men who had come to visit the 
women could not perpetrate the immoml deeds for which 
they had come. Early in the mornin~ they came to the 
Shekh and repented for their past life and promi~ed to 
lead a moral life for the future. As he was a man of 
great learning and piety he soon became well-known 
throughout Sind a11d neighbouring rountries. He lived a 
single and austere life and died in 6i3 A.H. (1:!74 A.D.) 
and was buried there. An annual fait· is held at Sehwim 
which continues for 2 or 3 days, and is visited by a larg; 
number of people. 

(3) Malchd1~m Nuh. • 

He was the son of Niamatullah and is a descendant of 
AM Bakr Siddik, the first khallf or successor of the 
Prophet and hence he is called Siddiki. It is said that at 
the age of se~en he he~rd the cry for prayer and repeated 
tbe Kalmah ~n reply. At the age of fourteen he is said 
to have acqUired a vast amount of spil'itual knowledge 
communicated to him spiritually by Ali, the fourth khalif: 

• lfrom tho '£uhfatulkirilm. 
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He visited Tutta, where his knowledge nbout the inter· 
prctution of the Koran was tested by many learnecl men o( 
the place and all w·erc surprised with his. erudit.ion. He 
.di~don Thursday the 7th of Zikaad 992 A.H. (1584 A.D.). 
He is buried in the town ofHalah. His place was occupied 
by his elde~t ~on Makhdum Julal, who was again succeeded 
by his son Muhammad Zaman. 

(4) 8ayt'ed Abdul Karlm (alias 8h&lt Kar{m.•) 

He was one or the Sayyeds of Muta-allawi (Mntiari.) and 
was the son of Sayyed Lallab. and was born in 94.4 A .H. 
(1537 A. D.) He l~d a very austere li!e from his early child· 
hood. It is said that early in the morning he used to go to 
t.he mosque, c:\ll the people to prayPr nnd remain there 
engtged in rt'peati ng religious formulas, till the morning 
prayer was 0\'ei'. '!'hen he came home, cooked his food and 
fed his guests nnd disci pJeq, Then carrying a plough on his 
head and taking a pair nf bullocks he went to work in his 
fif~ld. H(~ returned in the afternoon and said the afternoon 
and evening prarers, ancl completing the domestic affairs of 

·.the day anc! feeding his fakirs, he started in the direction 
nf Hah6t nnd from there ho came to 'l'atta. In the way 
ue vi~ited Pach and every mosque, filled the jars with 
water and did other necessary service. Swimming across.'. 
the dver of Sawni he visited all the tombs on the Makli .~ 
Hill and mo~ques of Tatta and then he came to Pir 
Pat.ha. Thence he travelled back visiting- mosques and 
shrines in the way, arriving at his own village just at the 
time of ':1e call for morning prayer. This was his daily 
habit ',~many year<. He was a great friend of Hayyed 
Mul• .tin mad Yusuf Razawi of Bakhar, Makhdum A' dam 
Sankjah or Kaleh and Makhdum Nuh of Halab. lie 
acquirf•d much spiritual knowledge from the latter and 
with his advice he beonme a permanent resident of Bulri. 
He died in 1030 A.H. (1620 A.D). He had eight sons, 
1. Sayyed Lallah who died in childhood. 2. Sayyed 

. Abdur Rahim who was as pious as his father, but died in 
'the lattPr's life.time. Sayyed Jalal, named after his 

uncle, who was a celebrated saint. He was murdered one 
night by thieves, while he was coming home from Halah, in 
his rathel"s life. time. 4. Sayyed Burh:in, who too died 
~n his father's life-time. 5. Sayyed Lnllah the second, 

• Fro1r the Tnhfatulkh:am. See the genealogiCIII tree in Appendi1lll 

• 305-37 
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who survived his father's death and spent much time in 
tra veiling. 6. ~ayyed Din Muhammad, who led a rc­
tirrd life and ultinwtdy became his father's sucuessor. 
7. Sayved Muhammad H.us:dn, who under his father'ij 
orders served his Fakirs. 8. S:tyyed Abdul Ktulthis, 
who died in childhood in his father's lire-time. On his 
death-bed Sayyed Abdul Karim appointed his son Snyycd 
Din Muhammad as his successor, 1'he latter was 
succeeded by his son Sayyed Abduddalil, who a~pin was 
succeeded bv his son Sayl'ed Abdul Ghani. 'l'he next 
~ucoessors ~ere the latte~·'s son Sayyed Abdul ~Vasia, 
then his son Say~ed Muhammacl Z:tm:in, then Ins son 
Saryed Mukim, then his brother Muhammad Zaman's son 
Sayyed Abdul Wasia. 

(5) Shah .tl.bdullalif l3hita£.• 
' 

Shah Abdnllatif was horn at Bhaipur in the tulukah of 
Rahih in 1102 A.R. (lG89 A.D.). His ancestors Sayyed 
liir Ali had come from E.irat to llindusll'in in 1398 A. D., 
wht>n Amir Taimut· hnd invaded that countrv. His son 
Haidarshah came to Sind in or.ler to visit !{is brothers, 
who had been nppo:nted as Governors of different prov in· 
ces of Hind ustan. Coming to Halah he married a daughter" 
of ~bah Muhammad son of Darya Khan Hal:ih. After 
about a year and a half, Sayyed Haidar got 1.he Fad news 
of !tis father's death and went to Hir:it., leaYing his wife at 
Halah, where she gave birth to a son who was called Mfr 
Ali. After &.bout 3 years Sayyed IIaitl:mhah dit·d at 
Hinit. Sayyed Mfr Alf married and !tOt two S)ns Sayyed 
Sharfuddin, whose descendants are calied Sharnfp6tahs and 
Sayyed Ahmad, whose descendants are called Miranp6tahs. 
'L'hey lived at Muta-nllawi (Matiari). 10ne of the celebrated 
descendauts of thc•se Sayyeds was Sayyed Abdul Karim 
of Bulri. Shah Abdullntif was the son of Rnbib Shah 
who was the son of Abdul Kuddus Shah, who was th~ 
son of Jamal Shah, who was the son of Shah Abdul 
1\al'im. Shah Ahdullatil's mother was a descendant of 
Mnkhdum Arabi Dayanah, who was a t:lelebrated saint. 
Sluih Abdullatif got vet•y little rducation in chlldbood 
but being of l'etire<l habits and fon<l of travelling h~ 
acquired a vast amount of spiritual knowledge. 

• Abridged from Shah Abdullatif'• life published by tho writer See 
the genealogical tree iu .Appendix 11. ' ' 
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Shah Ahdullatff married a daughter of Mughul Bt'g 
:Aiirz:\ and hall a son, who died in iufancy. 'l'he austere 
life which Shah Bhititf led brought him n large number of 
mmitls. 'l'his made the Maklidum of Hal!ih, a descendant 
of :Makhdum J\uh and the Sayycds of Muta-alluwi, 
jealous of him. He was ther~fore obliged to remove from 
.M uta-allawi to Bhaipur, and thence to Kotri nea1· Halah, 
Mian Nur Muhammacl Kalb6rah, the ruler of Sind, whose 
capital city was then at Khuda-abad was not on good 
terms with him, but afterwards he booa1ue his mzwtd. 

In 1144 A.H. (1731 A.D.) Shah Abdullatff's father 
died. Soon after, he removecl to a sand-hill, where he 
settled himself with his mUl·ids. 'l'his was called Bhit, 
11he1·e he died in 1165 A.H. (1752 A.D.) on t.he 14th of 
Sulfar. His ~brine is visited by people from all the parts 
of Sind. Shah Abdullatif is the autb.or of Shah-jo-RisaJ6, 
which wo1·k shows clearly that lie was a g1·eat poet as well 
as a great saint. 

Slu\.h Uhitai was succ~eded on his gadi by his nephew 
Jamal Shah, who then lived at Wangah Walasah. He 
died in 120.1. A.D. (1789 A.D.). 

(G) JJ(wau Gidumal. • 

Dlwan Gidumal was tho son i>f Belomal, third descend· 
ant of Adiomal Sh!ihwani, who first came to Sind, 
Adiomal was un original resident of Sftpur or Hajipur, 
and a Khaki (l\1anchund) by caste. He came to Sukkur 
and entfred the service of Milin A' dam Shalt Kalh6rah. 
Subsequently he removed to Shikarpur, where he married 
the daughtt>r of a wealthy merchant (sowc11r) of the 
place, by whom he had two sons. From these two sons 
a long line of descendants issued, many of whom are still 
living at llyderabad. Diwan Gidumal himself had no 
issue, but the descendants of his brothers are called 
Gidwanis after him. He entered the service of the 
Kalh6:mhs as a Di wan and rose to be an influential 
courtier and counsel of the State, When the Talpurs 
succeeded the Kalh6rahs, Diwan Gidumal. secured their 
confidence too and greatly assisted Mil' Fateh Ali Khnn 
in becoming an independent ruler of Sind by going as an 
Envoy to the court of the Emperors of Dehli, but he 

• See the gencnlogical tree in Appendix IlL 
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excited some sus]Jicion in the mind of his brother Mit• 
Ghulam AU Khan, and under his orders he was su~denly 
assaulted by a number of men armed with clubs and 
killed. Gidu Bandar or Gidu-j6-1'a.nd6 and Gidwani 
Street are still called after him. • 

(7) saott ..tl.li Shal1.t 

He l'fas born in 1153 A.H. (1740 .A.D.) at Multim. 
He wa~ •he son of Madar Ali Shah, grandson of 1'\ ur 
Muhammad Sluih (alias 8abUt Shah) and great grandson 
of Sayyed l'sa, When Nawah Aazam Khan was coming 
to Sind as Subahdar and passed through Mullan, Sabit Ali 
Shah entered his service and came to Sind. When the 
Nn.wab retired and went back to his native place, Slibit 
Ali Sluih came to Selnv{m, where he found tile spiritual 
guide of his family living in the vicinity of Lal Shah. 
baz's shrine. Thus he became a permtnent resident of 
Sehwan and was soon joined by his fathet• :Madar Ali 
Shah and his brother l'arial Shah, and other relations. 
He got a preliminary education and early showed signs of 
an original genius as a poet. He made great advancement 
in Arabic and Persian literature and commenced writing 
marcias or elegies describing the martyrdom of the 
Prophet's ~randson Imam Husain and his party, aml 
singing praises of AJi, the fourth kbalif of the Prophet. 

He used to receive allowances and pensions from the 
Kalhorah rulers and after them from their successors the 
1\\lpurs. Mir Karam Ali Khan was verv kind to him. 
and under his patronage he enjoyed great ;e~ptct and was 
safe from the enmity of the Sunni Mullis. He travelled 
about to other countries, visiting Karbala and the shrines 
of all the Imams, and was therl'fore called Karbalai or 
Zawwar. He died on 27th Jamadessa1,i 1325 A.li. 
(1810 A.D.) and was buried in the grave.yard of 8ehwim. 
He has written many books, all in poetry. In one of 
these he has given his autobio§raphy. Si1hit Ali Shah 
had two sons !md~ Ali Shah and Ihsim Ali Shah. · 'lhe 
former had a son whose name is Sabit Ali Shah, who is 
stilllivin~ in the vicinity of the Mir's tombs at Haidar· 
abid and gets a pension from the British Government. 
He has two sons Parial Shah and Imdad All Shah. 
-- ---- ··-------

• See the genealogical tree in Appendix III. 
t Taken !rom the Life of Sabit AJI Shah, publia!Jcd by the writer, 
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(8) .tl.'gh&s lbraMmshdh and Ismatlekah. 

~'.gh~ (or ~fr) Ibrahlmsh:\.h's f ther Sayyed Abdul 
Had1shah, a res1dent of Ispl11in, the capital of J:'ersia left 
that country at the time of ~adirsh&h's inrasio~ and 
camll to Madras in India in 1150 A.H. (1737 A D.). He 
was employ~d as State Physici~u by the ltajah of that 
place. At the request of .Mhm Nut· Muh· mrnad Kalh6rah, 
the then ruler of ::lind, who was on friendlY terms with the 
Rajuh, the latter sent SayyPd Abd•1l li:\disbah to the 
Mian, ''ho reet'iVl'd him and entertain~d him with great 
resp~ct. Soon the R.nja~ of Madr •. s died and the Sayyed 
was mduced to stay m Smd and ~cc~pt tLe high po~ts of 
State Physician and Courtier jointly. After N~r :1\luhhm­
mad's death and in the rei;::n of .\I ian Sarafraz, Sayyrd .\I dul 
m.dishah wail joined by his SOli Mir lbrahim>bah, 
22 years after the former had left him in his natiYe place. 
M ir Ilmihimshah succee(l<-d his father on his death in 
1193 A.H. {1779 A.D.) and coutiuucd e.ujoying the 
rc~pect and confidPnce of the Kallt6rah rulers. VPry often 
be vi~ited tlw court of the king of Khurasan ot· Kabul as an 
envoy on behalf of the Kalh6rahs. When the Talpurs 
became the 1·u!ers of Sind, A'ghit. (Mir} lbrahitu~hith 
enjoyed the same respect und~r them, ancl he assistPd Mir 
~'ateh Ali Khlin a great deal as an ~nvoy in SfCUl ing tl.e 
rulmhip of Sind. His eldest son Arglui lsmaibhah 
1emained as a hostng11 at the court of Kabul for 12 ~·ears 
on behalf of the l\lirs. A'glta lbr.ihim~hah l~ad 8 sons, 
four of whom held the governorsl.ip of Shikarpur, viz., 
Zainulabdin Sh!t.h for 2 years (he was aho the !\awab of 
Karachi for 6 years) ; T:ikl Shah for 30 years; Ibrahim 
Shall for 4 years; and Kazim Shiih for 13 yfars. 'J he 
lattet• was killed in the battle between the 'fl!lpurs and 
the Afghans at ~hikarpur. . 

The A' gluis lired in a Tnnd6 of U1eirs on the Ph' lt>li 
near Haidarabad, and it ill known as A' gha Iswallshah's 
Tand6. Their descendants still live there.' 

{9) Mi1·za KhumS Beg.t 

Mirza Khusr6 Beg was born in 1790 A.D. at THiis, the 
capitnl city of Georgia, which province was annexed to 

• See their genenlogicnl tree in A ppendi:x ni. 
t Abridged from the biographical sketch with K. B. :Mirza Xalb Ali Beg. 



2941 

the Russian Empire in 1797, on the murder of Muham· 
mad Shah, the King of rersin, after a war that lasted for 
about five years. .Mirza Khusr6 Beg's fathel' Alkandar 
Khan was killed in this war, and he 'himself, then a boy 
of 7 years, was captured, nl,ng with his elder brotht>r, 
bv some Persian tr,1opers and tal1e!l to the Persian camp, 
where his elder brother died a[ICI' three UOVS from a 
severe attack of fem. Jraji ~!uhammad Ibuiitim Khan, 
the Commander-in-Chief of the Persian army, happening 
to see the sorrowing boy among the capt.iv~s, and l~arning 
the cause of !tis sorrow, felt so much for him that he 
brought him to his house and began to treat him kindly 
and to bring him up like one of his own children. In 
this way i\lirzil. Khusro Beg spent some years at 'l'elnfm, 
and then, r n the cle:tt.h of his master, he came, with some 
of his relations, to Shil·az, where he got some education in 
a school. Unfortunately his nc11' master wos imprisoned 
on some suspicio ,, under the orders of -King Pnteh Ali 
Shah, the successor of 1\:l<.lhammaci Shah, and Mirza 
Khusr6 BPg was left wi: bout proprr pi'O!t-ction. About 
the same time Mulla !.Iuhnrnmad. Isu1ail, an t•nvov of the 
Amirs of Sincl, coming to Shiraz, .\lim\ Khusr6 HP.g wns 
entrusted to him, and he bro~ught the young Mirza to 
Haidarahad (Sind) in 1805, when he was only 15 years old. 
Mir Karam All Khan, the then ruh•r of bind, took him 
under his patronag(', nnd as he had no issue, he treated the 
ynung ~lirza as an adopted son. Mirza Khusr6 Beg \oon 
rose to be a confidential and influ~ntial courtit•r, and tho 
keeper of the royal se:d, like a prime minister. He con­
tinued in this positi•lll till the death of Mir Karam Ali 
Khan in 1827, after which he retired from P'llitical life 
and state SPrvice. j'{[r 1\lur<l.rl Ali Khan, the succt•ssor of 
Mir Karam Ali Khan, as well as the succcodin<> .Mirs, 
trPated the Mirza with marked respect., and in the 

0
da1s of 

the latter he was occasionall,v deputed as an ambas~ndor 
to treat with the British officers. Alter the battle of 
Miani the :Mirza was taken prisoner along with the Mirs, 
but subsequently the latter were taken away to Bombay, 
and the Mirza was left behind to look after tho harems of 
the Mirs, especially those of the late Mir Karam Ali 
Khan. At first Mirza Khusr6 Beg lived in the fort of 
Haidarabad, like the Mirs. Later on he wanted to settle 
outside near the tomb of his late master, Mlr Karam Ali 
Khan, but he was induced to leave off the idea and the 
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walkcl en~l?snro was su bsrqurntly utilised as &rular jail 
by. tl~e lkltJsh Gove~nment. After the British conquest 
!l!rza Khusr6 Beg "llh the hat·ems of the :\Hrs removed 
from the Fort to 'l'anclo Saiuclad, oppo~ite Tando Mubam• 
mad Kltan on the Guni, whPrc ~hartly nftet• a dr~adl'ul 
~l'e broke out accidentnlly destroying· valuable property. 
lhcn they removed to 'l'and6 Mahmttd on the Phuleli and 
then, after about fom· y~ars, to 'l'and6 'l'h6r6, about 2 miles 
from ~aidarab6.d, where he continued to live up to his 
death In 1860 at the nge of 70.• He was buried in the 
vicinity of th~ tombs oft he l\Iirs. He was a noble-minded; 
generous-hearted, truth-loving and well educated noble­
man, keeping up his self-respect and honour, even ufter 
the British conquest. During his las& lingering illness 
he 11 as constantly visited by Sir Bartle :Frere, the then 
Commissioael' in s;nd, Major Goldsmid. Colonel Lambert, 
Colonel 'l'yrwhitt and othe,. EuropPan offieers. He never 
entered Govt·rnment service after his ma~ter Mir Karam 
Ali Khan's d(•ath and would not receiYe any jdgir even, 
A small jagtr was su\,scqucntly given to his ~ldest s"n, 
then 7 years old, by H. lL Mir Nur Muhammad Khan, 
for his pocktt money. Mirza Khusr6 Beg had four 
son~, the eldest being Mirza Ali Muhammad Beg", who, 
in 1859, entered Government service, bein!l appointed an 
Extra Assistant Collector. He .got the titltJ of "Kluin 
Ba111idur" as a mark of distinction. Be died on 22nd 
J nnuarv 1E87 at the age of 5:i, aftt•r a bright career of 
28 y('nrs service. His sun :Mirza Kalbali Beg is still in 
Government set·vice, being a first grade Mukhtiarkar.t 

(10) Mirza Muhammad Bakar. 

Mirza Muhammad Ba.kar was a Georgian by birth, 
havin"' been born at Tiflis. In the war that ensued between 
Persi: and Russia, like so many other Georgians, Mirza 
:Muhammad Bakar and hi~ brother were taken prisoners, 
after their father had first killed wit.h his own hands the 
female members of his family and then was killed himself 
ftghtin" sword in hand. Soon the two brothers were 
separated by their captors and Mirza Muhammad Bakar 
was brought to Shiraz where he got some education. 

• His descendants atilllive there. 

t See the geuenlogical tree in Apeudi1 UI. 
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Ahout the &'lnie time some of the envoys of Mir. Murad ~H 
Khan, coming to PPr~ia, they managed to get Ius possess10n 
and brou"'ht him to Sind when he was about 15 years old, 
He was 

0 
greatly consoled to· see his countryman Mirza 

Khusr6 B~·g already in ::lind, particularly when the lat.ter 
:1ssured him that he was the brother he had. lost (or hke 
him) and for whom he was still sorrowmg. He soon 
rose ~nder the patronage of Mir .Murad Ali KMn to be 
a favourite courtier. He died on 28th Sbawwal 1273 
A.H. (1856 A.D.) at the a~e of. 55. He )pft. five _son~, 
Mirza Band Alf Beg, Mirza Mulnh Ali Beg, Mtrza Nawaz 
Ali Be"", Mirza SherAli Beg nn1l Mirza Lutif Ali BPg. 'l'ho 
eldest, "Mirza Baud Ali Beg, died in 1869 at the age of 48. • 

(11) Mwza Fredun Beg.t · 

:IIIirza Fredun Beg (whose original name was S,rdney, 
for he belon!l'ed to a Christian family) w:1s born in 
1!<14. A.D. at Sak:J.z, nrar Tillis, the capital of Georgia. 
When Nadir Shah's successor Muhammrtd Kli(m invaded 
Georl!ia, Mirza Fredun B1-g'~ father with his baud of 
frontier tribe~men fought on the side of Hera<•lpus, the 
ruler of Georgia. In the bloody battle of 'l'iflis, Hmclens 
was defeated and about 15,000 persons were capturrd and 
brought to Persia. Mirza l!'redun Beg's father with his 
wife and two sons, John and Sydney, were among the 
captives. Soon aft r, a Hmsian army coming to Georgia 
to help Heraclens' son Gur~in Khan, :Vluhammad Kb:in 
again invaded Georgia, and deft>ated the Russians and 
Georgians at the battle of U rus. During this latter 
confusion, Mirza l!redun Beg's fathrr, with his eldest son 
John, managed to escape and join Gnrgfn Khan and they 
were killed in the battle. .1:1 is wife fearing disgrace, 
conspquent on her husband's treacherous escape, committed 
suicide by poison, leaving behind her younger son Svduey, 
named Fredun Beg by the Persians, who was hardly 10 
years old then, An influential Sayyed of Tabrfz named 
Murtnm Shah took the boy under hi~ protection and 
brought him to Tabriz, and then to Isphan, where h~ learnt 
the Koran and some Persian books. About this time one 

• See the genealogical tree in Appendix III. 

~ Abridged from the biographical eketoh given in the writer's family 
egl6ter. 
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of H. H. Mir Karam Ali Khan's ambassadors coming to 
the court of Fat~h Ali Shah, the Shah of Persia, and 
happening to see the boy and like him, took him away for 
the ~lir, who was very fond of Georgian boys, having 
already adopted Mirza Khusr6 Beg as his son, who too bad 
come to Sind from Georgia under similar circumstances. 
:Mirza Fredun Beg lived with Mirza Khusr6 Beg, who 
married him to one of his own daul\'hters and thencefortlt 
they lived together as members of the same family. Mirza 
Fredun Beg died on 21st January 1871, leaving seven 
sons and two daughters. The writer is his third son.• 

• See the genealogical tree in Appendix UI . 
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APPENDIX III. 

GENEALOGICAL TREES OF A. FEW IMPORTANT l'RRSONS MENTIONED IN TBE JIOOlt. 

(1) GetJealogical tt•ee f!! the tribe of Samma!Ja. 
SAM.• 

~---------------.~-------------,~~-------------------1 
~udba Saug., Hama.hr. Bhngra.t. 

(Hia dea~ndants lx!ing Budha, Sorah. I t 
St.hta.h, .Akhol, Aotar, Amrah, Ba.zir, TudMVt. Derah. 
aa4 othen, iu alll6 called ltathor ), 1 

J.i·rr· 
Dasrat. 

I I 
(By hi& wife Knsela) (Dy Kolioh} 

I I 
I I Bart. 

Ram, La.khman. I 
I Lakhm&n. 

(By Samiah) 
I 

Cb,ttrkBn 
(Hi."' deacendants ~ 

called Chann·a). 
Nawakns. I I .--------r,-------.--------1 

Atat, Parbat'. Ja.n&P•· Korejah. Nahab.. 
I 

Tatat. 
' ' Nargan&t. 
I 

Kin. 
I 

l!onbut Raja (A) 

•Nou.-Sam is u.id l::y some to be son of Noah; by others a der;c.ndan\ of Jamshed;. by otheraaon of Uma.r wd. Huham W. Abi Laha.h; and by u-.b.en 10n cf 
· Umu ..d . .A.kromah ..d. Abi J ahl. 



Hir.pat 
{&Dee&tor of the Sammaha of Sind). 

z.Ju.n. 
I 

Nayyit. 
I 

&no Tiara. 
I 

Odhar. 
I 

Udhah. 
I 

Lakhiar. 
I 

Lakh&h. 
I 

I 
S.m. 

I 
J:adam. 

I 

J&khrab. 

(A) Sanbut Raja. 

. I 
Bnrkarrah 

(alia. Shah). 

I 

I 
I 

Hunrut 
(ali .. Dakhan). 

I 
.. Mawah. 

I I 
Kajp11t 

(ancestor of Chaghdahs), 
Bahupat 

(ancestor of Bh~ttia). 
Jo:ra S..mm&h 

(ance•Wr of lta.i Dir.j of Kan:.alor 
Girnar-, lhe husl.mud of &ratb). 

I 
(By hia wife Buthi Charoh). 

I . 
I I 

Udhah 
(oettled at Oudb). 

I 
Mnhar. and 2 othere. 

I 
Satinh. 

I 
Uuor 

I 
Wo.ditar 
Pathari. 

I 
I 

Wa.rhn. 

I 
ChhuthLh 

I 
Sand. 

Laklah. 
(who had 3 sona-Babrah1 

Da.uknah and Kalab). 
I 

Sammah. 
I 

I 
Kakab. 

(Ruler of Kak o.r Kabh}. 

I 
(By 1mother wife}. 

I 
Phul Lakba.h I 

kanahiail. 
(who had a eou Kalani), 

~------------~--------. 
P&lli JWdan (B) 

(whott chief dncendnt. were lt:a.uak Sammah.)~ 



(B) &idon, 

I ·~------------,l------------,l--------2-----,,--------------,l,------------1. 
S:~.mmnh Not.inr' Lnkhnh Ahrah Nahiyah, :'\fnno.hio.h aud PaUl, 

{ancestor uf Sa.mej.oJu), {aueestur of Nut). vt.uccat.ur of LanJo.ra), (~nco~tt.or of l.)bul Nahillha), Kurjn.h I 
(ancellton~ of :i\lnndrahs). 

,-------'>, 

I 
Kaknb 

(•nceAtm· of KuJ.:ejah­
potah$). 

I 
Hnlah 

(ancaator of lhJahl). 

I 
Jnrnh 

(ance3tO.l' o( Jan:-ja.hs), 

I 

I 
'1\"irah. 

Hingornh 
(an~stor of the re,:hl~nts of 

l>hurUili Hiugt.~rah}. 

I 
Jnnl"-jab Hingornh 

(anceMtor of Hiugorjnhs, 
Udhejnhs, Juk!<illht~ n.ud 

lJhovLa.s). 

I 
Snhnr. 

(ancestor of Sahor So.mmn.hs). 

I 
Ssnd 

(anc:etlor of Hnhuja.h, Lnkilatiah 
aud JakhrabJ. 

I 
Dernb 

Saud. Udh.ah 

I 
(tmce~tor o! Bahri&Ls. 

Udhcjahs nntl Kadria.Q. .. 
(JOta.bs). 

I b. Jam Hot 1. 
(o.ncutor of lJemh Sammo.ba 

of Kw::hh), I 
I 

('belarinh 
(aocebtor of .NahdAhs}. 

I 
Sumrah. 

I 

I 
Jam Junah. 

I 
Kar Hahu, 

I 
I 

Lakhnb Jam. 
I 

Kn.hab. 
I 

l.oklmh (C) 

I 
Jam r•par. 

I 
B(\hujAh. 

I 
Kahah. 

... 
8 



I 
l"a.tn. Junah 
(ancestor o( 

the Sa:mm11.hs, 
rulen of Sind). 

I 
llablru.b 

I 
Unar 

(TU\er of 
Babr!ah). 

(&DCe&tor of tho rulers of 
Sind}. 

I 
I . 

Jam Junah. 
I 

Jam Unl\r. 
l' 

I 
Ko'\hab 

(ancestor of 
Sodial-i 8•m· 

maha~. 

I. 
Ba.li>J. 

I . 
Jsm T:\tnaehl. Babiuab. 

I 
Jam Kbniruddin. 

I 

Jam T!machi. Jtm &bina.h. 

I 
Pa.Ui 

{ancentor oi 
I'hul :::iammab&). 

I 
Abr.oh. 

I 

(C) Lalloh. 

I 
' I 
J....­

(1\DCC~Jtol'uf 

Bhtlyah Paria) •• 

I 
Aba~h 

(AllCC8tM of 
.Abrej•h•l· 

Ottu.h 
(ancestor of 
SahabOthah 
and Sekhu.t. 
Samroah&) .. I 

.ti....WO.h. 

Koo!.w.. ,,------i-----.~---.-----. 
Kahah. 

1·-.-------.--------~--------,--------.------~ 
Ja.m Sal~huddfu. Jom Ali Sber. .Jam sh...n,lor. Jam IK•n. Baha!<lwn. 

J I 
l 

~·• Ni.amuddin. Jam. ~nar. 
Jam .J.awoah. 

' Jam Nizamuddin 
(<llw Jam Nindah). 

I 
~am Fero•. 

I 
J'a,tn Taghlak. 

I 
Jam Si.kandar. 

I 
Jam .Fateh Kbaa. 
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· (2) Ge11 ealogical tree of the .Albdsis Ol' Kalh61'ahl. 

l!i&n Odhanah. .. 
"' !} 
:;· .. 

11 
Th&l. 

I 
Bhil. 

I 
Jam Chinah. 

I 
Muhammad, 

I 
Ibrahim. 

I 
Sh•h ~lnb•mmad 
(alia~ Sbaham). 

I 
Ranah. 

I 
Tabar. 

I 
Khan. 

I 
Snbub. 

I. 
KaJan. 

I 
Adam Shr.h, 

I 
lJaud. 

I 
llias. 

sJ.Ali 
(alia.! Sbahal 
Muhammad) . 

. I 
bhan N .. ir 
Muhammad. 

r-------1'.-------, 
Yar Mnhammad Mir MnJommaa, Din Muhammad. 

(Khndayor Khan.) 
I 
I I 

Nnr Yuhamm•diNawab Kh•dayar 
Khan, Shah Nawaz Khan and 

Shah Knli ,Khan.) 

Daud Khan, 

I 
)!uradyab 

Khan. 

I 
Khudadad 

Khan. 

I 
Ghulam 
Shah. 

I 
I 

Muhammad 
Sarafr&z 
Khan, 

I 

I 
Atur 

Khan.' 

I 
Mohmud 

Khan. 

I . I 
Atur Khan. :r.tir Muhammad, 

I 
Muhammad 

Khan. 

Ghnlam 
Nabi Khan. 

J 
Abdon Nr.hl. 



(3) Genealogical tree of the Talp1tra (Mtr&). 

ShAbo KhAn. 

I 
Iato Khan (<~lim~ Sulcman Kbt.n.) 

I 
Hota.tKbn.. 

I 
.&ll Khan. (I) I I 

Manik Khan. Jlwrm Khan.. 

IUrSb~dad M!r SbnbU:. 

,,--------,1,_-LI ____ ,I ________ I 
Mir A)ab:far Thnro Cbhuto Snindad 

Kh.lo. (2) Khun. Khzm. Khan. Khan. 

llir irarm 

1 

.lad1 Khan Rajo khan, 
1
'-----------,, 

Kba11. 
I 

•tr·'Alt 
lllu&4 • 

.!,.,. 
Khan. (3) 

I 
Kanb&l' 

KhAn. KJ
1
mn. (4) (o) 

lHr Fn.t~h 
Khan. 

)ljr: 1,-,-b,.,.---.. -.1-.-..,-->I-1-r lhmad Manik:l Klan. 

Khan. K~an. Khan. ( 45) 

M!r ~bulnm Mij AU 11t1r r Chn~r. 
naidar. (1) Mur· Ghutamuuab. Ali Krn· 

~------~j-------1 ll•llkMuhamma<l. 

H~!:!~!~~ Jd~~t:!~. J~~!t~~:il. ' 
Khan., G-.C.S.I. I All Khan. 

Xtr
1
Fateh 

KhAn, 

lllr
1
A1t ............. 

I lUrAliMund. 

Mlr
1
tmam Jd1! Nabl 

Daksh. Baklb.. 

Ml:r ctulUD. J,, 
Bbah. JanMuh.amma4,. 

I 
I 

Muhammad 
All. 

I 
Bobdar 
Khan. 

I 
SultAn. 

1 
Alahbakh•h. 

I 
Itfnhammad 

Hnsan. 

I 
"""• ltuham!DM. 

&afar !Khan. 
I 

G!lhram 
Iltau. 
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(li :11\r All ~b••· 

I 
I I 

l!ubortk Khan. Daria Khan. 

I 
I I I 

)bbu~lo. · Alu.dllo Tll)o. 

I 
I I I 

Gbt1b.m llir Mehrali. Gbul1m ~lull. 
)Juba.unn~d. I 

I I I 
Ghnlnm Aludo. lluhnmma4 
Shnb. Ali. 

I 
Jdir ltublrtl.k, 

I 
AIIIJ&k•h. 

I I I I 
M'lrJam. Sultan !\aim Dudho Khan. 

I All. Khan. 

I Muhammad 
Khan. 

I I I 
Wall JAn Muh!ltn• gh,l' 

lloba.mmad. mAd. Mulam111a.d. 

I 
AhmAd Kbao, 

l i 
Sbab .Ill. 

I 
All Kbau. 

I 
Babanl. 

I 
J.lllluhamm:td. 

I 
Haidar AU. 

I 
I 

Alunod Khan. 

I 
I 

All l!ardlo. 
I 

Dabawal. 

Gbulam ll&War. 

I 
I 

GbuJ&m UU.b, 
I 

AIU!ortd. 

I 
Jaul!ub.lmmad. I 

Wall l!uiammad, 



• 
>H• Ja~ S!ndo M!< c/,.,,. 

Xbau. (t!i) Khnu. 

-----.--------.-----.----t 
I l l I I 

Jl'lr Suhrab llir Ghul:tm !lflr Ali Jdl:r 7.:mgi Mir 
K.Un, (10) ldubamm&d. Khan. Khan. Suhmuw. 

I 

I 
Mir .\bdui1Ah 

Khan. 

I 

I 
:lllrM11rld 

Ilo.itlar. 

I 

(2) Mir Sb~~ohdad Khan • 

I 
ltir llija.r 

Khan. 

I 

I 
llir Bnltram 

Khan. 
I 

I I 
:Mir Snbdu Mir Yah mud 

Khan. Kh=. (U) 

'--------.----.----T I I I I 
Mlr Fntch Ali Mlr Gbulam 'lHr l<nmm Mfr!tfnra4 

Khan. Ali Khan. Ali Khan. .Ali Khan. 

Mtr Lwu Mir MiT- !lnhmlmad I 
I I Mlr Shah 

Nawuz. Kban. 
lfir Ghulam 

llu~oah>. 
~ir 

BAhram. 
lHr Fateh 

All. 

Ki.. Kr I 
Ml.r :Muhnmm&d 

All. 

I 
lflr 

.Lbdull~h. 

I 
I 

.loUr Bijar 
Khan. 

I 
' Mir Gbnlam 

Husatu. 

I 
I 
!lir 
Blju. 

I 
MirGllulam 

llullll-mm!W Kban.c 

I 
.llir Ghulam 

Shoh. 

I 
I 

llir Fn:Jl 
All 

I 
ld:t.rSbnbdnd. 

Khan. 

I 
MlrNur' 

Muhammad KhAn. 

I 
I 

Mlr :Muhammad 
Uusdn Ali KhAn. 

I 
Uajl3Jir Ntn· 

llubmmad Khan • 

I 
Mtr lfahamma.d 

NnGir Khan. 

I 
Mir' Mnbnmmad 

Kbnn. I _____ _ 
111ir !llubl\mml\d iU'r lbbu 
Hasan Ali Khan. AU Khan. 

I 
lHr Abdul 

Hu.6Ain Kha11.. 
I 

I 

J,, 
Huhannad Khan. 

. I 
llir Abm.& 

llnaaiu. 



I 
Hamt:oKha'll. 

I 
FutAU. 

I 
Feroz 

(or Budho). 

(4) Zdo Kban. 

I 
Fa.tt~b 
Khan. 

l[anl Khan. 

llnJu;mmad AU. 

ltlr Blo Khla. 

(3) 

I I 

Ghn1am 
llluh~~ommr.;t. 

I 

Gbulam Karam Kha.m. 
Jdllhammad. f 

lUt Ghu!nm Bb&b. 

·I 
Sahib Kbn. 

I 
Mir Saindad·. 

I 
Mit' H~diLr All. 

I 
Babad1lr. 

I 
Jl!.rn 

KMn. 

I 
All lfoii&JII• 

cnad.. 

J 
GhuJam 
Jlu .. m. 

I 
lltr All Tlakhsb. 

I 
lllr Alah nakheb, 

I 
1Ur Mnhamma4 Bakball. 

I 
ldir Ghnlam 

llaidar. 

I 
Hlr Ahmad Khan. 

I 
I 

' IUr MubAma.a. 
IJU&IlKhh, 

.M]I' Ghalam 
Ullah, 

.. 
c: 
Q 



< o) litlr B•J• s:b&L 

~bd.L .. 
Ghl>lal All. 

I 
Abdull&h. 

GbolAII. 

I . 
lil'lr Pit ........ 

(0) Mir Ah""'d ltbu, 

. I 
>llr Ghl>lam inrl&u J<boa, 

Ml<lta<i Blwl. 

Jill' Ohulam Murtu&Ilwl. 

I Jll•ldlthm, 
m.Wtlll M'u~~Kbu. 

I I 
Jllr Sbahd&d. Jllr Jam Feror. 

I 
lfir Jam Nlndo. 

I . 
I 

Mit Khir Mobamma& 
Khu. 

ltlz Khuda lkluh Kban. 

I 
IUr Jam }{indo KbUii. 

I 
ll1r Xhuda Bakhah Kh.aD. 

(9) Mh Mahmud Khan. 

I 
I . 

:Utr Ahmad Kh.au. 

I 
:Hir All Mllb&m.mad 

""""'· I 
i I 

liUr Jan Muhmmad 
l<han. 

I 
Ml.rOhuls.m 

HunlnK!aD. 

I 
llir .fa!:.an Iban. 

I 
lUrM:\bmd. 

l<hao, 



(JO) llll• '"h"'b l<b"'-

1 
I 

'l.hr Un~olwn Khan, (II) 
., 

MJr l[ubarnk Khan. 

' l!IT" '!tfnhomed. 
Kh;lll. 

-' ' )tit" Unbitt-
uUs.b Khan. 

I 
IHrGhnlr.m 

Muatuf:o Khan. 

I 
I 

.Mirf1lmbm. 
UH!ih h.h!Ul. 

I 
llk Ahmad 

Kh:uo, · 

I 

'"'J.,...-1 Khan, 

1. '"' ,Lh•m·l( •· T>J All j\ s. AliL<hd 1'•· LJr.u. nad llakhtu·. Khan, KluuJ.. 

6. Sultan AU. '1. Ghulam All. e. Fu eh Khan. 

I 
Mit Muhammad AU Kb:m. 

I 
Mit Nllliir Khan. 

I 
I I I 

, ______ , 

I 
6. GhuJam 

llnidar. 

I 
Mlr Fad Mnhnmmad l{.:bau, 

I 
I 

'Mir Ali l!Adad. Kk All Ahmad. M1r All Ba'khah Khan, Mlr Amir AU Xb&n. 

I 
lllr Allllualn~ 

I 
Mir Fad Muhammad. 

I 
Mlr llUJatn AH. 

I . I· I 

I I 
)UJ'All Murad Khan, {12) l:llr Shah Kawu Kbaa. 

I 
M1r Alllluhtnnmad Khan. 

I 
Mir A II Ua!.d&r 

Khan. 

I 
1Ur Wall Muhammad Ihan. 

I -
1. Mlr !tfullarak Khan. 

I. 1dlr Gul UaJ.&D Khan {wbt:ll• .. 
n ron). 

3. ?llir Kbnn MubllmmAd Khan. 

'- lllr Y ar Muhammad Khan. 

I 
)ii:r Gbulam ltaidal' 

.Khn.u. 
~AIL. Ghulam Na.bi. HuanAU. ShcrAU • AbbuAH. 

I 
eadlk All. 

I 
!ltr Mnbnmmad 

Lhan. 

l 
I 
Ru 

llahomod., 

I 

I . 
Hnaain A,1,l. 

l 
I 

MnhlbAll. 
I 

F11teh AU. 



. I 
lhr 'Mub:r.mmad 
Bl.l'u Kbt.D. 

I 

I 
ltfnrld 

HaiWtr. 

I I 
ltlrw

1

.,_ "~ 
Kodtr, 

(II) lllr llcol•m lbatt, 

I 

I 
lfh AbmK 

J(b&o. 

I 
Stin 

Kobmmacl. 

I Doat Atubamml)(), 

I 
AlldorKb&ft. 

I 
ll•ht Nl\!&1 All &bao. 

I 
LettDPU. 

(12) Sir lilt All j'"" Kbao, K.c.e.I . 

. ,-.--.-, _....._, -, ,--, 
Mtr Su.bta\ Jflr !;'hab ~lr ltl~ l"a.il lflr J-n :UirKbtn Mit Oola• 

X.b'-Q, Nt.Wtll Ku.hammtd llnbnmmld Mahamma4. MahdJ.. 
Kba1:1, Khan. Kb•n. .Kboa, 

Klr MaLmmu I lllr Jbutam 
lt;M. __L Hu~~oln, 

Mlr ~rn•m Mtt l'hma4 
B•khab, All.Kba-q. 
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(4.) Gette~fogicar tree of Shaft Karim and SM~ 
.J.bdullatif Bllital. · 

lm•m Husain son of All 
(if!Uldoon of the Prophot.) 

li 
t~ 

Imam Musa. Kazim. 

\~ 
I~ 
'0 

I~ 
SoyyedtMir Ali (of Herot.) 

I . 
Sayyed,H01dM. 

I • 
· Sayyed .llir A.b. 

I 
Sh.ra!nddin Sh&h 

I 
Jalal llnhamm&d Sh&h. 

(alia.Jaror.) 
I 

.t!aji Shah. 
I 

H .. him Shah. 
I . 

Abda! Momm SW. 
(ali"' Mamo Shah.) 

I 
tal Afuhammaol Shah 

(alia• Lalo Shah.) 
I 

SAYYED ABD'GL KARIM SHAH 
(ali<u SHAH KAR!l.l.) 

I 
Jamal Sbah. 

I 
Abdul KuddllJI Sh&h. 

lama! Sh&h. 

I 
Habib Shah. 

I 
I 

SHAH ABDULLATIF. 

I I 
'Mubar&k Sh&h. Karimdino Shah. 

I 
Jamal Shah 

(who succeeded Shah Abdnllatil.) 
I 

Bacha\ ~bah, !!aim Mnb~mm&d Shah Kaiml Shah 

Umedab Shah 
( .. ton gadi.) 

I 
Alah Bakbab Shah. 

(eat on gadi.) (sat on gadi.) 

MnbOlnm~ Ali Shah 
{!at on gadi.) 

I 
Ali Bakhoh Sl•ah 
( .. ton gadi,) 

I 
Ali Bakhah Shah 

(ot pre•ent on gadi,) 

I 
Ln!fali Shnh 

(oat on gadi.) 
I 
I 

Ditta! Shah 
(ll'ho was mad.) 

I 
Lnllali Shah 
(oat on gadi,) 

I 

r 
Knimdin 

( .. ton gadi.) 
I 

Mir !I uhnmmnd 
Shah. 

oh'lmshah. 

N11ra Shllh, 



(5) GenealDgical tree of D(todn Gidumal. • 

I 
Jaapalra!. 

Bolo10ol. 

Xbalu10al. 

I 

Chollhrarn. 

Adi010al 
(~ht.hwr.ni.) 

I 
Sakban~~aL 

I 
Sabalmol. Bokharm•l, 

I 
lllatb...,a,J, 

I I 
Bba,..,.daa. Sujanlli•r· Sabbaobaud. Jagatra!, 

I I I 
1 1 Xh .. w~~t•i•g Sukbaoond. 1 1 

Rbaucbau<l, Alimobaod. ud olbora. I • lllolakid.., Lahori••l. 
I 

I 
Jomiatml. Jo~. 

1 1 I Surateior. 1 I 
Lakhpotroland othoro. Billllltei•r. !llo\Biug aad D· .• lb , I. Baohomol, !llahbubn.i. 1 I I othon. IWl•t!a.tn ~n bo ·t. D,~ya.r,,m, I 

hulrom !.,a olhera. 

Aidaa (d.., ..... ) 
llluleoood. Nawoln.i a11d othm. I Prosocuto.ofS ikorpur.J 3, Bhojraj. Ajomol. 

1 !l<lmoing and v ~..J 1 
1 1 olboro, Sablanhr Obhoblabl, Jaglialli, Sanbhnrom 

x..t.illf. Dew~DII!Al. s .. J...a. ••d ,bota. 

i I I Dolpatl'lli. 
)lolbatam. Bosotlng. Dh•TIImdoa. Tolotom 1 . 
(Po .. ioaor,) (Pluodtt.) (Pleader.) (Pleodor,) Jotbaooud. 

I 
MuL!iog 

(JorJr~or of 
KhAirpur.) .............___, 

Ajwr,ni, 

• Not..-Tbie .. uealosioallteo """ oopied from 0110 111ppliod b7 Dlwau Cbauolra10, ploador, aod w!Uoh bad been copitd from tome olbtr in 1686. 



(6) Genealogical tt·eea of Nawaba Walt Multamntad Khdn. Laghdr{ and Mulaammad Khan Thoro.• 

llatdar
1 Khan~ 

Fat•h IKlwl~ 
Baidur Khan. 

Fat.h!Kbao, 

Alt Jakah 
ad 'oth•~ 

Ghntsrn
1
R.aid!ll' 

{•ho hu .J ,;uns.) 

Rot khan. 
I 

GhuWn )luhrunmDIIL 

NAWj WALl 
!IUIL\.MAIAD KHAN. 

Olmhun 
Mustafa. 

Nawa.b Ahini!W Khan. 
I 

r 
Baha-wal KblUl 
and 3 other!!'. 

Bakh1h lu Kh2.11. 

At:. Mul,.ammlod. 
I 

S.h.J.tllluba.nu.1ad 
and~ othcrt<. 

Ghu)run 
Shah. 

All lll:bnr 
(who llllfll\ Pon) 

and 3 ntb!.'l'8. 

Ohnlo.m ~urta.zn 
&Uii Z otllcrP. 

lfn.ngau. 

Jam ~odo. 

Jn1n1 Kbnn (lltn hn .. many 
cblldnlll aud grt.nd chihlrcn.J 

Gbu1a,tu11Ah, 

I 
I 

Do• I 
M-uhammad. 

I I 
Ali Ot.htr. Ghn1Dmuilsh (who hu 

a sou o.nd o. gr::::md"on. 
AU M~l'dan. 

! 
Nawo.b Vuhnmma1l Khan. 

Fatch Muba~nmnll KbBQ. 

,-----11 
Fn.lx Muhammod Ali Ahmnd~ 
{who bn• 2 sonP'.) 

•• ~.. "''' h ••. 

AH :llulammad. 

Ghulam Jubnmmnd. 

All lfnlammad 
Kh11n. 

I 

GbuLun Jubamnuul. 

An 1ttu11Jmmnd and 
Gada Ali. 

I 
liawab Alnbdad. 

I 
Khudat!ad Khan. 

Oui:Mu~mmrul. 
Khn~nd. 

Kcdlrbabb. 
I 

Bht'r ")fubammad 
(who haa ~ •on1.) 

Ghulam f Haldar .. 

• NQif'.-Nnwab WnJI Muhntnm!ld Khan r.-uh:ui awl Khrtlr 'lluhnnlmn,J KhAD Thoro•a mothers wore afstltJY. Itt. n.W tb::t.t Jam Jta.nd, tb• .ancestor of the Tboros. h!W. morrled 
h1t1 &r&i..d-daughter to llaDJ.'Ull. tho &nee:.tor of the LBg:,uis. 



' Jam Jia:Qd. 
(lltb ill deecoot from Jalal Kb1111 Balocb.) 

Langa/. K.hD.D. · 
I 

Balocb Khan. 
. I 

Kal'llm Khu and 2 othera. 
I 

Fateb Khkn and • others 
. who are htads of seplll'&te familia~. I . 

Khair Mulammad Khan. Alah Bakh Kbln. 
I 

Sul81111111 Khan. 

I NA WAD MUHAJM:AD KIIAN.• 

,----------------~----~ I 
Doet Ali Kb1111. 

Khaii'·MJhammad Raaao .Ali KhiUI. 
Khan. I 

Haji All Mudan Khan Muhammad 
Kh1111. Khan. 

I 
1 

I 
Deet Ali Khair Mnh11111mad. 
Kbau. KbD.D. 

Pir Jakab. 
I 

Abdullah. 

Karam Khau. 

I 
]!'ul Muhammad. 

I 
KanlmKban. 

I 

.Ali ~nrad. I . 
Jiand Khan 

(who baa aaon.) 

Sher Muhammad 
Khan. 

Ali Jakab. 

M'adJ Ali .. 

• N&wllb Wall llllbammad Kh1111 bad a ll&uchler onlt, whom he marriod to Khair llllhammad Kbaa 1011 ofDoat Ali .Kba11o 



(7) Genealogical tree of .tl.'gllas lhrahtm Sluih and IsmcW Shah. 

Snyyed (Mir) Abdul Hndi Shah. 

AGHA IBRAJIM SHAH. 

I 
AGHA. ISMAIL SHAH. ' Agha Bnknr Shal1. 

I 
Ishak Shnh. Bnzn Shah. Husain ~bah, I 

And 2 otbert. 

Agba Zainul Abdin 
Shah. (A) 

I 
Zulfikar 
:lhnh. 

I 
Agbn J nafnr Shah. 

I 

G hulnm Shah, 

Ilnknr khnh. 

I 
Gada Ali Slmb. 

I 
I I 

Glmlnm Husain. M~tnsnm Shnh. 

Nnki Shah. Taki Shah. (B) Sndik Shah. 
I 

Ibrahim Shah. 
I I 

Kazim Shah. And 2 other~. 

I 
Fnteh 
.Ali 

Shah. 

I 
I 

Imnm 
Ali 

Shah. 

I 
And 2 
otbors. 

I 
I 

Fateh .Ali 
Shnb. 

I 

I 
llluhnmmnd 
.Ali Shnb. 

Sbnh Muhammnd, I 
/ Ibrnhi~ Shah. 

I 

I 
I Sarnfraz Shah. 

I 
Ghulnm 

Nnbi Shah • 

Shah ~awaz Shah. 

Ahmad Shah. 

A'.i Muhummnd 
! l>l•ah. 

Abdul Hadi 
Slmh. 

. I 
Por :Muhammad 

Shah. 



<A> .&gila 
Zllinul A bdiD 

Shah. 

,Jhal k 
Shah. Jan, 

I I 
I~,~ 

. I 
Ghulam 
:Muham· 

mad Shah. 
I 
I 

Tlll'llb 
Ali Shah. 

l 
ShAh. 

Z 
• 1

1 
I 

amu Gbulam 
.lhdia Shah. KIU'Iasa Shah. 

Ba~ All Shah. · 

I 
Ghulam 
Ali Shah. 

I 
lllarad 

Ali Sbab. 

I 
AJab 
Bakeb 
Shab. 

W n.li ~uham· 
mad Sbab. 

Nur Jnham• 
mad Shah. 

(B) Taki Shah. I . 
I I 

Wahab BAWl 
Shab. .Ali ShAh. 

'----. 
Buaaln Ali WahaJ Shu. 

Shah. 

I 
Mash" 

Ali Shah, 
Za~'lll' 

Ali Sbala. 

MaLb 
Ali Shah. 

H
I . 

uaam 
.Ali Shah. 

I 
And 2 
otbera. 



(8) Genealogical trees of Mirza Khusro Beg and other Georgian Mirzcts. 

(a) MIRZA KHUSRO BEG. 
I 

K. B. Mirz~~o Alill\fuhammad Beg. Mirza Wali 

r-----l-'-----,-------, Muhammad Beg. 
Mirza Muhammad 

Rahim Beg. 
Mirza Ghulam Murtaza Beg. 

I I J I 
Mirza 1\firza Mirza Mirza 

Alahwal'di Imam Kuli Kalb Ali .Aliyar 
Beg. Beg. Beg. Beg. 

. I 
AhAkbar. 

I 
Muhammad 

Husain. 

I 
I 

Ali Husain. 

1\lirza Ali lshmf Beg. 
I 

Mirza Husain Kttli Beg. 

•N J Al' astr t. 

I 
Mirza Ghulam 

Husain. 

(b) MIRZA 
l\iUHAM· 

MAD 
DAKAR. 

I I------.,------·~------~,------,,~----~. 
Mirza Kazalbash. :Mirza Ali Mirza Ali Mirza Ali Mirza Ali And SIX 

I Ahmad. Nawaz. Madad. Abbas others. 
Kazal Arslan. 

I 
1\fuhammad 

Akbar. 

. I 

I 
'Muhammad 
Muzaffar. 

I 
Mirza 

Band Ali Ileg. 
I 

I I · 

I 
Mirza 
Muhib 

Ali 'Beg. 

I 
Mirza 
Nnwnz 
Ali Ileg. 

I 

I 
Mirza 

Lutf Ali 
Beg. 

I 
I 

Mirza Ali Raza. 

Mirza 
SherAli 

lleg. 

Z..Irrza Ata Muhammad. 
I 

Abbas Ali. 

Mirza Ahmad Ali. Mirza Abdul I I 
Mirza M uham"lad Kazim. Mirza Muhammad Azam. Hasan. 

M)irza Faiz Ahmad. 



' Mirza Ghulam 
Raza. Beg. 

I 
Mirza. 

Minuchehr 
Beg. 

I 
Farrukh 

Beg. 

(c) MIRZA' FREDUN BEG. 

I 
I I 

Mirza Sadik Mirza Kalich 
Beg. 

Mirza ~li Kuli 
Beg. Ali Beg. 

I 
Sika.ndar 

Beg. 

1. 
Nadll' 
Beg. 

I 
Haidar 

Beg. 

,­
Niaz 

Husain. 

I 
I 

Akhtar 
Beg. 

N.l tsar 
Husain. 

I 
. Imdad 
Husain. 

I 
Mirza Jafar 
Kuli Beg. 

I 
I 

Sydney. 

I 
Mirza Naja£ 

Kuli Beg. 

I 
Stanley. 

I 
Mirza Haidar 
Kuli Beg. 

,-
Edward. 

(d) MIRZA KURBA'N 
ALI BEG. 

I 
Mirza 

Muharak 
Ali. 

I 
Mirza 

Khadim 
Ali. 
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ing that the slaughter of Sl1ere M~a' 
was practicable, was it necessary, de~l· 
Surely, enough of blood had alreq 
Meerpur chief had done nothing \1 

treaty or international law. 'l'he ~ 
tion had compelled him to collect ~., 
appeal to him been. made, .the. ~'s 
would have caused h1m to d1sbnn. · 
Amirs who, not personally in t.'y \ 
feal nothing, were captives anclion ~~s 
had Shere Mahomed to iJLagint pr\1~S 
promises made to himself would \ 11s 
regarded? • • • - • . • nlfi,ti1s 
reports of treacliery a11 d con temi\1\l.~S 
(Sir C. Napier) was made the tool a·· , 
agents, who, trembling for the stalh1rr.~'t}~~'­
power, while a chance of the Ameer's reslc(1• \ 

sought to exa8perate the General agninst the~>.\-, . 
degree. • • • The battle of Dubba followed,\~ ~~~ 
defy any impartial man to drny tbat it was the res'\ . : .. 1 

our conduct to the other A meers after our fi, st vic to;, , ; 
not of any sincet·it.y on the part of M eer Shere Mabom~' \ \ 
It issued in further slaught~r, and in the seizme of Sift; 
,Mahomed's town and territory. . . • . -- . • 

1 The Ameers of Sinde were, as men, singularly free fro 
the vices which prevail in Mahommed~n communities 
more intellectual than tl1eir compeers in other ~astern 
countries,-tPmperate, and strongly a1erse to bloodshed, 
-affectionate, kind, nnd gentle almost to elliminacy. As 
. sovereigns they were mild and little oppressive in their 
sway, and ruled with an unity of design. 
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.8 General's advance compelled the 
~~·l/1\1 out in de!ence of the capitol; .a 

JJ ~liminn1·v wRs to expel me from their 
l:a, 11 ~nce ad!lncPd by Sir C. :t\ a pier ag~inst 
l!allla~ e.~:pulsion was all that they desired. 
Rnna (lh~m : but if they run away, never 
~~n:~ -~)thirst~ imtructirms issued by those 

R·~M1 Cb" had r~solved to ''massacre" my an.,, f . l -""fuie "arther, not the most riVO ous 
1latl~~~-:iduced to prove that }.~(·er Sobu.ar 
Raza~e"' . ~e, or was Pven pnvy to Its 
H,•u o , , • No mention is made of the 
~6h . ,ossein Al_i.. 'l'he ~eed .was too ~ar~ 
11 ~:

1 K"~. t have or1gmated m S1r C. Napier s 
R ?.1

1
1·~ ·Ike no exception-but to involve in 

OJ •an . hf 1 lloin.l, the aged Roostum, the. yout u 
, ltl1e peace-lovi11g )leer Mahommed, tile 

.. ~ . .;"ll intriguin~ 1\Ieor Nusseer, and the old and 
AJ1 ally of the British Government, the bed-ridden 

,Ar, and his youthful sous, for whom mari·iage pre· 
:'tions were acrua;ly in l)l'ogress in the hall of their 

)ers, when Sir C. N apie1· at\l·anced towards the capital 
\;_.J. nostile array. The Talp,JOr dynasty of Siude was to be 
~xterminated, root and branch-never was a vow more 
religiously fultilled-nor does any allusion to Hoossein 
appear in the parliamentary papers, b~yond the insertion 
of Lis petition. 'fo that petition no reply is given. 
• , • • - . . . . None of the prize agents reply 
to these complaints, and .Major U' Pherson makes no 
mention of the assault on hiill hv ~lt>ei'ZI.\ Khoosroo, 
a venerable old man, most higl•ly • respt•c ed by all the 
Amcers, as having been the confidential friend of their 
grandfather the lat.e .Mrer Kuram Ali. • • . No 
wonder! Would not the Dnke of Wellington feel, and 
perhaps give vent to, indignation, were similar occur· 
reuces to be transacted before his eyes in Windsor Castle? 
'l'he Amoer's faithful followers have feelings as well· as 
ithe most faithful of ller Maj.:sty's servant~. • . . , 
-:--- . • . Shere :Mailomed sought not to molest us; 
ut assuredly he would have fought, if attacked by us, 

gallantly as be did fight when subsequently assailed, 
" strength my reader has just seen; his own valour, 
! the devotion of his warriors, are imperishably recorded 
,the bloody records of Dubba. • • , But even assum· 
i 
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with aU our demands: their repen( \ 
approach of the British army to th, 'I 

the Beloochet>s to hostilities : thci/ 
the treat.y by deputy, when first~~ 
St.h February, and their solemrg 
in person on the day promised ~s 
was still in the power of Sir\ S 
collision,-all prove how eage't'\ 
battle-bow confidPnt of victory 
the British General-his a.DeJ•sion 
equally apparent by his steady pr S 
measures he had been assured s 
Beloochees of the nation to n~s~m \s 
continued advance against the en pi :11~S 
they had con!!regated-his diSI'egard 
pliance with the treaty-of the warning 
of advancing further when they hnd done s 
Ameers' solemn protestations I 1'he retder 
whetlwr the acts and wo1•ds of Sir Char) · Kapi ... 
of the .!meers of Sinde were miJst eonst \nt .. ·~-\1 
1'1,e punishment which had been inflicted 'll tbe A · .. · i 
the battle of :M:eeaneP, and the lesson it \e.ad to t · · 
the hopelessness of any attempt of resistance, wa · 
adequate for the emergency, evt>n had nny f!uilt attached 
to them; and they, at lea~t the majority of the Amem, 
were guiltles~ of aught save oulpnhle forbearMce. Had 
we remained satisfied with our success, :md !'<•stored the: 
A meers to their thrones, we shonld now be ltolding Siode 
in ns peac<•ahle subject.ion as any other province in India; 
and with little, if any, expensr. Nay, more-out• forbear­
ing to enhance, by spoliation, t.he gnilt of our repellt!'cl 
acts of injustice, might have been accepted by the world 
ns magnanimity I Such a course I recommeclecl Sir Charles 

,.Napier to adopt; and I had little doubt that, by his 
repl't"sentation~, such was the course which the Governor 
General would have been inclined to adopt. • '. • Hnd 
the A meers not been induced, bv Sir Charles Napier's 
a~surances, to expect a fnr diffet·ent fate from that which 
has overtaken them, they would not hnve surrendered. 
They wonlcl, like all Asintics of their creed, rank and 
character, rather have buriecl themselves aml their wives 
llfmeath the ruins of their fortt·e~s .•• -. . • I have, 
I trust, already satisfied the reader that no intention of 
massucering myself or my escort ever entered the minds 



283 

, atrocities charged upon them, hut 
:1 to be iouocent, their treatment 

n~.\iib ''""'teccssarilr harsh . and contrasted 
R .. jpill \') I"•·he famlly of T1ppoo Sultan (Ill 

, 1 ••• - ••• I ·was 
J:amaz~n."i'u >ol, not to subvert, the Ameers 
lbm~zan ars. Sir Cluules Napier had 
lhna (sJ... · 
R~n~ Ajm~l o perform f?r h 1s Governme~t ; 
Han'i Chana.'i:tonths he ptcked a quarrel Wit ~l 
Rin.•h ··,ostilities; drove them from their 

- -R.f.a-... :them until compelled to rt~sist; 
ll~t1<6r \~.thrones· sacked their eapital; and 
1\~zil.\;eg ..:._ Little did he 
~~~ ;ow' of' .Ali )fdrad's ~haract~r, if he 
l\~h K:·,dJuld wait till his brother's death, 
R6ld1 showo. him how it might h·· earlier 
flattered himself that, by dt•taching Ali 

, the other Amms, he had diminished the 
.wodshed I Grit·vous and fatal delusion ! while he 

.• ded he was treading the highway of an honourable 
'\lcerul diplomacy, be had heen beguiled into the 
F paths which ultimately led to the bloody fields 

_Jnee and Dul,ba I . . . - . . , Not n. 
~ina(~ act of the Ameers, from the commencement of his 
adr~it and firm policy, gave him the slightest !!'rounds 
for suspecting that the Ameers cnuld have been guilty of 
such foul trracherv. Men who had, from an overwhelm· 
ing sense of their utter hflplessness, submitted to all our 
nggressions, were little likely to invoke destructions on 
themselves by the o.ssassinatinn of the English General, 
, , , • -- . . • . 'l'he Ameers did not delay to 
sign the draft treaty; they signed it on the 12th, and subse· 
quently I made known to him that tbPy had done so, still 
it availed them nought-it did not relieve them at once, 
or at all, from the presence of. the troops, but they were 
"confident of victory," and "wanted to fight." The 
refusal of aid or rp,fuge to the fugitil'es of Khyrpoor until 
compelled by Sir Charles Napier to admit them : their 
v!lkeels deputed to accept the treaty long before the 
British army entered their territory, thereby obviating 
the neces~ity for it~ coming in contact with the stiff 
,Be!oochees, and d~priving the British General of any plea 
for war : their repeated protestations against the ad vance 
·f the British tro?ps when they were r~ady to comply 
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